Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management

Edited by Mark I. Johnson, James Woodall, Emmanouil Georgiadis and Antonio Bonacaro

Coordinated by Isobel Jacob

Published in Frontiers in Pain Research Frontiers in Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5008-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5008-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management

Topic editors

Mark I. Johnson — Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom James Woodall — Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom Emmanouil Georgiadis — University of Suffolk, United Kingdom Antonio Bonacaro — University of Parma, Italy

Topic coordinator

Isobel Jacob — Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom

Citation

Johnson, M. I., Woodall, J., Georgiadis, E., Bonacaro, A., Jacob, I., eds. (2024). Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5008-3

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management Mark I. Johnson, Antonio Bonacaro, Emmanouil Georgiadis and James Woodall
- 10 A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: New perspectives from health promotion Mark I. Johnson and James Woodall
- 19 The Analgesic Museum Ian J. Koebner, Bethney Bonilla, Jenny Slatman and Manon Parry
- 24 Understanding pain in modern society: insights from attitudes to pain in the Medieval Period Emma G. Paley, Mark I. Johnson and Carole A. Paley
- 32 The influence of cultural and religious factors on cross-national variations in the prevalence of chronic back and neck pain: an analysis of data from the global burden of disease 2019 study

Ravi Philip Rajkumar

46 Pain through the perspective of art and creativity: insights from the Unmasking Pain project

> Mark I. Johnson, Paul Chazot, Frances Cole, Rosemary Cruickshank, Dawn Fuller, Charlotte Keyse, Balbir Singh, Adam J. Strickson, Ghazala Tabasam, Emma Tregidden, Kate Thompson and James Woodall

52 Gender and sex bias in prevention and clinical treatment of women's chronic pain: hypotheses of a curriculum development

> Chiara Moretti, Enrico De Luca, Clelia D'Apice, Giovanna Artioli, Leopoldo Sarli and Antonio Bonacaro

58 Perspectives on emotional memory images and the persistence of pain

Matt Hudson and Mark I. Johnson

- 65 A perspective on the role of language about pain Simon van Rysewyk
- 70 Understanding chronic pain in the ubiquitous community: the role of open data Federico Monaco, Emmanouil Georgiadis, Kakia Chatsiou and Antonio Bonacaro
- 78 Perspective on salutogenic approaches to persistent pain with a focus on mindfulness interventions Carole A. Paley and Mark I. Johnson
- 87 Perspectives on the insidious nature of pain metaphor: we literally need to change our metaphors Mark I. Johnson, Matt Hudson and Cormac G. Ryan

- 100 Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN): perspectives on the impact of temporal language on the persistence of pain Matt Hudson and Mark I. Johnson
- 109 Incorporating personal narratives in positive psychology interventions to manage chronic pain Emmanouil Georgiadis and Mark I. Johnson
- 115 Multidimensional visualization and analysis of chronic pain variables of patients who attended a chronic pain program Yuelin (Cindy) Li and Eleni G. Hapidou
- 126 Hidden family rules: perspective on a dysfunctional paternalistic system and the persistence of pain Matt Hudson and Mark I. Johnson
- 136 Ayurvedic protocols of chronic pain management: spatiotemporality as present moment awareness and embodied time Vinita Agarwal
- 151 Perspectives on community-based system change for people living with persistent pain: insights from developing the "Rethinking Pain service"

Mark I. Johnson, Kerry Page, James Woodall and Kate Thompson

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mark Henry Pitcher, National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY

Ramajayam Govindaraj, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson Mark n.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 20 March 2024 ACCEPTED 15 May 2024 PUBLISHED 30 May 2024

CITATION

Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E and Woodall J (2024) Editorial: Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management.

Front. Pain Res. 5:1404074. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2024.1404074

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Johnson, Bonacaro, Georgiadis and Woodall. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management

Mark I. Johnson^{1*}, Antonio Bonacaro², Emmanouil Georgiadis³ and James Woodall¹

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Department of Medicine and Surgery, School of Nursing, University of Parma, Parma, Italy, ³School of Social Sciences and Humanities, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

pain, ecology, salutogenesis, art, language, metaphor, history, psychosocial

Editorial on the Research Topic

Non-biomedical perspectives on pain and its prevention and management

Introduction

Overreliance on the biomedical paradigm has contributed, in part, to overuse of surgery and long-term drug medication with harmful physical, psychological, social, and economic consequences. Research is dominated by a tissue-centric biomedical view of pain at the expense of a holistic first-person *experience* of living with pain in communities of people habiting modern-world settings. Pain practice seems overly consumed with the burden of pain at an individual level (patient-centred pain management) and has neglected exploration of societal level (community-centred) or environmental level (ecologically-centred) solutions.

This Research Topic acknowledges that the biomedical paradigm does not provide a complete understanding of pain by focussing attention upstream towards the role of the environment in fashioning the experience and impact of pain on health. Research methodologies from non-biomedical disciplines can explore social, cultural, economic, political, and environmental conditions that influence the living experience of pain in the modern era. Investigating the phenomenon of pain using socio-ecological frameworks provide opportunities to shift perspectives and open-up new avenues for exploration, including innovative strategies to reduce the burden of pain on society.

The purpose of this Research Topic is to broaden and deepen the conceptual understanding of pain in the modern era by showcasing contributions from nonbiomedical disciplines. This includes exploration of the concept of painogenic lifestyles and environments, and non-medical strategies targeting living well with, and recovery from, pain at individual, community, or population levels. Our desire is to catalyse scholarly conversation about the interplay between individuals, society, and ecosystems to gain a better understanding of the phenomenon of pain and to inform future healthcare research, practice, and policy.

The Research Topic is deliberately broad in scope to encourage cross-fertilisation of scholarly disciplines from the humanities and the sciences, e.g., social, natural, formal, and applied. We encouraged articles that offered novel perspectives and invited contributions from Anthropology, Behavioural sciences, Ecology, Evolution, Health

10.3389/fpain.2024.1404074

promotion, History, Politics, Philosophy, Sociology, Socioeconomics, Spirituality, the Arts, and Theology. We accepted seventeen articles, both theoretical and empirical, that cover topics not normally visible in conventional pain science literature including ecology, language, salutogenesis, art, emotional memory, and temporality. Contributions offer viewpoints that curiously and critically explore biomedical dogma to provide a broader and deeper understanding of pain and its persistence within the complex socio-ecological milieu of modern life.

Overview of contributions

A socio-ecological model for pain

Many of the perspectives offered by the contributions are encapsulated in a socio-ecological model of pain presented in the article by Johnson and Woodall and reproduced here in Figure 1.

Johnson and Woodall contend that viewing pain through an evolutionary mismatch lens can reveal insidious "upstream" forces that create painogenic environments (1) and structural barriers to hinder recovery from episodes of pain, i.e., making pain "sticky" [q.v. Borsook et al. (2)]. Johnson and Woodall's socio-ecological model reveals how the biomedically dominant explanatory language of pain bonds upstream forces into a cohesive narrative that primes society about the meaning, prevention, treatment, and management of pain; a type of "social glue". The contribution by Paley et al. that appraises critiques of the writings of people living with pain during the mid (high) to

late Medieval Period (c. 1,000–1,500 AD) reveals how pain was a "shared experience". Paley et al. argue that sharing of personal stories is a fundamental human attribute to foster social cohesion, and that the dominant biomedical narrative of modern living may be preventing people from connecting with a sense of self and their social world.

Pain and language

The contribution by Van Rysewyk offers perspective on the role of language about pain, motivated by the 20th century Austrian philosopher Wittgenstein (3). Van Rysewyk reveals how the use of the word "pain" is "…linked to participation in a social milieu where specific rules are learnt for the regulation of concepts" and that "pain is not merely a "raw feel"…" but rather a social construct which is learnt and refined throughout life. Consequently, disagreements between health care professionals about the nature (diagnosis) of a person's pain should be recognized as the "indefiniteness" of pain.

The contribution by Johnson et al. explores pain through the perspective of linguistic relativity, as described by Lakoff and Johnson in the 1980s (4). Johnson et al. describe how metaphor is a tool to shape conceptual understanding of phenomena, such as pain, and that the tissue-centric, neuromechanistic explanatory model of pain creates fallacies and misnomers (5) and an unhealthy focus on biomedical research (6). Moreover, Johnson et al. contend that damage-loaded warmongering pain metaphor shapes a person's lived reality to the detriment of their health and well-



being, ultimately making pain sticky. Johnson et al. argue that to move people towards a positive life with or without pain, we "literally" need to change our metaphors and narrative to align with the principles of salutogenesis, i.e., fostering health.

Pain and salutogenesis

Various contributions explore pain through a salutogenic lens. Salutogenesis is a whole-person approach to grow health, grounded in a person's unique life story and current situation, encompassing physical, mental, social, and spiritual aspects that are meaningful to the individual (7-9). Johnson and Woodall suggest that healthy settings approaches based on the principles of salutogenesis are likely to alleviate painogenicity and the stickiness of pain. Paley and Johnson offer perspective on salutogenic approaches and how mindfulness interventions can be integrated into daily living to improve a person's comprehension, meaningfulness, and manageability of living well in the modern world, i.e., a sense of coherence. Georgiadis and Johnson position positive psychology within a whole-person salutogenic approach to care, and they discuss how incorporation of personal narration could foster an agentic form of positive psychology, conferring synergistic benefits. Georgiadis and Johnson discuss how personal narration combined with positive psychology could lead to advances in policy and professional practice.

Johnson et al. draw upon the principles of salutogenesis in a contribution offering perspective for community-based system change for people living with persistent pain within the context of pain services in the UK. Johnson et al. offer insights from the development and delivery of an innovative pain service called "Rethinking Pain' that is voluntary and community sector-led rather than medical or therapy-led. The Rethinking Pain service utilises health coaches, social prescribers and link workers who proactively engage with culturally-diverse communities of people who experience the biggest health inequalities, reconnecting them with community-support, including engagement with art.

Pain and art

A contribution by Koebner et al. explores the role of museums and artists in the effort to reduce the burden of persistent pain, drawing on perspectives and insights from the Analgesic Museum conference. Three domains of interest emerged: exhibition development, arts experiences and practices, and research and creative scholarship. Koebner et al. advocate opportunities for individuals to author their experience of pain and to engage in dialogue about those experiences. This was the purpose of Unmasking Pain, an artist-led project that explored creative approaches to telling stories of life with pain, discussed in the contribution by Johnson et al. People living with persistent pain described Unmasking Pain as "a new set of rules", providing opportunities for "explorative joy despite pain". This contrasts with clinical encounters and reveals the potential of art to facilitate expression of complex inner experiences and personal stories to help people make-sense of themselves, shifting them from "I can't do, I am not willing to do it", to "Perhaps I can, I'll give it a go, I enjoyed". Engagement with Unmasking Pain also freed-up thinking for pain specialists allowing conceptual thought beyond the biopsychosocial model of pain.

Pain and emotional memory images

A critical aspect of Johnson and Woodall's model of pain is that socio-ecological events affect the structure and function of cells, tissue, organs, and systems, i.e., bioplasticity-the ability of bodily structures and processes to adapt (10), including neuroplasticity that reshapes connectivity associated with learning and memory. Several contributions from Hudson and Johnson explore pain and its stickiness from the perspective of nonconscious emotional memory images (EMIs). Hudson and Johnson introduce the notion of EMIs as "Trauma induced, nonconscious, contiguously formed multimodal mental imagery, which triggers an amnesic, anachronistic, stress response within a split-second." (4) p.1. They contend that encounters in daily living re-trigger EMIs which in turn activate the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis amplifying neural input that may contribute to a debilitating state of psychophysiological dis-ease associated with threat, fear, anxiety, and intractable pain [q.v. (11, 12)]. Hudson and Johnson suggest that activities of daily living trigger EMIs and "outdated" stress responses, placing the person in a perpetual state of "alarm", and they offer some case vignettes to demonstrate how a therapeutic approach, which they call Split-Second Unlearning, may "clear" EMIs to "unblock" the "stickiness" of pain. Hudson and Johnson extend their exploration of EMIs in a contribution that draws upon clinical cases and existing literature to explore how a dysfunctional paternalistic family system, often characterised by authoritarian dynamics, emotional neglect, and abuse, is a fertile ground for the creation of EMIs, potentially making pain sticky.

Pain and temporality

Hudson and Johnson further explore how EMIs may make pain sticky through the perspective of temporal language. Hudson and Johnson introduce a framework, called PAIN (Past Adversity Influencing Now), comprising notions of Past Perfect, Past Imperfect, Present, Future Imperfect and Future Perfect. Hudson and Johnson explain how the PAIN framework may be used to guide individuals towards a more positive future (Future Perfect) with or without pain. A contribution by Agarwal explores the management of persistent pain through the perspective of temporality, the subjective perception of the flow of chronological time. Agarwal reveals, through an ontologically grounded thematic exploration of Ayurvedic protocols used by physicians from India, that temporality is conceptualized as spatiotemporal present moment awareness and embodied time. The findings provide evidence that more consideration should be given to spatiotemporality as an organizing principle in the management and conceptualisation of persistent pain.

Psychosocial perspectives

Various contributions advocate the need for greater focus on psychosocial perspectives to support people living with pain. An analysis of data from the 2019 Global Burden of Disease study (13) by Rajkumar provides evidence of the importance of crosscultural variations in the occurrence of common forms of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Rajkumar reports that the prevalence of chronic neck pain was inversely correlated with Uncertainty Avoidance and the prevalence of chronic low back pain was inversely correlated with the cultural dimensions of Power Distance and Collectivism. Moretti et al. provide evidence that medical curricula of highly ranked universities worldwide are biophysically-focused at the expense of the needs and expectations of patients. Moretti et al. contend that the role of men in biomedical science has been negatively impacting the delivery of high-quality and personalized medical care to women and they offer an innovative education intervention to limit the effects of gender bias on future medical practitioners.

Li and Hapidou report a multidimensional analysis of variables affecting outcome to psychosocial treatments that revealed two groupings (i) anxiety, depression, catastrophizing, somatic symptoms, pain intensity and pre-contemplation, and (ii) contemplation, action, maintenance, activity engagement and pain willingness; these groupings resonate with Jensen et al.'s bivalent Behavioral Inhibition System—Behavioral Activation System (BIS-BAS) model (14). Monaco et al. offer perspective on combining digital technologies such as social media, open data, and Artificial Intelligence to create virtual communities that empower and support patients, the public and practitioners. Monaco et al. conclude that innovative non-biomedical approaches will emerge to improve the understanding of pain and its prevention and management.

Potential impact

Contributions in this Research Topic confirm the value of broadening the lens through which the persistence (stickiness) of pain is studied. The contributions weave together a variety of perspectives that situate pain at the intersect of tissue and environment to reveal avenues of exploration aligned with pain *experience.* In doing so, the contributions transcend the orthodox

References

tissue-centric biopsychosocial way of thinking to reveal opportunities for scholarship, research, clinical practice, and society that go beyond mainstream pain science. Contributions in this Research Topic demonstrate the power of non-biomedical perspectives to inform whole-person centred approaches, such as contemplative practices and the performing arts, to enable people to curiously explore the relationship between their pain and their living experience. Shifting the focus from pain perception to pain perspective opens a vista of interconnectedness between bodymind, "spirit", community, and environment; and the realisation of greater need for community-based pain support. We hope that this eBook inspires pain scholars, researchers, and health care practitioners to investigate more thoroughly the complex milieu in which individuals, communities, and populations experience pain, to develop an ecology of pain grounded in a more constructive and meaningful societal narrative.

Author contributions

MJ: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AB: Writing – review & editing. EG: Writing – review & editing. JW: Writing – review & editing.

Conflict of interest

MJ declares that in the previous 5 years, MJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{1.} Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

^{2.} Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. *Pain.* (2018) 159 (12):2421-36. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401

3. Biletzki A, Matar A. Ludwig Wittgenstein. In: Zalta E, Nodelman U, editors. *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy Fall 2023* Stanford, US: Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University (2023).

4. Lakoff G, Johnson M. *Metaphors We Live by*. London: University of Chicago Press (1980).

5. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. J Pain. (2022) 23(8):1283-93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235

6. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):1–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

7. Mittelmark MB, Bauer GF, Vaandrager L, Pelikan JM, Sagy S, Eriksson M, et al. *The Handbook of Salutogenesis.* 2nd ed Cham, CH: Springer (2022).

8. Antonovsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promot Int.* (1996) 11(1):11–8. doi: 10.1093/heapro/11.1.11

9. Bhattacharya S, Pradhan KB, Bashar MA, Tripathi S, Thiyagarajan A, Srivastava A, et al. Salutogenesis: a bona fide guide towards health

preservation. J Family Med Prim Care. (2020) 9(1):16-9. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc. jfmpc_260_19

10. Moseley GL. It is not just the Brain That Changes Itself – Time to Embrace Bioplasticity?. Available online at: https://www.iasp-pain.org/publications/relief-news/article/time-to-embrace-bioplasticity/ (Accessed April 28, 2024).

11. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Split-Second Unlearning: Developing a Theory of Psychophysiological Dis-Ease. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:716535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2021.716535

12. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Definition and Attributes of the Emotional Memory Images Underlying Psychophysiological Dis-Ease. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:947952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.947952

13. Liu S, Wang B, Fan S, Wang Y, Zhan Y, Ye D. Global burden of musculoskeletal disorders and attributable factors in 204 countries and territories: a secondary analysis of the global burden of disease 2019 study. *BMJ Open.* (2022) 12(6):e062183. doi: 10. 1136/bmjopen-2022-062183

14. Jensen MP, Ehde DM, Day MA. The behavioral activation and inhibition systems: implications for understanding and treating chronic pain. *J Pain.* (2016) 17 (5):529.e1-529.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.02.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mark Henry Pitcher, National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Kathryn Hansen, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Non-Pharmacological Treatment of Pain, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pain Research

RECEIVED 21 July 2022 ACCEPTED 12 September 2022 PUBLISHED 27 September 2022

CITATION

Johnson MI and Woodall J (2022) A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: New perspectives from health promotion. Front. Pain Res. 3:1000170.

doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Johnson and Woodall. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: New perspectives from health promotion

Mark I. Johnson^{1*} and James Woodall²

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Centre for Health Promotion Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom

Structural approaches to promoting health focus on policies and practices affecting health at the community level and concentrate on systems and forces of society, including distribution of power, that foster disadvantage and diminish health and well-being. In this paper we advocate consideration of structural approaches to explore macro level influences on the burden of persistent pain on society. We argue that health promotion is an appropriate discipline to ameliorate painogenic environments and that a "settings approach" offers a crucial vehicle to do this. We encourage consideration of socio-ecological frameworks to explore factors affecting human development at individual, interpersonal, organizational, societal, and environmental levels because persistent pain is multifaceted and complex and unlikely to be understood from a single level of analysis. We acknowledge criticisms that the structural approach may appear unachievable due to its heavy reliance on inter-sectoral collaboration. We argue that a settings approach may offer solutions because it straddles "practical" and cross-sectorial forces impacting on the health of people. A healthy settings approach invests in social systems where health is not the primary remit and utilises synergistic action between settings to promote greater health gains. We offer the example of obesogenic environments being a useful concept to develop strategies to tackle childhood obesity in school-settings, community-settings, shops, and sports clubs; and that this settings approach has been more effective than one organisation tackling the issue in isolation. We argue that a settings approach should prove useful for understanding painogenic environments and tackling the burden of persistent pain.

KEYWORDS

pain, pain management, painogenic environment, health promotion, social structure, healthy-settings approach, socio-ecological

Introduction

Persistent pain is defined as experiencing pain for at least 3 months or beyond the normal time for tissue healing (1). The global prevalence of persistent pain is high, with estimates of one in five adults experiencing pain most days for at least 3 months (2). Previously, Johnson has discussed the notion of "painogenic environments" by exploring how an evolutionary mismatch between modern-day Anthropocene lifestyles and Palaeolithic physiological heritage may contribute to persistent pain in society (3).

Indeed, one decade ago Johnson and Dixey revealed an absence of discourse between the disciplines of pain and health promotion (4). Since then, there seems to have been limited debate and discussion about the role of health promotion in addressing the burden of persistent pain in society. The reasons for this are perhaps twofold – first, the reliance of pharmacology to address painful symptoms in individuals; and second, the limited application of health promotion beyond traditional realms of addressing "lifestyle" changes.

Critics have consistently argued that health promotion, as a concept and as a practice, has been applied liberally to a range of health conditions with limited debate or consideration (5). Indeed, many have argued that applying health promotion with casual abandon is de-valuing the specific contribution it can make to improving the health and social circumstances of the most vulnerable in society (6). Those who de-subscribe from health promotion being about "lifestyle" and addressing manifestations rather than causes of the social determinants of health, argue clearly that health promotion is about individuals and communities taking greater control over their circumstances (7). While this seems utopian, many, including Marmot's body of scholarship (8, 9), have fundamentally challenged the status quo advocating for structural change to improve health (10). The notion of obesogenic environments, one which follows an ecological model of health promotion (11, 12), has caught the attention of a range of stakeholders. It is perhaps timely to re-ignite and galvanize debate on the role of health promotion in tackling other issues that could benefit from a whole-systems or structural approach.

This paper seeks to advocate consideration of structural approaches to tackle the burden of persistent pain in society by shifting away from looking at individuals, to broader "macro" influences. We suggest that health promotion may be an appropriate discipline to ameliorate painogenic environments and that a "settings approach" offers a crucial vehicle to do this. In sociology, structure refers to components or "structures" that comprise the way society, and people within society, are organised and interact, including: social class, gender, ethnicity, politics, and culture (5). Structural approaches to promoting health focus on policies and practices affecting health at the community level, with the purpose of transforming structures to improve health experience and health outcomes for people. In other words, structural approaches put a spotlight on systems and forces of society, including distribution of power, that foster disadvantage and diminish health and well-being.

The Burden of Persistent Pain

The burden of persistent pain on society continues to rise despite major advances in medicine. Yong et al., estimated that 50.2 million adults (20.5%) in the USA reported experiencing pain on most days or every day (13). An analysis of the National Health Survey Data in the USA found that the percentage of adults with persistent pain increased from 16.4% in large central metropolitan areas to 28.1% in rural areas (14). A meta-analysis estimated that the point prevalence of persistent pain in the U.K. adult population to be 43.5% (95% confidence intervals (CIs) 38.4% to 48.6%), with moderate-severely disabling pain ranging from 10.4% to 14.3% (15). The Global Burden of Disease (GBD) project provides evidence that pain associated with musculoskeletal conditions is common, with persistent low back pain being the primary source of disability worldwide (16-18), although the precision of inferences drawn from GBD studies have been criticised because estimates were based on modelling rather than primary data (19). Nevertheless, the economic costs associated with medical and healthcare expenditures and loss of work productivity due to persistent pain is high, and has a severe impact on society (20-24).

As noted earlier, pain and health promotion do not seem to be a coherent marriage. Biomedical approaches utilising non-pharmacological surgical, pharmacological, and treatments continue to dominate clinical practice despite having potential for harmful consequences on individuals and communities through illogical prescription of drugs, including long-term opioid use, and unnecessary and inappropriate surgery (25-27). The association between persistent pain and social determinants of health, including socioeconomic status, education, occupational status, social connections etc. is undisputable (28) and recognised by professional and governmental bodies (29-31). It is widely acknowledged that optimal management of pain is via a biopsychosocial approach with emphasis on holistic patient-centred care with pain education and "healthy lifestyle" advice (32). In practice however, participation in and adherence to "healthy lifestyles" (such as exercise and physical activity and healthy diets) falls short of recommended levels in people with and without persistent pain, mostly because societal structures inhibit or discourage healthy behaviours (33-36).

Indeed, we argue that modern-day socio-ecological environments may hinder achievement of healthy lifestyle advice including exercise and diet because of an evolutionary mismatch between modern structures and inherited Paleolithic physiology. In other words, modern environments are "painogenic" in nature (3). This means that practitioners and decision-makers need to "zoom out" exclusively from individual approaches and perhaps consider wider impacts that determine pain.

Painogenic Environments

In 2019, Johnson defined painogenic environments as "the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities or conditions of

life have on promoting persistent pain in individuals or populations" (3). *Painogenicity*, the tendency to promote or contribute to (persistent) pain, acknowledges the influences that surroundings, conditions of life and/or opportunities have on the lived experience of pain of individuals in society. The idea of painogenicity and painogenic environments aligns with Boyd Swinburn's seminal work on obesogenicity, the tendency of (obesogenic) environments to promote or contribute to obesity (37). We suggest that persistent pain and obesity have similarities. Both conditions are influenced by a broad spectrum of biopsychosocial factors and managed, with only partial success, by multidisciplinary teams using biopsychosocial approaches including medical, educational, and behavioural interventions.

Living in modern society offers potential for health improvement through technological advances and digital advancements; however modern society also increases exposure to a multitude of health determinants (physical and biopsychosocial) with potential to augment the frequency, severity, quality, bodily location, and persistence of pain. These health determinants have potential to mediate, directly or indirectly, a variety of psychophysiological mechanisms with the potential to facilitate pro-inflammatory states, peripheral and central sensitisation, descending and ascending modulatory physiological systems, neuroimmune compromise, and maladaptive psychological appraisals and behavioural outcomes. Social context has a major influence on the lived experience of pain and this is acknowledged in key messages in public awareness campaigns - "Everything matters when it comes to pain" (https://www.flippinpain.co.uk). There has as vet, been no formal attempt to map "everything", perhaps because of the complexity of the challenge, or because of a myopic view that solutions to the burden of persistent pain lie solely within the domain of biomedicine (38).

To date, investigation has focussed on generating domain specific knowledge about physiological (predominantly nociceptive) processes influencing the body in pain at a micro (organism) level. Far less attention has been given to generating domain specific knowledge at the macro level i.e., the influence of social, community, economic, political, cultural, and built (biosphere) environments. The coupled interaction of the macro-and micro level factors on the lived experience of pain is largely unexplored. Ultimately, socioecological factors are realised as changes in physiological processes (e.g. bioplasticity) and in the sense of agency driving behavioural response.

Socio-ecological conditions influence a person's lifestyle and may result in unhealthy behaviour such as sedentary routines, diets high in the ratio of omega-6: omega-3 polyunsaturated fats, carbohydrates, salt, and additives, and excessive use of recreational drugs and prescription medication. However, the situation is complex. Socio-ecological factors may augment or abate pain. For example, systematic review evidence suggests that the severity of persistent pain associated with osteoarthritis shows a positive relationship with fat and sugar intake, possibly due to pro-inflammatory mechanisms (39), yet obese people with osteoarthritis report momentary pain relief and elevated mood from eating foods high in fat or sugar, despite this being counterproductive to pain-severity in the longer term (40).

Exposure to the socio-ecological conditions of modern living is known to instigate neuroendocrine "stress" responses, and allostatic overload can result if the cumulative burden of these environmental challenges exceeds an individual's ability to cope (41, 42). A systematic review of 267 studies indicate that allostatic load and overload are associated with poorer health outcomes (43). Ramsay and Woods argue that homeostatic systems are not adapted to handle certain aspects of modern living, and the cumulative burden of chronic stress and life events leads to dysregulation of psychophysiological responses and adverse health outcomes (44). Dysregulation of the nociceptive system is known to contribute to pain that persists beyond the normal time of healing leading to significant emotional distress or functional disability, i.e. pain as a disease entity in its own right. Such chronic primary pain, which includes fibromyalgia and nonspecific low-back pain, has been included, for the first time, in the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11); socioeconomic, cultural and ethnic influences are acknowledged as being key factors influencing symptoms (45, 46).

There is strong evidence that cumulative exposure to stressful life events in childhood is associated with poorer health outcomes and increases the likelihood of experiencing persistent pain in children and adults (47–50). Adversity during childhood generates allostatic overload that has detrimental consequences to maturing neurological, immune and endocrine systems (51) contributing to overactive stress responses, pain sensitisation, pro-inflammatory states and persistent pain in adulthood (52–54).

Thus, we advocate using a socio-ecological lens to shed light on painogenicity and reveal macro forces impacting individuals and communities. As a first step, we identify a sample of items with painogenic potential as viewed through a broader socioecological framework (**Figure 1**).

Unpicking the influence of the complex bio-psycho-socioecological milieu on a person's experience of persistent pain appears overwhelming; this may be one of many reasons why attempts to tackle the burden of persistent pain remains embedded within an individual-centred biomedical paradigm. The notion of "lifestyle drift" summarises this in many ways (57) as discussed later in the paper. We believe that mapping socio-ecological factors "into the body" may offer insights to their influence of physiological processes contributing to pain. Examples include:

• industrialisation producing toxic particulates in the atmosphere that contribute to neuroimmune compromise,



(determinants) were organised within and between levels *ad hoc*; hence, the purpose of the schematic is to encourage a systematic and comprehensive analysis in the future. Attention is drawn to the role of information (words and symbols) that arise in meta-levels to form frames, metaphors, memes, and narratives, that lubricate the painogenic milieu and shape a person's bodily self, including identity, by altering circuitry and processing in the brain (56).

pro-inflammatory states, and peripheral and central sensitisation.

- Urbanisation and suburban sprawl creating reliance on motor vehicles and sedentary lifestyles resulting in painful comorbidities including pro-inflammatory states and sensitisation, and difficulties in adhering to health care professional advice to undertake more exercise.
- Economic policies contributing to socioeconomic inequalities that preclude accessibility of specialist pain management services, and a worsening pain condition.

Mapping is also likely to offer novel solutions and strategies for alleviating associated suffering and disability.

The biopsychosocial model of pain was proposed over 40 years ago, and it has proved to be a resilient construct and acknowledged within health care as the foundation of our understanding of pain and its management. Yet, treatment for persistent pain remains unimodal and embedded within a biomedical paradigm. Recently, Nicholas has called for a reappraisal of the situation (32). Exploring pain through a painogenic lens, forces attention on the role of physical, political, and sociocultural environments of modern living. To achieve this we advocate a whole systems health promotion

approach in the spirit of Nettleton and Bunton's (10, p.44) structural critique that accounts for the physical and political environments that impact on the social environment in which the person lives. Given its strong socio-political fundamentals, health promotion may be an appropriate discipline to offer opportunities and solutions to the burden of pain.

The role of health promotion

The structural approach

The notion that environmental influences directly impact on the health choices that individuals make is well-understood (5). While health promotion is a broad and a contested discipline, there has been consensus from those politically drawn to the left-of-centre to see the endeavour of health promotion as being about a systems or structural change. This comprises of macro-level or environmental interventions which draws its focus towards the social, economic, political, institutional, cultural, legislative, industrial and physical environments of societies in order to modify behaviour change (58). Nettleton and Bunton (10, *p*.44) summarise: "Essentially the structural critique argues that attempts to prevent illness and to promote health have failed to take into account the material disadvantages of people's lives. This works at three levels: the political environment, the social environment and the physical environment."

The structural approach avoids focusing on the individual and instead intervenes at a political or systems level to achieve positive health outcomes (59). It has potential to achieve big change in health outcomes but requires cultural and political shifts (as has been seen in smoking acceptance and cultural norms). Governments, therefore, act as stewards to create policy frameworks which encourage individuals to make healthier choices. There has been contemporary traction for this viewpoint, operationalised, for example, through the notion that "obesogenic environments" are creating adverse health outcomes for society and need to be addressed through whole-system approaches (60). Taxation has been a common way to place barriers on the purchasing of certain "unhealthy" products. The soda tax, a piece of public policy originating in the USA, was an illustration of state intervention in modifying people's consumption of sugar. Despite soda companies opposing the policy to raise taxes on sugary drinks to reduce consumption, many jurisdictions across the USA implemented this tax increase to prevent the consumption of sugary drinks and, indeed, saw reductions in consumption (61). It has been interesting to observe how "obesogenic environments" have caught the imagination of health promotion researchers, practitioners, and policy-makers. We see no strong reason why "painogenic environments" could not do the same.

The rhetoric that addressing environmental determinants of health – such as the environment; living conditions; and transport infrastructure – is well-rehearsed and yet, in countries such as the United States, the UK and Australia, there has still been a dominant view held in practice that health promotion is about modifying and addressing individual behaviour. The frequent frustration from some sections of the health promotion community is that health promotion activities are merely a "sticking plaster" for deep underlying societal problems that manifest behavioural choices (62).

Lifestyle drift

Several theoretical insights offer explanatory frameworks for why this occurs. The issue of "lifestyle drift" has prohibited the translation of ecological health promotion strategy to actual delivery. Lifestyle drift is the inclination for policy that recognises the need to act on upstream social determinants only to drift downstream to focus on individual lifestyle factors (63). The reasons underpinning why lifestyle drift has occurred has not been fully explored, although practical factors may be an issue. For example, lifestyle interventions are easier to devise than "upstream" interventions (57) and, moreover, lifestyle interventions are significantly easier to evaluate (64). This is certainly the case in pain practice where health promoting advice and intervention in guidelines for care remains individual-centred.

According to Green et al. (65), one of the definitive features of health promotion has been an emphasis on the environmental determinants of health (structures), but, as mentioned, this is often reduced to focus on individual choices and behaviour. The recognition, however, that the major influences on the health of an individual are outside of their immediate control has resulted in a drive to create supportive environments that are concordant with our evolutionary heritage so that the "healthy choice" is the "easy choice" (66, 67). Several international declarations on health promotion have emphasised the structural factors on people's health – the Shanghai declaration on health promotion (68) strongly emphasises the role of structural forces on health over and above the role of individual decision-making and choice.

Implications for researchers, practitioners, policy makers and funders

Socio-ecological frameworks

We advocate greater attention given to adapting socioecological frameworks, such as the Bronfenbrenner socialecological model of human development (55), to facilitate a comprehensive approach to explore factors affecting human development at individual, interpersonal, organizational, societal, and environmental levels. The ecological orientation has grown in recent times because there has been acknowledgement that many health challenges are too multifaceted and complex to be understood from a single level of analysis (69). The approach suggests that multifaceted interventions that integrate environmental and behavioural components and that cover multiple settings and levels of analysis, are more likely to be effective in promoting personal health and public health than those narrower in scope (70).

Adapting socio-ecological frameworks to issues arising from persistent pain can identify what to address at each level. Recently, Wu et al applied the socio-ecological framework to the opioid epidemic to inform chronic pain management and successful opioid tapering for individuals living with persistent pain (71). The model of Wu et al. revealed actions for providers that could improve care of patients including recognising individual and interpersonal factors, influencing organizational policies, and shaping legal and societal issues. Wu et al. found that health care professionals are trained to assess the legitimacy of patient complaints and often consider non–life-threatening such as pain and distressing symptoms of opioid tapering of less importance. This is detrimental to a person's well-being. Wu et al. concluded that transformation in how we care for patients is needed and proposed that the focus of practitioners should be to compassionately support people living with persistent pain by empowering them in their own healing and helping them build resilience.

Challenges when addressing structural level forces

The structural approach can be criticised to be utopian and perhaps unachievable given that it relies heavily on inter-sectoral collaboration - perhaps through town planners, health experts, decision-makers, and community groups - but it is the radical paradigm shift that may be necessary to move the challenge of persistent pain and its management away from the narrow focus on individuals. The promise of health promotion informed by socio-ecological frameworks is countered by an apparent disempowerment of health care professionals faced with the challenge of implementing structural solutions in practice. Quite simply, where would someone start? This perhaps underscores Frohlich and Potvin's criticisms that ecological models ultimately revert back to targeting individual behaviour modification (72). Similarly, Ziglio et al. note that despite the acceptance of this model, most health promotion activity has reverted to dealing with specific issues or has ignored wider social determinants (73). They suggest that the rhetoric, therefore, has failed to be a reality.

The settings approach as a solution?

The credible critique of addressing structural level forces that impact on health is that it becomes almost impossible, or at least markedly challenging, for practitioners to address macro forces. A settings approach offers a crucial vehicle to do this and can straddle both "practical" and cross-sectorial forces that impact on people's health. Settings-based approaches to health promotion, grounded in the World Health Organization's (WHO) Ottawa Charter and Health for All strategy (7), utilises a holistic and multi-disciplinary "whole-systems approach" based on community participation, partnership, empowerment and equity [WHO - https://www.who.int/teams/health-promotion/enhancedwellbeing/healthy-settings]. Settings-based approaches have become increasingly popular because they sit between the interface of tackling *big* structural issues (often outside of the remit of many practitioners) but in a way that is manageable and not overwhelming.

Governments have used a systems approach to develop and deliver policies to address structural level forces. For example, the Welsh Government used a systems approach to raise awareness of the detrimental impact of childhood adversity on health to target structural factors to support parents and protect children from harm. They introduced training of public service workers (e.g. teachers, police and youth officers), promoted community-led programmes to reduce adverse childhood events and improve resilience, and developed a "Support Hub" (74).

Settings-based approaches in communities have been particularly successful when supported fully at governmental levels. Sure Start, for example, was a UK Government initiative that sought to reduce and alleviate child poverty and improve health outcomes in children under 4 years and their families who live in socially deprived communities in England. Sure Start did not have a prescribed model or intervention, but it does include outreach or home visiting; family support; support for good quality play, learning, and childcare experiences; primary and community health care; advice about child and family health and development; and support for people with special needs, including help in accessing specialised services. Community participation is central to the mission of these programmes (75).

While this, of course, is not reflective of the true notion of an ecological model, it is an opportunity for wider synergy across social milieu. The key idea of the settings approach, or healthy settings approach, is that investments in health are made in social systems where health is not their primary remit (76). Through synergistic action between settings, it is argued that there is potential for greater health gains including, in this case, reduced prevalence of persistent pain. Shifting back to obesity, the approach is, theoretically, relatively straightforward: childhood obesity is more effectively addressed when a range of settings work synergistically when the school-setting, community-setting, shops and sports clubs work together to tackle the issue. This approach seems intuitively more effective than one organisation tackling the issue in isolation (77). The same has to be the case for the prevention and management of persistent pain.

In 2010, Australia was the first country to develop a national level holistic framework to coordinate interdisciplinary and individualised assessment, treatment, and management of acute, chronic and cancer pain (78). Subsequently, in May 2018, the Australian Government published a National Strategic Action Plan for Pain Management that endorsed a "sociopsychobiomedical prism" to view pain; the overarching goal was to minimise the pain burden for individuals and the community, and to improve the quality of life for people living with pain (79). The plan consisted of eight goals and 27 objectives. At its core was raising community awareness and knowledge about pain and its management through education to empower consumers, carers, and the wider community. The plan emphasised the need for government to recognise pain as a national and public health priority by linking pain to chronic disease frameworks in key national health and economic strategies and policies. These were to be delivered via "whole-ofcommunity" engagement, and with partnerships between health care services, not-for profit organisations, researchers, the private sector, individuals, and communities.

Conclusion

This paper has drawn on the discipline of health promotion to offer new perspectives on the conceptualisation and management of persistent pain. Compared to biomedicine, health promotion is in its infancy, but it views the experience and management of health in a more holistic way and argues that environmental factors - or structures - are as potent in their contribution to health and indeed illness than individual behaviours and choices. The application of health promotion to pain and painogenic environments has been discussed and this potentially offers future directions for the pain field. The paper suggests that socio-ecological models that address social and physical determinants of health (i.e. modern physical, social and political environments) alongside individual behaviours and practices is a sensible way to reconfigure current approaches to reducing the burden of persistent pain in individuals and communities. This will mean a move away from "health services" toward looking at other "settings" that people interact with on a regular basis. The settings-approach to health promotion is proposed here as one practical way of addressing socio-ecological factors in practical and tangible ways for practitioners and policy-makers.

Further research is needed in this field to take forward and empirically "test" or explore these ideas. Hancock (80) suggested that the settings approach is one of the most successful strategies in health promotion, but one major drawback is a paucity of high quality evaluation leading to "an uneven and under-developed evidence base" (81, p.335). St Leger (82, p100) reiterated this and argued that the approach has been legitimised more through "an act of faith" rather than through robust research and evaluation. If there is to be a fuller understanding of an individual's lived experience of pain in the complex environment of the modern world, we argue a need for a critical-mass of researchers working across traditional disciplinary boundaries in the future. Research areas to explore may include methodological innovation to capture how socioecological determinants impact on the exacerbation and alleviation of pain, and to ascertain lay views on how pain and societal factors impact on experiences and overall control. Such an approach to research, which relies on community-based, participatory approaches, is exceptionally common in health promotion research (83) and could be highly complementary to the pain field.

Manuscript contribution to the field

This paper draws on the discipline of health promotion to offer new and broader perspectives on the conceptualisation and management of persistent pain. We explore how health promotion research views the experience and management of health in a more holistic way and argue that environmental factors - or structures - are likely as potent in their contribution to persistent pain as individual behaviours and choices. We discuss the application of health promotion to pain and painogenic environments to offer future directions for research in the pain field. The paper suggests that socioecological models that address social and physical determinants of health alongside individual behaviours and practices could reconfigure current approaches away from "health services" toward other "settings" that people interact with on a regular basis. The settings-approach to health promotion is proposed here as one practical way of addressing socio-ecological approaches in practical and tangible ways for practitioners and policy-makers. We argue that a critical-mass of researchers working across traditional disciplinary boundaries is needed in the future if there is to be a fuller understanding of an individual's lived experience of pain in the complex environment of the modern world.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Author contributions

Both authors contributed equally to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MIJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MIJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press. The remaining author declares no conflicts of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Merskey H, Bogduk N. Classification of chronic pain. Seattle, USA: International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) Press. Second Edition (2011). Available at: https://www.iasp-pain.org/publications/free-ebooks/classification-of-chronic-pain-second-edition-revised/

 Elzahaf RA, Tashani OA, Unsworth BA, Johnson MI. The prevalence of chronic pain with an analysis of countries with a human development index less than 0.9: a systematic review without meta-analysis. *Curr Med Res Opin*. (2012) 28:1221-9. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2012.703132

3. Johnson MI. Opinions on Paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9:219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

4. Johnson MI, Dixey R. Should pain be on the health promotion agenda? Glob Health Promot. (2012) 19:41-4. doi: 10.1177/1757975912464251

5. Woodall J, Cross R. Essentials of health promotion. Los Angeles: SAGE (2021).

6. Hubley J, Copeman J, Woodall J. Practical health promotion. Cambridge: Polity Press (2021).

7. World Health Organisation. Ottawa Charter for health promotion. Health Promot. (1986) 1:iii-v.

8. Marmot M, Allen J, Boyce T, Goldblatt P, Morrison J. "Health equity in England: the marmot review 10 years on". London: Institute of Health Equity (2020a).

9. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Herd E, Morrison J. "Build back fairer: the COVID-19 marmot review. The pandemic, socioeconomic and health inequalities in England". London: UCL (2020b).

10. Nettleton S, Bunton R. Sociological critiques of health promotion. In: R Bunton, S Nettleton, R Burrows, editors. *The sociology of health promotion*. London: Routledge (1995). p. 41–58.

11. Mcleroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Educ Q*. (1988) 15:351–77. doi: 10.1177/109019818801500401

12. Green LW, Richard L, Potvin L. Ecological foundations for health promotion. *Am J Health Promot.* (1996) 10:270–81. doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-10. 4.270

13. Yong RJ, Mullins PM, Bhattacharyya N. Prevalence of chronic pain among adults in the United States. *Pain.* (2022) 163:e328–32. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002291

14. Zelaya CE, Dahlhamer JM, Lucas JW, Connor EM. Chronic pain and high-impact chronic pain among U.S. adults, 2019. NCHS Data Brief. (2020) 1:1–8.

15. Fayaz A, Croft P, Langford RM, Donaldson LJ, Jones GT. Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. *BMJ Open*. (2016) 6:e010364. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010364

16. Chou R, Côté P, Randhawa K, Torres P, Yu H, Nordin M, et al. The global spine care initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *Eur Spine J.* (2018) 27:851–60. doi: 10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

17. Collaborators GCOD. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1736–88. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32203-7

18. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Cross M, Hill C, Smith E, Carson-Chahhoud K, et al. Prevalence, deaths, and disability-adjusted life years due to musculoskeletal disorders for 195 countries and territories 1990-2017. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2021) 73:702–14. doi: 10.1002/art.41571

19. Maher C, Ferreira G. Time to reconsider what global burden of disease studies really tell US about low back pain. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2022) 81:306–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-221173

20. Gaskin DJ, Richard P. The economic costs of pain in the United States. J Pain. (2012) 13:715–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2012.03.009

21. Gustavsson A, Bjorkman J, Ljungcrantz C, Rhodin A, Rivano-Fischer M, Sjolund KF, et al. Socio-economic burden of patients with a diagnosis related to chronic pain-register data of 840,000 Swedish patients. *Eur J Pain.* (2012) 16:289–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.07.006

22. Raftery MN, Ryan P, Normand C, Murphy AW, De La Harpe D, Mcguire BE. The economic cost of chronic noncancer pain in Ireland: results from the PRIME study, part 2. *J Pain*. (2012) 13:139–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.004

23. Azevedo LF, Costa-Pereira A, Mendonca L, Dias CC, Castro-Lopes JM. The economic impact of chronic pain: a nationwide population-based cost-of-illness

study in Portugal. Eur J Health Econ. (2016) 17:87–98. doi: 10.1007/s10198-014-0659-4

24. Mayer S, Spickschen J, Stein KV, Crevenna R, Dorner TE, Simon J. The societal costs of chronic pain and its determinants: the case of Austria. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0213889. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213889

25. Inoue S, Kamiya M, Nishihara M, Arai YP, Ikemoto T, Ushida T. Prevalence, characteristics, and burden of failed back surgery syndrome: the influence of various residual symptoms on patient satisfaction and quality of life as assessed by a nationwide Internet survey in Japan. *J Pain Res.* (2017) 10:811–23. doi: 10. 2147/JPR.S129295

26. Weir S, Samnaliev M, Kuo TC, Ni Choitir C, Tierney TS, Cumming D, et al. The incidence and healthcare costs of persistent postoperative pain following lumbar spine surgery in the UK: a cohort study using the clinical practice research datalink (CPRD) and hospital episode statistics (HES). *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e017585. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017585

27. Neuman MD, Bateman BT, Wunsch H. Inappropriate opioid prescription after surgery. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:1547-57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30428-3

28. Karran EL, Grant AR, Moseley GL. Low back pain and the social determinants of health: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. *Pain.* (2020) 161:2476–93. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001944

29. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Osteoarthritis: care and management. Available at: http://nice.org.uk/guidance/cg177 (Accessed 29/08/2019) (2014).

30. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management. Clinical guideline [NG59]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2016). Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59 (Accessed).

31. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Chronic Pain (Primary and Secondary) in over 16s: Assessment of all Chronic Pain and Management of Chronic Primary Pain (NG193). London, UK: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2021). Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng193 [Accessed].

32. Nicholas MK. The biopsychosocial model of pain 40 years on: time for a reappraisal? PAIN. (2022) 19:1-12. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000002654

33. Tudor-Locke C, Brashear MM, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT. Accelerometer profiles of physical activity and inactivity in normal weight, overweight, and obese U.S. men and women. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2010) 7:60. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-60

34. Baker PR, Francis DP, Soares J, Weightman AL, Foster C. Community wide interventions for increasing physical activity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2015) 1:CD008366. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008366.pub3

35. Love R, Adams J, Van Sluijs EMF. Are school-based physical activity interventions effective and equitable? A meta-analysis of cluster randomized controlled trials with accelerometer-assessed activity. *Obes Rev.* (2019) 20:859–70. doi: 10.1111/obr.12823

36. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br J Sports Med.* (2020) 54:1451–62. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955

37. Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Prev Med.* (1999) 29:563–70. doi: 10. 1006/pmed.1999.0585

38. Johnson M, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical view of pain: time for upstream perspectives? *Health Promot Int.* (in press).

39. Elma O, Yilmaz ST, Deliens T, Coppieters I, Clarys P, Nijs J, et al. Do nutritional factors interact with chronic musculoskeletal pain? A systematic review. J Clin Med. (2020) 9:1–23. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030702

40. Choi KW, Somers TJ, Babyak MA, Sikkema KJ, Blumenthal JA, Keefe FJ. The relationship between pain and eating among overweight and obese individuals with osteoarthritis: an ecological momentary study. *Pain Res Manag.* (2014) 19:e159–163. doi: 10.1155/2014/598382

41. Sterling P, Eyer J. Allostasis: a new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In: S Fisher, J Reason, editors. *Handbook of life stress, cognition and health*. New York: John Wiley & Sons (1988). p. 629–49.

42. Sterling P. Allostasis: a model of predictive regulation. *Physiol Behav.* (2012) 106:5–15. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.06.004

43. Guidi J, Lucente M, Sonino N, Fava GA. Allostatic load and its impact on health: a systematic review. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2021) 90:11–27. doi: 10. 1159/000510696

44. Ramsay DS, Woods SC. Clarifying the roles of homeostasis and allostasis in physiological regulation. *Psychol Rev.* (2014) 121:225-47. doi: 10.1037/a0035942

45. Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP classification of chronic pain for the international classification of diseases (ICD-11). *Pain*. (2019) 160:19–27. doi: 10. 1097/j.pain.00000000001384

46. World Health Organisation. "ICD-11: International classification of diseases (11th revision)" (2019).

47. Jones GT, Power C, Macfarlane GJ. Adverse events in childhood and chronic widespread pain in adult life: results from the 1958 British birth cohort study. *Pain.* (2009) 143:92–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.02.003

48. You DS, Albu S, Lisenbardt H, Meagher MW. Cumulative childhood adversity as a risk factor for common chronic pain conditions in young adults. *Pain Med.* (2019) 20:486–94. doi: 10.1093/pm/pny106

49. Groenewald CB, Murray CB, Palermo TM. Adverse childhood experiences and chronic pain among children and adolescents in the United States. *Pain Rep.* (2020) 5:e839. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000839

50. Tidmarsh LV, Harrison R, Ravindran D, Matthews SL, Finlay KA. The influence of adverse childhood experiences in pain management: mechanisms, processes, and trauma-informed care. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:923866. doi: 10. 3389/fpain.2022.923866

51. Danese A, Mcewen BS. Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. *Physiol Behav.* (2012) 106:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j. physbeh.2011.08.019

52. You DS, Meagher MW. Childhood adversity and pain sensitization. Psychosom Med. (2016) 78:1084-93. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000399

53. You DS, Meagher MW. Childhood adversity and pain facilitation. Psychosom Med. (2018) 80:869–79. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000638

54. Rasmussen LJH, Moffitt TE, Arseneault L, Danese A, Eugen-Olsen J, Fisher HL, et al. Association of adverse experiences and exposure to violence in childhood and adolescence with inflammatory burden in young people. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2020) 174:38-47. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.3875

55. Bronfenbrenner U. *Ecological models of human development*. Oxford, England: Elsevier (1977).

56. Lakoff G. Why it matters how we frame the environment. *Environ Commun.* (2010) 4:70-81. doi: 10.1080/17524030903529749

57. Carey G, Malbon E, Crammond B, Pescud M, Baker P. Can the sociology of social problems help US to understand and manage 'lifestyle drift'? *Health Promot Int.* (2016) 32:755–61. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dav116.

58. Green LW, Raeburn JM. Health promotion. What is it? What will it become? *Health Promot.* (1988) 3:151–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/3.2.151

59. Stokols D, Grzywacz JG, Mcmahan S, Phillips K. Increasing the health promotive capacity of human environments. *Am J Health Promot.* (2003) 18:4-13. doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-18.1.4

60. Bagnall A-M, Radley D, Jones R, Gately P, Nobles J, Van Dijk M, et al. Whole systems approaches to obesity and other complex public health challenges: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. (2019) 19:8. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6274-z

61. Gostin LO. 2016: the year of the Soda tax. Milbank Q. (2017) 95:19-23. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12240

62. Woodall J, Freeman C. Where have we been and where are we going? The state of contemporary health promotion. *Health Educ J.* (2020) 79:621–32. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896919899970

63. Popay J, Whitehead M, Hunter DJ. Injustice is killing people on a large scale —but what is to be done about it? *J Public Health*. (2010) 32:148–9. doi: 10.1093/ pubmed/fdq029 64. Baum F, Fisher M. Why behavioural health promotion endures despite its failure to reduce health inequities. *Sociol Health Illn.* (2014) 36:213–25. doi: 10. 1111/1467-9566.12112

65. Green J, Cross R, Woodall J, Tones K. Health promotion. Planning and strategies. London: Sage (2019).

66. Kickbusch I. Issues in health promotion. *Health Promot.* (1986) 1:437-42. doi: 10.1093/heapro/1.4.437

67. Milio N. Promoting health through public policy. Ottawa: Canadian Public Health Association (1986).

68. World Health Organisation. *Shanghai Declaration on promoting health in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. Geneva: WHO (2016). Available at: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/9gchp/shanghai-declaration/en/ (Accessed 7th January 2018).

69. Stokols D. Translating social ecological theory into guidelines for community health promotion. *Am J Health Promot.* (1996) 10:282–98. doi: 10. 4278/0890-1171-10.4.282

70. Stokols D. Establishing and maintaining healthy environments. Towards a social ecology of health promotion. *Am Psychol.* (1992) 47:6–22. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.47.1.6

71. Wu CA, Simon AJ, Modrich MA, Stacey MW, Matyas BT, Shubrook JH. Adapting the social-ecological framework for chronic pain management and successful opioid tapering. *J Am Osteopath Assoc*. (2019) 119:793–801. doi: 10. 7556/jaoa.2019.132

72. Frohlich KL, Potvin L. Health promotion through the lens of population health: toward a salutogenic setting. *Crit Public Health*. (1999) 9:211-22. doi: 10.1080/09581599908402933

73. Ziglio E, Hagard S, Griffiths J. Health promotion development in Europe: achievements and challenges. *Health Promot Int.* (2000) 15:143–54. doi: 10. 1093/heapro/15.2.143

74. Welsh Government. "Review of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) policy: report. How the ACE policy has performed and how it can be developed in the future." (2021).

75. Belsky J, Melhuish E, Barnes J, Leyland AH, Romaniuk H. Effects of sure start local programmes on children and families: early findings from a quasiexperimental, cross sectional study. *Br Med J.* (2006) 332:1476. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.38853.451748.2F

76. Dooris M. Healthy settings: past, present and future [Unpublished PhD thesis]. PhD, Deakin University (2007).

77. Bloch P, Toft U, Reinbach HC, Clausen LT, Mikkelsen BE, Poulsen K, et al. Revitalizing the setting approach – supersettings for sustainable impact in community health promotion. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2014) 11:118. doi: 10.1186/s12966-014-0118-8

78. National Pain Summit Initiative (2010). "Painaustralia 2010. National Pain Strategy".

79. Australian Government (2021). "The national strategic action plan for pain management", (ed.) D.O.H.a.A. Care. (Canberra: Australian Government).

80. Hancock T. Creating health and health promoting hospitals: a worthy challenge for the twenty-first century. *Int J Health Care Qual Assur.* (1999) 12:8–19. doi: 10.1108/13660759910266784

81. Dooris M, Poland B, Kolbe L, Leeuw ED, Mccall D, Wharf-Higgins J. Healthy settings. Building evidence for the effectiveness of whole system health promotion - challenges and future directions. In: DV Mcqueen, CM Jones, editors. *Global perspectives on health promotion effectiveness*. New York: Springer (2007). p. 327–52.

82. St Leger L. Health promoting settings: form Ottawa to Jakarta. Health Promot Int. (1997) 12:99-101. doi: 10.1093/heapro/12.2.99

83. Woodall J, Warwick-Booth L, South J, Cross R. What makes health promotion distinct? Scand J Public Health. (2018) 46:118–22. doi: 10.1177/1403494817744130

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mark I. Johnson, Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Vinita Agarwal, Salisbury University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE lan J. Koebner ikoebner@fas.harvard.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Non-Pharmacological Treatment of Pain, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pain Research

RECEIVED 15 August 2022 ACCEPTED 23 September 2022 PUBLISHED 21 October 2022

CITATION

Koebner IJ, Bonilla B, Slatman J and Parry M (2022) The Analgesic Museum. Front. Pain Res. 3:1019632. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1019632

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Koebner, Bonilla, Slatman and Parry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The Analgesic Museum

Ian J. Koebner^{1,2*}, Bethney Bonilla³, Jenny Slatman⁴ and Manon Parry^{5,6}

¹Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ²Romance Languages and Literatures, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, United States, ³Center for Healthcare Policy and Research, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ⁴Culture Studies, Tilburg University, Tilburg, Netherlands, ⁵American Studies and Public History, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁶Medical History, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, Netherlands

This manuscript uses the perspectives and insights that emerged from the Analgesic Museum conference held virtually on March 11, 2022 as a mechanism for considering the role museums and artists can play in the public health effort to reduce the burden of persistent pain. One hundred and fifty-seven individuals from 22 countries registered for the Analgesic Museum conference. The event explored the intersection of art and pain management practices with presentations centered on three domains of interest: exhibition development, arts experiences and practices, and research and creative scholarship.

KEYWORDS

persistent pain, museums, social connection, art, wellness

Introduction

Persistent pain affects hundreds of millions of individuals globally with a recent review in the Lancet boldly proclaiming, "it is difficult to overestimate the burden of chronic pain." (1) While social factors, such as social isolation and loneliness, can greatly impact the lived experience of pain, the biomedical community has not operationalized many treatment approaches to address these factors (2). Concurrently, a meaningful body of scientific literature now supports what practitioners of the humanities have argued for centuries—the arts can improve health (3). But can the arts relieve pain?

On March 11, 2022, 13 speakers along with 157 registrants from 22 countries came together on a virtual platform to explore the potential of cultural engagement in museums and art spaces to reduce the burden of pain. The day-long conference titled, *The Analgesic Museum* focused on three overlapping areas of interest:

- Exhibition development to showcase the aesthetics of analgesia
- Arts experiences and practices to reduce the burden of persistent pain
- Research and creative scholarship to explore how museum-based interventions can lessen pain

The goal of the conference was to seed an international interdisciplinary network of scientists, museum and healthcare professionals, individuals living with persistent pain, and artists committed to investigating the aesthetics and impact of museum engagement to reduce the burden of persistent pain. To provide highlights from the day with a broader audience this paper offers summaries of the featured speakers' perspectives and

insights. The entire conference can be viewed for free at: https:// health.ucdavis.edu/pain/acupuncture/CrockerArtRx.html.

Setting the scene

Christopher Bailey, Arts and Health Lead for the World Health Organization (WHO), and Melissa Menzer, Senior Program Analyst at the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA), began the conference by helping to frame, through both personal testimonial and review of the evidence base, the impact the arts have on health and wellbeing. A WHO review on the role of the arts in improving health and well-being, which included over 3,000 studies, identified a major role for the arts in preventing ill health and promoting wellbeing across the lifespan (3). Relevant to this conference the review found that little work has been done in the art and health field focused on persistent pain, a finding that has been confirmed elsewhere in the literature (4). Menzer detailed the NEA's recent review on arts strategies for addressing pain and the opioid crisis. This landmark review produced several findings that informed both the intention and structure of the Analgesic Museum conference. First, the NEA review found that the majority of studies conducted on pain management focused on post-operative pain (vs. persistent pain) and investigated music-based interventions (vs. museum-based interventions) (5). Second, the report called for more research on the arts' impact on persistent pain and on the social dimensions of pain (5). The conference responds to these findings by not only highlighting projects that specifically examine the role of non-music-based arts programming to address persistent pain, but through the identification of topic areas—Exhibition development; Arts experiences and practices; Research and creative scholarship-that will foster more research and programming in these gap areas of study and practice.

Exhibition development

How do we curate art to reduce the burden of pain?

Sabrina Kamstra, Chief Curator and Head of the Art Department at the Amsterdam University Medical Center (UMC) oversees a collection of more than 7,000 works of art. Kamstra's team creates encounters with art for patients, hospital staff, students, and visitors along the hospital's corridors, public spaces, and clinical rooms. The art department at Amsterdam UMC participates in collaborative research to explore the impact of art within the context of a major urban teaching hospital. Kamstra discussed the work of artist Nieke Koek who through conversations with patients and staff at the hospital's rehabilitation clinic created an automata of a leg. The leg was intended to help individuals discuss and represent the experience of pain. "We believe that artists can give a different insight on specific medical questions, which can be of help to medical research," Kamstra said.

Jasminko Halilovic, Founder and Managing Director of the War Childhood Museum in Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina, discussed the process of creating and sharing a collection focused exclusively on childhoods that have been affected by war. Halilovic emphasized how the museum, with its ability to respect, care for, and amplify an individual's story can contribute to both the individual and collective healing of pain and trauma. "The process of giving a personal object to the museum collection is not a mere act of donation," Halillovic said. "This is a long-term connection, which is developed between people and museum. And this [connection] then transcends to the interactions with visitors." In addition to a permanent museum and traveling exhibitions, the War Childhood Museum hosts workshops for teachers and parents on how to discuss the sensitive topic of conflict with children at home and in the classroom.

Ine Gevers, Founding Director of the Niet Normaal Foundation, Institute for Inclusive Innovation in Utrecht, The Netherlands, highlighted several of her exhibitions that focused on radical inclusivity and the dichotomy of pain and pleasure. "We really make a mistake in thinking that people with disabilities or chronic illness are [the] minority. They are actually a majority," Gevers said. Her most recent exhibition, *Come Alive*, is a large-scale immersive experience that explores eroticism as a creative energy that can help individuals to reconnect with themselves and others in precarious times. The exhibit invites attendees to reflect on the redistribution of sensual love to all who need it as well as the use of pleasure to release pain.

Arts experiences and practices

How do we make art that reduces the burden of pain?

Jeroen Lutters, Professor at the ArtEZ University of the Arts in Arnhem, The Netherlands, challenged participants to consider the spectator as artist. Lutters presented an overview of Arts Based Learning (ABL), a method for learning from art that questions the duality between receiving and making an aesthetic experience. ABL asks the spectator to begin with a question of personal relevance, and then to bring that question into an extended dialogue with an object of art. The individual then enters into "possible worlds," as Lutters explains, allowing the dialogue between art and spectator to generate responses to the original question. This process positions the spectator viewer as co-creator, and not consumer, of art. Lutters offered conference attendees the hypothetical of an individual who could embark on this process with the question, *how can I get rid of this pain*?

Designer and Artist, **Nienke Helder**, Eindhoven, The Netherlands, then spoke about her project, "Sexual Healing," in which she developed several objects that invite women to explore their bodies and sexuality in a safe and non-clinical way. She described her design process, which involved partnering with medical experts and women seeking help for "sexual dysfunctions" such as painful intercourse, shame, problems with penetration, difficulties with getting in the "mood" or orgasms. Helder emphasized the need for, and challenges with, evaluating the impact of her work in the world. "After all," Helder explains, "It's through this public engagement that we will be able to translate new knowledge into tangible experiences for those who eventually need them."

Social designer, Joost van Wijmen, based in Hertogenbosch, The Netherlands, discussed his project ENCOUNTER #6. Van Wijmen invited individuals with bodily scars to partner with him and his creative team to make silk embroidered reproductions of those scars. These testaments to the changing body reveal the potential for even the most painful and difficult transformations to be expressions of beauty and meaning. ENCOUNTER #6 is displayed in a mobile exhibition that travels to libraries, museums, and hospitals among other locations. The project allows participants to enter into a deep conversation about their scar and their changing body, while also reframing these processes as a work of art. Viewers engage with such universal themes as intimacy, loss, and vulnerability. Van Wijmen says, "I don't solve problems. I listen mainly and provide a space for both funny stories, or sometimes success, but also discomfort. The goal of ENCOUNTER is sharing personal experiences ... I ask participants or an audience to place themselves in the shoes of the other."

Mohi-Ud-Din, CEO Mohsin Founder and of #MeWeInternational, which is headquartered in Georgia, United States, but works in 15 countries to provide communications tools that enable individuals to unlock their agency, reframe their narratives, and author the future, invited the audience to understand communication as foundational to art and health. Mohi-Ud-Din called for considering "words as living things that actually reshape the brain, reshape your nervous system, reshape how you view yourself." MeWeInternational's work is a powerful example of the impact that narrative art can have on pain across multiple contexts with evaluations demonstrating program improved communication skills, emotion regulation, goal-setting, problem-solving, perspective taking, and creative publishing opportunities. However, Mohi-Ud-Din also shared critical insights into the potential harm that can come from measuring the lived experience of people sharing personal experiences where, "The process of monitoring, evaluation, and data gathering retraumatized the communities that this data was meant to serve." Mohi-Ud-Din called for balancing community control of language and process with scientific integrity.

Research and creative scholarship

How do we evaluate art intended to reduce the burden of pain?

The University of California, Davis (UCD) is involved in a number of studies exploring the public health potential of museums and arts spaces to address the burden of persistent pain. **Ian Koebner**, Director of Integrative Pain Management at UCD and Cultural Agents Fellow at Harvard University, discussed his partnership with the Crocker Art Museum in Sacramento, California to create and evaluate museum-based programs for individuals who self-identify as living with persistent pain. Their initial studies focused on the feasibility of the partnership from an organizational perspective (6) and from the perspective of individuals living with persistent pain (7). UCD is currently conducting the first ever randomized controlled trial of museum- and virtual-museum-based programs for individuals who self-identify as living with persistent pain (8).

Museum-based interventions can be conceptualized as complex in that they involve multiple and interacting factors (9). For example, the effect of the art in any museum-based program will interact with the group-dynamics, as well as the spatial context of the museum itself, to create a total effect. Disaggregating these factors in an effort to demonstrate causality can be difficult. **Jorge Peña**, a Professor in the Department of Communication at UC Davis, discussed a study that he co-leads with Koebner, to explore the specific effects of art and social connection in a virtual-museum model. Individuals living with persistent pain are randomized to a virtual museum gallery with or without art and with or without a social connection prime to test the separate and joint effects of these two factors—art and social connection (10).

Sarah Herrera, Assistant Director of Business Intelligence at the Mondavi Center for the Performing Arts at UCD shared how the Mondavi Center has initiated a program to learn more about the health of the people who visit the Center, as well as the degree to which they feel they belong at the Center. Herrera noted that the cultural sector has many audience development efforts, however less work is done to investigate how those audiences feel in cultural spaces, and how those feelings may differ among subpopulations. "Our hope is through understanding the experiences of those living with chronic pain that we may create experiences where they feel like they belong more in our spaces," Herrera said. Herrera also provided insight into how museums and other art spaces might expand their diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility efforts by centering the construct of belongingness.

Olivier Beauchet, Professor and Director of AgeTEQ Laboratory at the University of Montreal, concluded the Research and Creative Scholarship section of the conference with a discussion of his work examining the effects of museum-based participatory arts programs on frailty, health, and socialization among the elderly. Beauchet first discussed a study with the Montreal Museum of Fine Art (MMFA) to explore the effects of a participatory art-based activity called "Thursdays at the Museum" for older adults (11). Following this study, the Fuji Museum, Tokyo, Japan, joined the partnership between the MMFA and the AgeTeQ laboratory in a bicentre RCT that enrolled 228 community-dwelling older adults to receive either a 12-week participatory art-based program or the control condition, which involved no artbased interventions over the study period. Well-being and quality of life improved significantly in the intervention group compared to the control group, while mixed results were observed with frailty (12).

Conclusion

The 21st century ushered in two seemingly disparate truths that the Analgesic Museum conference sought to bridge: the social dimension of persistent pain is inadequately addressed in the current biomedical model of care (2, 13) and the arts may be an unlikely, yet valuable public health partner (14). The day of dialogue offered a creative response to the difficult and important question of if, and how, the arts can relieve pain. An international interdisciplinary group of individuals with the lived experience of persistent pain, policy makers, funders, scientists, curators, museum and healthcare professionals, and artists came together to share their experiences at the intersection of art and pain management practices. Panelists emphasized the potential benefits of artsengagement on pain, from mitigation of pain and pain-related outcomes for the individual to facilitating education and compassionate understanding for society. A common theme among the diverse and myriad project examples shared by panelists was the importance of creating opportunities for individuals to author their experience of pain and to engage in dialogue about those experiences. Panelists also stressed the challenges associated with developing arts-based experiences that target the reduction of persistent pain. Examples of challenges include intervention design, appropriate evaluation methods, and partnering across divides such as epistemological perspective (e.g., positivism vs. constructivism), discipline (e.g., the "arts" vs. the "sciences") and social position (e.g., "able" vs. "disabled" bodies).

The Analgesic Museum conference was a critical if first step in the establishment of a framework for exploring the aesthetics and impact of museum engagement to reduce the burden of persistent pain. This manuscript aims not only to highlight and amplify specific projects at the intersection of art and pain management practices, but also to showcase the conference itself as a mechanism for network building in this undeveloped topic area. The conference's themes—Exhibition Development, Arts Experiences and Practices, and Research and Creative Scholarship—offer domains of practice for developing the field of art and pain management. Our hope is that the conference will serve as a template for additional convenings that center other regions of the world, with the ultimate goal of creating a global interdisciplinary network dedicated to the intersection of art and pain management practices.

Data availability statement

Conference presentations can be found at https://health. ucdavis.edu/pain/acupuncture/CrockerArtRx.html. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the conference presenters included in this article.

Author contributions

IK, BB, JS and MP contributed to the conception and design of the Analgesic Museum conference and the corresponding manuscript. IK and BB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This project is supported by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences, National Institutes of Health (NIH), through grant number UL1 TR001860 and linked award KL2 TR001859 and the Interfaculty Research Institute CLUE+, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam.

Acknowledgments

We wish to acknowledge and thank all of the Analgesic Museum speakers for their participation: Christopher Bailey, Arts and Health Lead—World Health Organization; Melissa Menzer, Senior Program Analyst—National Endowment for the Arts; Sabrina Kamstra, Art Historian, Chief Curator and Head of Art Department—Universitair Medische Centra; Jasminko Halilovic, Founder and Director of the War Childhood Museum; Ine Gevers, Founding Director of the Niet Normaal Foundation, Institute for Inclusive Innovation; Jeroen Lutters, Professor Art education as Critical Tactics (AeCT)—ArtEZ University of the Arts; Nienke Helder, Designer and Artist; Joost van Wijmen, Social Designer; Mohsin Mohi-Ud-Din, Founder & CEO @MeWeInternational; Jorge Peña, Professor, Department of Communication—University of California, Davis; Olivier Beauchet, Full Professor and Director of AgeTEQ Laboratory—University of Montreal; Sarah Herrera, Assistant Director of Business Intelligence at the Mondavi Center for the Performing Arts at University of California, Davis.

We also want to acknowledge and thank the Analgesic Museum conference co-hosts:

The University of California, Davis; The CLUE+ Research Institute and the PULSE Network at the Vrije University Amsterdam; Tilburg University; The Institute of Advanced Studies at the University of Amsterdam; University College London.

References

1. Cohen SP, Vase L, Hooten WM. Chronic pain: an update on burden, best practices, and new advances. *Lancet.* (2021) 397(10289):2082–97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00393-7

2. Ashton-James CE, Anderson SR, Mackey SC, Darnall BD. Beyond pain, distress, and disability: the importance of social outcomes in pain management research and practice. *Pain.* (2022) 163(3):e426–31. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000002404

3. Clift S, Fancourt D, Finn S. (2019). What is the evidence on the role of the arts in improving health and well-being? A scoping review. *Nordic Journal of Arts*, *Culture and Health*. (2020) 2(1):77–83. doi: 10.18261/issn.2535-7913-2020-01-08

4. Koebner IJ, Chatterjee H, Tancredi D, Witt CM, Gosdin M, Rawal R, et al. Developing a framework for arts in health programs targeting individuals with chronic pain: a mixed-methods study of practitioners. *Public Health.* (2021) 197:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.05.032

5. Leis JA, Morrison CI. An integrative review of arts-based strategies for addressing pain and substance use disorder during the opioid crisis. *Health Promot Pract.* (2021) 22(1_suppl):44S-52S. doi: 10.1177/1524839921996065

6. Koebner IJ, Fishman SM, Paterniti D, Sommer D, Ward D, Joseph JG. Curating care: the design and feasibility of a partnership between an art museum and an academic pain center. *Curator Museum J.* (2018) 61(3):415–29. doi: 10.1111/cura.12271

7. Koebner IJ, Fishman SM, Paterniti D, Sommer D, Witt CM, Ward D, et al. The art of analgesia: a pilot study of art museum tours to decrease pain and social disconnection among individuals with chronic pain. *Pain Med.* (2018) 20 (4):681–91. doi: 10.1093/pm/pny148

8. Koebner IJ, Chatterjee HJ, Witt CM, Tancredi DJ, Rawal R, Weinberg G, et al. The transition from in-person to virtual museum programing for individuals

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

living with chronic pain — A formative evaluation. J Clin Transl Sci. (2022) 6(1):e58. doi: 10.1017/cts.2022.392

9. Warran K, Burton A, Fancourt D. What are the active ingredients of "arts in health" activities? Development of the INgredients iN ArTs in hEalth (INNATE) framework. *Wellcome Open Res.* (2022) 7:10. doi: 10.12688/ wellcomeopenres.17414.2. PMCID: PMC9106992

10. Koebner IJ, Pena J. (Unpublished) Can Exposure to Inclusive Virtual Art Decrease Pain and Social Disconnection Among Individuals Living With Chronic Pain? (2022). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05310747? term=koebner&draw=2&rank=2

11. Beauchet O, Bastien T, Mittelman M, Hayashi Y, Ho AHY. Participatory art-based activity, community-dwelling older adults and changes in health condition: results from a pre-post intervention, single-arm, prospective and longitudinal study. *Maturitas.* (2020) 134:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2020. 01.006

12. Beauchet O, Cooper-Brown LA, Hayashi Y, Deveault M, Launay CP. Improving the mental and physical health of older community-dwellers with a museum participatory art-based activity: results of a multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2022) 34(7):1645-54. doi: doi: 10.1007/ s40520-022-02139-3. PMID: 35578103

13. Blyth FM, Macfarlane GJ, Nicholas MK. The contribution of psychosocial factors to the development of chronic pain: the key to better outcomes for patients? *Pain*. (2007) 129(1):8–11. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.009

14. Fancourt D, Finn S. What is the evidence on the role of the arts in improving health and well-being? A scoping review. (2020).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jacques Chelly, University of Pittsburgh, United States

REVIEWED BY Joan Simons, Independent Researcher, Milton Keynes, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 09 February 2023 ACCEPTED 24 April 2023 PUBLISHED 09 May 2023

CITATION

Paley EG, Johnson MI and Paley CA (2023) Understanding pain in modern society: insights from attitudes to pain in the Medieval Period. Front. Pain Res. 4:1162569. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1162569

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Paley, Johnson and Paley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Understanding pain in modern society: insights from attitudes to pain in the Medieval Period

Emma G. Paley¹, Mark I. Johnson^{2*} and Carole A. Paley^{2,3}

¹Institute for Medieval Studies, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ³Academic Unit of Palliative Care, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom

Historical records provide knowledge about the way people lived in the past. Our perspective is that historical analyses of the Medieval Period provide insights to inform a fuller understanding of pain in the present era. In this article, we appraise critiques of the writings of people living with pain during the mid (high) to late Medieval Period (c. 1,000–1,500 AD) to gain insights into the nature, attitudes, lived experience, and sense-making of pain. In the Medieval Period, pain was understood in terms of Galen's four humours and the Church's doctrine of pain as a "divine gift", "punishment for sin" and/or "sacrificial offering". Many treatments for pain were precursors of those used in modern time and society considered pain to be a "shared experience". We argue that sharing personal stories of life is a fundamental human attribute to foster social cohesion, and that nowadays sharing personal stories about pain is difficult during biomedically-focussed time-constrained clinical consultations. Exploring pain through a medieval lens demonstrates the importance of sharing stories of living with pain that are flexible in meaning, so that people can connect with a sense of self and their social world. We advocate a role for community-centred approaches to support people in the creation and sharing of their personal pain stories. Contributions from non-biomedical disciplines, such as history and the arts, can inform a fuller understanding of pain and its prevention and management.

KEYWORDS

pain, medieval, history, painogenic environment, social cohesion, ascetics, attitudes and behaviors

Introduction

Exploring pain through a historical lens offers insights into human understanding, thought and expression, and can provide perceptions of relationships between human biology and sociocultural conventions. The Medieval Period is one of the three traditional divisions of Western history (antiquity, medieval, modern) and a time of great religious, cultural and social development in Europe, paving the way for new scientific thinking. In this perspectives article we examine the meanings attributed to pain and the attitudes and responses to pain during the mid (high) to late Medieval Period. We will discuss the possible mindsets of medieval people experiencing pain and discuss how this may inform a fuller understanding of pain in modern society.

Pain in the Medieval Period

The Medieval Period (Middle Ages) began with the fall of the Western Roman Empire (c. 476 AD) and transitioned into the Renaissance period (c. 1,500 AD). During this time,

approximately 90% of the population were peasants (villeins) working the land and living in small communities under the control of overlords. Much of Europe had become Christian and the first universities were established.

The Medieval Period is divided into: the Early Middle Ages (c. 425–1,000 AD); the High Middle Ages (c. 1,000–1,300 AD); and the Late Middle Ages (c. 1,300–1,500 AD). The bubonic plague (Black Death) occurred during the Late Middle Ages and was associated with mortality of over 20 million people, 30%–50% of the continent's population. A common view in society was that the plague was God's punishment for sin, although some believed that it was a result of an astrological event or an earthquake which released poisonous vapours (1).

Knowledge and attitudes

The book *A History of Pain* by Rey provides a synopsis of institutional and scientific conditions in which theories and knowledge about pain were made (2). Before the Medieval Period Hippocrates (c. 460 - c. 377 BC) argued that diseases were caused naturally, and not because of superstition and gods. The Greek physician and philosopher Galen (c. 129–216 AD) described pain as a "rupture of continuity" or a "change in temperament" caused by an imbalance of the four humours: blood, phlegm, yellow and black bile. Galen believed the mind/soul and body were intimately interconnected and therefore involved in the experience of pain (3). The *Treatise on Man*, published by René Descartes in the 17th century, differentiated the body and the mind (or soul). This

catalysed a biomechanistic model of pain which paved the way for modern medicine but may have marginalised the significance of the mind (4). The Medieval Period spans Galenism with its focus on anatomy and the four humours, and the early modern period with Descartes' mechanistic model of pain (Figure 1).

Throughout history pain has been considered "a passion of the soul". Acute and chronic are relatively recent additions to the pain lexicon and generally physicians only became interested in chronic pain without obvious pathology in the 1900s, with people complaining of long-term pain often regarded as deluded or malingerers. Thus, historical texts discuss long-term illness and/ or pain but do not describe pain in terms of "acute" or "chronic".

During the Medieval Period, knowledge and attitudes towards pain and suffering arise from biographical sources (*vitae*) of historical figures, and occasionally some autobiographical details, although these were rare due to high levels of illiteracy. Most knowledge originates from religious establishments. Convents were one of the few places where women could receive an education, and nuns wrote, translated, and illuminated manuscripts. It is largely from these sources, which were heavily influenced by the Christian beliefs and culture of the time, that an understanding of pain in the Medieval Period is informed. However, early scribes probably exaggerated, diminished, added, or removed events from the accounts of the lives of individuals, so caution is needed in interpretation.

In the Medieval Period, pain was frequently written about with a scholastic or devotional theme, or both, as seen in letters written by the Benedictine Abbess Hildegard von Bingen (1,098–1,179 AD), a medieval visionary and mystic to those who sought her medical advice (5). These letters revealed attitudes towards pain and illness

Pre-and Early Medieval c.425-1000 AD	 Recorded medicine dates from at least 2600 BC when the Egyptian Imhotep described the diagnosis and treatment of 200 diseases c.460 BC Birth of Hippocrates, the Greek 'father of medicine' begins the scientific study of medicine Growth of the Roman Empire: 130 AD Birth of Galen. Greek physician to gladiators and Roman emperors Western Europe experiences a decentralisation of economic system which is not mirrored in the east. Writings of Galen and Hippocrates already in circulation in Greece and Rome but not yet translated to Latin for European scholars
Mid (high)-Late Medieval c.1000-1500 AD	 •Monasteries were major seats of learning but in 11th century AD official universities opened in Europe •1010 AD Avicenna writes The Book of Healing and in 1025 AD The Canon of Medicine •Scholars translated Islamic texts (from original Greek) into Latin for wider consumption •Science: new discoveries and inventions. Scientific progress achieved under the wing of the church •Medicine: disease and illness seen as acts of God but was recognition of interdependence of mind and body •Invention of the printing press in 1440 AD; translation and physical distribution of scientific texts took precedence
Renaissance c.1500-1700 AD	 Intellectual and economic changes; breakdown of class and political structures; Protestant Reformation Scientific revolution c.1550-1700 AD: Galileo: theories of gravity and the universe – not universally accepted Treatise on Man, written by René Descartes introduced mind/body dualism Royal Society set up in 1662 AD by Charles II in London. Medicine: Anatomical knowledge increases. Pain regarded as a mind-body phenomenon and treated using a mixture of religious and scholastic solutions
Enlightenment c.1700-1900 AD	 Industrial revolution: rise of industry, transportation etc French Revolution: changes Europe forever – challenges to authority and balance of power Enlightenment: rise in importance intellectual and scientific thinking over blind faith and belief; Newton, Voltaire etc. 1846 AD – first general anaesthetic developed and heralded huge changes in surgical techniques and healthcare. Medicine: 1857 AD Louis Pasteur identifies germs as cause of disease; first vaccines; 1899 AD aspirin invented; surgical techniques improved; general anaesthetics start to be developed.
Modern Era c.1900 AD-present day	 Industrial revolution gives way to post-industrial society and the digital age. World wars I and II result in vast improvements in surgical techniques and anaesthetics for trauma victims Revolution in science and medicine. Many vaccines developed, Smallpox was eradicated and Pencillin was developed in 1928 AD. NHS starts in UK allowing free healthcare and mass vaccination of the population, improving mortality rates. Biomedical models perpetuate in modern medicine and pain science, creating a mechanistic view. Renewal of focus on the biopsychosocial model of medicine and introduction of 'living well' and other holistic programmes

during the Medieval Period; there were no straightforward causal relationships and they involved both the body and the mind. Even when trained physicians were available from around the 12th century, most people were unable to pay and therefore sought treatments from untrained healers and through religious means.

Treatment for pain was largely reliant on traditional folklore, superstition and herbal tinctures (6). Physicians used astrological charts to aid diagnosis and treatment. In the late 11th Century, new ideas were imported into Europe, probably as a result of the first Crusade. Islamic scientific and medical texts (originally from Greece) were translated into Latin so that they could be read by western European scholars. At this time, Avicenna (Ibn Sina), a Persian polymath (980-1,037 AD) followed Galenic thinking and published "The Canon of Medicine" in 1,025 AD (7) which set the standard for medicine in medieval Europe and the Islamic world into the 18th century. Within "The Canon", Avicenna challenged some aspects of Galen's work and argued that pain was not always an "interruption of continuity", and that bodily adaptation could occur in the presence of pain (8). Although medieval texts did not distinguish between chronic and acute pain as such, some writers referred to long-term painful illnesses.

In the 12th century, the Andalucian polymath and physician and philosopher Averroes (*Ibn Rushd*) wrote *The Book of the Principles of Medicine (The Kulliyat)* which recognised observation rather than mere speculation in the diagnostic process (9) suggesting early practise of evidence-based medicine (10). Guy de Chauliac defined pain in his *Grande Chirurgie* (1,363 AD): "*Pain, according to Avicenna, is a feeling of contradictory qualities. But along with these contradictory humors which might inflict pain, according to Galen, there may be alterations which break or cut, stretch or abrade: pain is therefore the result either of personally generated contrary qualities, or interruptions in continuity caused by accidents*". [Cited in (2)].

Lived experience

Rey claims that there are few accounts of how individuals experienced pain and suffering until the shift in religious preoccupations in the 12th century (2). Figurative scenes of endurance of agony, pain, and suffering of saints, as depicted on stained glass windows, offered clues about the societal relationship with pain. Medieval society was ordered by powerful men of church authorities or feudal lords warring with one another. Rey speculates that during this era there would be little time to ruminate on pain experience. Christianity positioned itself as a religion of salvation and healing through faith and prayer. Rey argues that this social milieu would provide little space for "intimate attention to the body" and encouraged a stoic indifference to pain.

Rey's views of stoicism and indifference to pain are contested by Cohen who devotes an entire chapter of the book *The Modulated Scream: Pain in late Medieval Culture*, to impassibility; mainly of the martyrs but also of those undergoing torture "*They did suffer; they did not possess miraculous impassibility*" (11). Cohen argues that written accounts of the pain of others was speculative and that any apparent indifference to pain must have been an ability to withstand it. It is unlikely that medieval people had the ability to be indifferent to pain and would utilise various strategies and narratives to cope with it. Religious and scholastic attitudes towards pain and disease were so intertwined during this period that people would have tried various strategies for relief. "Saintly stoicism" was probably confined to a few individuals, such as the mystics and pious religious figures.

Cohen draws attention to a difference between people experiencing pain in the late Medieval Period (c. 1,300-1,500 AD) and those of modern time; referring to the social milieu of living with pain in the modern era as "utter isolation and solitude of the sufferer" (12). Cohen states "The modern sufferer is trapped inside her pain, unable to share or express it. In contrast, in the later Middle Ages pain was definitely a social sensation ... pain was shared, discussed and transmitted through speech, art and patterns of behaviour" (12). Cohen argues that sharing pain with others fostered social cohesion and solidarity amongst similar social groups, such as the small, impoverished village communities. The Renaissance and the scientific revolution (c. 1,550 AD) grounded an understanding of pain in bodily pathophysiological disruption, locating pain and its treatment within tissue. People not responding to biomedical treatments were left isolated, disorientated, and helpless by an indifferent and uncomprehending medical paradigm; over time these sentiments spread in the wider social world (13). In the modern era, people continue to share pain experience with family and friends, and within cultural, religious, and societal groups which mirrors the medieval experience of "shared suffering"; however, constraints on resources and the need to quantify pain means that sharing pain experience remains marginalised in health service delivery.

Sense-Making

In the mid to late Medieval Period the pain of Christ was an important part of sense-making. medieval people interpreted the church's premise that pain was a "divine gift" or "sacrificial offering" to get closer to God or as a means of punishment and redemption in various, often contradictory ways. The mystic Beatrice of Nazareth (c. 1,200–1,268 AD) wrote that her many illnesses were a blessing and her pain was a way of being tested and to get closer to God (14). The visionary Margery Kempe (c. 1,373–1,439 AD) thought her painful illnesses were a punishment for being an imperfect human rather than for any specific sin (15). Kempe rationalises the unpredictability of her pain by attributing its origin to God, although she was not affiliated with any religious order.

Medieval *vitae* of the ascetics describe how they practiced severe self-denial and self-infliction of pain either as a form of self-punishment or to mimic the suffering of Christ, possibly through altering their conscious state, in order to be morally acceptable before the divine (16, 17). The mystic and Augustinian Marie d'Oignies (c. 1,177–1,213 AD) self-inflicted pain as a means of punishment and to develop her spiritualty (18), and she overcame this pain claiming that she "had been so inflamed by the overwhelming fire of love" (of God) (18). medieval mystics and others, such as religious martyrs appear to have been able to divert their attention away from pain, possibly by thought suppression and self-hypnosis (17), similar to that observed in modern times, e.g., sport ultra-endurance athletes (19) or extreme sports protagonists (20). In both medieval and modern times context would determine whether such behaviours of mystics and ascetics were perceived as a psychiatric disorder, a feat of "strong will" or the intervention of a supernatural force (21).

Alleviating pain

During the mid to late Medieval Period the first universities in Europe were established. Trained physicians mostly tended to those who could afford to pay. The Universities were affiliated with the Church and scholars were expected to take minor orders, thus forming a complex theology/medicine relationship in medieval Europe (3). A debate about the tension between the Christian "suffering self" and the desire to relieve pain by any means during the Medieval Period remains unresolved (3, 12).

The prevailing Christian view, that pain was a punishment for sin or a divine intervention worthy of reward in the afterlife, fostered an attitude that pain was something to be endured. Nevertheless, evidence suggests that medieval people suffered pain and wanted relief from it. Importantly, painful illness which prevented people from working the land had financial consequences because rents to overlords and tithes to the church could not be paid. This provided a strong incentive to find relief from pain and also placed reliance on small village communities to support the ill and infirm (22). It has widely been thought that life expectancy was only 30-35 years during the Medieval Period, but this has now been shown to be incorrect and skewed due to high infant mortality. Those living to the age of 25 had a good chance of surviving until they were 50 and possibly much longer (23, 24). Therefore, they would have a greater likelihood of experiencing pain and illness, and possibly for a prolonged period of time.

Spiritual relief of pain was often sought by an array of religious activities including prayer, pilgrimages and seeking miracles all of which continue into modern times (25). John of Mirfield (1,362–1,407 AD), amongst others, understood the desire for pain relief and that pain in itself could result in further illness or death (26). Nevertheless, in some circumstances pain should be borne without relief as it was believed that interventions to alleviate pain would interfere with natural processes e.g., by causing contractions to stop during painful childbirth (27).

Medieval healers often used painful antiquated treatments such as bloodletting and other types of purging to rid the body of noxious substances, balance the humours and to 'drain away sins'. In 1,363 AD, Guy de Chauliac's *Grande Chirurgie* described principles for treatment based on "opposites" to counteract disorders including pain, e.g., humidity for dryness, heat to "ward off cold" (28). Guy de Chauliac advocated evacuation or purges and remedies to inflame or suppurate using fats and oils, mixed with bread and eggs, and applied as plasters to defuse heat. He also used ligatures to render painful body parts insensate and to prevent bleeding. The acceptance of painful procedures to cure pain continues to modern times, e.g., surgery, emetics, laxatives, and the draining of bodily fluids such as cysts.

Methods of soothing pain during the Medieval Period included sparing use of plants such as hemlock or opium (29). The earliest version of the Old English Herbal is the Cotton MS Vitellius C III, written in the early 11th century, describing plants and their uses. The Antidotarium Nicolai, written between 1,160-1,220 AD, distinguished between antidotes for pain and those treating illness and was written as a guide to the ingredients required for popular remedies (30). Examples included sponges infused with narcotic substances applied to the skin prior to incision or inhaled as gases through the nose. These procedures echo modern-day analgesic practices such as the use of morphine patches or inhaled Entonox. Hildegard von Bingen (1,098-1,179 AD), Benedictine abbess of the Rhineland in Germany, was a visionary, mystic and healer, that produced remedies for a multitude of ailments using some substances still in use today (31). Some remedies contained dangerous substances such as mandragora root (mandrake), nightshade, and henbane that were administered in small quantities. Some became the precursors of modern-day analgesic agents, for example, opium and willow bark (containing salicylic acid).

It was believed that people undergoing surgery in the Medieval Period received no relief of pain because it had been thought that there were no effective anaesthetics in England until approximately 150 years ago. However, the use of anaesthetics pre-dates Roman times in southern Europe (c. 800 AD) (32, 33). Late medieval English texts (c. 12th-15th century) discovered towards the end of the 20th century contained a recipe for an anaesthetic concoction called Dwale; based on bile, lettuce, vinegar, and bryony root, hemlock, opium, and henbane. Some ingredients were highly dangerous and yet the Dwale recipe was administered by ordinary people (34) and appeared in household recipe books (35). Bryony was sometimes used as a substitute for mandrake (Mandragora officinarum). Mandrake could cause hallucinations and was therefore associated with magic powers and might have been responsible for out of body experiences occurring in witchcraft, although this has not been widely confirmed (36). Jeanne d'Arc (d. 1,431 AD) was accused of carrying mandrake at her trial (37).

Discussion

The complex interchange between medical and Christian beliefs and the debate about the relative influence of medical thought on scholastic theology made the Medieval Period an interesting time in the history of pain. We have used in-depth analyses of the writings of other scholars to gain insights of the mindset of people living in the Medieval Period as summarised in Table 1.

In the Medieval Period, pain was a multifaceted shared social experience with several meanings, and people sought to alleviate pain using physical, spiritual, and social interventions. Sharing pain promotes social bonding, cooperative behaviour, camaraderie, and well-being (38–40). Nowadays, people report

	Medieval Period	Modern Period (including present-day)
Dates of period	• 5th Century A.D. (fall of western Roman Empire) to c. 1,500 A.D. (start of Renaissance period)	c. mid-18th century A.D.
	• Mid (high) to late Medieval Period started c. 1,000 A.D.	• Contemporary history began 1,945 A.D. following the second world war
Major events	 Seats of learning; monasteries and the first universities 1,025 A.D.—Canon of Medicine (Avicenna) set standard for medicine in medieval Europe and the Islamic world Late 12th century <i>The Book of the Principles of Medicine</i> (Averroes) 1,160-1,220 A.D.—The <i>Antidotarium Nicolai</i> guide to the ingredients for remedies that distinguished antidotes for pain and illness First crusades—Islamic medical documents translated into Latin for European Scholars Bubonic plague (c. 1,346 to 1,353 A.D.) 	 c. 1,550-1,700 A.D.—start of scientific revolution Circa 1,600 A.D.—Descartes–Cartesian dualism fostered mechanistic biomedical model of healthy body and denied significance of mind 1,846 A.D.—advent of anaesthetics 1,950 A.D. onwards—emergence of influential pain specialists/ scientists e.g., Bonica, Melzack and Wall, Woolf etc.
Pain experts/influencers	 The church Local healers Medical scholars (later Medieval Period) 	 Medical practitioners/specialists Registered and unregistered therapists/healers Pain specialists Social media
Phenomenology of pain	 "Social sensation" Shared experience Coherent with shared life demands and expectations of community	 "Individual sensation" Private experience Coherent with damaged body needing medical attention creating expectation of diagnosis and cure
Phenomenology of suffering	• Social and public suffering within a cohesive family and community unit	Suffering in isolation and solitude perhaps reflecting some fragmentation of family and community units
Meaning of pain	 Multiple meanings Humoural imbalance Result of treatment or process of healing Blessing from God Devine punishment for sin, a penitence, retribution, punishment, or martyrdom 	 Single meaning (i.e. biomedically dominant) Tissue damage or dysfunctional physiology Present-day recognition of biopsychosocial influences
Ontology	 Holistic, part of a whole person, including the personality Carried within the soul 	 Materialistic, body parts and biomedical constituents Produced by the brain
Explanatory model	 No straightforward causal explanation Humoural imbalance involving body, mind and/or soul God / Metaphysical processes Unclear whether medical or scholastic attitudes were separate or intertwined 	 Symptom of pathology Neuro-mechanistic processes with biopsychosocial influences Dysfunctional somatosensory system
Expression of pain	• Verbalisation, behaviour and artform rooted in diverse narratives	Verbalisation and behaviour predominantly rooted in biomedical narrative
Societal attitude	 Tension between Christian "suffering self" and desire to relieve pain Pain from illness required alleviation Pain from surgery, or childbirth should not be treated Endure pain because 'from God' Spiritual relief by prayer, pilgrimages, miracles and religious power 	 Relief of pain is a human right Expectation of a cure Biomedical, and more recently psychosocial, approaches to 'fix' body and mind Pain as a technical problem Treatment 'failure' if individual remains in pain
Individual hopes, beliefs and expectations	 Hope for relief and possibility of cure Fear pain could result in further illness or death Treatment failure—'God's Will' Behaviour—short period of therapy shopping Continue to work to survive Low expectation of complete relief and return to 'normal'/'optimal' health 	 Expectation of relief and of cure Fear pain could signal sinister disease Treatment failure—multiple explanations, incorrect treatment, poor medical practice, complex medical condition Behaviour—prolonged therapy shopping symptom relief whilst searching for diagnosis and cure Absence from work—illness benefits High expectation of complete relief and return to 'normal'/'optimal' health
Asceticism	Often by religious leaders, mystics, martyrs experiencing torture to be morally acceptable before the divine	Often by sportspeople, military to be stoic, competitive or exhibitionistic
Forces of power	The Church Social power	Biomedicine/health care Medical power
Pain practitioners	 Local trained and untrained healers and 'wise women' using folklore Mystics and religious orders (in case pain resulted from sin) Physicians (medical scholars) available c. 12th century A.D., often aided by astrological charts—but too expensive for most people 	 Physicians, health care practitioners, multidisciplinary teams, using biomedical diagnosis CAM practitioners Religious orders Untrained and unregistered healers
Modes of treatment	 Access to medical care very limited Traditional folklore, herbal tinctures, external concoctions, plants (hemlock, opium, willow bark), salves and plasters Purging to rid the body of noxious substances or drain away sins Balance humours 	 Access to medical care widespread Treatment targeting biomedical constituents such as anaesthetics, analgesics, pain adjuvants and surgery Biopsychosocial approaches and health promoting and lifestyle adjustments
Pain writings	Scholastic and devotional themeOften only available to educated few	 Applied biomedical/psychosocial theme Knowledge generated by pain specialists/scientists and available to society

TABLE 1 Comparison of attributes of pain in medieval and modern periods.

feelings of being "trapped" inside a painful "damaged" body likened to incarceration in prison and resulting in self-imposed isolation (41). Self-isolation is an evolutionary adaptation that aids survival following injury, and people will have self-isolated in the Medieval Period, although this seems to have been heightened in modern times. The rise in individualism and the inability to adequately share pain in health care settings appear to be contributing factors (42, 43). Conversely, technological developments have enabled sharing of pain via the world wide web and social media, enabling global reach way beyond the confines of local groups and communities. Sharing pain in this way may have a profound impact on pain experience, and research on the topic is in its infancy. Likewise, a bewildering multitude of choices and opinions are available nowadays for people experiencing pain. This may provide greater opportunities for recovery but may also increase the sense of isolation and hopelessness when treatments fail. We advocate a need to allow society, including health care systems, to provide opportunities for modern-day people to share pain, through for example, telling stories of pain experience using various vocabularies. Contemporary approaches to assist people on a healing journey are delivered using clinical and non-clinical personnel in settings that are "non-threatening" including the arts and visual imagery (44 - 46).

Medieval explanations of pain residing "within the soul" have parallels with contemporary concepts of "inner-self", "embodied pain" and "body-mind theory" (47). Medieval humoural theory is a rudimentary framework for contemporary concepts associated with balance of the body and mind and the connection to the natural and built environments (48, 49). The shift from Galen's holistic view of pain resulting from humoural imbalance to a neuromechanistic model of pain has provided great advances in the understanding of nociception, sensitisation, bioplasticity and neuroimmune function. Neilson argues that the neuro-mechanistic view of pain is an "illusion of great scientific progress" because the vast accumulation of physiological knowledge conceals a model that does not explain the subjective experience of pain i.e., the hard problem of consciousness (50). A consequence of conflating nociception (neurophysiology) and pain (51) has been to decontextualise physiological processes from the lived experience (42) resulting in neglect of the socio-ecological factors that shape a person's lifeworld and contribute to painogenicity (13, 52).

Contemporary models describe pain is an emergent phenomenon of brain activity rather than an identifiable "thing" (51, 53–56). Calls to reflect social and phenomenological aspects of pain in scientific definitions (57, 58), consistent with the shared social experience of pain in the Medieval Period, are growing. Bourke argues that pain should be considered a "... type of an event ... one of those recurring occurrences that we regularly experience and witness that participates in the constitution of our sense of self and other" (59) p. 5. Our appraisal suggests that pain would have been considered more like a "type of event" than a "thing" in the Medieval Period.

Under the power of the Church's narrative, failure to relieve pain in the Medieval Period was probably interpreted as "God's will"; an attitude which remains to this day in some cultures and communities. We speculate that this may have fostered an acceptance of the need to endure pain without relief. The biomedical paradigm which has driven advances and refinements of the medieval pharmacopeia has raised societal hope and expectations of relief (and cure). Advances in biomedicine have produced a wealth of beneficial pain treatments, yet unremitting pain and suffering remains a major challenge of the modern period. Forces controlling societal narratives about pain (e.g., the Church or biomedicine) have, to some extent, disenfranchised people. We argue greater focus on investigation of "upstream" factors, such as societal narrative, that may be creating painogenic environments, as this is likely to assist prevention of pain and its persistence. We also advocate a need to empower people to take control of their own pain story (60), with a role for community-centred biopsychosocial approaches to assist recovery and to live well with pain (61). Contemporary approaches to de-marginalise people in pain include a recognition that the arts (45, 46), including the use of imagery, aid understanding of the lived experience of pain (44) and give meaning to life itself: "If health is about adaptation, understanding, and acceptance, then the arts may be more potent than anything that medicine has to offer." (46)

Conclusion

The medieval perspective of pain provides insights for a fuller understanding of the socio-ecological conditions contributing to a painogenic milieu, offering insights to upstream strategies to prevent pain. Severe physical hardship was common for many people during the Medieval Period (i.e., in Europe) and pain was probably common, with chance of relief low. Improvements in living standards and in pain treatment have not resolved the burden of unremitting pain in society. In some ways, the mindset of medieval people toward pain parallels people in the modern era; people seek relief under the constraints of affordability, availability and acceptability and guided by therapeutic, community and theological beliefs. Personal lifeworlds about pain are constructed within the social narratives of the time, and many medieval narratives survive to the present day in refined forms. Pain as a shared experience is a longstanding characteristic of human communities. This supports the need for flexibility in modern-day explanations of pain that are acceptable to individuals and communities, so that they can connect with a sense of self and the social world (62). To do this, we advocate exploration of pain and its management via an eclectic mix of subject disciplines, including history, the arts and storytelling, which would help patients validate their pain and allow them to express psychological and spiritual aspects of their experiences (63).

Accessing research materials

Underlying materials related to our paper can be accessed by contacting Professor Mark I. Johnson.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

All authors contributed equally to this work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare,

References

1. Getz FM. Black death and the silver lining: meaning, continuity, and revolutionary change in histories of medieval plague. *J Hist Biol.* (1991) 24 (2):265–89. doi: 10.1007/BF00209432

2. Rey R. The history of pain. Cambridge: Mass: Harvard University Press (1995). 394.

3. Trembinski D. Pain in medieval and modern contexts. J Can Hist Assoc. (2012) 23 (2):111–41. doi: 10.7202/1015791ar

4. Mehta N. Mind-body dualism: a critique from a health perspective. Mens Sana Monogr. (2011) 9(1):202-9. doi: 10.4103/0973-1229.77436

5. Wallace F. Part III. Medicine and society (1100-1500). In: Wallace F, editors. *Medieval medicine: A reader. Readings in medieval civilizations and cultures XV*. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Press (2010). p. 357-60.

6. Hajar R. The air of history (part II) medicine in the middle ages. *Heart Views*. (2012) 13(4):158-62. doi: 10.4103/1995-705x.105744

7. Avicenna I. *The canon of medicine*. 2nd ed. Chicago, US: Kazi Publications (1025) (1999). p. 710.

8. Tashani OA, Johnson MI. Avicenna's concept of pain. *Libyan J Med.* (2010) 5. doi: 10.3402/ljm.v5i0.5253

9. Delgado F. The neurosciences in averroes principles of medicine. Ann Saudi Med. (2012) 32(3):327-31. doi: 10.5144/0256-4947.2012.327

10. McVaugh M. The "experience-based medicine" of the thirteenth century. *Early Sci Med.* (2009) 14(1/3):105–30. doi: 10.1163/157338209X425524

11. Impassibility CE. The modulated scream: pain in late medieval culture. London: University of Chicago Press Ltd. (2010). 227–56.

12. Cohen E. *The modulated scream: pain in late medieval culture.* London: University of Chicago Press Ltd. (2010). 384.

13. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):1–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

14. De Ganck R. The life of beatrice of nazareth, introduction. The life of beatrice of nazareth: Volume 50. Cistercian fathers series, 50. Annotated ed: Minnesota, US: Liturgical Press (1991). p. 37–9.

15. Bale A. The book of margery kempe. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press (2015). p. 320.

16. Murchú DÓ. Early christian asceticism and its relevance today. Ir Theol Q. (1983) 50(2-4):83-117. doi: 10.1177/002114008305000401

17. Kroll J, Bacharach B. The mystic mind: the psychology of medieval mystics and ascetics. United Kingdom: Routledge (2005).

18. Mulder-Bakker ABE. Mary of oignies: mother of salvation. Medieval women: texts and contexts. Turnhout: Brepols (2006). 53-4.

19. Brace AW, George K, Lovell GP. Mental toughness and self-efficacy of elite ultramarathon runners. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15(11):e0241284. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0241284 and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press. All other authors declare no conflicts of interests.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

20. Tofler IR, Hyatt BM, Tofler DS. Psychiatric aspects of extreme sports: three case studies. *Perm J.* (2018) 22:17–071. doi: 10.7812/TPP/17-071

21. Lourié B. Asceticism of the mind: forms of attention and self-transformation in late antique monasticism, written by inbar graiver, 2018. *Scrinium*. (2020) 16:1–5. doi: 10.1163/18177565-00160A25

22. Hanawalt B. Images of the medieval peasant. J Soc Hist. (2000) 34(2):456–7. doi: 10.1353/jsh.2000.0145

23. Poos LR. Life expectancy and "age of first appearance" in medieval manorial court rolls. *Local Popul Stud.* (1986) 37:45–52.

24. Jonker MA. Estimation of the life expectancy of tenants in the middle ages. *Math Popul Stud.* (2009) 16(2):131–52. doi: 10.1080/08898480902790387

25. Blažević J. The phenomenon of miraculous healing through suggestion in the context of faith and magic—psychological-theological approach. *Psychiatr Danub.* (2021) 33(Suppl 4):933–9.

26. Mirfeld J, Colton JB. John of mirfield (D. 1407). surgery. A translation of his breviarium bartholomei. Pt. IX. New York, US: Hafner Publishing Company (1969).

27. Skowronski GA. Pain relief in childbirth: changing historical and feminist perspectives. *Anaesth Intensive Care.* (2015) 43:25-8. doi: 10.1177/0310057 (150430s106

28. de Chauliac G, Joubert L, Arnaud L, Borde P, Rigaud C. La Grande Chirurgie De M. Guy De Chauliac: chez Philippe Borde, L. Arnau, & Cl. Rigaud (1659).

29. Brunsch SH. Analgesic remedies in the middle ages. Schmerz. (2007) 21 (4):331-8. doi: 10.1007/s00482-007-0559-y

30. González Blanco M. An edition of the middle English translation of the antidotarium. Nicolai: University of Glasgow (2018).

31. von Bingen H, Throop P. *Physica: the complete translation of her classic work on health and healing.* Rochester, Vermont: Healing Arts Press (1998).

32. Keys TE. History of surgical anesthesia. Lancet (London, England). (1945) 2 (6379):636. doi: 10.1097/00000441-194511000-00027

33. Chidiac EJ, Kaddoum RN, Fuleihan SF. Special article: mandragora: anesthetic of the ancients. *Anesth Analg.* (2012) 115(6):1437–41. doi: Epub 20120514. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e318259ee4d

34. Carter AJ. Dwale: an anaesthetic from old England. Br Med J. (1999) 319 (7225):1623–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.319.7225.1623

35. Rawcliffe C. Medicine and society in later medieval England. Stroud, UK: Sutton Publishing Ltd. (1997) ISBN: 0750914971.

36. Mann J. Murder, magic, and medicine. USA: Oxford University Press (2000).

37. Carter AJ. Myths and mandrakes. J R Soc Med. (2003) 96(3):144-7. doi: 10.1258/ jrsm.96.3.144. PMID: 12612119; PMCID: PMC539425.

38. Elder GH J, Clipp EC. Combat experience and emotional health: impairment and resilience in later life. *J Pers.* (1989) 57(2):311–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494. 1989.tb00485.x

39. Turner BS, Wainwright SP. Corps de ballet: the case of the injured ballet dancer. Sociol Health Illn. (2003) 25(4):269–88. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.00347

40. Bastian B, Jetten J, Ferris LJ. Pain as social glue: shared pain increases cooperation. *Psychol Sci.* (2014) 25(11):2079-85. doi: 10.1177/0956797614545886

41. Leder D. Coping with chronic pain, illness and incarceration: what patients and prisoners have to teach each other (and all of US). *Med Humanit*. (2018) 44(2):113–9. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2017-011426

42. Sik D. Power from indirect pain: a historical phenomenology of medical pain management. *Cont Philos Rev.* (2021) 54:41–59. doi: 10.1007/s11007-020-09518-5

43. Miglio N, Stanier J. Beyond pain scales: a critical phenomenology of the expression of pain. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne)*. (2022) 3:895443. doi: 10.3389/fpain. 2022.895443

44. Padfield D, Omand H, Semino E, Williams A, Zakrzewska JM. Images as catalysts for meaning-making in medical pain encounters: a multidisciplinary analysis. *Med Humanit.* (2018) 44(2):74–81. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2017-011415

45. Davies C, Knuiman M, Wright P, Rosenberg M. The art of being healthy: a qualitative study to develop a thematic framework for understanding the relationship between health and the arts. *BMJ Open*. (2014) 4(4):e004790. doi: 10. 1136/bmjopen-2014-004790

46. Smith R. Spend (slightly) less on health and more on the arts. *BMJ*. (2002) 325 (7378):1432–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.325.7378.1432

47. Price M. The bodymind problem and the possibilities of pain. *Hypatia*. (2015) 30 (1):268–84.doi: 10.1111/hypa.12127

48. Bhikha R, Glynn JP. The theory of humours revisited. Int J Dev Res. (2017) 7 (09):15029–34.

49. Maric S. Sensation and perception of pain according to the theory of constitution in Tibetan medicine. *Eur J Integr Med.* (2009) 1(4):240. doi: 10. 1016/j.eujim.2009.08.034

50. Neilson S. Pain as metaphor: metaphor and medicine. *Med Humanit*. (2016) 42 (1):3–10. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2015-010672

51. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. *J Pain.* (2022) 23(8):1283–93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235

52. Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

53. Weisman A, Quintner J, Galbraith M, Masharawi Y. Why are assumptions passed off as established knowledge? *Med Hypotheses.* (2020) 140:109693. doi: 10. 1016/j.mehy.2020.109693

54. Moseley GL, Pearson N, Reezigt R, Madden VJ, Hutchinson MR, Dunbar M, et al. Considering precision and utility when we talk about pain. Comment on Cohen et al. J Pain. (2023) 24(1):178–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.05.010

55. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Response to Van Rysewyk S and Moseley Gl et al.'s Comments on Cohen et al. J Pain 2022; 23(8):1283–1293. J Pain. (2023) 24 (1):184–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.11.003

56. Doleys DM. Chronic pain as a hypothetical construct: a practical and philosophical consideration. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:664. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00664

57. Williams AC, Craig KD. Updating the definition of pain. Pain. (2016) 157 (11):2420-3. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000613

58. Cohen M, Quintner J, van Rysewyk S. Reconsidering the international association for the study of pain definition of pain. *Pain Rep.* (2018) 3(2):e634. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000634

59. Bourke J. The story of pain: from prayer to painkillers. United Kingdom: Oxford University Press (2017). 416.

60. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne).* (2022) 3:1000170. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

61. NICE. Chronic Pain (Primary and Secondary) in over 16s: Assessment of All Chronic Pain and Management of Chronic Primary Pain. In: NICE, editor. Royal College of Physicians (2021).

62. Toye F, Belton J, Hannink E, Seers K, Barker K. A healing journey with chronic pain: a meta-ethnography synthesizing 195 qualitative studies. *Pain Med.* (2021) 22 (6):1333–44. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa373

63. Kim KS, Loring S, Kwekkeboom K. Use of art-making intervention for pain and quality of life among cancer patients: a systematic review. *J Holist Nurs.* (2018) 36 (4):341–53. doi: 10.1177/0898010117726633

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY James Woodall, Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Karin Hasenfratz,

University of Zurich, Switzerland Santosh K. Chaturvedi, National Institute of Mental Health (NIH), United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Ravi Philip Rajkumar Image: Ravi.psych@gmail.com

RECEIVED 19 March 2023 ACCEPTED 12 May 2023 PUBLISHED 25 May 2023

CITATION

Rajkumar RP (2023) The influence of cultural and religious factors on cross-national variations in the prevalence of chronic back and neck pain: an analysis of data from the global burden of disease 2019 study. Front. Pain Res. 4:1189432. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1189432

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rajkumar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The influence of cultural and religious factors on cross-national variations in the prevalence of chronic back and neck pain: an analysis of data from the global burden of disease 2019 study

Ravi Philip Rajkumar*

Department of Psychiatry, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research, Pondicherry, India

Introduction: Low back pain and neck pain are among the most commonly reported forms of chronic pain worldwide, and are associated with significant distress, disability and impairment in quality of life. Though these categories of pain can be analyzed and treated from a biomedical perspective, there is evidence that they are both related to psychological variables such as depression and anxiety. The experience of pain can be significantly influenced by cultural values. For example, cultural beliefs and attitudes can influence the meaning attached to the experience of pain, the responses of others to a sufferer's pain, and the likelihood of seeking medical care for particular symptoms. Likewise, religious beliefs and practices can influence the both experience of pain and the responses to it. These factors have also been associated with variations in the severity of depression and anxiety.

Methods: In the current study, data on the estimated national prevalence of both low back pain and neck pain, obtained from the 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study (GBD 2019), is analyzed in relation to cross-national variations in cultural values, as measured using Hofstede's model (n = 115 countries) and in religious belief and practice, based on the most recent Pew Research Center survey (n = 105 countries). To address possible confounding factors, these analyses were adjusted for variables known to be associated with chronic low back or neck pain, namely smoking, alcohol use, obesity, anxiety, depression and insufficient physical activity.

Results: It was found that the cultural dimensions of Power Distance and Collectivism were inversely correlated with the prevalence of chronic low back pain, and Uncertainty Avoidance was inversely correlated with the prevalence of chronic neck pain, even after adjustment for potential confounders. Measures of religious affiliation and practice were negatively correlated with the prevalence of both conditions, but these associations were not significant after adjusting for cultural values and confounders.

Discussion: These results highlight the existence of meaningful cross-cultural variations in the occurrence of common forms of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Psychological and social factors that could account for these variations are reviewed, along with their implications for the holistic management of patients with these disorders.

KEYWORDS

chronic pain, low back pain, neck pain, religion, culture, spirituality

Introduction

Pain is a universal defensive mechanism present in both animals and humans. From an evolutionary perspective, the mechanisms involved in the perception of pain and the response to it have been conserved due to the survival advantages they confer. These advantages include withdrawal from injurious or noxious stimuli, the promotion of wound healing, and the ability to signal danger or a need for help (1). Molecular mechanisms involved in the perception of such stimuli, and withdrawal from them, have been documented even in invertebrate organisms, such as mollusks (2). However, in many cases, humans experience pain that is persistent, severe, disabling, and not seemingly related to any acute risk of tissue damage or injury. This condition is referred to as chronic pain, and it is one of the leading causes of disability around the world (3). One of the commonest types of chronic pain occurs in relation to the components of the musculoskeletal system, and is referred to as chronic musculoskeletal pain (4). For example, meta-analysis of 122 publications from low- and middle-income countries found that the prevalence of chronic pain was 35% in the general population and 56% in elderly adults. Among the population of those diagnosed with a chronic pain, musculoskeletal pain was the commonest diagnosis, accounting for over 40% of all cases in these countries (5). Similar results were obtained in a large crossnational study of older adults from Europe, in which 36% of respondents suffered from chronic musculoskeletal pain (6). Chronic musculoskeletal pain is a particularly common problem among adults in active employment, affecting over 60%-70% of this population, and frequently leading to reduced work performance, loss of income, or unemployment (7-9).

The category of chronic musculoskeletal pain is itself a broad one, including such entities as chronic widespread pain, shoulder pain, low back pain and neck pain. However, low back pain and neck pain are among the commonest types within this category. The prevalence of chronic low back pain has been estimated at around 11% in the general population and 20%–36% in older adults (10, 11), while the lifetime prevalence of chronic neck pain has been estimated at around 48% (12). Moreover, these two types of pain frequently co-occur: it has been found that around 30%–55% of patients with chronic low back pain also experience neck pain (13). Chronic back and neck pain also show evidence of familial aggregation, which suggests that they may share genetic risk factors (14).

The cause of most cases of chronic low back or neck pain is largely unknown. Many hypotheses have been advanced to explain the pathogenesis of these conditions, including mechanical or degenerative changes in local musculoskeletal structures, increased inflammatory activity, increased sensitization to pain at the level of the central nervous system and impairments in sensorimotor control (15–18). Despite much active research in this area, the evidence supporting these hypotheses is often inconsistent, and there is a paucity of evidence to guide the choice of safe and effective treatments in these patients (18–20). Notwithstanding this knowledge gap, most patients with these disorders are treated with pharmacological therapies, such as analgesics and antidepressants (21), and some undergo surgical procedures with the aim of correcting problems of a mechanical or degenerative nature (22). However, these treatment modalities are often of limited efficacy (22–24), and some of them, such as opioid analgesics and surgery, are associated with a significant risk of harm (25, 26).

Owing to these limitations, there is also a significant amount of interest in the role of psychological and social factors in the onset, persistence, and outcome of chronic low back and neck pain. From a psychological perspective, both these conditions appear to be genetically linked to depression (14). Depressive disorders are more common in patients with these disorders than in the general population (27, 28), and depression has been found to predict functional outcomes in these patients (29, 30). Apart from depression, other negative emotional states such as anxiety and anger have also been associated with both the occurrence of these conditions, and the level of disability associated with them (31-33). Psychological stress, particularly when chronic in nature, has been associated with both these types of pain (33, 34), and there is some evidence that patients with these conditions are more sensitive to the effects of stress (35, 36). The cognitive styles of individuals with these pain disorders also appear to differ from those of healthy controls in certain key aspects, such as reduced flexibility (37) and exaggerated ideas or beliefs regarding the causes or likely consequences of their pain (38). In the light of these findings, a wide range of psychologicallyoriented therapies, based on cognitive- or mindfulness-related principles, have been tried in patients with back or neck pain, and have been found to reduce both subjective perceptions of pain severity and quality of life (39, 40).

These psychological findings should, like the biological models discussed earlier, not be viewed in isolation, but as part of a biopsychosocial approach to the pathogenesis and management of chronic musculoskeletal pain (41). Cultural factors can influence individuals' mental health and psychological responses to pain, as well as community- and workplace-related factors that can either facilitate or hinder recovery from chronic back and neck pain. For example, cultural variations in individualism-collectivism-that is, in the extent to which the society accords importance to the individual or to the larger community-have been associated with regional or cross-national variations in the prevalence of depression (42), in emotional responses to a given experiences (43), in coping with stress or adversity (44), and in the manner in which others in the patient's environment respond to their pain (45). Cross-cultural variations in cognitive flexibility, which is significantly associated with chronic pain, have also been shown to exist from childhood onwards (46). Similarly, cultural differences in power distance, which measures the level of hierarchy and the tolerance of inequality in a given society, are associated with crossnational variations in workplace culture and stress (47, 48), which are risk factors for chronic neck pain (49). Culture can also influence how individuals experience and report chronic pain and the disability associated with it, requiring adaptations in the instruments used to measure these variables (50). Moreover, culture can also influence the type of medical care received by these patients. For example, a study of prescribing trends in

Europe found that cultural dimensions, such as individualismcollectivism, long-term orientation, and indulgence vs. restraint, influenced variations in the prescriptions of drugs used to manage these types of pain, such as duloxetine and pregabalin, between countries (51). In a meta-analytic review of studies of chronic pain, it was observed that three cultural dimensions—power distance, individualism-collectivism, and indulgence vs. restraint mediated the association between fear-related avoidance and the severity of pain (52).

Religion and spirituality, as integral parts of culture that shape most aspects of human existence, have also been associated with certain aspects of these types of pain. From a theoretical perspective, religious or spiritual coping has been postulated to exert a beneficial effect both on pain and on the negative mood states, such as depression, that are both caused by and exacerbate it (53). However, due to the relatively small number of studies examining the association between religiosity and musculoskeletal pain, results have often been inconsistent or even conflicting in real-world settings. A study of elderly adults with chronic low back pain found that self-reported religious coping was negatively associated with the intensity of pain and positively associated with pain acceptance, suggesting a protective effect (54). A subsequent systematic review confirmed the association between religious beliefs or attitudes and pain acceptance, but also reported possible negative outcomes such as worse pain-related cognitions and mood states; however, this review acknowledged that most of the available evidence was of low quality and possibly biased (55).

One of the major reasons for variations across studies is that "religion" and "spirituality" are not unitary constructs: different religions, or even different sub-groups or sects within a religion, differ substantially in the significance that they attach to pain, the responses to suffering that are considered appropriate, and the extent of support provided to an individual suffering from chronic pain. Moreover, cultural beliefs and attitudes that are not directly related to religion can act as confounding factors. For example, a study of Ghanaian adults revealed that their religion was a source of hope and support in the face of chronic back pain; on the other hand, many of these adults had culturally-derived maladaptive beliefs related to pain, which were not specifically related to their religion (56). Similar results regarding the positive role of religion were reported in a study of Spanish and Brazilian patients with back pain (57). A study of Arab Muslim patients found that religion was associated with both active and passive coping strategies, with the former having a more positive effect on well-being (58). In a study of office workers with chronic low back pain from Thailand, respondents' self-reported level of adherence to Buddhist beliefs and practices was associated with lower levels of depression and lower salivary cortisol-a marker of stress-but not with any significant reduction in disability (59). Two studies from Nigeria further underline the complexity of the associations between various aspects of religion and these types of pain. In the first, it was found that low back pain was more common in Christian than in Muslim adolescents (60). In the second, it was observed that "unconventional" health practitioners, who are often the first point of contact for Nigerian patients with chronic low back pain, differ significantly in the nature of the guidance they offer: practitioners of herbal medicine seemed to endorse passive coping and adherence to pharmacotherapy (both herbal and allopathic), while pastors favoured spiritual explanations of the cause of back pain, and accordingly offered spiritual healing to their clients, but also encouraged pain acceptance and fostered resilience in their clients (61). Finally, it should be noted that these relationships are not unidirectional: the presence of chronic low back or neck pain can interfere with body posture and mobility, leading to difficulties in adhering to certain religious practices. This can in turn lead to psychological distress, which might exacerbate the underlying pain (62, 63).

The foregoing discussion makes it clear that the management of chronic neck and back pain, particularly in non-"Western" settings, requires a careful integration of both cultural factors and of religion/ spirituality into treatment approaches (41, 53). Such a wish is often reported by patients themselves (64). To achieve this effectively, it would be useful to identify those cultural factors, or those aspects of religious belief or practice, that are meaningfully associated with variations in the occurrence of these disorders. Such an analysis would gain additional validity if an attempt was made to correct for lifestyle, medical and psychosocial factors, such as obesity, physical activity and depression, that are themselves associated with chronic low back and neck pain (27, 49).

The aim of the current study is to examine whether crossnational variations in cultural values, and in self-reported religious affiliation and practice, are associated with significant variations in the prevalence of chronic low back pain and neck pain, as estimated by the 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study. To minimize the risk of spurious correlations, this study will also attempt to correct for the effects of factors independently associated with these disorders, namely tobacco use, alcohol use, depression, anxiety, obesity and insufficient physical activity.

Materials and methods

The current study was a cross-sectional, cross-national, ecological association study. The outcome variables of interest were the estimated prevalence of chronic low back pain and neck pain, obtained from the 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study (GBD 2019). The independent variables of interest were: (a) scores measuring specific cultural values at a national level, namely the Global Collectivism Index (GCI) and Hofstede's six cultural dimensions, and (b) self-reported levels of religious affiliation, belief and practice, based on the most recent Pew Research Center report. The confounding/interacting variables studies were the estimated prevalence of depression, anxiety and obesity; the percentage of the population of each country reporting tobacco or alcohol use; and the estimated proportion of adults in each country whose level of physical activity was considered insufficient.

Data sources

The Global Burden of Disease studies provide cross-national estimates of the incidence, prevalence and disability associated

with a wide range of diseases and disorders, including musculoskeletal disorders, for 204 countries and territories (65). In this group of disorders, separate estimates have been made for the distribution of both chronic low back pain and chronic neck pain in each country. These estimates are available through database queries from the Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network, which is hosted by the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) located in Seattle (66). To minimize the confounding effect of variations in population demographics, such as higher life expectancies leading to higher prevalence estimates, age-standardized estimates of prevalence were obtained for both disorders and used in this study.

Two measures of cross-national variations in culture were used in this study. The first, the Global Collectivism Index (CGI), is a measure of individualism-collectivism that has been computed for 188 countries and territories with the explicit aim of providing a measure of this value that is valid regardless of a country's income grouping or geographical location. The GCI is a composite index calculated based on five factors: fertility rate, household size, marriage-to-divorce ratio, religiosity, collective transportation, and attitudes favoring interdependence. Higher scores on the GCI indicate a collectivistic cultural orientation, while lower values indicate an individualistic orientation. GCI scores range from a maximum of 1.92 (Somalia) to a minimum of -1.85 (Monaco) and were retrieved from the original publication describing the development of this index (67). The second measure of a nation's culture was the six-factor model developed by Geert Hofstede and his colleagues. This model describes each nation's culture in terms of ordinal scores, rated from 0 to 100, on six roughly orthogonal dimensions: Power Distance, Individualism-Collectivism, Masculinity-Femininity, Uncertainty Avoidance, Long-Term Orientation and Indulgence-Restraint. A full definition of each of these dimensions is provided in Table 1 below. Hofstede's model was used for this study because (a) it captures a wide range of cultural values beyond individualism-collectivism, (b) data on this model is

TABLE 1 Study variables, definition, sources and availability.

Variable	Definition	Data source	Availability
Prevalence of chronic low back pain (CLBP)	Age-standardized prevalence of chronic low back pain (%)	Global Burden of Disease 2019 study	204 countries
Prevalence of chronic neck pain (CNP)	Age-standardized prevalence of chronic neck pain (%)	Global Burden of Disease 2019 study	204 countries
Global Collectivism Index (GCI)	A continuous measure of national individualism-collectivism. Higher scores indicate higher collectivism	Original publication	185 countries
Hofstede index of Power Distance (HOF-PD)	A continuous measure of the extent to which inequalities in the distribution of power are expected and accepted in a society. Higher scores indicate a higher power distance.	Hofstede Insights database	116 countries
Hofstede Index of Individualism- Collectivism (HOF-IC)	A continuous measure of the extent to which a society privileges independence or interdependence. Higher scores indicate higher individualism (i.e, scoring order is the reverse of the GCI).	Hofstede Insights database	116 countries
Hofstede Index of Masculinity- Femininity (HOF-MF)	A continuous measure of the extent to which social values favour competition in contrast to cooperation. Higher scores indicate higher masculinity.	Hofstede Insights database	116 countries
Hofstede Index of Uncertainty Avoidance (HOF-UAI)	A continuous measure of the extent to which a society tolerates uncertain situations and uses beliefs or social institutions to handle them. Higher scores indicate higher avoidance of uncertainty.	Hofstede Insights database	116 countries
Hofstede Index of Long-Term Orientation (HOF-LTO)	A continuous measure of a society's preference for tradition as opposed to modernity. Higher scores indicate a more "future" (long-term) orientation.	Hofstede Insights database	100 countries
Hofstede Index of Indulgence vs. Restraint (HOF-IVR)	A continuous measure of a society's willingness to allow individuals to engage in pleasurable activities, as opposed to restraining their desires and impulses. Higher scores indicate greater indulgence	Hofstede Insights database	96 countries
Religious affiliation (REL-AFF)	Percentage of respondents reporting affiliation to a particular religion	Pew Research Center report	105 countries
Religion—Weekly Attendance (REL-ATT)	Percentage of respondents reporting at least weekly attendance of religious services or rituals	Pew Research Center report	101 countries
Religion—Daily Prayer (REL- PRAY)	Percentage of respondents reporting the practice of daily prayer	Pew Research Center	104 countries
Religion—Importance (REL-IMP)	Percentage of respondents reporting that religion is "important" or "very important" to them	Pew Research Center	105 countries
Prevalence of depression (DEP)	Age-standardized prevalence of depressive disorders (%)	Global Burden of Disease 2019 study	204 countries
Prevalence of anxiety disorders (ANX)	Age-standardized prevalence of anxiety disorders (%)	Global Burden of Disease 2019 study	204 countries
Prevalence of tobacco use (TOB)	Percentage of adults estimated to use tobacco	Global Health Observatory	163 countries
Prevalence of alcohol use (ALC)	Percentage of adults estimated to consume alcohol	Global Health Observatory	188 countries
Prevalence of obesity (OB)	Percentage of adults estimated to have a body mass index (BMI) greater than 30 kg/m^2	Global Health Observatory	191 countries
Prevalence of insufficient physical activity (IN-PA)	Percentage of adults whose level of physical activity is estimated to be inadequate	Global Health Observatory	162 countries

All study variables refer to country-level estimates.

35
available for a large number of countries (n = 116), and (c) prior research has established a tentative connection between three of Hofstede's dimensions and specific aspects of chronic pain (52). The Hofstede dimension scores are based on survey data from individuals across various countries, and are available through database queries from the Hofstede Insights database (68).

Data on religion was obtained from the most recent (2018) Pew Research Center report, entitled "The age gap in religion around the world" (69). This report, based on data from multiple surveys conducted in the period 2008–2017, includes data from 105 countries. For each country, the following data is available: (a) percentage of respondents reporting any religious affiliation, (b) percentage reporting daily prayer, (c) percentage reporting weekly attendance at religious services or rituals, and (d) percentage reporting that they consider religion important in their lives. These four parameters were used as measures of religious belief and practice in the current study.

Though several lifestyle and psychosocial variables have been associated with chronic back and neck pain, reliable crossnational data is available for only some of them. Therefore, possible confounding factors were selected for inclusion in the current study based on two criteria: (a) clear evidence of an association between the variable in question and either low back pain or neck pain, based either on systematic reviews or large observational studies of good quality, and (b) availability of reliable data on the variable for at least 100 countries. Based on these criteria, the following variables were included in the analyses of the current study: estimated prevalence of depression, anxiety disorders and obesity (all age-standardized), estimated percentage of adults with insufficient physical activity, and estimated percentage of the population using alcohol and tobacco. Data on these variables was obtained from the World Health Organization's Global Health Observatory (70).

A complete list of all the study variables, their definition, their sources and availability is provided in Table 1.

Data analysis

In the initial step of the data analysis, direct bivariate correlations (Pearson's r) were used to examine the strength and direction of the associations between cultural and religious variables and the estimated prevalence of chronic low back pain and neck pain. For these analyses, Bonferroni's correction was applied to minimize the risk of false-positive results. The correlations between both these sets of variables and the potential confounding factors included in this study—namely depression, anxiety, obesity, insufficient physical activity, and alcohol and tobacco use—were also examined using the same method.

In the second step, partial bivariate correlations (Pearson's partial r) were used to examine whether any identified associations between cultural and religious factors and the prevalence of back or low neck pain remained significant after adjusting for potential confounders. Confounders were selected in these analyses if they were significantly correlated with either set of variables in the previous step. Both direct and partial correlation analyses were

two-tailed, and a p value of < .05 (with Bonferroni's correction for the direct bivariate correlations) was considered significant.

When reporting bivariate and partial correlations, the strength of each association was reporting according to standard guidelines for psychosocial research (71) as follows: absolute value of r(|r|) < 0.1, zero (no) correlation; |r| = 0.1 to 0.39, weak correlation; |r| = 0.4 to 0.69, moderate correlation; $|r| \ge 0.7$, strong correlation.

In the third step, multivariate linear regression analyses were carried out to identify the consistency and strength of the associations between cultural and religious factors and the prevalence of both types of pain. All variables that were significantly associated with either type of pain at p < .05 or less in the bivariate analyses were included in the regression analyses. To address the issue of possible multicollinearity between variables, variance inflation factors (VIFs) were computed for all independent variables. If the VIF exceeded 4 for any of these variables, it was excluded and the analysis repeated until the VIF for all independent variables was ≤ 4 .

Results

Data on the estimated prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain was available for 204 countries and territories. The estimated prevalence of low back pain was $8.11 \pm 1.61\%$, with a maximum of 13.47% (United States) and a minimum of 5.37% (India). The estimated prevalence of neck pain was $2.28 \pm 1.14\%$, with a maximum of 5.55% (Philippines) and a minimum of 0.96%(New Zealand). There was a moderate positive correlation between the prevalence of these types of pain (r = .55, p < .001). Descriptive statistics for the other study variables are presented in **Supplementary Material Table S1**.

Bivariate correlations between culture, religion, and the prevalence of low back and neck pain

Unadjusted bivariate correlations between cultural variables and the prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain are presented in Table 2. In these analyses, the prevalence of chronic low back pain was negatively correlated with the GCI and positively correlated with Hofstede's index of individualismcollectivism; in other words, the prevalence of chronic low back pain was negatively associated with collectivistic cultural values, even after applying Bonferroni's correction. The strength of this association was moderate. Low back pain was also negatively correlated with Hofstede's index of Power Distance, and positively correlated with Uncertainty Avoidance and Long-Term Orientation. However, of these three, only the associations with Power Distance and Long-Term Orientation survived correction for multiple comparisons.

The prevalence of chronic neck pain was also negatively correlated with the GCI and positively correlated with the Hofstede index of individualism-collectivism. Though the strength of these associations was weaker than for low back pain,

Variable 4 5 CLBP CNP GCI HOF-PD HOF-IC HOF-MF HOF-UAI HOF-LTO HOF-IVR .55 (<.001)** -.64 (<.001)** .55 (<.001)** .07 (.433) 1 _ -.32 (<.001)** .21 (.026)* .45 (<.001)** -.09 (.393) 2 -.32 (<.001)** -.37 (<.001)** .43 (<.001)** -.02 (.863) -.20 (.033)* .04 (.726) .11 (.301) _ 3 .55 (<.001)** -.66 (<.001)** .00 (.981) -.10 (.272) -.46 (<.001)** -.13 (.223) _ 4 -.65 (<.001)** .05 (.563) .25 (.007)* .00 (.992) -.30 (.003)* _ 5 .07 (.442) -.20 (.033)* .14 (.159) .13 (.220) _ .00 (.989) .04 (.738) 6 .03 (.782) _ 7 -.26 (.012)* .20 (.043)* _ -.49 (<.001)* 8 _

TABLE 2 Bivariate correlations between dimensional measures of cultural values and the national prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain.

*Significant at p < .05, uncorrected.

**Significant at p < .05 after Bonferroni's correction.

CLBP, prevalence of chronic low back pain; CNP, prevalence of chronic neck pain; GCI, Global Collectivism Index; HOF-PD, Hofstede Index of Power Distance; HOF-IC, Hofstede Index of Individualism-Collectivism; HOF-MF, Hofstede Index of Masculinity-Femininity; HOF-UAI, Hofstede Index of Uncertainty Avoidance; HOF-LTO, Hofstede Index of Long-Term Orientation; HOF-IVR, Hofstede Index of Indulgence vs. Restraint.

it remained significant after Bonferroni's correction. Neck pain was also negatively correlated with Power Distance and Uncertainty Avoidance, but only the former association was significant after correction. Overall, these results suggest that the prevalence both chronic low back pain and neck pain is lower in countries with a collectivistic orientation and a higher Power Distance; low back pain alone was also associated with higher Long-Term Orientation.

Bivariate correlations between measures of religiosity and the prevalence of both pain disorders are presented in Table 3. The prevalence of chronic low back pain was negatively correlated with all four measures of religiosity: this association was weak for affiliation, moderate for religious attendance and daily prayer, and strong for the importance assigned to religion. All these associations survived correction for multiple comparisons. The prevalence of chronic neck pain was also negatively correlated with all measures of religiosity; however, the strength of these associations was weaker, and only the associations with religious attendance and the importance assigned to religion were significant after applying Bonferroni's correction. These results suggest that countries with higher self-reported measures of religious belief and practice have lower levels of chronic low back pain and neck pain, particularly the former. It can also be noted from Table 3 that there was a strong degree of multicollinearity (r = .84 to.93) between the reported values for religious attendance, prayer and importance.

Correlations between the aforementioned variables and the possible confounding or interacting variables included in this study are presented in **Supplementary Material Table S2**. In these analyses, the prevalence of chronic low back pain was positively correlated with the prevalence of anxiety, obesity, insufficient physical activity, tobacco use and alcohol use. A similar pattern was observed for chronic neck pain, though the associations with insufficient physical activity and alcohol use did not reach statistical significance. Unexpectedly, both types of chronic pain showed a negative correlation with the prevalence of depression.

Among cultural dimensions, the most significant associations with confounders were noted for the Global Collectivism Index (positive correlation with depression, negative correlation with all other variables) and with Hofstede's indices of Power Distance (negative correlation with anxiety disorders and alcohol use), Uncertainty Avoidance (positive correlation with obesity, insufficient physical activity, tobacco use and alcohol use), and Long-Term Orientation (negative correlation with anxiety and depression, positive correlation with tobacco and alcohol use). All four measures of religiosity were positively correlated with the prevalence of depression, while the three measures of religious attendance, prayer and importance assigned to religion were negatively correlated with the prevalence of obesity, tobacco use and alcohol use. These analyses suggest that the variables selected for these analyses do represent genuine confounders, being significantly correlated with both cultural and religious indices and with the prevalence of both types of pain.

Supplementary Material Table S3 summarizes the correlations between cultural dimensions and measures of religiosity. All

TABLE 3 Bivariate correlations between measures of religious belief and practice and the national prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain.

Variable	1 CLBP	2 CNP	3 REL-AFF	4 REL-ATT	5 REL-PRAY	6 REL-IMP
1	-	.55 (<.001)**	34 (<.001)**	64 (<.001)**	62 (<.001)**	70 (<.001)**
2		-	31 (.002)*	35 (<.001)**	30 (.002)*	34 (<.001)**
3			-	.53 (<.001)**	.62 (<.001)**	.67 (<.001)**
4				-	.85 (<.001)**	.90 (<.001)**
5					-	.93 (<.001)**

*Significant at *p* < .05, uncorrected.

**Significant at p < .05 after Bonferroni's correction.

CLBP, prevalence of chronic low back pain; CNP, prevalence of chronic neck pain; REL-AFF, percentage reporting religious affiliation; REL-ATT, percentage reporting weekly attendance at religious services; REL-PRAY, percentage reporting daily prayer; REL-IMP, percentage that consider religion important or very important.

measures of religiosity were positively correlated with the GCI, and these associations crossed the threshold for multicollinearity (r > .8) for daily prayer and for the importance accorded to religion. Among Hofstede's dimensions, all measures of religiosity were positively correlated with Power Distance, and negatively correlated with Individualism and Long-Term Orientation.

Partial correlation analyses

For partial correlation analyses involving the prevalence of chronic low back pain, adjustments were made for all six confounding factors, as they were all significantly associated with this outcome. For those involving chronic neck pain, adjustments were made only for the four confounders—depression, anxiety, obesity and tobacco use—associated with this variable. The results of the partial correlation analyses are presented in Table 4.

In the first partial correlation analysis, after adjustment for confounders, the prevalence of chronic low back pain was significantly and negatively correlated with the Global Collectivism Index (partial r = .27, p = .002) and the percentage of those who considered religion important (partial r = .29, p = .008), and positively correlated with the Hofstede indices of Individualism-Collectivism (partial r = .28, p = .006) and Long-Term Orientation (partial r = .24, p = .040).

In the second partial correlation analysis, the prevalence of chronic neck pain was significantly negatively correlated with the Hofstede indices of Power Distance (partial r = -.20, p = .045), Uncertainty Avoidance (partial r = -.34, p < .001) and the percentage of those reporting a religious affiliation (partial r = -.21, p = .041) and positively correlated with the Hofstede index of Individualism-Collectivism (partial r = .27, p = .008).

Multivariate analyses

Two multivariate linear regression analyses were carried out. When selecting variables for these analyses, two issues related to multicollinearity arose. First, there was significant multicollinearity between three of the four measures of religiosity. To address this, a composite index of religiosity was constructed by taking the arithmetic mean of these three variables, and this measure was used in the multivariate analyses if issues related to multicollinearity arose in this context. This composite index was significantly and negatively correlated with the prevalence of both low back pain (r = -.68, p < .001) and neck pain (r = -.35, p < .001). Second, there was significant multicollinearity between the GCI and two of the measures of religiosity. To circumvent this problem, the Hofstede index of Individualism-Collectivism was used instead of the GCI in the multivariate analyses. The complete results of both multivariate analyses are presented in Table 5.

In the first multivariate analysis, the estimated prevalence of chronic low back pain was the dependent variable, and the following independent variables were included in the model: Hofstede's indices of Power Distance, Individualism-Uncertainty Avoidance Collectivism, and Long-Term Orientation, Religious Affiliation, and the composite index of religiosity. The overall model was statistically significant, and explained around 48% of the variance in the prevalence of chronic low back pain ($R^2 = .524$, adjusted $R^2 = .485$). In this model, individualism was positively associated with the prevalence of low back pain ($\beta = .49$, p < .001), while the composite index of religiosity was negatively associated with this outcome ($\beta = -.44, p = .006$).

In the second multivariate analysis, the estimated prevalence of chronic neck pain was the dependent variable, and the following independent variables were selected for analysis: indices of Power Distance, Individualism-Hofstede's Collectivism and Uncertainty Avoidance, Religious Affiliation, and the composite index of religiosity. The overall model attained statistical significance, and explained around 25% of the variance in the prevalence of chronic neck pain ($R^2 = .296$, adjusted $R^2 = .253$). In this model, only one individual variable -Uncertainty Avoidance-was negatively associated with the prevalence of this type of pain ($\beta = -.25$, p = .029), though there was a trend towards a positive association with individualism $(\beta = .26, p = .084)$. Variance inflation factors were below 4 for all variables in both models, indicating a low risk of multicollinearity.

In both the aforementioned models, confounding factors were not included, as this would have led to a relatively low number of subjects per independent variable. Nevertheless, additional linear regression analyses were carried out for exploratory purposes, including those confounding variables that were significantly (p < .05) associated with each outcome, as even with a relatively

TABLE 4 Partial correlation analyses of the national prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain and cultural and religious indices, adjusted for confounders.

Variable	GCI	HOF-PD	HOF-IC	HOF-MF	HOF-UAI	HOF-LTO	HOF-IVR	REL-AFF	REL-ATT	REL-PRAY	REL-IMP
CLBP†	27 (.002)*	02 (.851)	.29 (.006)*	.04 (.689)	02 (.884)	.24 (.040)*	.04 (.718)	05 (.633)	12 (.307)	16 (.153)	29 (.008)*
CNP††	.01 (.876)	20 (.045)*	.27 (.008)*	01 (.918)	34 (<.001)*	03 (.790)	.13 (.256)	21 (.041)*	13 (.215)	13 (.217)	17 (.102)

[†]Adjusted for depression, anxiety disorders, obesity, insufficient physical activity, tobacco use and alcohol use.

^{††}Adjusted for depression, anxiety disorders, obesity and tobacco use.

*Significant at p < .05.

CLBP, prevalence of chronic low back pain; CNP, prevalence of chronic neck pain; GCI, Global Collectivism Index; HOF-PD, Hofstede Index of Power Distance; HOF-IC, Hofstede Index of Individualism-Collectivism; HOF-MF, Hofstede Index of Masculinity-Femininity; HOF-UAI, Hofstede Index of Uncertainty Avoidance; HOF-LTO, Hofstede Index of Long-Term Orientation; HOF-IVR, Hofstede Index of Indulgence vs. Restraint; REL-AFF, percentage reporting religious affiliation; REL-ATT, percentage reporting weekly attendance at religious services; REL-PRAY, percentage reporting daily prayer; REL-IMP, percentage that consider religion important or very important.

Dependent variable	Goodness of fit (F)	Degrees of freedom	Independent variables	Regression coefficient (β)	Significance level	Variance inflation factor	Percentage of variance explained (adjusted <i>R</i> ²)
CLBP	13.38*	79	HOF-PD	.11	.356 < .001*	2.24	.485
			HOF-IC	.49	.283	2.48	
			HOF-UAI	.11	.309	1.49	
			HOF-LTO	.12	.077	2.03	
			REL-AFF	.20	.006*	1.98	
			REL-COMP	44		3.66	
CNP	6.81*	86	HOF-PD	14	.272	1.93	.253
			HOF-IC	.26	.084	2.53	
			HOF-UAI	25	.029*	1.46	
			REL-AFF	.05	.732	1.96	
			REL-COMP	13	.404	2.62	

TABLE 5 Multivariate linear regression analyses of cultural and religious variables associated with the prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain.

*Significant at p < .05.

CLBP, prevalence of chronic low back pain; CNP, prevalence of chronic neck pain; HOF-PD, Hofstede Index of Power Distance; HOF-IC, Hofstede Index of Individualism-Collectivism; HOF-UAI, Hofstede Index of Uncertainty Avoidance; HOF-LTO, Hofstede Index of Long-Term Orientation; REL-AFF, percentage reporting religious affiliation; REL-COMP, composite index of religiosity (attendance, prayer and importance).

TABLE 6 Multivariate linear regression analyses of cultural and religious variables associated with the prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain, including confounding factors.

Dependent variable	Goodness of fit (F)	Degrees of freedom	Independent variables	Regression coefficient (β)	Significance level	Variance inflation factor	Percentage of variance explained (adjusted <i>R</i> ²)
CLBP	7.55*	71	HOF-PD	.13	.321	2.56	.504
			HOF-IC	.40	.013*	3.60	
			HOF-UAI	.05	.650	2.01	
			HOF-LTO	.19	.159	2.56	
			REL-AFF	.10	.401	1.79	
			DEP	23	.048*	1.83	
			ANX	.26	.031*	1.98	
			OB	.08	.518	2.25	
			IN-PA	.07	.702	1.42	
			TOB	.08	.464	1.69	
			ALC	.28	.018*	1.93	
CNP	7.88*	82	HOF-PD	06	.646	2.12	.402
			HOF-IC	.12	.417	2.81	
			HOF-UAI	32	.004*	1.54	
			REL-AFF	03	.761	1.51	
			DEP	05	.655 < .001*	1.45	
			ANX	.47	.762	1.58	
			OB	04	.023*	1.86	
			ТОВ	.22		1.22	

*Significant at p < .05.

CLBP, prevalence of chronic low back pain; CNP, prevalence of chronic neck pain; HOF-PD, Hofstede Index of Power Distance; HOF-IC, Hofstede Index of Individualism-Collectivism; HOF-UAI, Hofstede Index of Uncertainty Avoidance; HOF-LTO, Hofstede Index of Long-Term Orientation; REL-AFF, percentage reporting religious affiliation; REL-COMP, composite index of religiosity (attendance, prayer and importance); DEP, prevalence of depression; ANX, prevalence of anxiety disorders; OB, prevalence of obesity; IN-PA, prevalence of insufficient physical activity; TOB, prevalence of tobacco use; ALC, prevalence of alcohol use.

low subject-to-variable ratio, meaningful associations may be identified (72). These analyses are presented in **Table 6**. In the first of these analyses, the prevalence of chronic low back pain was the dependent variable, and the independent variables included the seven variables from the prior model, as well as the prevalence of depression, anxiety disorders, obesity, insufficient physical activity, tobacco use and alcohol use. In this analysis, significant concerns regarding multicollinearity (VIF = 6.64) were identified for the composite index of religiosity; therefore, this variable was excluded and the analysis repeated. This model showed a marginal increase in percentage of variance explained (adjusted $R^2 = .504$) and was significant overall. The individual variables significantly associated with chronic low back pain were

individualism ($\beta = .40$, p = .013), depression ($\beta = .23$, p = .048), anxiety disorders ($\beta = .26$, p = .031) and alcohol use ($\beta = .28$, p = .018). In the second analysis, the prevalence of chronic neck pain was the dependent variable, and the independent variables included were the five from the previous model, as well as the prevalence of depression, anxiety disorders, obesity and tobacco use. As in the previous case, the composite index of religiosity had to be excluded due to a VIF of 4.28. This model showed a substantial increase in the percentage of variance explained (adjusted $R^2 = .402$) and was significant overall. The individual variables associated with chronic neck pain were uncertainty avoidance ($\beta = ..32$, p = .004), anxiety disorders ($\beta = .47$, p < .001) and tobacco use ($\beta = .22$, p = .023).

Discussion

Chronic musculoskeletal pain is a paradigmatic example of a group of disorders requiring a biopsychosocial approach to treatment (73). Though most patients are offered biomedical treatments, both pharmacological and surgical, these are often ineffective or only partially effective, and some of the approaches that were often used in the past, such as opioid analgesics, are gradually being abandoned due to their unfavorable risk-tobenefit ratio (25). There is a substantial body of evidence linking psychological, social and religious/spiritual factors to various aspects of this group of conditions. The current study was conducted against this background, with the aim of identifying meaningful associations between cross-national variations in culture and religion and the prevalence of two common disorders—chronic low back pain and chronic neck pain belonging to this group.

Cultural dimensions and pain prevalence

In bivariate analyses, the cultural dimensions of individualism-collectivism and power distance were significantly associated with the prevalence of both types of pain: broadly speaking, these conditions were more common in countries whose culture was characterized by a lower power distance and higher individualism. These findings are consistent with those of an earlier meta-analysis by Kroska (52), who found that these two dimensions of culture significantly mediated the association between respondents' fear-related avoidance and the severity of pain reported by them. Power distance is a measure of the extent to which institutionalized inequality and hierarchy is accepted as normal in a given society. In such societies, individuals may be more tolerant of acts and situations that could be perceived as unjust in others. Individuals' perceptions of injustice have been identified as an important predictor of symptom severity, depression, anxiety and disability in patients with musculoskeletal pain, independent of age and pain duration (74, 75). It is therefore plausible that cultural power distance may influence chronic pain through the intermediate variable of perceived injustice. However, though the negative relationship between power distance and pain was significant for chronic neck pain even after adjusting for confounders, it was not significant in the multivariate analysis; therefore, hypotheses such as the one outlined above should be considered speculative.

The two measures of individualism-collectivism showed somewhat different associations with the prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain. In the case of the Global Collectivism Index, this association was significant after adjusting for confounders only in the case of low back pain, whereas Hofstede's index of individualism-collectivism survived these adjustments for both types of pain. In multivariate analyses, the association between the Hofstede index and the prevalence of pain was significant only for chronic low back pain. Thus, while individualism-collectivism may account for some of the crossnational variation in the prevalence of these pain disorders, the consistency and strength of this association varies depending on how this cultural dimension is measured. Several factors may account for the inverse association between collectivism and chronic low back and neck pain. Collectivistic cultures are generally characterized by higher levels of collective coping (43, 76) and family and community support (77, 78), which may be associated with increased psychological well-being (76, 79). Social support has been identified as an important predictor of outcome in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain, including low back and neck pain, affecting both the course and severity of pain and the likelihood of returning to work (80-82). Collectivistic cultural values may also be positively associated with key psychological processes such as self-regulation (83), which can influence both the perception of musculoskeletal pain and the disability associated with it (84, 85). These psychological and social factors may explain why collectivism appears to have a protective effect against chronic low back and neck pain: however, the current study was not designed to examine the mediating effects of such variables.

Among the other cultural dimensions studied, long-term orientation was positively correlated with the prevalence of chronic low back pain in both the direct and partial correlation analyses. However, this association was not significant in multivariate models, and may have been due to the negative correlation between long-term orientation and collectivism ($r_{(GCL)}$ $_{LTO}$ = -.46, p < .001). Uncertainty avoidance was negatively correlated with the prevalence of chronic neck pain after adjusting for confounders, and this finding was replicated in both multivariate models. A prior analysis of uncertainty avoidance at a cross-national level found that this dimension of culture was positively associated with experiences of "pain, worry and sadness"; however, this study only involved thirty high-income countries with predominantly individualistic cultures (86). In contrast, a study examining the association between Hofstede's cultural dimensions and quality of life found no significant correlation between pain-related quality of life and uncertainty avoidance (87). Uncertainty avoidance measures the extent to which a society is able to tolerate ambiguous or uncertain situations; high scores on this dimension imply that a country's culture would have rigid codes of conduct and be intolerant of unconventional ideas or behaviour (88). In a study of patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain, a measure of the complexity of each patient's psychosocial situation was found to be associated with altered methylation of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene (89). BDNF is an important regulator of neural plasticity, and plays a central role in several psychological processes related to chronic pain, including stress response, learning and memory. It has also been associated with chronic musculoskeletal pain in particular, perhaps through alterations in central pain processing (90, 91). It is possible that individuals living in cultures with well-defined norms and rules (in other words, high uncertainty avoidance) may experience less complex psychosocial circumstances, and that this might be a protective factor against chronic neck pain: however, such an explanation must be considered speculative.

Measures of religious belief and practice and pain prevalence

In this study, all four measures of religious belief and practiceaffiliation, attendance at religious services, prayer, and the importance assigned to religion-were negatively correlated with the prevalence of chronic low back pain and neck pain, though stronger correlations were observed for low back pain. However, after adjustment for possible confounders, only two associations remained significant: chronic low back pain was negatively correlated with the importance given to religion in one's life, and chronic neck pain was negatively correlated with religious affiliation. These findings could not be replicated in the multivariate analyses. These results are consistent with the mixed findings of the available literature on the links between religion / spirituality and these types of pain (55-61). It is likely that the weak and inconsistent results related to religion obtained in this study reflect methodological limitations. First, there was significant multicollinearity between three of the four measures of religiosity reported in the Pew Research Center's publication; second, there was significant multicollinearity between these measures of religiosity and the Global Collectivism Index. This led to a loss of precision and specificity in the partial correlation and multivariate analyses. Secondly, the outcome variables in this study were the prevalence of each type of chronic pain, whereas prior research has found religious variables to influence the course, rather than the occurrence, of conditions such as chronic low back and neck pain. Third, there are several aspects of religiosity and spirituality-such as positive and negative religious coping, spiritual experiences, forgiveness and support from a religious group or community-that could be relevant to the onset, severity and chronicity of low back or neck pain, and which were not captured by questions asked in the Pew Research Center surveys. In this context, the results obtained by Rippentrop et al. in a sample of patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain are of particular interest. The findings of this study suggest that specific aspects of religious or spiritual belief and practice could have both negative and positive influences on the health of patients with this type of pain-as stated by the authors, "religion/spirituality may have both costs and benefits" in this context (92). Subsequent research has confirmed the "double-sided" nature of the relationship between religiosity and chronic pain-for example, an association between prayer and greater impairment, interference, and depression associated with chronic pain has been reported in Swedish adults (93), while a study of older adults from the United States found a longitudinal association between religious service attendance and decreased pain severity over a period of three years (94). In the absence of further longitudinal data, it is not possible to draw direct causal inferences from such results: for example, do people experience more pain-related distress when they pray more frequently, or are they more likely to turn to prayer when they experience intractable or disabling pain which does not respond to standard medical treatment? (95). It is certainly possible that certain aspects of religiosity may be protective against chronic low back and neck pain, but this cannot be confirmed in the current study. The variability in the results obtained to date highlight the need for better measures of the different facets of

religion and spirituality, their relationship to the persistence of musculoskeletal pain and the disability associated with it, and the possible mediating role of psychological variables such as affective states and pain-related beliefs (96).

Relationship between other variables and pain prevalence

In both multivariate models, certain variables remained associated with the prevalence of chronic pain independent of cultural and religious variables. For chronic low back pain, these were the prevalence depression, anxiety disorders and alcohol use; for chronic neck pain, these were the prevalence of anxiety disorders and tobacco use. The positive association between anxiety disorders and both pain types is consistent with the existing literature: anxiety is associated with greater musculoskeletal pain severity (97) and negative painrelated cognitions (98), and there is a high degree of comorbidity between chronic musculoskeletal pain and anxiety disorders (99). In this study, the prevalence of anxiety disorders was also positively correlated with individualism and negatively correlated with power distance, suggesting that these cultural factors are associated with variations in the prevalence of both pain and anxiety. Unexpectedly, the prevalence of depression was negatively associated with the prevalence of chronic low back pain, even in the multivariate analysis. While this finding appears to contradict the existing literature, it should be noted that some studies have found that depression failed to predict variations in either the prevalence or the severity of chronic low back pain (100, 101). Moreover, the contradiction may be more apparent than real. In some non-Western cultures characterized by different idioms of distress, and in which a certain stigma is attached to mental disorders depression may present to the physician as chronic or intractable musculoskeletal pain (102). Such a presentation is referred to as "masked depression" and could account for the apparent inverse relationship between the prevalence of depression and chronic low back pain in these countries (103). In support of this contention, the negative correlation between chronic low back pain and depression was no longer significant when adjusting for power distance and collectivism (r = -.11, p = .253). Given the evidence of a genetic link between depression and both these types of pain (14), it is possible that cultural factors may interact with an innate genetic vulnerability, leading to phenotypic variations in which some patients present predominantly with depression and others with chronic back or neck pain. This result highlights the need for a more culturally sensitive assessment of depression in patients presenting with a primary complaint of chronic pain, particularly in low- and middle-income countries.

The possible confounding effect of healthcare systems and records

The use of prevalence estimates as measures of chronic low back and neck pain in the current study raises a further issue. Prevalence estimates in the Global Burden of Disease Study are based on a wide range of sources. These include published literature on the prevalence of each

10.3389/fpain.2023.1189432

disorder, as well as data obtained from clinical trials, government records, hospital records and epidemiological surveillance (104). Cultural and religious factors have been shown to influence key components of individuals' interactions with healthcare systems, and may thereby influence the quality of the data obtained from these sources. High Power Distance is associated with a lower level of trust and satisfaction in healthcare systems (105); this may lead to reduced help-seeking and an underestimation of prevalence. Individualism-Collectivism, Uncertainty Avoidance and Long-Term Orientation can influence the quality of care received in primary settings (106), which could also influence patients' willingness to seek help for chronic pain. Likewise religious and spiritual beliefs could lead patients to seek complementary and alternative methods of care for their chronic low back or neck pain (61, 107); this could lead to underestimates of prevalence if these are based on hospital data. For these reasons, it is possible that the current study may have captured cross-cultural variations in help-seeking or data quality for chronic low back or neck pain, rather than in the actual prevalence of these conditions.

Differences between factors associated with chronic low back pain and neck pain

Another facet of this study's findings that merits discussion is the divergence in the cultural correlates of chronic low back pain and neck pain. Despite the evidence of a possible epidemiological and genetic overlap between these conditions, the majority of patients presenting with one of these types of pain do not experience the other, and they are rightly considered distinct types of chronic musculoskeletal pain. The risk factors for each of these conditions also differ in certain key aspects. For example, chronic neck pain is common in office workers and related to specific postural and ergonomic factors (108, 109), while chronic low back pain is common both in sedentary workers and those engaged in physical labor, and may be associated with factors such as physical exertion and toxin exposure in the latter group (110, 111). Besides influencing individuals' opportunities for employment and their working environment, cultural factors are correlated with economic factors such as national income and industrialization, at a national level (67, 112). It is possible that distinct cultural factors may influence chronic low back or neck pain through their associations with a country's economy and working conditions, though this could not be directly examined in the current study.

Strengths and limitations of the current study

This study is the first to examine cross-national variations in the prevalence of chronic low back and neck pain in relation to variations in cultural values and religious affiliation and practice. Data on each variable of interest was obtained from research studies of databases of good quality, which provided data on a large number of countries across income groups. In addition, efforts were made to minimize the risk of spurious associations by adjusting for key confounding factors identified in the existing literature.

Nevertheless, the current study is subject to certain important limitations. First, due to its cross-sectional design, it cannot draw any firm conclusions regarding causality; only associations between cultural dimensions and chronic back and neck pain can be inferred. Second, as countries were the unit of analysis, these findings cannot be directly generalized or applied to individuals. Third, it was not possible to capture variations within a country (such as urban-rural differences, or cultural variations in a multiethnic or multi-religious society) from the available data. Fourth, the data sources used for the GBD, though comprehensive, are not completely free of bias, as discussed in the preceding section. Fifth, though an attempt was made to correct for confounders, there are several other key confounding variables identified in the literature, such as social support, stress and workplace culture, that could not be assessed due to a lack of cross-national data. Finally, the variables used to measure various aspects of religion were of limited value in the analyses, due to a high degree of multicollinearity both among them, and between them and measures of collectivism.

Practical implications of the current results

Results obtained from analyses at the level of countries cannot be applied directly to individuals. Nevertheless, the results of this study have significance from a clinical perspective, as they highlight the need to consider variations in cultural and religious values and practices when managing patients with chronic pain. As mentioned above, the successful management chronic musculoskeletal pain requires a holistic approach that goes beyond the prescription of specific medical treatments. Culture and religion can shape the experience of chronic pain, the meaning attached to it, the affective responses associated with it (such as anxiety, depression, and anger) and the willingness to seek and adhere to specific types of treatment. The responses of both caregivers and the patient's immediate community to their suffering are also shaped by cultural and religious beliefs. This becomes especially relevant in contemporary medical practice, where migration and globalization often necessitate a greater degree of cultural sensitivity and competence on the part of healthcare professionals managing a patient with a chronic disorder. Awareness of the way in which variations in national cultural values, or in religious beliefs, influence these facets of chronic pain can foster the development of a better therapeutic relationship, enhance concordance between clinicians and patients, and possibly reduce the inappropriate use of treatments with a low risk-benefit ratio. Knowledge of cross-national variations in values and beliefs can also aid the judicious selection of specific treatment approaches, such as spiritually-informed cognitive or behavioral interventions.

Conclusions

Despite certain limitations, the current study has identified a possible influence of cultural values on cross-national variations in two common and disabling forms of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Though this study's results should be considered provisional, they are consistent with the growing body of literature highlighting the importance of cultural and religious factors in the pathogenesis and treatment of chronic low back and neck pain. Cross-national research in individual subjects would help to further elucidate the relative importance of these factors in a given case, as well as the biological and psychological processes through which they may exert beneficial or harmful results. The current study also highlights the need for further examination of the links between religion / spirituality and chronic musculoskeletal pain across different countries and regions, with a focus on the subjective aspects of religiosity instead of measures of affiliation or attendance which may reflect cultural norms rather than religious or spiritual conviction.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

The sole author of this paper was responsible for its design, literature review, data collection and analysis, writing and editing.

References

1. Nesse RM, Schulkin J. An evolutionary medicine perspective on pain and its disorders. *Phil Trans R Soc B*. (2019) 374:20190288. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0288

2. Walters ET, Moroz LL. Molluscan memory of injury: evolutionary insights into chronic pain and neurological disorders. *Brain Behav Evol.* (2009) 74:206–18. doi: 10.1155/000258667

3. Williams ACC. Persistence of pain in humans and other mammals. *Phil Trans R Soc B*. (2019) 374:20190276. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0276

4. McBeth J, Jones K. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. (2007) 21(3):403–25. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2007.03.003

5. Jackson T, Thomas S, Stabile V, Han X, Shotwell M, McQueen K. Prevalence of chronic pain in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2015) 385(Suppl 2):S10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15) 60805-4

6. Cimas M, Ayala A, Sanz B, Agullo-Tomas MS, Escobar A, Forjaz MJ. Chronic musculoskeletal pain in European older adults: cross-national and gender differences. *Eur J Pain.* (2018) 22(2):333–45. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1123

7. Jackson T, Thomas S, Stabile V, Shotwell M, Han X, McQueen K. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the global burden of chronic pain without clear etiology in low- and middle-income countries: trends in heterogeneous data and a proposal for new assessment methods. *Anesth Analg.* (2016) 123(3):739–48. doi: 10. 1213/ANE.00000000001389

8. Tanaka C, Wakaizumi K, Takaoka S, Matsudaira K, Mimura M, Fujisawa D, et al. A cross-sectional study of the impact of pain severity on absenteeism and presenteeism among Japanese full-time workers. *Pain Ther.* (2022) 11(4):1179–93. doi: 10.1007/s40122-022-00408-7

9. Nwaru CA, Nygard CH, Virtanen P. Musculoskeletal pain and re-employment among unemployed job seekers: a three-year follow-up study. *BMC Public Health*. (2016) 16:531. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3200-0

10. Garcia JBS, Hernandez-Castro JJ, Nunez RG, Pazos MA, Aguirre JO, Jreige A, et al. Prevalence of low back pain in Latin America: a systematic literature review. *Pain Physician*. (2014) 17(5):379–91. doi: 10.36076/ppj.2014/17/379

11. Wong CKW, Mak RYW, Kwok TSY, Tsang JSH, Leung MYC, Funabashi M, et al. Prevalence, incidence, and factors associated with non-specific chronic low back pain in community-dwelling older adults aged 60 years and older: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pain.* (2022) 23(4):509–34. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2021.07.012

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpain.2023. 1189432/full#supplementary-material

12. Fejer R, Kyvik KO, Hartvigsen J. The prevalence of neck pain in the world population: a systematic critical review of the literature. *Eur Spine J.* (2006) 15 (6):834–48. doi: 10.1007/s00586-004-0864-4

13. Overas CK, Johansson MS, de Campos TF, Ferreira ML, Natvig B, Mork PJ, et al. Distribution and prevalence of musculoskeletal pain co-occurring with persistent low back pain: a systematic review. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord*. (2021) 22:91. doi: 10. 1186/s12891-020-03893-z

14. Stapp EK, Cui L, Guo W, Paksarian D, Merikangas KR. Comorbidity and familial aggregation of back/neck pain in the NIMH family study of affective Spectrum disorders. *J Psychosom Res.* (2022) 158:110927. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2022.110927

15. Mosabbir A. Mechanisms behind the development of chronic low back pain and its neurodegenerative features. *Life.* (2023) 13:84. doi: 10.3390/life13010084

16. Farrell SF, de Zoete RMJ, Cabot PJ, Sterling M. Systemic inflammatory markers in neck pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Eur J Pain*. (2020) 24(9):1666–86. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1630

17. Peng B, Yang L, Li Y, Liu T, Liu Y. Cervical proprioception impairment in neck pain—pathophysiology, clinical evaluation, and management: a narrative review. *Pain Ther.* (2021) 10(1):143–64. doi: 10.1007/s40122-020-00230-z

18. Malfliet A, Kregel J, Cagnie B, Kuipers M, Dolphens M, Roussel N, et al. Lack of evidence for central sensitization in idiopathic, non-traumatic neck pain: a systematic review. *Pain Physician*. (2015) 18(3):223–36. https://www.painphysicianjournal.com/linkout?issn=&vol=18&page=223

19. Evans G. Identifying and treating the causes of neck pain. Med Clin North Am. (2014) 98(3):645–61. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2014.01.015

20. Park TSW, Kuo A, Smith MT. Chronic low back pain: a mini-review on pharmacological management and pathophysiological insights from clinical and pre-clinical data. *Inflammopharmacology*. (2018) 26:881–98. doi: 10.1007/s10787-018-0493-x

21. Anderson DB, Shaheed CA. Medications for treating low back pain in adults. Evidence for the use of paracetamol, opioids, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories, muscle relaxants, antibiotics, and antidepressants: an overview for musculoskeletal clinicians. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* (2022) 52(7):425–31. doi: 10.2519/jospt.2022.10788

22. Saltychev M, Eskola M, Laimi K. Lumbar fusion compared with conservative treatment in patients with chronic low back pain: a meta-analysis. *Int J Rehabil Res.* (2014) 37(1):2–8. doi: 10.1097/MRR.0b013e328363ba4b

23. Vraa ML, Myers CA, Young JL, Rhon DI. More than 1 in 3 patients with chronic low back pain continue to use opioids long-term after spinal fusion: a systematic review. *Clin J Pain*. (2021) 38(3):222–30. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0000000000000000

24. Jiang J, Pan H, Chen H, Song L, Wang Y, Qian B, et al. Comparative efficacy of pharmacological therapies for low back pain: a Bayesian network analysis. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:811962. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.811962

25. Feise RJ, Mathieson S, Kessler RS, Witenko C, Zaina F, Brown BT. Benefits and harms of treatments for chronic non-specific low back pain without radiculopathy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Spine J.* (2022) 23(5):629–41. doi: 10.1016/j. spinee.2022.11.003

26. Gudin J, Kaufman AG, Datta S. Are opioids needed to treat chronic low back pain? A review of treatment options and analgesics in development. *J Pain Res.* (2020) 13:1007–22. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S226483

27. Williams FMK, Elgaeva EE, Freidin MB, Zaytseva OO, Aulchenko YS, Tsepilov YA, et al. Causal effects of psychosocial factors on chronic back pain: a bidirectional Mendelian randomization study. *Eur Spine J.* (2022) 31: 1906–15. doi: 10.1007/s00586-022-07263-2

28. Kazeminasab S, Nejadghaderi SA, Amiri P, Pourfathi H, Araj-Khodaei M, Sullman MJM, et al. Neck pain: global epidemiology, trends and risk factors. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord*. (2022) 23:26. doi: 10.1186/s12891-021-04957-4

29. Giladi H, Scott W, Shir Y, Sullivan MJL. Rates and correlates of unemployment across four common chronic pain diagnostic categories. *J Occup Rehabil.* (2015) 25 (3):648–57. doi: 10.1007/s10926-015-9572-7

30. Pico-Espinosa OJ, Cote P, Hogg-Johnson S, Jensen I, Axen I, Holm LW, et al. Trajectories of pain intensity over 1 year in adults with disabling subacute or chronic neck pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2019) 35(8):678–85. doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000727

31. Adachi T, Yamada K, Fujino H, Enomoto K, Shibata M. Associations between anger and chronic primary pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Scand J Pain.* (2022) 22(1):1–13. doi: 10.1515/sjpain-2021-0154

32. Agnus Tom A, Rajkumar E, John R, George AJ. Determinants of quality of life in individuals with chronic low back pain: a systematic review. *Health Psychol Behav Med.* (2022) 10(1):124–44. doi: 10.1080/21642850.2021.2022487

33. Cedraschi C, Nordin M, Haldeman S, Randhawa K, Kopansky-Giles D, Johnson CD, et al. The global spine care initiative: a narrative review of psychological and social issues in back pain in low- and middle-income communities. *Eur Spine J.* (2018) 27 (Suppl 6):828–37. doi: 10.1007/s00586-017-5434-7

34. Ortego G, Villafane JH, Domenech-Garcia V, Berjano P, Bertozzi L, Herrero P. Is there a relationship between psychological stress or anxiety and chronic nonspecific neck-arm pain in adults? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Psychosom Res.* (2016) 90:70–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.09.006

35. Stubbs B, Koyanagi A, Thompson T, Veronese N, Carvalho AF, Solomi M, et al. The epidemiology of back pain and its relationship with depression, psychosis, anxiety, sleep disturbances and stress sensitivity: data from 43 low- and middle-income countries. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2016) 43:61–70. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2016.09.008

36. Marker RJ, Stephenson JL, Kluger BM, Curran-Everett D, Maluf KS. Modulation of intracortical inhibition in response to acute psychosocial stress is impaired among individuals with chronic neck pain. *J Psychosom Res.* (2014) 76(3):249–56. doi: 10. 1016/j.jpsychores.2013.12.001

37. Fang S, Ding D. Which outcome variables are associated with psychological inflexibility/flexibility for chronic pain patients? A three level meta-analysis. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:1069748. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1069748

38. Bunzli S, Smith A, Schutze R, O'Sullivan P. Beliefs underlying pain-related fear and how they evolve: a qualitative investigation in people with chronic back pain and high pain-related fear. *BMJ Open*. (2015) 5:e008847. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008847

39. Victor L, Richeimer SM. Psychosocial therapies for neck pain. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am.* (2003) 14(3):643–57. doi: 10.1016/s1047-9651(03)00034-2

40. Petrucci G, Papalia GF, Russo F, Vadala G, Piredda M, De Marinis M, et al. Psychological approaches for the integrative care of chronic low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:60. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19010060

41. Ampiah PK, Hendrick P, Moffatt F, Ahenkorah J. Operationalisation of a biopsychosocial approach for the non-pharmacological management of patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Musculoskeletal Care*. (2020) 18(3):227-44. doi: 10.1002/msc.1462

42. Way BM, Lieberman MD. Is there a genetic contribution to cultural differences? Collectivism, individualism and genetic markers of social sensitivity. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2010) 5(2-3):203–11. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsq059

43. Msetfi RM, Kornbrot DE, Matute H, Murphy RA. The relationship between mood state and perceived control in contingency learning: effects of individualist and collectivist values. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1430. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01430

44. Kuo BCH. Collectivism and coping: current theories, evidence, and measurements of collective coping. *Int J Psychol.* (2013) 48(3):374–88. doi: 10.1080/00207594.2011.640681

45. Atkins D, Uskul AK, Cooper NR. Culture shapes empathic responses to physical and social pain. *Emotion*. (2016) 16(5):587-601. doi: 10.1037/emo0000162

46. Legare CH, Dale MT, Kim SY, Deak GO. Cultural variation in cognitive flexibility reveals diversity in the development of executive functions. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8(1):16326. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34756-2

47. Khatri N. Consequences of power distance orientation in organizations. *Vision*. (2009) 13(1):1-9. doi: 10.1177/097226290901300101

48. Wang W, Mao J, Wu W, Liu J. Abusive supervision and workplace deviance: the mediating role of interactional justice and the moderating role of power distance. *Asia Pac J Hum Resources.* (2012) 50(1):43–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7941.2011.00004.x

49. Ariens GA, van Mechelen W, Bongers PM, Bouter LM, van der Wal G. Psychosocial risk factors for neck pain: a systematic review. Am J Ind Med. (2001) 39(2):180–93. doi: 10.1002/1097-0274(200102)39:2<180::aid-ajim1005 > 3.0.co;2-#

50. Geete DB, Mhatre BS, Vernon H. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric validation of the hindi version of the neck disability Index in patients with chronic neck pain. *Spine.* (2023) Jan 19. doi: 10.1097/BRS.00000000004579

51. Hoebert JM, Mantel-Teeuwisse AM, Leufkens HGM, van Dijk L. Variability in market uptake of psychotropic medications in Europe reflects cultural diversity. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2017) 17:702. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2649-6

52. Kroska EB. A meta-analysis of fear-avoidance and pain intensity: the paradox of chronic pain. *Scand J Pain.* (2016) 13:43–58. doi: 10.1016/j.sjpain.2016.06.011

53. Wachholtz AB, Pearce MJ. Does spirituality as a coping mechanism help or hinder coping with chronic pain? *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* (2009) 13(2):127–32. doi: 10.1007/s11916-009-0022-0

54. Hatefi M, Tarjoman A, Borji M. Do religious coping and attachment to god affect perceived pain? Study of the elderly with chronic back pain in Iran. J Relig Health. (2019) 58:465–75. doi: 10.1007/s10943-018-00756-9

55. Najem C, Mukhtar NB, Ayoubi F, Van Oosterwijck J, Cagnie B, De Meulemeester K, et al. Religious beliefs and attitudes in relation to pain, painrelated beliefs, function, and coping in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review. *Pain Phys.* (2021) 24:E1163–76. https://www.painphysicianjournal.com/ linkout?issn=&vol=24&page=E116

56. Ampiah JA, Moffatt F, Diver C, Ampiah PK. Understanding how patients' pain beliefs influence chronic low back pain management in Ghana: a grounded theory approach. *BMJ Open*. (2022) 12(12):e061062. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-061062

57. Rodrigues de Souza DP, Palacios-Cena D, Moro-Gutierrez L, Camargo PR, Salvini TF, Albuquerque-Sendin F. Socio-cultural factors and experience of chronic low back pain: a spanish and Brazilian patients' perspective. A qualitative study. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11(7):e0159554. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159554

58. Maki D, Lempp H, Critchley D. An exploration of experiences and beliefs about low back pain with arab muslim patients. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2022) 44(18):5171-83. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2021.1928301

59. Sooksawat A, Janwantanakul P, Tencomnao T, Pensri P. Are religious beliefs and practices of buddhism associated with disability and salivary cortisol in office workers with chronic low back pain? *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord*. (2013) 14:29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-14-29

60. Ayanniyi O, Mbada CE, Muolokwu CA. Prevalence and profile of back pain in Nigerian adolescents. *Med Princ Pract.* (2011) 20:368–73. doi: 10.1159/000323766

61. Igwesi-Chidobe CN, Sorinola IO, Kitchen S, Godfrey EL. Unconventional practitoners' causal beliefs and treatment strategies for chronic low back pain in rural Nigeria. *Health Serv Insights*. (2018) 11:1–7. doi: 10.1177/1178632918808783

62. Singh G, Newton C, O'Sullivan K, Soundy A, Heneghan NA. Exploring the lived experience and chronic low back pain beliefs of English-speaking punjabi and white British people: a qualitative study within the NHS. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e020108. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020108

63. Al-Obaidi S, Wall JC, Mulekar MS, Al-Mutairie R. The reliability of prayer-based self-efficacy scale to assess self-confidence of muslims with low back pain. *Physiother Res Int.* (2012) 17(2):110–20. doi: 10.1002/pri.522

64. Hasenfratz K, Moergeli H, Sprott H, Ljutow A, Hefti R, Rittmayer I, et al. Do chronic pain patients wish spiritual aspects to be integrated in their medical treatment? A cross-sectional study of multiple facilities. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:685158. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.685158

65. Liu S, Wang B, Fan S, Wang Y, Zhan Y, Ye D. Global burden of musculoskeletal disorders and attributable factors in 204 countries and territories: a secondary analysis of the global burden of disease 2019 study. *BMJ Open.* (2022) 12(6):e062183. doi: 10. 1136/bmjopen-2022-062183

66. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) results. Seattle, United States: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2020. Available at: https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/(accessed March 15, 2023).

67. Pelham B, Hardin C, Murray D, Shimizu M, Vandello J. A truly global, non-WEIRD examination of collectivism: the global collectivism Index (GCI). *Curr Res Ecol Soc Psychol.* (2022) 3:100030. doi: 10.1016/j.cresp.2021.100030

68. Hofstede Insights. Country comparison. Helsinki, Finland: Hofstede Insights. (2023) Available at: https://www.hofstede-insights.com/country-comparison/ (accessed March 17, 2023)

69. Pew Research Center. *The age gap in religion around the world*. Washington, D.C., United States: Pew Research Center, (2018). Available at: https://www.pewresearch.org/religion/2018/06/13/the-age-gap-in-religion-around-the-world/ (accessed March 17, 2023)

70. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory. Available at: https:// www.who.int/data/gho (accessed March 16, 2023).

71. Akoglu H. User's guide to correlation coefficients. Turk. J Emerg Med. (2018) 18:91–3. doi: 10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001

72. Austin PC, Steyerberg EW. The number of subjects per variable required in linear regression analyses. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2015) 68:627–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi. 2014.12.014

73. Lyng KD, Djurtoft C, Bruun MK, Christensen MN, Lauritsen RE, Larsen JB, et al. What is known and what is still unknown within chronic musculoskeletal pain? A systematic evidence and gap map. *Pain.* (2023) Jan 5. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002855

74. Martinez-Boba V, Ripoll-Server P, Yakobov E, Suso-Ribera C. Predicting the physical and mental health status of individuals with chronic musculoskeletal pain from a biopsychosocial perspective: a multivariate approach. *Clin J Pain.* (2021) 37 (3):211–8. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000913

75. Battison EAJ, Wilson AC, Holley AL. Perceived injustice is associated with painrelated function and mood in youth with acute musculoskeletal pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2021) 37(8):575–82. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000947

76. Allen GEK, Smith TB. Collectivistic coping strategies for distress among polynesian Americans. *Psychol Serv.* (2015) 12(3):322–9. doi: 10.1037/ser0000039

77. Modesti PA, Becucci S. Learning the value of Africa's Collectivism for an individualistic Europe. *Intern Emerg Med.* (2019) 14(6):899–900. doi: 10.1007/s11739-019-02087-3

78. Morlett-Paredes A, Perrin PB, Olivera SL, Rogers HL, Perdomo JL, Arango JA, et al. With a little help from my friends: social support and mental health in SCI caregivers from neiva, Colombia. *NeuroRehabilitation*. (2014) 35(4):841–9. doi: 10. 3233/NRE-141164

79. Schwartz SJ, Weisskirch RS, Hurley EA, Zamboanga BL, Park IJK, Kim SY, et al. Communalism, familism, and filial piety: are they birds of a collectivist feather? *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol.* (2010) 16(4):548–60. doi: 10.1037/a0021370

80. Aili K, Campbell P, Michaleff ZA, Strauss VY, Jordan KP, Bremander A, et al. Long-term trajectories of chronic musculoskeletal pain: a 21-year prospective cohort latent class analysis. *Pain.* (2021) 162:1511–20. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002137

81. Samulowitz A, Hensing G, Haukenes I, Bergman S, Grimby-Ekman A. General self-efficacy and social support in men and women with pain—irregular sex patterns of cross-sectional and longitudinal associations in a general population sample. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord.* (2022) 23:1026. doi: 10.1186/s12891-022-05992-5

82. Rashid M, Kristofferzon ML, Nilsson A. Predictors of return to work among women with long-term neck/shoulder and/or back pain: a 1-year prospective study. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16(11):e0260490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0260490

83. Li JB, Vazsonyi AT, Dou K. Is individualism-collectivism associated with selfcontrol? Evidence from Chinese and U.S. Samples. *PLoS One*. (2018) 13(12): e0208541. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208541

84. Oliveira I, Garrido MV, Bernardes SF. On the mind-body nexus in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a scoping review. *Eur J Pain.* (2022) 26(6):1186–202. doi: 10. 1002/ejp.1944

85. Rost S, Crombez G, Sutterlin S, Vogele C, Veirman E, Van Ryckeghem DML. Altered regulation of negative affect in patients with fibromyalgia: a diary study. *Eur J Pain*. (2021) 25(3):714–24. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1706

86. Gaygisiz E. Economic and cultural correlates of subjective wellbeing in countries using data from the organisation for economic co-operation and development (OECD). *Psychol Rep.* (2010) 106(3):949–63. doi: 10.2466/pr0.106.3.949-963

87. Bailey H, Kind P. Preliminary findings of an investigation into the relationship between national culture and EQ-5D value sets. *Qual Life Res.* (2010) 19(8):1145–54. doi: 10.1007/s11136-010-9678-5

88. Hofstede G, Hofstede GJ, Minkov M. *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind (3rd edition).* New York: McGraw-Hill Professional (2010).

89. Paoloni-Giacobino A, Luthi F, Stenz L, Le Carre J, Vuistiner P, Leger B. Altered BDNF methylation in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain and high biopsychosocial complexity. *J Pain Res.* (2020) 13:1289–96. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S251782

90. Generaal E, Milaneschi Y, Jansen R, Elzinga BM, Dekker J, Penninx BWJH. The brain-derived neurotrophic factor pathway, life stress, and chronic multi-site musculoskeletal pain. *Mol Pain*. (2016) 12:1744806916646783. doi: 10.1177/1744806916646783

91. Caumo W, Deitos A, Carvalho S, Leite J, Carvalho F, Dussan-Sarria JA, et al. Motor cortex excitability and BDNF levels in chronic musculoskeletal pain according to structural pathology. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2016) 10:357. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2016.00357 92. Rippentrop EA, Altmaier EM, Chen JJ, Found EM, Keffala VJ. The relationship between religion / spirituality and physical health, mental health, and pain in a chronic pain population. *Pain.* (2005) 116(3):311–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2005.05. 008

93. Andersson G. Chronic pain and praying to a higher power: useful or useless? J Relig Health. (2008) 47(2):176–87. doi: 10.1007/s10943-007-9148-8

94. Sun F, Park NS, Wardian J, Lee BS, Roff LL, Klemmack DL, Parker MW, Koening HG, Sawyer PL, Allman RM. Predicting the trajectories of perceived pain intensity in southern community-dwelling older adults: the role of religiousness. *Res Aging*. (2013) 35 (6): doi: 10.1177/0164027512456402

95. Moreira-Almeida A, Koenig HG. Religiousness and spirituality in chronic pain patients. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* (2008) 12(5):327-32. doi: 10.1007/s11916-008-0055-9

96. Ferreira-Valente A, Damiao C, Pais-Ribeiro J, Jensen MP. The role of spirituality in pain, function, and coping in individuals with chronic pain. *Pain Med.* (2020) 21 (3):448–57. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnz092

97. Garnaes KK, Morkved S, Tonne T, Furan L, Vasseljen O, Johannessen HH. Mental health among patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain and its relation to number of pain sites and pain intensity, a cross-sectional study among primary health care patients. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord*. (2022) 23(1):1115. doi: 10.1186/ s12891-022-06051-9

98. Or DYL, Lam CS, Chen PP, Wong HSS, Lam CWF, Fok YY, et al. Hope in the context of chronic musculoskeletal pain: relationships of hope to pain and psychological distress. *Pain Rep.* (2021) 6(4):e965. doi: 10.1097/PR9. 00000000000065

99. Marcuzzi A, Skarpsno ES, Nilsen TIL, Mork PJ. The interplay between multisite pain and insomnia on the risk of anxiety and depression: the HUNT study. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2022) 22(1):124. doi: 10.1186/s12888-022-03762-0

100. Kossi O, Yamadjako D, Timmermans A, Michiels S, Adoukonou T, Janssens L. Prevalence and biopsychosocial factors associated with chronic low back pain in urban and rural communities in western Africa: a population-based door-to-door survey in Benin. *Eur Spine J.* (2022) 31(11):2897–906. doi: 10.1007/s00586-022-07345-1

101. Singhal K, Muliyala KP, Pakhare AP, Behera P, Santoshi JA. Do patients of chronic low back pain have psychological comorbidities? *Avicenna J Med.* (2021) 11 (3):145–51. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1734385

102. Chen JT, Hsu CY, Lee YJ, Tseng MC, Liao SC. Medically unexplained physical symptoms with masked depression: a case of intractable low back pain. J Formos Med Assoc. (2007) 106(7):598–9. doi: 10.1016/S0929-6646(07)60013-8

103. Verster GC, Gagiano CA. Masked depression. S Afr Med J. (1995) 85(8):759–62. PMID: 8553144

104. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Protocol for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Study (GBD). Version 4.0, March 2020. Available at: https://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/Projects/GBD/March2020_GBD %20Protocol_v4.pdf (accessed March 18, 2023).

105. Borisova LV, Martinussen PE, Rydland HT, Stornes P, Eikemo TA. Public evaluation of health services across 21 European countries: the role of culture. *Scand J Public Health*. (2017) 45(2):132–9. doi: 10.1177/1403494816685920

106. Tolvanen E, Groenewegen PP, Koskela TH, Eide TB, Cohidon C, Kosunen E. Patient enablement after a consultation with a general practitioner—explaining variation between countries, practices and patients. *Health Expect.* (2020) 23 (5):1129–43. doi: 10.1111/hex.13091

107. Tindle HA, Wolsko P, Davis RB, Eisenberg DM, Phillips RS, McCarthy EP. Factors associated with the use of mind body therapies among United States adults with musculoskeletal pain. *Complement Ther Med.* (2005) 13(3):155–64. doi: 10. 1016/j.ctim.2005.04.005

108. Bragatto MM, Bevilaqua-Grossi D, Regalo SCH, Sousa JD, Chaves TC. Associations among temporomandibular disorders, chronic neck pain and neck pain disability in computer office workers: a pilot study. *J Oral Rehabil.* (2016) 43 (5):321–32. doi: 10.1111/joor.12377

109. Gross AR, Kaplan F, Huang S, Khan M, Santaguida PL, Carlesso LC, et al. Psychological care, patient education, orthotics, ergonomics and prevention strategies for neck pain: a systematic overview update as part of the ICON project. *Open Orthop J.* (2013) 7:530–61. doi: 10.2174/1874325001307010530

110. Saiklang P, Puntumetakul R, Neubert MS, Boucaut R. The immediate effect of the abdominal drawing-in maneuver technique on stature change in seated sedentary workers with chronic low back pain. *Ergonomics*. (2021) 64(1):55–68. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2020.1810326

111. Meucci RD, Fassa AG, Faria NMX, Fiori NS. Chronic low back pain among tobacco farmers in southern Brazil. *Int J Occup Environ Health*. (2015) 21(1):66–73. doi: 10.1179/2049396714Y.0000000094

112. Hofstede G. Cultural constraints in management theories. Acad Manag Perspect. (1993) 7(1):81-94. doi: 10.5465/ame.1993.9409142061

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Julien Nizard, Université de Nantes, France

REVIEWED BY Peter Stilwell, McGill University, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 03 March 2023 ACCEPTED 09 May 2023 PUBLISHED 30 May 2023

CITATION

Johnson MI, Chazot P, Cole F, Cruickshank R, Fuller D, Keyse C, Singh B, Strickson AJ, Tabasam G, Tregidden E, Thompson K and Woodall J (2023) Pain through the perspective of art and creativity: insights from the Unmasking Pain project. Front. Pain Res. 4:1179116. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1179116

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Johnson, Chazot, Cole, Cruickshank, Fuller, Keyse, Singh, Strickson, Tabasam, Tregidden, Thompson and Woodall. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pain through the perspective of art and creativity: insights from the Unmasking Pain project

Mark I. Johnson^{1*}, Paul Chazot², Frances Cole^{2,3}, Rosemary Cruickshank⁴, Dawn Fuller⁵, Charlotte Keyse², Balbir Singh⁶, Adam J. Strickson⁷, Ghazala Tabasam¹, Emma Tregidden⁵, Kate Thompson¹ and James Woodall^{1,8}

¹Centre for Pain Research, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Pain Challenge Academy, Wolfson Research Institute for Health and Wellbeing, Durham University, Durham, United Kingdom, ³Pain Academy, Live Well with Pain Ltd, Durham, United Kingdom, ⁴INPUT Pain Management, Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom, ⁵Space2 Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom, ⁶Balbir Singh Dance Company, Leeds, United Kingdom, ⁷School of Performance and Cultural Industries, Faculty of Arts, Humanities and Cultures, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom, ⁸Centre for Health Promotion Research, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom

People struggle to tell their story of living with pain and when they do it is articulated in a way that may not be understood, heard or taken seriously. Unmasking Pain is an artist-led project that explored creative approaches to tell stories of life with pain. The project was led by a dance theatre company that specialises in storytelling and emotional experiences for players and audiences. The project involved artists and people living with ongoing pain co-creating activities and environments to curiously explore "oneself", through imagination and creative expression. This article discusses insights and perspectives emerging from the project. The project revealed the power of art to makesense of oneself with or without pain, and how art facilitates expression of complex inner experience and personal stories. People described Unmasking Pain as "explorative joy despite pain", and "a new set of rules" that contrasts with those experienced during clinical encounters. We discuss how art has the potential to improve clinical encounters and promote health and well-being, and whether artist-led activities are an intervention, therapy, or something else. Pain rehabilitation specialists from the project described Unmasking Pain as "freeing-up thinking", allowing conceptual thought beyond the biopsychosocial model of pain. We conclude that art has the potential to shift people living with pain from "I can't do, I am not willing to do it" to "Perhaps I can, I'll give it a go, I enjoyed".

KEYWORDS

pain, art, creativity, pain concepts, pain management

Introduction

Tension between subjective pain and objective medicalised health care is long-standing. In clinical practice, a person's narrative about their complex pain experience is amalgamated or deconstructed into scalable items used in assessment tools. Consequently, people struggle to tell the story of their pain and when they do it is articulated in a way that is not consistently understood or is not heard or taken seriously.

Unmasking Pain was a pilot project to explore creative approaches for telling stories of life with persistent pain. Unmasking Pain sought to find a voice for people experiencing ongoing pain through artistic collaboration with artists and artforms. The purpose of Unmasking Pain was to use a co-creative framework to explore various approaches to express stories, experiences, and challenges of living with pain. Our viewpoint was that exploring pain through the lens of art and creativity provides a more encompassing understanding of pain experience, overcoming the challenges of conceptualising and expressing pain.

This perspectives article discusses the views of people who were involved in the Unmasking Pain project, i.e., artists, pain specialists, support personnel, and people living with pain (participants). These people provided consent to use materials that documented their opinions and experiences during the project, including notes and recordings taken during briefing sessions, workshops, specific feedback focus groups, and informal interviews (in-person and online). The lead author (MJ) created a draft manuscript to summarise common themes and interesting perspectives from these sources. All authors revised draft manuscripts through an iterative process to ensure an accurate reflection of viewpoints.

Synopsis of the project

A synopsis of the concept, design and delivery of the project is provided as **Supplementary Material**. In brief, artists collaborated with members of the project team and people with ongoing pain accompanying various conditions (participants), to design and deliver workshops to foster confidence in participants as human beings within a milieu of art and creative conversation. Artists worked with participants to articulate their story verbally and non-verbally, and to explore their story to help them understand themselves. Ethical approval was gained to embed two research studies in the project; a study to evaluate health-related data, including pain, and a phenomenology study to explore experiences via in-depth interviews.

During the project, participants engaged in various art activities including drawing, drumming, music making, writing, dance, drawing with pastels, clay modelling, puppetry, and nature walks. Some artists shared their own experience of living with pain and learning how to tell their stories, inspiring participants to find their own voice and gain self-confidence to unlock their own creativity. Art activities included mask-making of outer and inner facing selves, making personalised musical recordings with musicians, and taking personalised handmade puppets for a walk, to encourage participants to see themselves outside of themselves, i.e., a form of "creative treat".

Strategies in design and development of the project

Vision of the artistic director

The vision was to use art to bring the worlds of artists and people living with pain together, to co-create a framework and process that worked for both. The Artistic Director handled the direction of the project through sensitivity in the moment to oversee and guide artists, distinguishing Unmasking Pain from art therapy. Strategic partnership building, sharing of vision and creative process, and gaining a sense of trust between everyone has been critical for success.

Strategies of the artists

Early work of the artists involved developing sensitivity and trust by "circling around pain", often not mentioning pain unless people wished to do so themselves. This was endorsed by participants from the outset in the phrase "Don't see me for my condition. See me for me". Most workshops include an element of performance or the artist creating alongside the participants. Often, sessions started with the phrase "Sit back and relax, the artists are going to perform. You don't have to do anything. Just watch". Through this process artists were not seen as invasive or threatening and participants quickly gained a sense of trust and confidence to engage in collaborative creative conversations.

Initially artists designed activities using colour, sound, and movement to creatively explore the severity and impact of pain. Musical improvisation was used to express inner experience through, for example, louder and faster rhythm to signify more intense pain and emotion. Figurative language such as "my muscles feel knotted" was creatively explored as "knots being an art or decorative element", such as a plait of hair or "knots being a means of scaling experiences", such as a complex tight knot representing severe pain, being difficult to untangle. This catalysed imaginative and creative discussion.

Activities based on the children's playground game "Hopscotch" were used to explore various themes, including a different approach to measure and scale pain from 1 to 10, and to explore the programme Ten Footsteps to live well with pain (https:// livewellwithpain.co.uk/ten-footsteps-programme/). Hopscotch involves movement through a court of ten boxes drawn on the ground and artists demonstrated creative ways of interacting with the hopscotch court before inviting participants to join them through considerate and compassionate encouragement. Eventually, participants gained confidence to interact imaginatively with the hopscotch court either on their own or with others, catalysing creative discussions about supporting people with pain. For example, lying down on the entire hopscotch court to express the need to rest during a flare-up when pain intensity may be fluctuating from mild to severe.

Experiences of participants: initial observations

A preliminary analysis of source materials suggested that participants experienced:

- Improvements in health-related data including pain and sleep, and reductions in medication
- Changes in sense-making, from the struggle of living with pain to developing a broader understanding of self and their own unique experience of "being". This helps to create ways to express and acknowledge their story through engagement with the body, the world around and others

- Changes in emotion, including diffusion of anger, frustration, shame, fear, worry and lack of joy. This helps to strengthen pleasure, enjoyment, and a sense of relaxation
- Changes in ability and confidence to communicate, by having greater awareness of a state-of-mind and being more at ease with difficult emotions
- Changes in a sense of self and capacity to engage in new relationships with people, places, activities, and creative arts. Some participants returned to knitting or music making or had started doing other activities such as dog walking
- Changes through multifacet mediums, by exposure to a range of artists, people living with pain, artforms, colour, visual experiences, sensations of touch, diverse sounds; and by moving from passive to active engagement with creative artform to express self-identity by, for example, beginning to regularly play a new musical instrument.

Overall, participants reported feeling empowered to creatively explore themselves and this encouraged participants to be more physically and socially active, including discovering possibilities beyond the project such as taking up art activities, creative crafting, knitting, playing musical instruments, walking in nature, swimming, and visiting art galleries, museums, and historical buildings. Unmasking Pain achieved impact across cultural groups, and we attribute this to the visibility, diversity and culturally sensitive nature of the creative organisation and artists.

Discussion: perspectives, insights, and implications

Without exception artists, pain specialists, support personnel and participants reported that involvement in the project affected how they think about pain. Here, we discuss insights and perspective-shifts arising from the project.

The power of art to make-sense of oneself with or without pain

Evidence from meta-ethnography suggests that people living with long-term pain struggle to construct meaningful explanations for their suffering (1). For humans, "being alive" involves making sense of the relationship between sensations, emotions and thoughts arising within the body, and objects and events happening in the "external world".

Chaplin contends that art enables contact with the external environment by acting as "... a pre-reflective, nondiscursive mode of knowing, symbolizing, and being-in-the world." (2)p.1. Moreover, the symbolic practice of art enables humans to express emotional experiences that motivate re-interpretation and understanding of being in the world (2). For example, engaging in painting as an artform differs from painting a fence because that latter lacks significant symbolic action and interpretive meaning. Chaplin concludes that "... the unique role of art [is] to be able to articulate or symbolize the world to the extent that it is affectively experienced. Put differently, art responds to the shapes, forms, and rhythms in the world to the extent that they can carry expressive meaning that resonates with the way we affectively experience the world" (2) p. 10.

From an evolutionary perspective, art is a defining characteristic of the human species. The embodied nature of the practice and experience of art enables humans to project subjective sensory, affective, and cognitive experiences, such as pain, onto objects and events in the external world. Projecting subjective experience onto external objects facilitates a common understanding and sharing of bodily and spiritual states. Art can also bond values of justice, duty, social order, conflict, peace, and identity within and across diverse cultural backgrounds. A concept analysis of 85 studies by Kim and Lor revealed art activity "... intrinsically motivated participants to create meaning for themselves and/or their health experiences. Such intrinsic motivation allows participants to experience growth, as well as the transformation of their health experiences" (3) p. 8.

The power of art to express the complexity of pain experience

Pain is a complex, dynamic, and multidimensional experience. Clinical practice relies on pain assessment that fuses elements of pain complexity into simplified generalisations or deconstructs pain complexity into fragmented items. Often these items are scaled and measured perpetuating an illusion of objectivity and evaluated solely within a clinical context. Pain experience is subjective. Self-report is a proxy of inner experience. Pain questionnaires splinter a person's experience and may decontextualize care (4, 5). The organic nature of art practice enables people to express holistic and contextualised experience with or without pain, offering novel ways of gaining insight to a person's state-of-being, self-identity and pain experience (6). Art empowers people during clinical consultation, aligning with the idea of "lay perspectives in healthcare" (7).

The power of art to express personal stories

Unmasking Pain was conceived to enable people to share their self-identity, to tell the story of their pain, and for the story to be heard empathetically and taken seriously. Human social groups bond through story-telling and depriving humans of telling their stories is detrimental to health (8). Art enables people to express personal experiences and stories of bodily senses, emotions, thoughts, and journeys with or without words and syntax. Definitions of art vary over history and between cultures, although "... the expression or application of human creative skill and imagination ..." (Oxford dictionary) is a fundamental characteristic of art. The educationalist, Sir Ken Robinson defined imagination as the ability to "bring to mind" things from the past, present, and future that are not immediately present to our senses; and creativity as the practical process of "applied imagination", putting imagination to work to create output for others to see (9).

The power of art to improve clinical encounters

People report having limited opportunities to tell their stories of living with pain and have them heard, especially in clinical environments (1). Bringing different artforms and media into conversations, opens new lexicons and modes of expression through which personal stories can be told, catalysing co-creation of meaning-making with family, friends, carers, strangers, and health care professionals. Evidence is growing that creatively expressing pain through visual artforms is likely to confer benefits to patients and improve clinical consultation (10, 11).

Healthcare professionals report having inadequate knowledge and skills to interpret verbal pain narratives, contributing to scepticism about a patient's self-report (12, 13). Hovey et al. (14) advocate expression of pain narratives through multiple artforms, including poetry and stories, to enable creative dialogues between patient and practitioner that foster empathy and understanding. Padfield et al. (10) argues co-creation of visual images can make the experience of pain visible, and that such images function as "transactional objects" that catalyse meaning-making and promote emotional disclosure by the patient, and non-verbal affiliative behaviour by the practitioner. Stilwell et al. (15) argues that art reveals to clinicians "how words might be received", and this facilitates a deeper level of understanding of the fluid and interpretive nature of pain-related metaphors used by patients. Unmasking Pain demonstrates the power of art to create shared spaces to negotiate and co-create meaning between people experiencing pain and others, including artists and pain rehabilitation specialists. Art has the potential to facilitate education of health care professionals about the human condition.

The power of art to promote health and well-being

In 2019, the World Health Organisation (WHO) published a scoping review that mapped evidence in the field of arts and health comprising over 700 individual studies and 200 literature reviews (16). The findings suggested that involvement in various types of artform can improve health and well-being in a variety of settings and for a variety of conditions including short and long-term pain (16).

The ethos of Unmasking Pain aligns with salutogenic models of health and well-being, i.e., that health is an outcome of everyday interactions between individuals and socio-ecological stressors (17). Salutogenic approaches focus on factors supporting wellbeing by maximising human potential, not just treating disease to return a person to "normality" (18). Increasingly, clinical care pathways and guidelines in the health sector are incorporating salutogenic concepts by recommendation of healthy lifestyle adjustment [e.g., National Institute of Health Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines for the management of chronic pain (19) and non-specific low back pain (20)]. The 2023 Global Awareness Campaign for the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) is "Integrative Pain Care" that emphasises non-drug, self-management care, and a person-centred focus (https://www. iasp-pain.org/advocacy/global-year/integrative-pain-care/). We advocate a role for art within health care frameworks, which raises debate how artist-focussed activities such as Unmasking Pain should be positioned within society, and health care.

Art as an intervention, therapy, or something else?

Art-therapy is a type of psychological therapy delivered by trained art therapists/art psychotherapists. The uniqueness of Unmasking Pain is that it is led by artists who do not have therapeutic training and focus instead on engaging people with art in non-clinical contexts. This fosters interactions with the person not the pain, allowing the person to lead, take control, and have creative ownership, something that a clinician may find difficult to do. People living with pain often described the artistparticipant encounter as "a different set of rules". To paraphrase one participant during a workshop discussion "The pain clinic was good, but very clinical, and doesn't give you the social side. Unmasking Pain didn't feel rigid or like the artists were teaching you things. Most of the time, the artists had ideas of what they were going to do but the group of participants would take it somewhere else. And this didn't matter, and the artists were able to go with the new direction". Such an approach is often impossible in clinical environments.

In 2021, Toye et al. (21) published a meta-ethnography of 195 qualitative studies that suggested health interventions for persistent pain should focus on validating pain through meaningful and acceptable explanations, validating patients by listening to and valuing their stories, and facilitating safe reconnection of patients with the social world by encouraging them to connect with a meaningful sense of self, be kind to themselves and to explore new possibilities for the future.

Unmasking Pain appears to satisfy these criteria. Kim and Lor (3), revealed four defining attributes of art-making as a health intervention; creation of art, creativity, self-expression, and distraction and helping people to adjust to living with pain by returning to meaningful activities (e.g., work hobbies, socialising etc.). Pain is known to reduce the sense of mastery and pleasure. Accessing artists can counter this by fostering positive emotionality, e.g., enjoyment, pleasure, relaxation, fun, control, mastery, empowerment, and achievement.

Artist-led interventions could be delivered by community-based creative and cultural organisations and venues and made available through social prescribing. Funders of such services will seek evidence of benefit and safety. The health sector values evidence of efficacy and harm via systematic reviews of randomised controlled clinical trials. Evidence to support the value of art interventions for pain is growing with systematic reviews providing tentative evidence that art and music therapy is beneficial, and safe, for people living with pain (22–27). Unmasking Pain is grounded in a "social aspect", so using a conventional RCT paradigm to evaluate effectiveness is likely to

be inadequate. In fact, the veracity of existing RCT evidence for pain treatments has been challenged (28). In 2021, NICE reported no relevant clinical studies comparing social interventions with standard care for the management of chronic primary pain (19).

The power of art to challenge conceptual thinking about pain

Involvement in Unmasking Pain has instigated discussions among our pain specialists about tensions between subjective pain and the objective world of pain medicine dominated by a Cartesian neuro-mechanistic explanation of pain. Neilson argues that overly simplistic mechanistic models of pain encourage treatments focussed on "blocking and cutting" neural substrates (29). Conflation of nociception and pain has contributed to misnomers and fallacies in reasoning such as reification of pain (i.e., the myth that pain is a concrete (objective) "thing") (30) resulting in conceptual misunderstanding (31). Pain scholars argue for conceptual shifts in models of pain that incorporate principles of meaning in relation to lived experience (32, 33), as well as contemporary understanding of neural processing that may influence pain qualia, such as nonlinearity, predictive processing and emergence (34). Debates about the biopsychosocial model of pain being conceptually narrow, fragmented, and dominated by biomedical paradigms has resulted in calls for broader perspectives (32, 35-38). Viewing pain through the lens of art and creativity can offer a more encompassing understanding of pain. For example, Agarwal used a medical humanism, social constructionist approach to develop an "ecology of wholeness" model for the person living with pain, in which art plays a key role in knowing, symbolising and healing the body and the self (39).

Conclusion

People struggle to conceptualise and tell stories of their pain experience, and our perspective is that Unmasking Pain overcame this challenge by helping people living with pain move from "I can't do, I am not willing to do it" to "Perhaps I can, I'll give it a go, I enjoyed, ... I am not alone". This demonstrated the power of art to enable curious exploration of oneself, through imagination, creative expression, and explorative joy, enabling people to tell their stories and have them heard. To paraphrase Novalis (aka Friedrich von Hardenberg, 1772–1801) "Art makes the familiar strange, and the strange familiar".

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

BS conceived the project and ET, DF, BS, FC, PC, and MJ developed the bid for external funding. All authors were involved in the design, delivery and evaluation of the project and associated workshops. MJ wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The Unmasking Pain pilot project was funded by the Arts Council England, ESRC IAA and Durham Wolfson Research Institute for Health and Wellbeing. Open access publication fees were paid for by Leeds Beckett University.

Conflict of interest

MJ declares that his institution has received income within the previous 5 years for the following, all of which are outside of the scope of the submitted work (taken from ICMJE form): Expert consultancy income from Neuromodulation Society of the United Kingdom and Ireland; GSK, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd; and a research grant from GSK. MJ also receives book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpain.2023. 1179116/full#supplementary-material.

References

1. Toye F, Seers K, Allcock N, Briggs M, Carr E, Andrews J, et al. Patients' experiences of chronic non-malignant musculoskeletal pain: a qualitative systematic review. *Br J Gen Pract.* (2013) 63(617):e829–41. doi: 10.3399/bjgp13X675412

2. Chaplin AD. Art and embodiment: biological and phenomenological contributions to understanding beauty and the aesthetic. *Contemp Aesthet.* (2005) 3:1–14. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2020-011874

3. Kim KS, Lor M. Art making as a health intervention: concept analysis and implications for nursing interventions. *Adv Nurs Sci.* (2022) 45(2):155–69. doi: 10. 1097/ANS.00000000000412

4. Miglio N, Stanier J. Beyond pain scales: a critical phenomenology of the expression of pain. Front Pain Res. (2022) 3:895443. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.895443

5. Morse JM. Decontextualized care. Qual Health Res. (2005) 15(2):143-4. doi: 10. 1177/1049732304272030

6. Wideman TH, Edwards RR, Walton DM, Martel MO, Hudon A, Seminowicz DA. The multimodal assessment model of pain: a novel framework for further integrating the subjective pain experience within research and practice. *Clin J Pain.* (2019) 35 (3):212–21. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0000000000000070

7. Entwistle VA, Renfrew MJ, Yearley S, Forrester J, Lamont T. Lay perspectives: advantages for health research. *Br Med J.* (1998) 316(7129):463–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj. 316.7129.463

8. Storr W. The science of stroytelling. London: Williams Collins (2019).

9. Robinson K. Creative schools. London: Pengiuin Books (2016).

10. Padfield D, Omand H, Semino E, Williams ACC, Zakrzewska JM. Images as catalysts for meaning-making in medical pain encounters: a multidisciplinary analysis. *Med Humanit.* (2018) 44(2):74–81. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2017-011415

11. Jensen A, Bonde LO. The use of arts interventions for mental health and wellbeing in health settings. *Perspect Public Health*. (2018) 138(4):209–14. doi: 10. 1177/1757913918772602

12. Toye F, Seers K, Barker KL. Meta-ethnography to understand healthcare professionals' experience of treating adults with chronic non-malignant pain. *BMJ Open*. (2017) 7(12):e018411. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018411

13. Allegretti A, Borkan J, Reis S, Griffiths F. Paired interviews of shared experiences around chronic low back pain: classic mismatch between patients and their doctors. *Fam Pract.* (2010) 27(6):676–83. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmq063

14. Hovey RB, Khayat VC, Feig E. Listening to and letting pain speak: poetic reflections. Br J Pain. (2018) 12(2):95–103. doi: 10.1177/2049463717741146

15. Stilwell P, Stilwell C, Sabo B, Harman K. Painful metaphors: enactivism and art in qualitative research. *Med Humanit*. (2021) 47:235–47. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2020-011874

16. Fancourt D, Finn S. What is the evidence on the role of the arts in improving health and well-being? A scoping review. Copenhagen: WHO Health Evidence Network Synthesis Reports (2019).

17. Antonovsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promot Int.* (1996) 11(1):11–8. doi: 10.1093/heapro/11.1.11

18. Oliveira CC. Suffering and salutogenesis. *Health Promot Int*. (2015) 30(2):222-7. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau061

19. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain [NG 193]: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2021). p. 1–36. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng193

20. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management. Clinical guideline [NG59]: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2016). p. 1–18. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59.

21. Toye F, Belton J, Hannink E, Seers K, Barker K. A healing journey with chronic pain: a meta-ethnography synthesizing 195 qualitative studies. *Pain Med.* (2021) 22 (6):1333-44. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa373

22. Puetz TW, Morley CA, Herring MP. Effects of creative arts therapies on psychological symptoms and quality of life in patients with cancer. JAMA Intern Med. (2013) 173(11):960–9. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.836

23. Kim KS, Loring S, Kwekkeboom K. Use of art-making intervention for pain and quality of life among cancer patients: a systematic review. *J Holist Nurs*. (2018) 36 (4):341–53. doi: 10.1177/0898010117726633

24. Cheng P, Xu L, Zhang J, Liu W, Zhu J. Role of arts therapy in patients with breast and gynecological cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Palliat Med.* (2021) 24(3):443–52. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2020.0468

25. Hakimi S, Hajizadeh K, Hasanzade R, Ranjbar M. A systematic review and metaanalysis of the effects of music therapy on postpartum anxiety and pain levels. *J Caring Sci.* (2021) 10(4):230–7. doi: 10.34172/jcs.2021.033

26. Garza-Villarreal EA, Pando V, Vuust P, Parsons C. Music-induced analgesia in chronic pain conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain Physician*. (2017) 20(7):597–610. doi: 10.36076/ppj/2017.7.597

27. Santiváñez-Acosta R, Tapia-López EdlN, Santero M. Music therapy in pain and anxiety management during labor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicina*. (2020) 56(10):526. doi: 10.3390/medicina56100526

28. Moore A, Fisher E, Eccleston C. Flawed, futile, and fabricated-features that limit confidence in clinical research in pain and anaesthesia: a narrative review. *Br J Anaesth.* (2023) 130(3):287–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2022.09.030

29. Neilson S. Pain as metaphor: metaphor and medicine. *Med Humanit*. (2016) 42 (1):3–10. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2015-010672

30. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. J Pain. (2022) 23(8):1283–93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235.

31. Weisman A, Quintner J, Galbraith M, Masharawi Y. Why are assumptions passed off as established knowledge? *Med Hypotheses*. (2020) 140:109693. doi: 10. 1016/j.mehy.2020.109693

32. Cohen M, Quintner J, van Rysewyk S. Reconsidering the international association for the study of pain definition of pain. *Pain Rep.* (2018) 3(2):e634. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000634

33. van Rysewyk S, Galbraith M, Quintner J, Cohen M. Do we mean to ignore meaning in pain? *Pain Med.* (2021) 22(5):1021–3. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnab013

34. Doleys DM. Chronic pain as a hypothetical construct: a practical and philosophical consideration. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:664. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 00664

35. Sullivan MD, Sturgeon JA, Lumley MA, Ballantyne JC. Reconsidering Fordyce's classic article, "pain and suffering: what is the unit?" to help make our model of chronic pain truly biopsychosocial. *Pain.* (2023) 164(2):271–9. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002748

36. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):daac128. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

37. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:1000170. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

38. Williams AC, Craig KD. Updating the definition of pain. Pain. (2016) 157 (11):2420-3. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000613

39. Agarwal V. Medical humanism, chronic illness, and the body in pain. Lantham, Maryland: Lexington Books (2020). 319.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Maral Tajerian, Queens College (CUNY), United States

REVIEWED BY Catarina Tomé Pires, Autonomous University of Lisbon, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Chiara Moretti ⊠ chiara.moretti@unipr.it Enrico De Luca ⊠ E.De-Luca@exeter.ac.uk

RECEIVED 18 March 2023 ACCEPTED 12 July 2023 PUBLISHED 25 July 2023

CITATION

Moretti C, De Luca E, D'Apice C, Artioli G, Sarli L and Bonacaro A (2023) Gender and sex bias in prevention and clinical treatment of women's chronic pain: hypotheses of a curriculum development. *Front. Med.* 10:1189126. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1189126

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Moretti, De Luca, D'Apice, Artioli, Sarli and Bonacaro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Gender and sex bias in prevention and clinical treatment of women's chronic pain: hypotheses of a curriculum development

Chiara Moretti^{1*}, Enrico De Luca^{2*}, Clelia D'Apice¹, Giovanna Artioli¹, Leopoldo Sarli¹ and Antonio Bonacaro^{1,3}

¹Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Parma, Parma, Italy, ²Faculty of Health and Life Sciences Exeter University, Exeter, United Kingdom, ³Department of Nursing, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom

This discursive paper focuses on undergraduate medical education's role in tackling gender bias in clinical practice, specifically preventing and managing from a non-biomedical perspective chronic pain in women. A preliminary web search of medical schools' curricula was performed to identify programs content related to gender bias in pain management. The web search included 10 universities' websites selected from the top 10 rankings QS Universities Rankings 2022 for medical schools. Additionally, a questionnaire was sent to all deans of the selected academic institutions to explore the curriculum content further. The web search, and the lack of response from the deans, highlighted that relevant curriculum components on gender bias and chronic pain needed to be implemented. Therefore, this paper introduces an innovative curriculum development approach designed by the multi-professional research team to be implemented in medical school programs. This novel educational strategy could also cross-contaminate other healthcare practitioners' university programs and, thus, stimulate an interprofessional debate into fostering inclusiveness and equal opportunities in health.

KEYWORDS

chronic pain, women, gender bias, education, gender medicine

1. Introduction

Medical education has been concerned with providing predominantly undergraduate students with the knowledge of the biophysical determinant of illnesses of the human body (1). With this discursive paper, an interprofessional team of academics and researchers from anthropology, nursing, education, medical science, and public health aimed to design a curriculum development intervention for medical education on psychosocial aspects of health, specifically chronic pain and gender.

Western medicine is transitioning from a clinical and biological model to a new one developed around the more exhaustive definition of health as per the WHO definition that says "...a state of complete well-being, mental and not the mere absence of the state of disease or infirmity."

The so-called patient-centered medicine aims (2, 3) at placing the person at the center of care and at defining *disease* not only as a mere organic/physiological dysfunction of the organism (disease) but as a complex phenomenon experienced, both individually (illness)

and socially (sickness) (4, 5). Nevertheless, Western medicine remains firmly rooted in biological determinism and the need to rely on data and evidence to offer answers using the most advanced technology. This biological determinism not only shapes medical and operational practices in healthcare settings but also strongly characterizes curricula and university programs attended by healthcare students and professionals. The limits of an exclusively "technical" approach with scant attention to the person emerge clearly when biomedicine is confronted with chronic pain, especially when the patient is female. Chronic pain is an enigma for evidence-based medicine because it is invisible. It cannot be traced objectively and visually in the organism, it cannot be examined by the "medical gaze" (6), and thus it escapes from empirical supervision. However, on the other hand, pain is also an experience (7): it is not a mere physiological sensation but, instead, is the result of an elaboration process of this sensation, where emotional, cognitive, individual, social, cultural, and environmental factors play a central role. In this sense, pain takes shape in the peculiarity of individual biographies, also manifesting itself as a "total" (8), having a multidimensional impact and affecting several aspects of life (psychic, social, relational, etc.). Therefore, pain management should be based on a holistic and personalized care approach. This approach contributes to defining pain as a multidimensional experience shaped by several elements. Among these elements are sex and gender differences that influence health and disease, particularly the processes of pain chronicization (9–12).

Chronic pain primarily affects the female population (13-16). However, most studies investigating pain mechanisms are mainly conducted on the male population (17-20), while physiological mechanisms underlying women's pain and gender/sex differences are yet to be explored in-depth. The same is true for pharmacology (21, 22): most drugs are tested on the 70-kilo ideal male type, and the recommended dosages refer to this standard, even if women and men have different abilities to metabolize the active ingredients (23).

In literature, and especially in gender medicine studies, it has been repeatedly highlighted how doctors' scant consideration and preparation for women's health and female patients' pain may be responsible for gender bias¹ in care settings (23–27). Gender stereotypes influence biomedical ways of analyzing, interpreting, and treating female pain. For instance, several studies have shown that female pain is often underestimated since health professionals tend to frame it as a phenomenon amplified by behavioral and attitudinal traits that are considered to be "typically" females–such as amplified emotionality, psychological vulnerability and dramatization–which would lead them to less tolerate pain and manifest it exaggeratedly (24, 28–30). This leads professionals to be more inclined to interpret the symptoms reported by the male population as organic and those

reported by the female population as psychosomatic, underestimating them (31, 32). The invisibility of pain and the difficulty in identifying a specific pathology that causes chronic pain also lead to the stigmatization of women suffering from complex chronic pain syndromes, as is well shown in the literature (29, 30, 33–35). Many women with chronic pain report that they were not believed and that their pain was not treated (29, 33).

The gender biases within a clinician-person relationship can result in a lack of equity and access to care. Literature (24, 36) is rich in examples of such biases. Compared to men, women receive less intensive and effective pain care (37–42). Women are less likely to be prescribed analgesics and opiates (37, 43) and more likely to receive antidepressant prescriptions than men (38). Furthermore, when male and female patients express the same type of pain, female patients are more likely to be referred to psychotherapy, while men receive pharmacological medications (29, 42, 44, 45). Psychologizing women's chronic pain not only leads to an underestimation of a massive health problem but also has a negative impact on their illness experience; many women, in fact, state that they feel abandoned by health professionals, family members or partners, friends, and colleagues (29, 46).

Physicians' gender stereotypes are responsible for inequalities in medicine and clinical practice. Research must examine how these stereotypes generate care disparities and influence patient–professional interactions. Therefore, to reduce gender bias, the awareness of values and attitudes toward gender must increase within the medical society. A possible approach is including gender theory and discussions in medical school curricula. However, a growing body of literature shows how gender medicine, specifically women's health, is almost neglected in the medical schools' curricula (47, 48). In addition, 70% of postgraduate physicians in training indicated that gender medicine concepts are never or sporadically discussed in their training program (49).

Because sex and gender are health determinants, incorporating these contents into medical curricula could promote a more comprehensive patient-centered approach. Research should focus on understanding how basic pain mechanisms may differ in the two sexes and the diverse ways in which gender differences currently influence diagnostic and treatment decisions. In addition, optimal pain management requires that clinicians understand and examine their gender stereotypes and be prepared to evaluate whether these stereotypes result in less-than-optimal pain management for specific individuals. This paper aims to analyze whether courses centered on gender medicine and, in particular, on female pain are provided in medical schools' curricula. The paper aims to design a medical school's curriculum innovation intervention for tackling gender-based health inequalities and fostering a biopsychosocial model for preventing and treating pain.

2. Method

The project implied several explorative steps allowing the research team to reflect on and design a suitable new course aiming at tackling gender bias in pain management in medical students.

The first step consisted of browsing the available web content of 10 worldwide top universities and medical schools (50) programs. Specifically, the web search sought any humanistic or social sciences

¹ By gender bias, we mean the bias generated by stereotypes, i.e., distortions, which occur when gender differences have not been adequately considered. The stereotype (from the Greek "stereos" and "typos," i.e., "rigid image") is equivalent to the representation shared by a social group regarding another social group to which characteristics are attributed that derive from approximate generalizations.

lectures, training, or awareness courses within the programs selected. This first step was necessary as it is highly probable that interventions or training proposals aimed at raising pain/gender awareness are included in program modules with a humanistic and relational focus. In fact, training medical students to orient their clinical lenses to observe pain as a complex and gendered phenomenon is directly linked with implementing their communication, psycho, and social skills (51, 52). We directed our attention to the manifest content of medical school websites as a retrospective process to help us answer our initial question. Therefore, we explored 10 of the most important worldwide medical schools' curricula and the available content to uncover to what extent medical curricula may contribute to tackling gender-based health inequalities and promote a non-biomedical approach to managing pain in women.

The second step of the project aimed at collecting more information on the university's websites mentioned above on the humanistic contents of their programs. A questionnaire was emailed to the Deans for students' teaching and learning experience and heads of departments of each of the 10 involved medical schools. The research team designed the three open-ended questions to investigate education leaders' awareness or possibility of foreseeing training on the project topic (Appendix 1). Three separate reminders were sent to elicit a response and maximize participation.

The last step consisted of the course design phase, considering the previous steps' findings. Therefore, the research team designed an innovative educational program in medical education that combines authors' different points of view and respective disciplines background.

The study took place under local regulations, and no ethical approval was sought from the university ethics committee. Therefore, no personal and sensitive data were expected to be collected according to the developed questionnaire. Moreover, the invited Deans/heads of the Department have yet to respond to the questionnaire; thus, only literature review data are presented in this article.

3. Results

The research team selected medical schools among the top 10 universities per several continents (Europe, Asia, America, and Canada) according to the Top 10 ranking QS Universities Rankings 2022 (Appendix 2). The team selected three universities per continent, plus one for the United Kingdom. Each university website was searched for downloadable programs and curriculum content. Therefore, the search aimed to detect humanities, social science, anthropology, psychology, sociology, and similar fields elements incorporated in the selected curricula. In addition, any element or suggestion about person-centered care, medical humanities, model of care, communication, and interprofessional approaches was also considered. Universities with these characteristics and access were included. Finally, the accessible university programs and curriculum were analyzed.

The general perception of the programs analyzed was limited space for humanistic content. The number of hours dedicated to these lectures is generally minimal compared to the number of hours devoted to formative sciences and clinical skills. However, this final material selection brought the team's attention to several crucial aspects. Although supported and preannounced to have a humanistic approach to health, some universities only possess some teaching with this content in the actual program. For example, one university describes its approach to medicine as holistic, but this concept needs to be explained or expanded within the program.

However, the same medical school proposed a course in psychological medicine in the third year. An interesting aspect is represented by an Asian approach for first-year students with a module called a *journey to understand myself, society, human beings and human life.* Nevertheless, the contents of this very promising module are not accessible, but they give an idea of a more personcentered model. A North American university teaches the "narrative medicine" approach within foundational seminars across all the programs.

Interesting to notice that some academic contexts put the study of communication, medical humanities, or psychology in the first 2 years. At the same time, others dedicate seminars on the same topics in the second part of their pathway when they are more senior. The Canadian model (CANmeds) adopted by two selected universities (Europe and Toronto) is worth mentioning. CANmeds consists of an integrated model of care developed by and for physicians. According to this model, the students approach medicine from the first year in an integrated way, combining clinical skills with aspects of medicine more concerned with relationships and community health.

The response to the second step of our inquiry into medical education was very scarce. The educational leaders have yet to respond to emails containing the brief questionnaire. Therefore, the research team decided to expand the search for references further in postgraduate education courses or training in the medical and health profession. From this last purposive review, the team found specific courses for the medical profession (sometimes open to interprofessionality) that are more focused on gender medicine and pain management. This last fact highlights that, at this moment, the education on topics so sensitive and deep into the human experience of illness is relegated to the ones who are probably already interested in it or looking for further specialization. Among the different courses, Harvard University, with a master's in public health, designed a course in Gender, Women and Health. In comparison, the University of Aberdeen has a course on Women's Health in a Global Setting, open to all health professions.

4. Discussion

The findings from this last search inspired the research team to enrich their course proposal, investing in a longitudinal pathway throughout the medical degree.

Therefore, this group proposes a foundational course that should become integral to the medical training curriculum. The course should last 4 years, starting from the first year of studies, with consequential modules that deepen, each time, different topics. The authors propose a four-year course considering the average length of medical education programs. In addition, the proposed workshops embedded in each year of study will ensure proportionate integration to student's clinical practical experience; therefore, this approach will support the student's progression in a reflective and lifelong learning perspective (53).

The course will consist of a mix of teaching and learning strategies. In addition, the course will provide for each year an analysis of specific initial needs (teachers will also use that to reorient the program) and an assessment of learning, educational impact, and satisfaction at the end of each module. The program is detailed in the table here below.

Course title: He	alth, gender, and chronic pain
1st year-gende	r, medicine, and health
Theme	Health and gender
Contents	I Module
	(1) Sex as health determinants (sex differences in organ
	and body systems)
	(2) Sex differences in effect and side effects of
	pharmaceuticals
	(3) Incorporating gender analysis into health research
	and interventions. II Module
	 Gender differences and their impact on pathogenesis, diagnosis, prevention, and medical care
	(2) Gender distribution of diseases in the population
	(2) Senati distribution of diseases in the population(3) The role of gender in shaping health inequities and
	how gender health inequalities affect health research and
	interventions.
Objectives	Develop skills in gender medicine
Teaching modalities	Autobiography
	Interactive lesson
	Case discussion
	Use of reflective diaries in clinical placement
	Reflective writing
	Final evaluation
Hours	20 h (frontal lectures and facilitated team-work)
2nd year-pain as	a multidimensional experience
Theme	The multiple aspects of pain
Contents	I Module
	The physiological basis of pain
	II Module
	The social/cultural aspects in pain
	III Module
	The psychological aspects in pain
Objectives	Understanding and deepening the multidimensionality of the pain symptoms
Teaching modalities	Initial autobiography
0	Case discussion
	Interactive lesson
	Testimonials and reflections on the experience
	Use of reflective diaries in clinical placement
	Reflective writing
	Final evaluation
Hours	20 h
3rd year-gender	medicine and female chronic pain
Theme	Sex and gender differences in pain and pain management

Contents	I Module
Contents	(1) Biologic factors may account for sex differences in
	pain
	(2) Psychosocial factors may account for sex/gender
	differences in pain sensitivity
	II Module
	(1) Medicine, pain, and gender bias
	(2) Pain, chronic pain, and women
	III Module
	(1) Reflect on one's own gender stereotypes and their
	impact on clinical practice
	(2) Medical practice and self-reflexivity
Objectives	To Deepen the characteristics of sex and gender related to
Objectives	
	pain and chronic pain To reflect on gender biases in pain and pain management
	and develop skills to trace them
Teaching modalities	Initial autobiography
	Case discussion
	Interactive lesson
	Testimonials and reflections on the experience
	Simulation lab (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed
	reality etc)
	Role playing
	Use of reflective diaries in clinical placement
	Reflective writing
	Final evaluation
Hours	20 h
4th year–gender	medicine and relationship with the patient
Theme	Relationship with the patient
Contents	I Module
	(1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments
	(1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication
	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module
	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women
	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender Module
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender Module Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender Module
Objectives	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender Module Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the
	 Review strategies for patient-centered communication Personalized pain assessments Assessment of chronic pain in women Module The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender Module Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference
	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/
	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson Testimonials and reflections on the experience
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson Testimonials and reflections on the experience Simulation lab (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson Testimonials and reflections on the experience Simulation lab (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed reality etc)
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson Testimonials and reflections on the experience Simulation lab (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed reality etc) Role playing
Objectives	 (1) Review strategies for patient-centered communication (2) Personalized pain assessments (3) Assessment of chronic pain in women II Module (1) The impact of gender on communication and interaction with patients (2) Review strategies for patient-centered communication regardless of gender III Module (1) Ascertaining chronic pain in patients considering the gender difference Deepen knowledge and develop skills on the doctor/ patient relationship, in particular in the assessment and therapeutic management of pain Initial autobiography Case discussion Interactive lesson Testimonials and reflections on the experience Simulation lab (virtual reality, augmented reality, mixed reality etc) Role playing Use of reflective diaries in clinical placement

5. Conclusion

Undergraduate medical students have traditionally been exposed to biophysical-focused curricula with little attention to patients' needs and expectations. A similar trend has been taking place in clinical research. In addition to a specific focus on biological feedback to new medications and treatments, men represent the predominant population studied.

The predominant role of men in biomedical science has been negatively impacting the delivery of high-quality and personalized medical care to women. Gender bias is equally in place regarding pain assessment and management in the women population. This may drastically impact women's health and well-being, especially regarding chronic pain and daily living habits. Our purposive literature review and the subsequent exploration of medical schools' curricula have confirmed this concerning trend. Unfortunately, we could not ascertain relevant practices in this primary educational and medical area as none of the HE institutions we contacted responded to our questionnaire. Furthermore, only 10 universities from the most prestigious academic institutions in the world, as per the Top 10 ranking QS Universities Rankings 2022, were scrutinized. Despite this may constitute a limitation, the research team adopted this strategy due to time constraints and the assumption that world-renowned academic institutions would have posed much more emphasis on gender bias in medical practice and women's chronic pain management from а non-biomedical perspective.

The proposed educational intervention aims to stimulate a debate within the scientific community and allow the incorporation of a novel approach to limiting the effects of gender bias on future medical practitioners. This innovative approach spreads throughout the undergraduate medical curriculum, ensuring continuity and sustaining an adequate and harmonious development of clinical skills and increased awareness in medical students to manage chronic pain in the female population appropriately. Furthermore, it is worth stressing that gender bias in medical science does not impact negatively only on women's health as medical science must be as much as possible inclusive, fair, and open to the full spectrum of gender identities.

We recommend this approach in any medical school and curriculum cross-contamination in all other allied health professions university programs in a lifelong interprofessional perspective.

References

1. Kelly M, Ellaway R, Scherpbier A, King N, Dornan T. Body pedagogics: embodied learning for the health professions. *Med Educ.* (2019) 53:967–77. doi: 10.1111/ medu.13916

2. Bardes CL. Defining patient-centered medicine. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1200070

3. Sacristán JA. Patient-centered medicine and patient-oriented research: improving health outcomes for individual patients. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. (2013) 13:1. doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-13-6

4. Eisenberg L. Disease and illness. Distinction between professional and popular ideas of sickness, culture. *Med Psychiatry*. (1977) 1:9–23. doi: 10.1007/BF00114808

5. Kleinman A, Eisenberg L, Good B. Culture, illness and care. Clinical lessons from anthropologic and cross-cultural research. *Ann Intern Med.* (1978) 88:251–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-88-2-251

6. Foucault M. Nascita della clinica. Il ruolo della medicina nella costituzione delle scienze umane. Torino: Einaudi (1969). 254 p.

Future studies will include testing the curriculum mentioned above development strategy and exploring its actual and perceived outcomes on the student population.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

CM, EDL, CD'A, and AB contributed to the conception and design of the study. CD'A and CM focused on the introduction section. EDL and AB worked on the methodology. All authors focused on the discussion and the curriculum development intervention and contributed to the manuscript revision, and approval of the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1189126/ full#supplementary-material

7. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain.* (2020) 161:1976–82. doi: 10.1097/j. pain.000000000001939

8. Saunders C. The evolution of palliative care. *Patient Educ Couns*. (2000) 41:7–13. doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(00)00110-5

9. Keogh E. Sex and gender differences in pain: past, present, and future. *Pain*. (2022) 163:S108–16. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002738

10. Bartley E, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in pain: a brief review of clinical and experimental findings. *Br J Anaesth*. (2013) 111:52–8. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet127

11. Fillingim RB. Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings. *J Pain*. (2009) 10:447–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2008.12.001

12. Pieretti S, Giannuario A, Di Giovannandrea R, Marzoli A, Piccaro G, Minosi P, et al. Gender differences in pain and its relief. *Ann Ist Super Sanità*. (2016) 52:184–9. doi: 10.4415/ANN_16_02_09

13. Casale R, Atzeni F, Bazzichi L, Beretta G, Costantini E, Sacerdote P, et al. Pain in women: a perspective review on a relevant clinical issue that deserves prioritization. *Pain Ther.* (2021) 10:287–314. doi: 10.1007/s40122-021-00244-1

14. Zimmer Z, Fraser K, Grol-Prokopczyk H, Zajacova A. A global study of pain prevalence across 52 countries: examining the role of country-level contextual factors. *Pain*. (2022) 163:1740–50. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002557

15. Mills SEE, Nicolson KP, Smith BH. Chronic pain: a review of its epidemiology and associated factors in population-based studies. *Br J Anaesth.* (2019) 123:e273–83. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.03.023

16. Umeda M, Okifuji A. Exploring the sex differences in conditioned pain modulation and its biobehavioral determinants in healthy adults. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* (2023) 63:102710. doi: 10.1016/j.msksp.2022.102710

17. Mogil JS, Chanda ML. The case for the inclusion of female subjects in basic science studies of pain. *Pain.* (2005) 117:1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2005.06.020

18. Franconi F, Campesi I, Colombo D, Antonini P. Sex-gender variable: methodological recommendations for increasing scientific value of clinical studies. *Cells*. (2019) 8:5. doi: 10.3390/cells8050476

19. Osborne NR, Davis KD. Sex and gender differences in pain. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2022):164. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2022.06.013

20. Garattini S, Banzi R. *Una medicina che penalizza le donne. Le prove di una scomoda verità e alcune proposte di soluzione*. Cinisello Balsamo: Diffusione San Paolo (2022). 266 p.

21. Gobbi M, Piccirillo R, Pasina L. Differenze di genere negli effetti e nelle interazioni tra farmaci: basi farmacocinetiche e farmacodinamiche In: S Garattini and R Banzi, editors. *Una medicina che penalizza le donne*. Le prove di una scomoda verità e alcune prospettive di soluzione Cinisello Balsamo: Edizioni San Paolo (2022). 101–37.

22. Banzi R, Gerardi C. L'attenzione al genere nella ricerca e nello sviluppo dei farmaci In: S Garattini and R Banzi, editors. *Una medicina che penalizza le donne*. Le prove di una scomoda verità e alcune prospettive di soluzione, Cinisello Balsamo: Edizioni San Paolo (2022). 139–62.

23. Pilutti S, Costa G, Errico AD., Monaco RD. Prospettive di genere e salute. Dalle disuguaglianze alle differenze (Policy brief). (2016). Available at: https://iris.unito.it/retrieve/handle/2318/1612090/263356/Policy%20brief%20-%20Genere%20e%20Salute.pdf

24. Lloyd EP, Paganini GA, Brinke L. Gender stereotypes explain disparities in pain care and inform equitable policies. *Policy Insights Behav Brain Sci.* (2020) 7:198–204. doi: 10.1177/2372732220942894

25. Hamberg K, Risberg G, Johansson EE, Westman G. Gender bias in physicians' management of neck pain: a study of the answers in a Swedish national examination. *J Womens Health Gend Based Med.* (2002) 11:653–66. doi: 10.1089/152460902760360595

26. Clerc Liaudat C, Vaucher P, de Francesco T, Jaunin-Stalder N, Herzig L, Verdon F, et al. Sex/gender bias in the management of chest pain in ambulatory care. *Womens Health.* (2018) 14:174550651880564. doi: 10.1177/1745506518805641

27. Leresche L. Defining gender disparities in pain management. Clin Orthop Relat Res. (2011) 469:1871–7. doi: 10.1007/s11999-010-1759-9

28. Colameco S, Becker LA, Simpson M. Sex bias in the assessment of patient complaints. J Fam Pract. (1983) 6:1117–21.

29. Samulowitz A, Gremyr I, Eriksson E, Hensing G. "Brave men" and "emotional women": a theory-guided literature review on gender bias in health care and gendered norms towards patients with chronic pain. *Pain Res Manage*. (2018) 2018:1–14. doi: 10.1155/2018/6358624

30. Moretti C. Il dolore illegittimo. Un'etnografia della sindrome fibromialgica. Pisa: ETS (2019). 375 p.

31. Riuz MT, Verbrugge LM. A two way view of gender bias in medicine. J Epidemiol Community Health. (1997) 51:106–9. doi: 10.1136/jech.51.2.106

32. Bernstein B, Kane R. Physicians' attitudes toward female patients. *Med Care*. (1981) 19:600-8. doi: 10.1097/00005650-198106000-00004

33. Barker KK. The fibromyalgia story. Medical Authority & Women's worlds of pain. Philadelphia: Temple University Press (2005). 252 p.

34. Jackson JE. Stigma, liminality, and chronic pain: mind-body borderlands. Am Ethnol. (2005) 32:332–53. doi: 10.1525/ae.2005.32.3.332

35. Perugino F, De Angelis V, Pompili M, Martelletti P. Stigma and chronic pain. *Pain Ther.* (2022) 11:1085–94. doi: 10.1007/s40122-022-00418-5

36. Majedi H, Dehghani SS, Soleyman-Jahi S, Tafakhori A, Emami SA, Mireskandari M, et al. Assessment of factors predicting inadequate pain Management in Chronic Pain Patients. *Anesth Pain Med.* (2019) 2019:e97229. doi: 10.5812/aapm.97229

37. Chen E, Shofer FS, Dean AJ, Hollander JE, Baxt WG, Robey JL, et al. Gender disparity in analgesic treatment of emergency department patients with acute abdominal pain. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2008) 15:414–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00100.x

38. Lord B, Cui J, Kelly AM. The impact of patient sex on paramedic pain management in the prehospital setting. *Am J Emerg Med.* (2009) 27:525–9. doi: 10.1016/j. ajem.2008.04.003

39. Hoffmann DE, Tarzian AJ. The girl who cried pain: a bias against women in the treatment of pain. *J Law Med Ethics*. (2001) 29:13–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-720x.2001. tb00037.x

40. Elderkin-Thompson V, Waitzkin H. Differences in clinical communication by gender. J Gen Intern Med. (1999) 14:112-21. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.1999.00296.x

41. Verbrugge LM. Sex differences in complains and diagnosis. J Behav Med. (1980) 3:327-55. doi: 10.1007/BF00845289

42. McNeill JA, Sherwood GD, Starck PL. The hidden error of mismanaged pain: a systems approach. J Pain Symptom Manag. (2004) 28:47–58. doi: 10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2003.11.005

43. Donovan K, Taliaferro LA, Brock CW, Bazargan S. Sex differences in the adequacy of pain management among patients referred to a multidisciplinary Cancer pain clinic. *J Pain Symptom Manag.* (2008) 36:167–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2007.09.013

44. Bernardes S, Costa M, Carvalho H. Engendering pain management practices: the role of physician sex on chronic low-back pain assessment and treatment prescriptions. *J Pain.* (2013) 14:931–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2013.03.004

45. Zhang L. Gender biases in estimation of others' pain. J Pain. (2021) 22:1048–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2021.03.001

46. McManimen S, McClellan D, Stoothoff J, Gleason K, Jason LA. Dismissing chronic illness: a qualitative analysis of negative health care experiences. *Health Care Women Int.* (2019) 40:241–58. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2018.1521811

47. Khamisy-Farah R, Bragazzi NL. How to integrate sex and gender medicine into medical and allied health profession undergraduate, graduate, and post-graduate education: insights from a rapid systematic literature review and a thematic meta-synthesis. *J Pers Med.* (2022) 12:4. doi: 10.3390/jpm12040612

48. Miller VM, Rice M, Schiebinger L, Jenkins MR, Werbinski J, Núñez A, et al. Embedding concepts of sex and gender health differences into medical curricula. J Women's Health. (2013) 22:194–202. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2012.4193

49. Jenkins MR, Herrmann A, Tashjian A, Ramineni T, Ramakrishnan R, Raef D, et al. Sex and gender in medical education: a national student survey. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2016) 7:45. doi: 10.1186/s13293-016-0094-6. eCollection 2016

50. QS World University Rankings. *Top Global Universities*. Available at: (2023). https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2022 (Accessed March 17 2023).

51. Wald HS, McFarland J, Markovina I. Medical humanities in medical education and practice. *Med Teach*. (2019) 41:492–6. doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497151

52. Adams ZM, Mekbib K, Encandela J, Reisman A. Variation in medical humanities program mission statements in United States and Canadian medical schools. *Med Teach*. (2022) 45:615–22. doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2022.2151886

53. Brauer DG, Ferguson KJ. The integrated curriculum in medical education: AMEE guide no. 96. *Med Teach.* (2015) 37:312–22. doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.970998

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Kazuo Nakamoto, Kobe Gakuin University, Japan

REVIEWED BY Mark Lumley, Wayne State University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 05 May 2023 ACCEPTED 11 July 2023 PUBLISHED 26 July 2023

CITATION

Hudson M and Johnson MI (2023) Perspectives on emotional memory images and the persistence of pain. Front. Pain Res. 4:1217721. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hudson and Johnson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Perspectives on emotional memory images and the persistence of pain

Matt Hudson^{1,2} and Mark I. Johnson^{1*}

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Mind Help Limited, Durham, United Kingdom

Multiple influences prevent recovery from pain. Our viewpoint is that non-conscious emotional memory images (EMIs) triggers outdated stress responses contributing to the intractability of pain. In this perspectives article we explore the concept that EMIs contribute to the persistence of pain. We contend that psychophysiological "stress" responses, resulting from first-time, novel and unprecedented pernicious or adverse events form EMIs within very short time frames (split-second learning). Subsequently, these EMIs are re-triggered in daily living, "re-playing" stress responses. We postulate that EMIs continually "raise the alarm" to socio-ecological stimuli by re-triggering the HPA-axis and amplifying neural input associated with threat, fear, anxiety, and pain, creating a debilitating state of psychophysiological dis-ease. We position the EMI within a philosophical debate on the nature and locus of memory and explain how the EMI, irrespective of whether it is a "thing" or a metaphor, can create a basis of understanding for the client to grasp. We describe a therapeutic approach (Split-Second Unlearning) to "clear" EMIs and the "stickiness" of pain and help people embark on a healing journey. This involves surveillance of clients for micro-expression(s) signifying an in-the-moment stress response, representative of the presence of an EMI, and encouraging the client to become a curious observer within/of their own experience. This helps the client detach their EMI from its stress response. We contend that this occurs rapidly without the need to get bogged down in a whole-life narrative. We advocate further exploration of our EMI model of dis-ease in the context of intractable pain.

KEYWORDS

persistent (chronic) pain, pain, Split-Second Unlearning, psychotherapeutic, psychophysiological dis-ease, intractable pain, emotional memory images

Introduction

Intractable pain that persists beyond the expected time for recovery affects a large proportion of people and is burdensome on society (1). In 2018, Borsook et al. (2) introduced the concept of "pain stickiness" as a nickname to capture multiple influences preventing recovery from pain, i.e., being stuck in pain despite therapeutic intervention. Borsook et al. explored reasons why some people engage adaptive responses to a perturbation (e.g., physical trauma, surgery or disease) enabling recovery, whereas others do not. Borstook et al. argued that neurobiologically informed psychotherapy, focusing on pain as a motivational drive to avoid harm, would assist people to overcome maladaptive fixed pain behaviour.

Our viewpoint is that exploring pain stickiness through a psychoeducational lens offers opportunities to better understand the intractable nature of pain, and possible strategies to aid recovery. Previously, we proposed a psychoeducational model of "dis-ease" based on

evidence that traumatic emotional events earlier in life block a person's ability to overcome maladaptive thoughts and behaviours later in life. This results in a state of psychophysiological stress (dis-ease) and a variety of symptoms, proposed including intractable pain (<mark>3</mark>). We that psychophysiological "stress" responses resulted from first-time, novel and unprecedented pernicious or adverse events. This formed emotional memory images (EMIs) within very short time frames (Split-Second Learning), and these EMIs are re-triggered in daily living "re-playing" stress responses (3, 4).

Our theory positions EMIs as a barrier to a person "moving forward". We offered a technique to "unlearn" the EMI and aid recovery, i.e., Split-Second Unlearning. This involves screening clients for the presence of EMIs and placing the client as a curious observer within their own experience. In doing so, the client is able to "detach" (uncouple) the EMI from their stress response (dis-ease) so they can become naturally adaptive again.

In this perspectives article, we explore long-term intractable pain through an EMI lens. Our viewpoint is that emotionally overwhelming experiences, real or imagined, induce, nonconscious, contiguously formed multimodal mental imagery. This can trigger amnesic, anachronistic, stress responses within a splitsecond that may contribute to the intractability (stickiness) of pain. Our intention is to describe how Split-Second Learning informs a broader understanding of intractable pain and how our model of Split-Second Unlearning offers opportunities for therapeutic approaches.

Context

Our Split-Second Unlearning model of psychophysiological dis-ease offers a new perspective on nebulous conditions, such as stress, anxiety, and pain that persists (e.g., chronic primary pain) (3). In brief, we proposed that physiological stress responses (i.e., mediated) from first-time, sympathetically novel and unprecedented "traumatic" emotional experience are learnt within a "split-second" and can be re-triggered later in daily life when a person encounters a "reminder". These "reminders" may be pernicious or benign events that re-trigger latent nonconscious EMIs. EMIs activate a sympathetically-mediated stress response, producing bodily sensations associated with fight-flightfright-freeze-flop (e.g., rapid heart rate, shallow breath, and sweaty palms). The sympathetic response is like an "echo" of the original archaic trauma (adverse event).

In the modern world people often appraise such sensations as negative emotional states detrimental to health and wellbeing, e.g., pain of sinister origin producing anxiety and fear. The cumulative effect of re-triggering EMIs is low-level psychophysiological stress, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation and disease. Our appraisal of the attributes of EMIs suggested that the concept of EMI was distinct from other entities described in psychology literature e.g., emotional memory, mental image(ry), mental representation etc. [see Hudson and Johnson (4) for review]. We proposed that people "access" EMIs during conversation and that this manifests as non-verbal, non-conscious, momentary micro-expressions, e.g., sharp peripheral peek movements of the eyes that focus on the same exact spot whilst the client chats about their presenting problem. We suggested micro-expressions that signify a non-conscious "freeze-like" response may be used as non-verbal cues to prompt the client to curiously observe and explore their in-the-moment experience. By recognising the EMI as a barrier to moving forward, the client can engage with observable fragments of their response to "triggers"; this helps to detach the EMI from psychophysiological stress so that they can become naturally adaptive again, i.e., Split-Second Unlearning. Uncoupling traumatic memory and the associated stress response reduces a person's allostatic load with positive consequences for health and well-being (5).

Our Split-Second Unlearning theory of psychophysiological dis-ease (distress) is relatively simplistic, and we emphasise that our model in no way reduces the persistence of pain to one causal mechanism. Nevertheless, psychological distress (depressive and anxiety-related symptoms), is a risk factor for the persistence of pain and is correlated with increased pain prevalence (6–8). In the next section, we explore how EMIs could influence the persistence of pain.

Learning and pain persistence: the role of EMIs

People learn the concept and construct of pain through life experience; thus pain is strongly influenced by social circumstances, i.e., past, present, and possible future events (9-11). Western medicine's deductive philosophical processes have to some extent, fostered a division between body and mind as separate entities, encouraging a biomedical model of pain that focuses on tissue at the expense of lived experience.

In biomedicine pain is defined as a subjective experience anchored to tissue, e.g., "An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that with, actual or potential tissue damage" (12). Phenomenological definitions of pain tend to emphasise a fusion of body and mind and something that is familiar between people, e.g., "Pain is a mutually recognisable somatic experience that reflects a person's apprehension of threat to their bodily or existential integrity." (13) p.6. Debates about the nature of pain as an entity ("thing") (14), a type of event (15), or something else (16), including associations with bodily and extracorporeal processes are longstanding and unresolved (17).

People learn how to conceptualise and experience pain from childhood. This involves coupling bodily sensations and emotions existing in time and space to the word "pain", under the influence of societal behaviours, narratives and norms (9, 11, 18). Pain is related to the ontological experience of being in a body, i.e., the embodied mind, conceptualised and narrated in language, influenced by environments, intersected by time, place and culture (19–22). Thus, pain, and its persistence, is a personal construct under the influence of a multidimensional array of

10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

interacting biopsychosocial factors. Contemporary models of pain management advocate a biopsychosocial approach grounded in contemporary pain science education, based on the principles of sensitisation and bioplasticity, to reconceptualise a person's view about persistent pain (23). Concepts at the core of pain science education include pain acts to protect, the "pain system [sic]" can become overprotective (hypersensitive), and a hypersensitive "pain system [sic]" can be "retrained" to work "normally" (24, 25). Lumley et al. (26) argue that trauma is treated to facilitate remission or recovery, whereas persistent pain is managed so that a person is better able to function with pain. Thus, Lumley et al. advocate pain science education to promote understanding of the role of brain processing (bioplasticity) in linking trauma and persistent pain, thus aiding recovery; metaanalyses evaluating the efficacy of pain science education are inconclusive due to a paucity of large robust clinical trials (27, 28).

Perceived threat, often associated with specific emotional episodic memories, is a key feature of persistent pain and anxiety disorders (29). Post-traumatic stress disorder, adversity, and emotional regulation is associated with central nervous system processes and brain function abnormalities, e.g., in the cingulate gyrus, inferior parietal lobule, and precuneus (30). Evidence suggests that in later life, detrimental early life conditions and adverse childhood events (ACEs) are associated with increased pain severity, persistence, and complications (31-37). Functional somatic syndromes, including chronic primary pain with central sensitisation (fibromyalgia, chronic widespread pain, irritable bowel syndrome etc.), is associated with post-traumatic stress disordertype events (38, 39). In addition, pain is associated with adversity from more common distressing experiences that occur throughout life owing to social conditions including neglect, family discord, abuse, social injustice and national displacement (40).

Our viewpoint is that psychological trauma (adversity) may occur at any juncture in life, resulting in the formation of an EMI; the key is that the trauma is first-time, novel and unprecedented. For example, we speculate that EMIs produced in adults due to trauma associated with uncertainties and distress experienced by global populations during Covid-19, [e.g., lockdown, job insecurity, social isolation etc (41, 42).] contribute to the rise in Covid-19-related distress (dis-ease) (43), including new onset and persistent (stickiness) of pain (44).

Psychological therapy-based treatment is recommended for people living with intractable pain, yet high-certainty evidence of clinically meaningful benefit remains elusive. The most recent Cochrane review of 59 studies (>5,000 participants) provided moderate evidence of small or very small beneficial effects of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) for reducing pain and distress in persistent pain (45). Evidence of benefit for Behaviour Therapy (BT, 8 studies, 647 participants) or Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT, 5 studies, 443 participants) was less certain and judged to be of moderate to very low quality. In 2017, Eccleston and Crombez (46) contended that the development of psychological treatment had stalled and they advocated a "... radical re-imagining of the content, delivery, place, and control of therapy" p.1.

For some people with pain there is a "psychological barrier" to moving forward, even following pain science education and conventional psychological interventions. Our viewpoint is that EMIs have a critical role in this stickiness of pain. We defined an EMI as "Trauma induced, non-conscious, contiguously formed multimodal mental imagery, which triggers an amnesic, anachronistic, stress response within a split-second." (4) p.1. We posit, EMIs are created when a person experiences a situation perceived to threaten bodily or existential integrity. For example, a person who has experienced a dog bite may develop fear and anxiety of all dogs. The EMI generalises a threat to bodily or existential integrity across time and space (place). Fear and anxiety may be learnt through observation of others. For example, an infant witnessing a parent in fear when encountering a spider may develop an EMI themselves, causing fear and anxiety of spiders. A vast array of pernicious or adverse experiences in early life, including learned behaviours and social modelling, may generate EMIs that trigger contextual fear and anxiety. Thus EMIs, when re-triggered later in life, catalyse a stress response mediated by HPA-axis activation and the release of hormones and neuromodulators (e.g., cortisol and adrenaline). This causes symptomology associated with fear, anxiety, palpitations, muscle tension, shortness of breath, and sensitivity to stimuli that mediate pain.

We argue that people are unaware of EMIs (i.e., nonconscious), leaving them oblivious to precipitating stimuli that cause a sense of "threat", despite no apparent danger being present. Re-triggering of EMIs through exposure to stressors of modern life and chronic activation of the HPA-axis creates allostatic overload and a debilitating state of dis-ease comprising psychophysiological stress, anxiety, apprehension, and fear (47). Over time people may generalise anxiety and fear to other situations expanding precipitating circumstances beyond the scope of the original trigger i.e., stimulus generalisation (48).

The resultant allostatic overwhelm leads to dis-ease and intensification of pre-existing modern-day afflictions, (e.g., noncommunicable disease) promoting behaviours to avoid situations that trigger further fear, anxiety, distress, discomfort, and pain (47, 49). Avoidance behaviour promotes a cycle of reinforcement, where the individual avoids situations that exacerbate anxiety and fear, increasing the likelihood of avoidance and further distress (dis-ease) (50, 51). As the dominant societal narrative is biomedical in nature people, appraise symptomology as medical (pathological) in origin and seek support from health care services that provide biomedical and/or psychological interventions.

Our viewpoint is that EMIs are grounded in a person's social context, past, present, and possible future. Consequently, EMIs serve to amplify the detrimental effects of social and economic risk factors for health, including persistent pain, such as family disruption, poverty, violence, crime, social isolation, and diminished economic opportunities. By exacerbating the impact of social risk factors on health and well-being, EMIs promulgate dis-ease, disability, and suffering, and hinder a person's "healing journey". The World Health Organisation (WHO) advocate a salutogenic approach to health and well-being by acknowledging the need to address socio-ecological risk factors for health and well-being, through, for example, a whole system healthy settings approach. Policymakers acknowledge the need for integrative health care services and interdisciplinary teams that adopt a biopsychosocial approach to manage persistent pain. This includes helping clients to understand the psychological effects of pain and improve confidence to cope with pain, as well as the importance of movement, pacing, relaxation of body and mind, and strategies to manage everyday activities, such as hobbies and work. At the practitioner level, we advocate consideration of the Split-Second Unlearning model as a framework to "clear" EMIs and help people with persistent pain "move on" (heal).

Split-Second Unlearning and pain persistence

We postulate EMIs are formed (learned) in a split-second and hinder adaptation to the stressors of daily living, forming a barrier to recovery from pain. Our Split-Second Unlearning model (3) describes a novel psychotherapeutic approach to clear a client's EMI. This involves surveillance of clients for non-conscious "freeze-like" micro-expression(s) that signify an in-the-moment stress response, representative of the presence of an EMI. Encouraging the client to become a curious observer within/of their own experience, feeding back the non-verbal cues as they arrive in the moment, assists interruption of the informational flow of observable fragments, helping to detach their EMI from their psychophysiological stress response. We contend that this occurs rapidly without the need to get bogged down in a wholelife narrative.

Our psychotherapeutic approach has evolved from Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing (EMDR) (52). Gaze behaviour, where a person intensifies or averts gaze, is a behavioural strategy to regulate emotions and cope with stressful situations (53). We hypothesise that gaze behaviour may be associated with avoidance of, or fixating on, EMIs within the "mind"s eye". EMDR is used to treat various conditions, including trauma and persistent pain, with evidence of physiological changes to support observations of clinical benefit (54, 55). Nevertheless, systematic reviews and meta-analyses evaluating the benefits and safety of EMDR interventions for persistent pain and post-traumatic stress disorder are inconclusive due to insufficient high-quality studies (56–60).

Our approach is based on EMDR and posing open questions such as "What would you like to work with today?" or "What is troubling you at the moment?". These questions provoke the client to scan, in a non-conscious manner, memories in relation to their problem (e.g., pain) prior to formulating a conscious verbal reply. The therapist observes non-verbal microexpressions, e.g., a sharp intake of breath, head tilt, pupil dilation and/or eyes making a sharp peripheral peek or fixating on a specific point in space. These occur in a split-second and indicate an emotional connection between a thought and a reflex stress response as if the client is re-experiencing some event from the past. These micro-expressions, of which eye movement and fixation are of importance, are indicative of a troubling EMI.

It is the connection between the EMI and the associated stress response that the therapist seeks to break. This is achieved by making the client curiously aware of their involuntary microexpressions, such as fixation of eyes in a specific peripheral peek that appear each time they are asked about their presenting problem. States of curiosity enhance the capacity to learn new information such as dispassionate acceptance, this can break associations between emotions and reflex stress responses which no longer serve a useful purpose (61). The therapist uses various techniques to help the client uncouple the EMI from the stress reflex (i.e., unlearning), such as asking the client to direct their gaze to a different position while still trying to think about their problem.

Split-Second Unlearning refers to a brief window of opportunity in which the therapist observes the activation of the EMI. They then deploy an interruption to disconnect the nonconscious memory from the reflex stress response, replacing it with a more objective appraisal of the overall situation. Thus, the EMI may be deemed unimportant or infused with a clarity of hindsight. The "uncoupling" of an EMI to a stress response is usually "immediate" and recognised as (emotional and cognitive) confusion. Longer-term benefit arises from a stress response that is no longer re-triggered by the EMI, enabling the person to embark on a journey to recovery. This approach differs from conventional psychotherapeutic interventions because it does not encourage clients to share their personal narratives, simply to explore their experience within the moment.

Clinical vignettes

The Split-Second Unlearning model offers a framework for practitioners to diagnose and treat EMIs born out of adversity. MH has used it successfully in a variety of conditions presenting with persistent pain including dysmenorrhea, irritable bowel syndrome, fibromyalgia, migraine, rheumatoid arthritis, and neuropathic pain. Here, MH describes two cases as examples of Split-Second Unlearning in practice.

Case 1 - dysmenorrhea

A 34-year-old female presented in an online clinical session reporting long-standing severe period pain that started at menarche. When the client described her pain story, I noticed that her eyes moved to the left when speaking of past events and to the right when speaking of future events. Rather puzzling to me was the observation that the client's eyes remained fixated to the right when describing period pain, irrespective of describing the past or future. I explained that first-time emotionally overwhelming events can lead to the creation of EMIs that remain within the mind and invisible to the person. I explained that EMIs can trigger similar "stress" responses to encounters with similar contexts and that feelings of vulnerability, guilt, shame, embarrassment, and being dirty or unclean, can rapidly create emotional overwhelm. The client nodded her head in agreement. I described Split-Second Unlearning and directed the client to fixate her eyes on my hand (central field of vision) and think about her period pains while I moved my hand back and forth for a few seconds. Whilst doing this the client looked a little confused and commented that "Something was different", and I noticed her eyes were moving freely without any eye fixation or avoidance; I surmised the EMI had been effectively erased. The client was given an appointment for an online follow-up call at 1 month at which she reported no recurrence of symptoms. There were no symptoms at the 12-month follow-up.

Case 2 – trigeminal neuralgia

A 43-year-old male presented in an online clinical session with trigeminal neuralgia. The client reported first onset of pain at age 16 that was intractable and resistant to various treatments. This included a rhizotomy at age 25 and prescription medication that included carbamazepine, gabapentin, baclofen, and ibuprofen. These interventions provided only partial short-term relief. The client had been able to hold down a full-time job, marry and raise children. As the client told his story, I noticed that he continually fixated his eyes on a spot in his left peripheral field of vision. The client accessed the same spot when I asked what was happening in his life just before 16, and he replied, "My mum and dad got divorced". For a fleeting moment the client's face flushed red. I described EMIs and Split-Second Unlearning and pointed out that he was continually accessing an EMI "on his left". I invited the client to fixate his gaze on me (centre) and to re-tell the history of his pain (i.e., pain story); almost immediately the client smiled and said, "It's gone!". I surmised that the process had, in a split-second, interrupted triggering of the EMI and in doing so broke the connection between the EMI (stimulus) and the stress response. I asked to be kept informed of any changes. The client reported being pain-free at follow-up contacts of 1, 3, 6 and 12 months.

A rationale for the speed of Split-Second Unlearning

The process of Split-Second Unlearning aligns with principles of memory reconsolidation by:

- 1. Reactivating the client's awareness of the EMI.
- 2. Pointing to the EMI as the source of their pain, giving fresh insight into the experience.
- 3. Embellishing stages 1 and 2 to stimulate the process of unlearning, nullifying, and reconfiguring the EMI.

For further insight see (62, 63).

Discussion

People visit health care professionals expecting to receive a physical diagnosis and biomedical (physical) treatment to "fix" all types of pain, including pain that has become intractable. This poses a challenge for

practitioners trying to explore with their clients, psychosocial or metaphysical factors that may be influencing the persistence (stickiness) of pain. Biomedical interventions that "fix" pathology and/or facilitate symptomatic relief has revolutionised the management of painful conditions and the quality of life. Nevertheless, there remains a treatment-prevalence paradox whereby increasing varieties of biomedical and psychological interventions have not reduced the prevalence of persistent pain.

Foell states: "It would be so easy and straightforward if persistent pain could be a thing. Pain without a lesion is a condition charged with moral judgement. ... But, unfortunately, pain is not a thing. 'Pain does not emerge naturally from physiological processes, but in negotiations with social worlds' (15)" (64) p.126-127. Agarwal's "ecology of wholeness" model of chronic illness and the body in pain conceptualises pain according to the self (reflexive and embodied), the body (material and conversational) and the context (including body/self-integration, food, nature, time, change, illness intrusion and information). Contemporary neurophysiology suggests that pain emerges from predictive processing in the brain informed by multisensory input that "threatens" the integrity of the body and peri-personal space, at tissue and psychological levels (65). Moseley et al. (65) name coarse neural representation of the body and peri-personal space as the "body-matrix", and suggest that disruption of the integrity of the body matrix by damage, malfunctioning or anomalous feedback, may drive various functional and psychological disorders including persistent pain. It is not our intention to debate the reification of pain, but rather to draw attention to the consequence of people being socialised to believe that pain is a "thing" that always results from tissue damage.

Pain and EMIs are positioned within a philosophical debate on the nature and locus of memory, and whether memory is an entity, phenomenon, or something else. The dominant neurophysiological, synaptic-plasticity theory of memory has been critiqued [e.g. (66)] and defended [e.g. (67)]. Deconstruction of the body within the reductionist framework of the Standard Model of Physics at organ, tissue, cellular, molecular, and subatomic levels has failed to resolve this debate. Thus, we do not constrain EMIs to be solely dependent on brain function and neural connections but indigenous to "the self", and possibly extracorporeal (3, 4).

Practitioners may be afraid to step into the vulnerable space of discussing trauma and the metaphysical aspects of the EMI, as they fear reprisal from the client who expects a pathological cause and a biomedical treatment. Engaging the client in a discussion around the EMI, irrespective of whether the EMI is considered a "thing" or a metaphor for how the client's pain exists can create a basis for understanding for the client to grasp. For example, engaging the client's curiosity by discussing the possibility of the EMI acting as a metaphysical cloud storage at the intersection between the body and the socio-ecological context (external environment).

As a concept, this could have significant implications for understanding the intractability of many psychophysiological diseases, including persistent pain. Moreover, it could inspire new therapeutic approaches that incorporate both mind-based and body-based techniques. For example, the Split-Second Unlearning process has been integrated with eye-tracking technology to create "MindReset" a digital intervention that can be accessed through a mobile phone, with the potential for rapid, cost-effective and scalable "treatment".

Conclusion and next steps

In summary, we postulate that EMIs may contribute to the stickiness of pain, continually "raising the alarm" by re-triggering the HPA-axis in response to socio-ecological stimuli, i.e., a sensitised threat/fear system that in turn amplifies pain and suffering and blocks "recovery". We postulate that the EMI is non-conscious, shrouding the original emotional overwhelm (trauma and adversity) in amnesia, so people are unable to verbalise the origin of their persistent and intractable pain, only that they have it and "cannot get rid of it".

In conclusion, we advocate exploration of the persistence (stickiness) of pain through the lens of EMIs, psychophysiological dis-ease, and Past Adversity Influencing "Now" (PAIN). We plan to integrate EMIs with psychological (68), social communitive (10), and ecological (69) models of persistent pain. We suggest clinical research focuses on the utility and efficacy of the Split-Second Unlearning technique to (i) reveal pre-verbal trauma in people living with persistent pain; and (ii) alleviate the persistence of pain and related symptoms.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. Diseases GBD, Injuries C. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396(10258):1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

2. Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. *Pain.* (2018) 159 (12):2421–36. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401

3. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Split-second unlearning: developing a theory of psychophysiological dis-ease. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:716535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2021.716535

4. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Definition and attributes of the emotional memory images underlying psychophysiological dis-ease. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:947952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.947952

5. Peters A, McEwen BS, Friston K. Uncertainty and stress: why it causes diseases and how it is mastered by the brain. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2017) 156:164–88. doi: 10. 1016/j.pneurobio.2017.05.004

6. Zajacova A, Grol-Prokopczyk H, Zimmer Z. Pain trends among American adults, 2002–2018: patterns, disparities, and correlates. *Demography.* (2021) 58(2):711–38. doi: 10.1215/00703370-8977691

7. de Heer EW, Gerrits MM, Beekman AT, Dekker J, van Marwijk HW, de Waal MW, et al. The association of depression and anxiety with pain: a study from nesda. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9(10):e106907. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106907

8. Mills SEE, Nicolson KP, Smith BH. Chronic pain: a review of its epidemiology and associated factors in population-based studies. *Br J Anaesth.* (2019) 123(2): e273-83. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.03.023

9. Craig K, Stanford E, Fairbairn N, Chambers C. Emergent pain language communication competence in infants and children. *Enfance.* (2006) 58:52-71. doi: 10.3917/enf.581.0052

Author contributions

MH and MJ contributed equally to the conception and writing of the manuscrip and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Lisa Mcloughlin, Co-founder, Mind Help Limited for assistance in preparing the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

MH is the co-founder and co-creator of MindReset app which is supported by individual subscribers. In the previous 5 years, MJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Craig KD. Social communication model of pain. Pain. (2015) 156(7):1198–9. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000185

11. Hadjistavropoulos T, Craig KD, Duck S, Cano A, Goubert L, Jackson PL, et al. A biopsychosocial formulation of pain communication. *Psychol Bull.* (2011) 137 (6):910–39. doi: 10.1037/a0023876

12. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised international association for the study of pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain.* (2020) 161(9):1976–82. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 000000000001939

13. Cohen M, Quintner J, van Rysewyk S. Reconsidering the international association for the study of pain definition of pain. *Pain Rep.* (2018) 3(2):e634. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000634

14. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. *J Pain.* (2022) 23(8):1283–93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235

15. Bourke J. The story of pain. From prayers to painkillers. New York, USA: Oxford University Press (2014).

16. Corns J. The Complex reality of pain. London: Routledge (2022).

17. Aydede M. Pain. In: Zalta EN, editors. *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy (spring 2019 edition)*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University (2019). https://plato.stanford. edu/archives/spr2019/entries/pain/

18. Goubert L, Vlaeyen JW, Crombez G, Craig KD. Learning about pain from others: an observational learning account. *J Pain*. (2011) 12(2):167–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2010.10.001

19. Shapiro L, Spaulding S. Embodied cognition. In: Zalta EN, editors. *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy (winter 2021 edition)*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University (2021). https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2021/entries/embodied-cognition/

20. Rejeski WJ, Gauvin L. The embodied and relational nature of the mind: implications for clinical interventions in aging individuals and populations. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2013) 8:657–65. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S44797

21. Tabor A, Keogh E, Eccleston C. Embodied pain-negotiating the boundaries of possible action. *Pain*. (2017) 158(6):1007–11. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000875

22. Siegel DJ. The mind in psychotherapy: an interpersonal neurobiology framework for understanding and cultivating mental health. *Psychol Psychother.* (2019) 92 (2):224–37. doi: 10.1111/papt.12228

23. Fitzcharles MA, Cohen SP, Clauw DJ, Littlejohn G, Usui C, Hauser W. Nociplastic pain: towards an understanding of prevalent pain conditions. *Lancet.* (2021) 397(10289):2098–110. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00392-5

24. Leake HB, Mardon A, Stanton TR, Harvie DS, Butler DS, Karran EL, et al. Key learning statements for persistent pain education: an iterative analysis of consumer, clinician and researcher perspectives and development of public messaging. *J Pain.* (2022) 23(11):1989–2001. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.07.008

25. Pain Revolution. (2023). Available at: https://www.painrevolution.org

26. Lumley MA, Yamin JB, Pester BD, Krohner S, Urbanik CP. Trauma matters: psychological interventions for comorbid psychosocial trauma and chronic pain. *Pain.* (2022) 163(4):599–603. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002425

27. Clarke CL, Ryan CG, Martin DJ. Pain neurophysiology education for the management of individuals with chronic low back pain: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Man Ther.* (2011) 16(6):544–9. doi: 10.1016/j.math.2011.05.003

28. Ram A, Booth J, Thom JM, Gibbs MT, Jones MD. Are improvements in pain neurophysiology knowledge following pain science education associated with improved outcomes in people with chronic pain?: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin J Pain.* (2023) 39(1):41–52. doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000001086

29. Zlomuzica A, Dere D, Machulska A, Adolph D, Dere E, Margraf J. Episodic memories in anxiety disorders: clinical implications. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2014) 8:131. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00131

30. Antoniou G, Lambourg E, Steele JD, Colvin LA. The effect of adverse childhood experiences on chronic pain and major depression in adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth.* (2023) 130(6):729–46. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2023.03.008

31. Craner JR, Lake ES, Barr AC, Kirby KE, O'Neill M. Childhood adversity among adults with chronic pain: prevalence and association with pain-related outcomes. *Clin J Pain.* (2022) 38(9):551–61. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000001054

32. Tidmarsh LV, Harrison R, Ravindran D, Matthews SL, Finlay KA. The influence of adverse childhood experiences in pain management: mechanisms, processes, and trauma-informed care. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:923866. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.923866

33. Moussaoui D, Grover SR. The association between childhood adversity and risk of dysmenorrhea, pelvic pain, and dyspareunia in adolescents and young adults: a systematic review. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol.* (2022) 35(5):567–74. doi: 10.1016/j. jpag.2022.04.010

34. Simon E, Zsido AN, Birkas B, Csatho A. Pain catastrophizing, pain sensitivity and fear of pain are associated with early life environmental unpredictability: a path model approach. *BMC Psychol.* (2022) 10(1):97. doi: 10.1186/s40359-022-00800-0

35. Stickley A, Koyanagi A, Kawakami N, Group WHOWMHJS. Childhood adversities and adult-onset chronic pain: results from the world mental health survey, Japan. *Eur J Pain.* (2015) 19(10):1418–27. doi: 10.1002/ejp.672

36. Brown RC, Plener PL, Braehler E, Fegert JM, Huber-Lang M. Associations of adverse childhood experiences and bullying on physical pain in the general population of Germany. *J Pain Res.* (2018) 11:3099–108. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S169135

37. Nelson SM, Cunningham NR, Kashikar-Zuck S. A conceptual framework for understanding the role of adverse childhood experiences in pediatric chronic pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2017) 33(3):264–70. doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000397

38. Afari N, Ahumada SM, Wright LJ, Mostoufi S, Golnari G, Reis V, et al. Psychological trauma and functional somatic syndromes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med.* (2014) 76(1):2–11. doi: 10.1097/PSY.000000000000010

39. Edwards RR, Dworkin RH, Sullivan MD, Turk DC, Wasan AD. The role of psychosocial processes in the development and maintenance of chronic pain. *J Pain.* (2016) 17(9 Suppl):T70–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.01.001

40. Craig KD, Holmes C, Hudspith M, Moor G, Moosa-Mitha M, Varcoe C, et al. Pain in persons who are marginalized by social conditions. *Pain*. (2020) 161(2):261–5. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001719

41. Saladino V, Algeri D, Auriemma V. The psychological and social impact of COVID-19: new perspectives of well-being. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:577684. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577684

42. Kontoangelos K, Economou M, Papageorgiou C. Mental health effects of COVID-19 pandemia: a review of clinical and psychological traits. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2020) 17(6):491-505. doi: 10.30773/pi.2020.0161

43. Collaborators C-MD. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 398(10312):1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02143-7

44. Shanthanna H, Nelson AM, Kissoon N, Narouze S. The COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences for chronic pain: a narrative review. *Anaesthesia.* (2022) 77 (9):1039–50. doi: 10.1111/anae.15801

45. Williams ACC, Fisher E, Hearn L, Eccleston C. Psychological therapies for the management of chronic pain (excluding headache) in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2020) 8(8):CD007407. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007407.pub4

46. Eccleston C, Crombez G. Advancing psychological therapies for chronic pain. *F1000Res.* (2017) 6:461. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.10612.1

47. Guidi J, Lucente M, Sonino N, Fava GA. Allostatic load and its impact on health: a systematic review. *Psychother Psychosom*. (2021) 90(1):11–27. doi: 10.1159/ 000510696

48. Haddad AD, Xu M, Raeder S, Lau JY. Measuring the role of conditioning and stimulus generalisation in common fears and worries. *Cogn Emot.* (2013) 27 (5):914–22. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2012.747428

49. Coffey SF, Gudmundsdottir B, Beck JG, Palyo SA, Miller L. Screening for Ptsd in motor vehicle accident survivors using the Pss-Sr and Ies. *J Trauma Stress*. (2006) 19 (1):119–28. doi: 10.1002/jts.20106

50. Hofmann SG, Hay AC. Rethinking avoidance: toward a balanced approach to avoidance in treating anxiety disorders. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2018) 55:14–21. doi: 10. 1016/j.janxdis.2018.03.004

51. Rubin M, Minns S, Muller K, Tong MH, Hayhoe MM, Telch MJ. Avoidance of social threat: evidence from eye movements during a public speaking challenge using 360 degrees - video. *Behav Res Ther.* (2020) 134:103706. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2020. 103706

52. Shapiro F. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (emdr) therapy: Basic principles, protocols, and procedures. New York: Guilford Publications (2017).

53. Wilson E, MacLeod C. Contrasting two accounts of anxiety-linked attentional bias: selective attention to varying levels of stimulus threat intensity. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2003) 112(2):212–8. doi: 10.1037/0021-843x.112.2.212

54. Khan AM, Dar S, Ahmed R, Bachu R, Adnan M, Kotapati VP. Cognitive behavioral therapy versus eye movement desensitization and reprocessing in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Cureus.* (2018) 10(9):e3250. doi: 10.7759/cureus.3250

55. Tefft AJ, Jordan IO. Eye movement desensitization reprocessing as treatment for chronic pain syndromes: a literature review. J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc. (2016) 22 (3):192–214. doi: 10.1177/1078390316642519

56. Tesarz J, Leisner S, Gerhardt A, Janke S, Seidler GH, Eich W, et al. Effects of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (Emdr) treatment in chronic pain patients: a systematic review. *Pain Med.* (2014) 15(2):247–63. doi: 10.1111/pme.12303

57. Hudays A, Gallagher R, Hazazi A, Arishi A, Bahari G. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing versus cognitive behavior therapy for treating post-traumatic stress disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19(24):16836. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192416836

58. Kaptan SK, Dursun BO, Knowles M, Husain N, Varese F. Group eye movement desensitization and reprocessing interventions in adults and children: a systematic review of randomized and nonrandomized trials. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2021) 28 (4):784–806. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2549

59. Shepherd J, Stein K, Milne R. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: a review of an emerging therapy. *Psychol Med.* (2000) 30(4):863–71. doi: 10.1017/s0033291799002366

60. Adams R, Ohlsen S, Wood E. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (Emdr) for the treatment of psychosis: a systematic review. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11(1):1711349. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1711349

61. Gruber MJ, Gelman BD, Ranganath C. States of curiosity modulate hippocampus-dependent learning via the dopaminergic circuit. *Neuron.* (2014) 84 (2):486–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.08.060

62. Beckers T, Kindt M. Memory reconsolidation interference as an emerging treatment for emotional disorders: strengths, limitations, challenges, and opportunities. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2017) 13:99–121. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045209

63. Ecker B, Bridges SK. How the science of memory reconsolidation advances the effectiveness and unification of psychotherapy. *Clin Soc Work J.* (2020) 48:287–300. doi: 10.1007/s10615-020-00754-z

64. Foell J. From boardroom to consulting room to jobcentre plus: the bureaucracies of pain. In: Padfield D, Zakrzewska JM, editors. *Encountering pain: Hearing, seeing speaking*. London: UCL press (2021). p. 111–31.

65. Moseley GL, Gallace A, Spence C. Bodily illusions in health and disease: physiological and clinical perspectives and the concept of a cortical "body matrix". *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2012) 36(1):34–46. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.03.013 S0149-7634(11)00064-9 [pii].

66. Trettenbrein PC. The demise of the synapse as the locus of memory: a looming paradigm shift? *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2016) 10:88. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2016.00088

67. Langille JJ, Brown RE. The synaptic theory of memory: a historical survey and reconciliation of recent opposition. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2018) 12:52. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2018.00052

68. Buchel C. The role of expectations, control and reward in the development of pain persistence based on a unified model. *Elife.* (2023) 12:e81795. doi: 10.7554/eLife.81795

69. Agarwal V. Medical humanism, chronic illness, and the body in pain: An ecology of wholeness. London: Lexington Books (2020). 328.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY James Woodall, Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Mark I. Johnson, Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom Carsten Bantel, University of Oldenburg, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Simon van Rysewyk Simon.vanrysewyk@utas.edu.au

RECEIVED 02 July 2023 ACCEPTED 25 July 2023 PUBLISHED 02 August 2023

CITATION

van Rysewyk S (2023) A perspective on the role of language about pain. Front. Pain Res. 4:1251676. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1251676

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 van Rysewyk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A perspective on the role of language about pain

Simon van Rysewyk*

Department of Philosophy and Gender Studies, School of Humanities, University of Tasmania, Hobart, TAS, Australia

This article contributes a perspective on pain motivated by the philosopher Ludwig Wittgenstein. According to Wittgenstein, the child learns from others that the occasions on which it manifests certain reactions-the reactions that human beings manifest when injured-make it appropriate to self-ascribe "pain". When the child can signal correctly that she is in the requisite bodily state, then she has a conception of pain. Using the concept pain to symbolise an experience also makes it possible to tell other people what is going on and to solicit their help in managing the pain. In pain discourse, we can say "Sam can tell that Jason is with pain", or "She could tell you that Jason is with pain if she wanted to". These uses are linked to social milieu where rules are learnt for the application of concepts, such as the concept stoicism. In many rural communities, adults tell other adults about pain when it interrupts work or social activities. Otherwise, it is normative to "carry on". The rural stoic who tells another about pain only if he wants to can complicate clinical pain management, which can undermine the patient's special authority. In contrast, convergence in pain definitions and judgements between the patient and health professional can protect the authority of the patient and improve the clinical interaction. Pain is not simply a quale that is privately perceived; it must be capable of being expressed. Thus, pain has a social role, which is learnt. The study of linguistic rules in pain discourse could help explain the learning and application of the concept pain.

KEYWORDS

pain, Wittgenstein, language, rule, rural

Introduction

A significant body of knowledge exists on the pathologies, injuries, and diseases, as sources of pain, and their impact on the host, as related to neurobiology and personal experience. The contribution of the social environment in which pain is experienced has received less study perhaps because we think of the personal experience as given, and the behavioural manifestation of the experience as secondary, as symptoms through which we come to know the mind of another human being. Pain is undoubtedly a private experience but ascribing the word "pain" to other human beings presupposes the possibility of behavioural manifestations (1–3). Behavioural manifestations of pain include facial expressions and bodily gestures, what people say and do, and the occasions for the use of "pain" (4). If we encountered a society of people who used a word that lacked any connection with pain-related behaviour, and the complex situations in which we show pain, we would not translate it as "pain". Pain is neither totally reducible to, nor totally separable from, its associated behaviours. Pain must be capable of being expressed (3).

Understanding pain means recognising that it is an event that occurs in the weave of social life, with the person's pain manifestly obvious, usually based on the social context and reactions of others. In a community of people who manifest pain behaviour as we do,

but do not react to it with sympathy, "pain" would not have the same meaning. The two communities could be more in harmony if the social context is used to make sense of some phenomena connected to pain, such as "disinterest in other people with pain", although this couldn't hold for some pain-behaviours, notably involuntary manifestations of pain like facial expression or paralinguistic speech, as phenomena like apathy, hope, pretence, or expectation are not assigned to others using straightforward behavioural criteria but require an elaborate social context (3).

Linguistic skills are learnt in specific familial and ethnic contexts and provide the child a symbolic mode of reacting to "what is going on". The child learns from others that the occasions on which it manifests certain reactions make it appropriate to self-ascribe "pain". This step instructs the child what "pain" refers to. This skill develops into more sophisticated linguistic abilities, which include using more complex statements about pain ("Her pain is getting worse", "The dog is howling with pain", "He is not in pain now"), and relating pain to other experiences ("I am not in pain; I'm just sad") and to reasongoverned action ("Going to the dentist will help my toothache") (3, 4). When the child can tell that it is with pain, it not only can register a private experience, but it can also give the concept pain a role in social activity and in the organisation of social reactions. According to Wittgenstein, it is a mistake to think that we can meaningfully speak about things that are experienced only in the private mind (3). Consequently, if mental contents are not only meaningfully private, then there is an essential link between personal experiences like pain and the social world. In the next sections, I briefly survey the elements of Wittgenstein's argument, focusing on linguistic meaning, rules of language, and agreement in judgements. Following this review, I apply these elements to the rule-governed use of concepts such as stoicism in rural pain discourse.

A brief survey of Wittgenstein's "private language argument"

Linguistic meaning is use

Wittgenstein claims that understanding what a word means involves correct (normative) use: "For a large class of casesthough not for all-in which we employ the word 'meaning' it can be defined thus: the meaning of a word is its use in the language" (3, §43). Thus, in the following clinical anecdote, it is unclear if the patient understands the word "pain": "After the operation, the patient no longer complained spontaneously of pain and no longer appeared to be in distress, though when asked, he acknowledged that pain was still present" (5, p. 588). If the ward nurse checks the patient's understanding, she could ask, "Does your pain bother you?" If the patient does not demonstrate real-life familiarity with the use of "pain" or does not do anything that normally is inseparable from feeling pain, the nurse could infer that he does not understand it (or the situation is too ambiguous to resolve). For Wittgenstein, understanding is correct use, which is a social fact.

Rules of language

The person who can self-ascribe "pain" can correctly discriminate reactions that make it appropriate to say, "I feel pain", from reactions that do not. Thus, the person who understands the concept *pain* can understand and communicate pain, and only pain, by use of the concept. For example, the person who understands the concept pain:

- Does not self-ascribe "pain" to sensations of hunger or thirst.
- Does not self-ascribe "pain" based on inference; for example, using introspection, categorisation, behavioural observation, or verifying the cause of the pain.
- Does not misidentify who is with pain; for example, she does not claim "I believe my pain was Eli's, not mine, although I can't be sure".

Correct use of "pain" means following rules that link pain and the word "pain". In practice, linguistic mastery of "pain" is achieved by using the word such that the person's successes and errors are in principle manifest and can be corrected by others (3, \$202). The successful learner shows enough correct application to count as having understood the concept *pain*. Wittgenstein concludes, "Hence it is not possible to obey a rule 'privately': otherwise thinking one was obeying a rule would be the same thing as obeying it" (3, \$202). The truth of privacy in relation to pain is not introspective knowledge, but that what I say or utter about my pain is a spontaneous and authentic manifestation of "what is going on within me". The special role granted the person with pain is not a special knower, but a special actor (6).

Agreement in linguistic judgements

Learning the concept *pain* is triangulated with interpersonal interactions and behaviour in which personal judgements about pain in oneself and others are manifest to others and corrected by them. The person who achieves a sufficient level of agreement in judgements with others is counted as having mastered the rule-governed ability use of "pain". The result of this educational training is that judgements of the learner gradually converge with those of others who already understand the concept *pain*. In the clinical situation quoted above in which self-ascribed pain does not lead to agreement in judgements, the patient's care team must determine whether the patient understands what pain is. The conclusion the team arrives at would rely on the patient's use of "pain" in different situations, and the role he or she gives the concept in a range of thoughts.

The possibility of disagreement in judgements about the pain of others reflects an indeterminacy, which is constitutive of our concept *pain* (3). That indeterminacy in turn is due to social patterns of behaviour: our concept *pain* must be flexible because pain behaviour, and our complex reactions to it, is diverse and unpredictable (3, 4). Caregiving in pain settings can involve a threat of pain to the carer and is conditional on the authenticity of manifest pain behaviour. As observers of pain in other people, we are sensitive to signs of exaggeration, suppression, or malingering, in behavioural displays of pain (4). Accordingly, our concept *pain* does not always rigidly connect behaviour, situation, and personal experience (3). Given the same evidence, one health professional can be convinced of a diagnosis, another is not (7). However, we do not on account of this disagreement exclude either from the medical profession, as being unaccountable or incapable of judgement. This reflects not professional incompetence, but the indefiniteness of pain.

Discussion

Telling others that I am with pain

Using the concept pain to symbolise an experience makes it possible to tell other things about it. For example, "I feel better now", "It burns", "The pain is spreading", "I need a break". It also allows a person to tell other people what is happening and to solicit their help in delivering analgesia and care. However, in the swing and play of life, people tend to be careful about who and when they communicate pain (4). The unpredictability of social reactions to pain in others reveals indeterminacy in our concept pain, which is reflected in different uses of "tell". In pain discourse, "telling" can be used in at least two ways. We can say "Eli can tell that Susan is with pain", or "He could tell you that Susan is with pain if he wanted to". Again, these uses are linked to participation in a social milieu where specific rules are learnt for the regulation of concepts. For example, people growing up and living in rural communities in Australia and New Zealand conventionally learn social rules for the use of certain concepts, commonly self-reliance, stoicism, or fatalism (8-11), which make them more accepting of chronic pain, disease, or illness than people in urban environments. These concepts are paired with rules that instruct when it is appropriate to tell others about being with pain. A common rule in rural communities is for adults to tell other adults about personal pain when it interferes with work or important social activities (12). Otherwise, it is appropriate to "carry on" (8). One farmer in New Zealand observed (8, p. 403):

"Our home is where our farm is, where it's all encapsulated together. So, our whole family, the whole structure is—maybe not for all farmers, I don't think that's true, but for many of us. So, we don't just look for what's gratification for ourselves, we're looking through for the next generation, wanting to provide. So that's why we struggle with removing ourselves from the workplace".

Who in particular is told about pain in rural areas is also guided by rules. In rural and remote Australia, the GP in some communities is from a different culture and speaks English as a second language (13). Rural people tend to distrust "outsiders", including medical professionals, consulting instead with their own community networks for assistance or advice about pain or illness (14, 15). This practice could mean that rural people prefer concepts to function against a more stable than changing background; therefore, concepts must be more determinate than indeterminate. Such speculation highlights the importance of tight kinship in rural community networks, for correct use of the concept *pain* involves convergence in judgements about what is significantly the *same;* thus, it involves understanding the consequences of pain in the rural milieu. Telling another about being with pain involves having some idea what to expect from the other and being able to relate to and understand this person. Thus, together with applying certain rules, "telling" in this setting also involves a sensitivity, or "feel" for human behaviour. This could explain why rural people prefer not to tell "outsiders" about personal pain.

"Well, the one before Dr P. didn't understand, just didn't know anything about this and wasn't interested. He just said straight out that wasn't his line—he wasn't going that way. And he couldn't understand, I suppose, the amount of pain. He was forever telling me that 'don't do this, don't do that'. In his opinion I should have been just be sitting in my chair you know, knitting the rest of my life away" (16, p. 481).

Telling another about being with pain if one wants to can create divergence between patient verbal self-report and non-verbal pain behaviour, which can limit or obstruct the efforts of health professionals to intervene on the patient's behalf, resulting in inadequately managed pain (17). In comparing rural and urban nursing homes, rural nursing home staff, "more so than their urban counterparts, emphasized stoicism as an attitudinal barrier on the part of residents that interfered with pain assessment" (18, p. 745). A foundation of pain discourse is that the person's sincere utterances about his or her own pain are treated as correct. To introduce doubt here (e.g., "stoicism as an attitudinal barrier") could alter normal discourse; specifically, it could undermine the authority of the subject. In contrast, convergence in pain definitions and judgements can preserve the special role of the person with pain and improve the clinical interaction. In a qualitative ethology study (17), Spiers describes a rule co-created between patients and nurses in urban home-based care, for which "stoicism did not imply enduring excessive pain but...the ability to know where one's pain boundaries lay and to take appropriate measures to keep pain within those boundaries" (17, p. 296). The nurses effectively implemented this shared rule using different communication strategies (17).

From clinical cases like these, Beeckman et al. (18) speculates that rules in the pain setting are a "double-edged sword" as rigidly following pain-related rules despite costs could be a risk factor for worse outcomes, whereas flexibly switching between pain-related rules-e.g., exchanging a rule stipulating pain-related avoidance for one stipulating acceptance of pain-depending on the situation and benefits could help explain "resilient functioning" with chronic pain. According to rural nurses, generational and geographical factors explain stoicism in rural people with chronic pain (19). Residents in rural nursing homes expect to be with pain; according to nurses, "It's how they age here" (19, p. 745). For rural residents with pain, the switch to following a new pain rule would need to contribute to desired consequences (e.g., minimal interruption to work) but perhaps more importantly, the new rule would need to integrate into the fabric of rural life: "...we don't just look for what's gratification for ourselves, we're looking through for the next generation,

wanting to provide" (8, p. 403). As our needs or interests change, or simply as part of life, our concepts can evolve over time. An evolved concept could supply us a new rule guiding the way we behave, which could correspond more or less with existing rules (3). Although our concept *pain* is flexible on the rules we use, the rules *we* adopt must be usable.

In experimental studies, rural groups tend to report higher rates and more intense chronic pain than people from urban groups (e.g. 20),. Poorer access to pain treatments for rural compared to urban residents could partly explain differences in pain outcomes (e.g. 21–23),. Another possibility is that urban residents are less attentive to their pain due to the multiple interruptions that can compete for their attention in the city environment (20). By contrast, rural living is described as "peaceful, tranquil, spacious, friendly and caring" (24, p. 211). With fewer external interruptions competing for personal attention in the rural setting, rural residents could have learnt, on average, to be more alert to pain and its qualities than urban residents.

In this article, I have argued for the perspective that pain is not merely a "raw feel" that is privately and unproblematically perceived by human beings; it also has a social role, which is learnt. When a person can correctly signal that she is in the requisite bodily state, then she has a conception of pain. The risk of disagreement in our judgements about others with pain, which rests on our diverse and unpredictable reactions to pain behaviour, should motivate trust-building and shared decisionmaking in the clinic. I have lent support to these claims in the article through linking the ambiguity of "tell" to rules for the use of concepts, such as *stoicism*, as applied in rural settings.

References

1. McCrystal KN, Craig KD, Versloot J, Fashler SR, Jones DN. Perceiving pain in others: validation of a dual processing model. *Pain*. (2011) 152(5):1083–9. doi: 10. 1016/j.pain.2011.01.025

2. Sekhon KK, Fashler SR, Versloot J, Lee S, Craig KD. Children's behavioral pain cues: implicit automaticity and control dimensions in observational measures. *Pain Res Manag.* (2017) 2017:3017837. doi: 10.1155/2017/3017837

3. Wittgenstein L. Philosophical investigations. In: Hacker PMS, Schulte J, London: Wiley-Blackwell (1953/2009). p. 592.

4. Hadjistavropoulos T, Craig KD, Duck S, Cano A, Goubert L, Jackson PL, et al. A biopsychosocial formulation of pain communication. *Psychol Bull.* (2011) 137(6):910. doi: 10.1037/a0023876

5. Truex R, Carpenter M. Human neuroanatomy. 6th ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins (1969).

6. Williams M. Blind obedience. Paradox and learning in the later Wittgenstein. London: Routledge (2009).

7. Gibbins S, Stevens B, Dionne K, Yamada J, Pillai Riddell R, McGrath P, et al. Perceptions of health professionals on pain in extremely low gestational age infants. *Qual Health Res.* (2015) 25(6):763-74. doi: 10.1177/1049732315580105

8. Dean SG, Hudson S, Hay-Smith EJ, Milosavljevic S. Rural workers' experience of low back pain: exploring why they continue to work. *J Occupat Rehab.* (2011) 21:395-409. doi: 10.1007/s10926-010-9275-z

 Briggs AM, Slater H, Bunzli S, Jordan JE, Davies SJ, Smith AJ, et al. Consumers experiences of back pain in rural Western Australia: access to information and services, and self-management behaviours'. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2012) 12:357. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-357

10. Bath B, Jaindl B, Dykes L, Coulthard J, Naylen J, Rocheleau N, et al. Get 'er done: experiences of Canadian farmers living with chronic low back disorders. *Physiother Can Winter*. (2019) 71(1):24–33. doi: 10.3138/ptc.2017-65

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Cheesmond NE, Davies K, Inder KJ. Exploring the role of rurality and rural identity in mental health help-seeking behavior: a systematic qualitative review. *J Rural Mental Health.* (2019) 43(1):45–59. doi: 10.1037/rmh0000109

12. Gessert C, Waring S, Bailey-Davis L, Conway P, Roberts M, VanWormer J. Rural definition of health: a systematic literature review. *BMC Public Health*. (2015) 15:378. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1658-9

13. Department of Health and Ageing (DOHA). *General practitioner statistics*. Canberra: DOHA (2023). Available at: https://hwd.health.gov.au/resources/data/gp-primarycare.html (Accessed).

14. Haozous EA, Knobf MT, Brant JM. Understanding the cancer pain experience in American Indians of the northern plains. *Psycho-Oncol.* (2011) 20(4):404–10. doi: 10. 1002/pon.1741

15. Skrocki AD, Winters CA, O'Lynn C. Beyond the symptom action-timeline process: explicating the health-needs-action process. In: Winters CA, editors. *Rural nursing: Concepts, theory, and practice.* 6th ed. New York: Springer (2022). p. 145–62.

16. Tollefson J, Usher K, Foster K. Relationships in pain: the experience of relationships to people living with chronic pain in rural areas. *Internat J Nurs Pract.* (2011) 17(5):478–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-172X.2011.01963.x

17. Spiers J. Expressing and responding to pain and stoicism in home-care nursepatient interactions. *Scandin J Car Sci.* (2006) 20(3):293–301. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2006.00407.x

18. Beeckman M, Hughes S, Kissi A, Simons LE, Goubert L. How an understanding of our ability to adhere to verbal rules can increase insight into (Mal) adaptive functioning in chronic pain. *J Pain.* (2019) 20(10):1141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2019.02.013

19. Clark L, Jones K, Pennington K. Pain assessment practices with nursing home residents. West J Nurs Res. (2004) 26(7):733–50. doi: 10.1177/0193945904267734

20. Hoffman PK, Meier BP, Council JR. A comparison of chronic pain between an urban and rural population. *J Commun Health Nurs.* (2002) 19(4):213–24. doi: 10. 1207/S15327655JCHN1904_02

21. Lin IB, Bunzli S, Mak DB, Green C, Goucke R, Coffin J, et al. Unmet needs of aboriginal Australians with musculoskeletal pain: a mixed-method systematic review. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2018) 70(9):1335–47. doi: 10.1002/acr.23493

22. Suntai Z, Won CR, Noh H. Access barrier in rural older adults' use of pain management and palliative care services: a systematic review. *Am J Hospic Palliat Med.* (2021) 38(5):494–502. doi: 10.1177/1049909120959634

23. Hadlandsmyth K, Driscoll MA, Mares JG, Au V, Miell KR, Lund BC. Rurality impacts pain care for female veterans similarly to male veterans. *J Rural Health.* (2023) 39(2):313–9. doi: 10.1111/jrh.12646

24. Barlow JH, Williams B, Wright CC. Patient education for people with arthritis in rural communities: the UK experience. *Patient Educat Counsel.* (2001) 44(3):205–14. doi: 10.1016/S0738-3991(00)00196-8

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jian Kong, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

REVIEWED BY Patama Gomutbutra, Chiang Mai University, Thailand

*CORRESPONDENCE Federico Monaco Image: federico.monaco@unipr.it Antonio Bonacaro Image: a.bonacaro@uos.ac.uk

RECEIVED 19 April 2023 ACCEPTED 14 July 2023 PUBLISHED 11 August 2023

CITATION

Monaco F, Georgiadis E, Chatsiou K and Bonacaro A (2023) Understanding chronic pain in the ubiquitous community: the role of open data.

Front. Pain Res. 4:1208513. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1208513

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Monaco, Georgiadis, Chatsiou and Bonacaro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Understanding chronic pain in the ubiquitous community: the role of open data

Federico Monaco^{1*}, Emmanouil Georgiadis², Kakia Chatsiou³ and Antonio Bonacaro^{1,4*}

¹Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Parma, Parma, Italy, ²School of Social Sciences and Humanities, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ³School of Engineering, Arts, Science & Technology, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ⁴School of Health and Sports Sciences, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom

The combined use of social media, open data, and Artificial Intelligence has the potential to support practitioners and empower patients/citizens living with persistent pain, both as local and online communities. Given the wide availability of digital technology today, both practitioners and interested individuals can be connected with virtual communities and can support each other from the comfort of their homes. Digital means may represent new avenues for exploring the complexity of the pain experience. Online interactions of patients, data on effective treatments, and data collected by wearable devices may represent an incredible source of psychological, sociological, and physiological pain-related information. Digital means might provide several solutions that enhance inclusiveness and motivate patients to share personal experiences, limiting the sense of isolation in both rural and metropolitan areas. Building on the consensus of the usefulness of social media in enhancing the understanding of persistent pain and related subjective experiences via online communities and networks, we provide relevant scenarios where the effectiveness and efficiency of healthcare delivery might be improved by the adoption of the digital technologies mentioned above and repeated subsequently. The aim of this perspective paper is to explore the potential of open data, social media, and Artificial Intelligence in improving the prevention and management of persistent pain by adopting innovative non-biomedical approaches.

KEYWORDS

chronic pain, non-biomedical approach, open data, artificial intelligence, patient empowerment

1. Introduction

Chronic or persistent pain lasts for more than 3 months and it is estimated to affect 20% of the world's population and account for up to 20% of physician visits (1, 2). Chronic pain is not only a significant symptom but also the root cause of the daily practices and discourses of sufferers that are centred around this critical condition (3).

Individuals with persistent pain may well be users of modern technologies such as social media, search engines, and wearable technologies to name a few. These types of technologies can potentially provide a wealth of information to healthcare databases and contribute to the development of innovative chronic pain prevention and management strategies. Moreover, electronic footprints provide important insights on lifestyle, allowing a better understanding of underlining chronic pain issues.

We postulate that persistent pain and related lifestyle repercussions are intertwined with digital everyday habits, as illustrated by five scenarios presented in this study. Such scenarios are provided as a supplement to this perspective paper, with the aim of clarifying the importance of interaction and inclusion for people living with persistent pain, at various social levels, through the use of technology and social networking.

Even though data anonymity is a requirement to be met during open data collection and analysis, recent methods of processing COVID-19 anonymised open data have demonstrated the effectiveness of this approach in designing innovative strategies to promote health. Therefore, we suggest that open data analysis of digital habits pertaining to persistent pain may become an equally effective strategy in the prevention and treatment of chronic pain.

2. Overview of non-biomedical approaches for chronic pain

Despite biomedical treatment being the predominant approach against chronic pain, there has been considerable debate with regard to its therapeutic appropriateness. Looking at the overcomplicated reality of individuals living with persistent pain (4), researchers have considered the need to include an array of therapeutic options to implement/ personalise chronic pain treatment in order to provide an alternative framework to the mind-body dualism and to promote the adoption of holistic care (5).

The literature proposes cultural (6), social (7), and psychological solutions to relieve pain (8) and to overcome iatrogenic complications caused by medication (9). Integrating alternative therapeutic options into biomedical treatment would ignite new perspectives on conceptualising and managing pain through an innovative holistic ecosystem. A recent initiative looking at diverse solutions towards the prevention and treatment of chronic pain has suggested the need to move away from the current urbanised painogenic environment (10). This study describes various living conditions exacerbating pain, such as the frequent exposure to a multitude of physical and psychosocial determinants amplifying the frequency, severity, and length of undergoing pain and associated body sensations (11).

To provide a simplistic explanation, the current ways of tackling persistent pain through the biomedical approach seem to be too limited to appropriately handle such a multifaceted and complicated phenomenon. As Johnson and Woodall (12) state, "Living in modern society offers potential for health improvement through technological advances and digital advancements...". Investing in advanced technology solutions aimed at preventing and managing chronic pain includes means such as cloud services, Artificial Intelligence, social networks, Internet of Things (IoT), and so on. Such means are explained below.

3. Open data for the advancement of chronic pain research

A better understanding of the needs of individuals affected by persistent pain implies the acquisition of their personal perspectives. Focusing on how people think and feel about pain, including on the opinions of those surrounding them, such as caregivers, friends, neighbours, and so on, may offer us new perspectives on the impact of the painful experience, including personal meaning and related daily practices. This seems to provide important opportunities for appreciating the complexity of chronic pain from a holistic perspective.

Adequate and comprehensive data such as Big Data may contribute to improving the quality of previously acquired minimal datasets (13). Understanding which ontological approach and related data elements (14) would be more suitable for data sharing could facilitate the study of behavioural patterns appearing in social networks and the creation of digital citizen labs (15) where open discussions may foster public engagement on an important topic. A valuable example may be given by the introduction of effective ways to support individuals affected by persistent pain. Promoting the adoption of positive thinking techniques and allowing practitioners to share successful stories on social networks might support the formulation of selfmanagement strategies (16).

Recent developments on Open Data management in delivering responses to the COVID-19 pandemic have demonstrated how helpful this information is in improving evidence-based practice. Automated data collection, databasing, and data processing through the adoption of forms of Artificial Intelligence and machine learning (17) may be critical for effectively enhancing disease monitoring and for delivering high-quality care in a timely manner (18).

4. Open data helping ubiquitous communities of people living with chronic pain

Capturing the connections and types of interactions of online social life used by patients with chronic pain is not a new technique (19), especially when it comes to empowerment (20), given that online support groups tend to prefer interaction in a virtual environment (21). For a long time, the role of social interaction has been deemed important among individuals with persistent pain, showing the potential to meet the information needs and expectations of users (22). Health-related issues have been discussed in open and innovative platforms (23) as part of European Union-funded projects (https://cordis.europa.eu/ project/id/688670). For example, the links between menopause and chronic pain (24) were identified through the platform named GENNEV, subsequently allowing the delivery of telehealth and coaching services (https://www.gennev.com/). Despite its success, GENNEV lacks an essential feature, which is the opportunity for peer interaction.
In other studies, such online interaction is considered an important component of tackling chronic pain (25). It seems that patients with chronic pain may be able to overcome the stigma and invisibility of persistent pain through mutual online empowerment (26). For example, the possibility of being visible and of having unlimited opportunities for conversation with a wider audience may have important positive effects (27, 28).

5. Open data and community resilience

Despite the obvious concerns about data privacy, the case of open data sharing during the COVID-19 pandemic shed light on how data may suggest the adoption of new collective and individual tasks/habits. Online networks and communities provide a digital infrastructure, where each member may share useful data through peer-to-peer interactions, and favour positive impacts on chronic pain (29).

Such data types are of great value for communities and researchers, especially when they allow them to explore daily routines around pain and related habits and to gain a better understanding of community practices that are put in place for the benefit of both patients and stakeholders. Such communities seem to grow by sharing common needs, values, and interests. Furthermore, a variety of relevant healthcare professionals may be invited to be a part of such communities, ensuring further benefits to their members.

6. Ubiquitous communities: when patients, caregivers, and experts come together

Various examples may prove the potential of public engagement in tailoring innovative evidence-based practice. In the mid-1980s, AIDS prevention campaigns were driven by the successful integration of public awareness into biomedical research (30). Similarly, not-for-profit organisations such as the Cochrane Collaboration or James Lind Alliance offer examples of possible collaborations among patients and healthcare providers or researchers.

Making use of the vast potential offered by the World Wide Web (WWW), today's technology users provide an unprecedented ubiquity of resources and digital infrastructures that may connect people who share common interests and goals around the world. Enhanced opportunities that serve to connect people may be utilised similarly in advancing health collaborative practices. Open data sharing is key in this regard, especially when information is drawn from different sources and combined to get a more comprehensive picture of the experiences of users suffering from persistent pain (31).

The EU-funded project Opencare (http://opencare.cc/) is part of the Collective Awareness Platforms for Sustainability and Social Innovation (CAPSSI), which provides a valuable example of such enhanced interconnectivity. This initiative unveils the potential of allowing people affected by chronic pain in Europe to engage in discussions about the kind of support they need and to undertake initiatives to reach out to local governments and health authorities, thus eliciting a higher quality of care.

Digital communities, along with the support of experts, may potentially play a more active role in supporting individuals suffering from persistent pain (32). Health-promoting infrastructures (HPIs), such as networks aimed at finding the availability of health expertise and at promoting solutions for global health problems, are a relevant example of such digital communities (33).

We use "ubiquitous computing" as an umbrella term that describes a plethora of technologies able to support research and healthcare delivery while providing a formidable health data monitoring and surveillance opportunity for shaping everyday living healthcare provision plans (34). This goal becomes even more relevant when addressing health issues, especially in complex urban contexts (35). We acknowledge the need for the adoption of such a concept that includes important design features (36) based on the increasingly common use of wearable devices (37).

Equally, social network sites (SNSs), such as social media create a platform for the exchange of accurate information among peers belonging to virtual communities (38). Nonetheless, using social media to address chronic pain issues and provide relevant related services (40) implies fulfilling ethical and professional requirements (39). Further research and subsequent regulations on these aspects are deemed crucial in order to proceed without encountering any stumbling blocks or drawbacks. An example of a suggested model for this data analysis is presented in Figure 1.

7. A foresight approach with multiple scenarios

To build our case, five descriptive scenarios were developed concerning people affected by chronic pain. These scenarios include examples of patients producing data by blogging, using social networking, and adopting wearable technologies and sensors. The heterogeneity of the conditions described in these scenarios offers a constellation of narratives that will be useful in predicting future opportunities in terms of interoperability among patients, healthcare providers, digital experts, and policymakers. Scripts suggest ways to acquire data and the advantages of adopting an open data approach where patients, researchers, and practitioners may access and exchange such data.

Ubiquitous communities may gain a deeper understanding of current evidence-based strategies to tackle persistent pain through the use of relevant digital infrastructure while receiving guidance from subject experts, as highlighted in the five attached scenarios (Appendix 1). This would fuel local and global statistics on chronic pain and lead to the provision of more effective healthcare services. Similarly, policymakers might access such data and allocate proportionate human and financial resources accordingly.

Each scenario presents a different illness from a holistic perspective, and they were developed jointly by all authors. In



addition to physical, psychosocial, and spiritual elements, the role of digital technologies is emphasised. Each scenario is complemented with an AI-generated picture of the interested patient, thus amplifying the impact of the narration. The five scenarios are based on the following illnesses: Parkinson's disease, diabetes, knee pain, post-traumatic stress disorder, and neuropathic scar pain following a caesarean section.

8. Conclusions

The successful management of the COVID-19 pandemic based on an open data approach and community engagement paved the

way for new avenues in tackling chronic pain and other equally important silent pandemics.

In this perspective paper, we propose an innovative approach for the prevention and management of chronic pain through the adoption of community-driven solutions based on open data. Chronic pain is a complicated and idiosyncratic phenomenon, which is very often de-contextualised from the everyday living experiences of patients and caregivers. Chronic pain is an area where a standardised biomedical approach based on drug administration is very often predominant. Such pain is frequently associated with a lack of control, uncertainty, ineffective treatment, high cost, and a lower quality of life. Open data generated by users, caregivers, healthcare professionals, and digital infrastructure might provide insights on how to effectively reshape healthcare practices on the basis of the daily habits and the real needs and expectations of patients and caregivers and also provide real-time critical mass data for performing more accurate research in the field.

This information might also be used as a form of online support and to provide instant feedback, on the effectiveness of screening and rehabilitation programs, patients' medication compliance, average treatment duration, and behavioural trends.

Including users as active producers of data would help provide community-enabled solutions in tackling chronic pain, which would, in turn, empower them as co-creators of healthcare plans and services.

Today, modern technology makes possible the exploration of innovative solutions based on home monitoring and open data analysis.

In the five attached real-life scenarios, we depict situations where digital infrastructures may be used in cases of patients with chronic pain for sharing clinical information in an accurate and transparent way (41).

Further research is recommended in this area, which should aim at creating bottom-up solutions (i.e., ubiquitous communities healthcare authorities) that would ideally include the issues of interoperability, data privacy, and digital divide (42, 43).

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. Treede R-D, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. *Pain.* (2015) 6(1). doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 000000000000160

2. Breivik H, Collett B, Ventafridda V, Cohen R, Gallacher D. Survey of chronic pain in Europe: prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. *Eur J Pain.* (2006) 10 (4):287–7.

3. Wahlberg A. The vitality of disease. In: Meloni M, Cromby J, Fitzgerald D, Lloyd S, editors. *The Palgrave handbook of biology and society*. London: Palgrave Macmillan (2018). p. 7–31. doi: 10.1057/978-1-137-52879

4. Duenas M, Ojeda B, Salazar A, Mico JA, Failde I. A review of chronic pain impact on patients. Their social environment and the health care system. *J Pain Res.* (2016) 9 (1):457–67. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S105892

5. Crowley-Matoka M, Saha S, Dobscha SK, Burgess DJ. Problems of quality and equity in pain management: exploring the role of biomedical culture. *Pain Med.* (2009) 10(7):1312–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2009.00716.x

6. Kohrt BA, Griffith JL, Patel V. Chronic pain and mental health. *Pain.* (2018) 159: S85–90. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001296

7. Kerns RD, Rosenberg R, Otis JD. Self-appraised problem solving and painrelevant social support as predictors of the experience of chronic pain. *Ann Behav Med.* (2002) 24(2):100-5. doi: 10.1207/S15324796ABM2402_06

8. Sturgeon JA, Zautra AJ. Social pain and physical pain: shared paths to resilience. *Pain Manag.* (2016) 6(1):63–74. doi: 10.2217/pmt.15.56

9. Loeser JD, Sullivan M. Disability in the chronic low back pain patient may be iatrogenic. *Pain Forum.* (1995) 4(2):114-21. doi: 10.1016/S1082-3174(11) 80011-5

10. Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

Author contributions

FM was involved in conceptualisation of the article, writing the original draft, and project administration. EG was involved in conceptualisation, writing the original draft, and reviewing and editing the article. KC was involved in conceptualisation, writing the original draft, and visualisation. AB was involved in conceptualisation, writing the original draft, reviewing and editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4). doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

12. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

13. Laskawska MS, Hébert HL, Richardson C, Berlouis K, Cameron P, Colvin LA, et al. The core minimum dataset for measuring pain outcomes in pain services across Scotland. Developing and testing a brief multi-dimensional questionnaire. *Br J Pain.* (2022) 16(5):504–17. doi: 10.1177/20494637221092907

14. Baradaran A, Rahimzadeh P, Gholamzadeh M, Shahmoradi L. Determining chronic pain data elements as a first step towards improving quality of care and research in chronic pain. *Acta Biomed.* (2021) 92(4):e2021272. doi: 10.23750/abm. v92i4.9651

15. Khalili-Mahani N, Woods S, Holowka EM, Pahayahay A, Roy M. Toward a digital citizen lab for capturing data about alternative ways of self-managing chronic pain: an attitudinal user study. *Front Rehabil Sci.* (2022) 15(3). doi: 10. 3389/fresc.2022.942822

16. Shivji NA, Geraghty AW, Birkinshaw H, Pincus T, Johnson H, Little P, et al. Supporting people with pain-related distress in primary care consultations: a qualitative study. *Br J Gen Pract.* (2022) 72(724):e825–33. doi: 10.3399/BJGP.2022. 0120

17. Gök A, Antai R, Milošević N, Al-Nabki W. Building the European social innovation database with natural language processing and machine learning. *Sci Data*. (2022) 9(1):697. doi: 10.1038/s41597-022-01818-0

18. Barbiero P, Viñas Torné R, Lió P. Graph representation forecasting of patient's medical conditions: toward a digital twin. *Front Genet.* (2021) 12. doi: 10.3389/fgene. 2021.652907

19. Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F, Lopez-Campos G. Patient-Reported outcomes and therapeutic affordances of social media: findings from a global online

survey of people with chronic pain. J Med Internet Res. (2015) 17(1):e20. doi: 10.2196/ jmir.3915

20. van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CHC, Taal E, Seydel ER, van de Laar MAFJ. Participation in online patient support groups endorses patients' empowerment. *Patient Educ Couns.* (2009) 74(1):61–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.044

21. Chung JE. Social interaction in online support groups: preference for online social interaction over offline social interaction. *Comput Human Behav.* (2013) 29 (4):1408–14. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.01.019

22. Gil KM, Keefe FJ, Crisson JE, Van Dalfsen PJ. Social support and pain behavior. Pain. (1987) 29(2):209–17. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(87)91037-2

23. Bullinger AC, Rass M, Adamczyk S, Moeslein KM, Sohn S. Open innovation in health care: analysis of an open health platform. *Health Policy*. (2012) 105(2–3):165–75. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2012.02.009

24. Gibson CJ, Li Y, Bertenthal D, Huang AJ, Seal KH. Menopause symptoms and chronic pain in a national sample of midlife women veterans. *Menopause*. (2019) 26 (7):708–13. doi: 10.1097/GME.000000000001312

25. Jensen A. Beyond the borders: the use of art participation for the promotion of health and well-being in Britain and Denmark. *Arts Health.* (2013) 5(3):204–15. doi: 10.1080/17533015.2013.817448

26. Barak A, Boniel-Nissim M, Suler J. Fostering empowerment in online support groups. *Comput Human Behav.* (2008) 5:1867–83. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2008.02.004

27. Goudman L, De Smedt A, Moens M. Social Media and chronic pain: what do patients discuss? J Pers Med. (2022) 12(5):797. doi: 10.3390/jpm12050797

28. Guidry JPD, Benotsch EG. Pinning to cope: using Pinterest for chronic pain management. *Health Educ Behav.* (2019) 46(4):700-9. doi: 10.1177/1090198118824399

29. Kingod N, Cleal B, Wahlberg A, Husted GR. Online peer-to-peer communities in the daily lives of people with chronic illness. *Qual Health Res.* (2016) 27(1):89–99. doi: 10.1177/1049732316680203

30. Epstein S. Impure science: AIDS, activism, and the politics of knowledge. Berkeley, CA: Univ. of California Press (1996).

31. European Union. The use case observatory: a 3 year monitoring of 30 reuse cases to understand the economic, governmental, social, and environmental impact of open data—volume I | data.Europa.eu. Europa.eu. (2022). Available at: https://data.europa.eu./en/doc/use-case-observatory-3-year-monitoring-30-reuse-cases-understand-economic-governmental-social. (Accessed May 30, 2023).

32. Leimeister J, Schweizer K, Leimeister S, Krcmar H. Do virtual communities matter for the social support of patients? *Inf Technol People.* (2008) 21(4):350-74. doi: 10.1108/09593840810919671

33. Andersen SL, Andersen O, Petersen J, Wahlberg A. Traveling health-promoting infrastructures: a meta-ethnographic analysis. *Health (London).* (2020) 24(5):606–22. doi: 10.1177/1363459319829195

34. Miller CA, Ross HM, Bennett G, Hurlbut JB. The ethics of ubiquitous computing in health care. In: *Wireless computing in medicine*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (2016). p. 507–39.

35. Salvador JC, Uceda JMR, Muiños VC, Lopez JR, Castro Cd. Ubiquitous computing and its applications in the disease management in a ubiquitous city. *J Comput Commun.* (2018) 06(03):19-42. doi: 10.4236/jcc.2018. 63002

36. Choi J, Arriaga RI. Requirements and design issues of ubiquitous community care systems for low-income pediatric asthma patients. In: *Communications in computer and information science*. Berlin: Springer (2012). p. 326–33.

37. Su C-J, Chen B-J. Ubiquitous community care using sensor network and mobile agent technology. In: 2010 7th International Conference on Ubiquitous Intelligence & Computing and 7th International Conference on Autonomic & Trusted Computing, Xi'an, China. (2010). p. 99–104, doi: 10.1109/UIC-ATC.2010.49

38. Thielst CB. Social media: ubiquitous community and patient engagement. Front Health Serv Manage. (2011) 28(2):3-14. doi: 10.1097/01974520-201110000-00002

39. Chretien KC, Kind T. Social media and clinical care: ethical, professional, and social implications. *Circulation.* (2013) 127(13):1413–21. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha. 112.128017

40. Sendra A, Farré J. Communicating the experience of chronic pain through social media: patients' narrative practices on Instagram. J Commun Healthc. (2020) 13 (1):46–54. doi: 10.1080/17538068.2020.1752982

41. Beckers L. Transparency and standardization in using digital patient reported outcome measures (PROMs). J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. (2021) 34(4):497–8. doi: 10.3233/BMR-215003

42. Rutter H, Savona N, Glonti K, Bibby J, Cummins S, Finegood DT, et al. The need for a complex systems model of evidence for public health. *Lancet.* (2017) 390 (10112):2602-4. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)31267-9

43. Coly A, Parry G. Evaluating complex health interventions: a guide to rigorous research designs. Washington DC: Academy Health (2017).

Appendix 1

Scenarios

Scenario 1: Parkinson's disease

Graham is 73; he was diagnosed with Parkinson's disease 2 years ago. John has also a history with silicosis because of his long-term job as a miner, which caused permanent inflammation and fibrosis. Graham can hardly walk now because of an accident that happened many years ago in a mine and needs a walking frame to move from one room to the other.

Graham lives with his son Adam, who is divorced with two daughters aged 10 and 15. Graham's condition has made them very active caregivers. Adam is an IT professional and he has set up an IoT (i.e., Alexa) system at home in order to stay in contact with his father and check what he does during the day when he is alone at home.

Therefore, Graham can be tracked, thanks to a Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) wristwatch allowing Adam to discuss with the personnel at the hospital Graham's mobility and whether his father is performing the daily physical cardio and chest exercises prescribed to improve his psychological condition and wellbeing. RFID has proved to be a very important means of clarifying the levels of Graham's sedentariness and helping to reduce the risk of depression. His family has already explored other means to increase his mobility, such as having a personal trainer or a nurse at home, but Graham likes to spend time alone with his hobbies and gets nervous when obliged to attend an exercise plan under the supervision of others. He likes to spend his time with his granddaughters, but this is not always possible because of their schooling and social endeavours.

Scenario 2: diabetes

Susan is 56 and suffers from diabetes. Her situation is getting more complicated now because of a foot ulcer that is causing chronic pain. She lives on her own as her husband left her 3 years ago when he fell out with the general practitioner supporting Susan. Apparently, he believed in holistic methods of treatment, and he felt that he could not handle the traditional biomedical approaches that Susan chose to follow for her condition.

Susan is a blogger publishing about type 2 diabetes and does a great job in providing information to, and networking for, the patient community about this disease condition. She keeps herself updated with evidence-based research and likes to disseminate knowledge only after she cross-references scientific studies during her meetings with the physician and the manager of the program that she follows. She posts on her blog every week and many people interact with her online.

Online discussions have supported other patients and helped improve their type 2 diabetes condition. Susan has been

repeatedly asked for advice by other patients on ways to handle pain, but she feels reluctant to share suggestions on this topic as she is not an expert. Once every year, she organises a meeting for patients in her area to which physicians and nurses are invited. This helps her to gain a lot of attention on social media, and this event is growing in popularity year after year. Thanks to a funded therapeutic protocol, she is participating in a program for monitoring her diabetes, which runs by using experimental sensors for continuous glucose monitoring. Susan has made arrangements for the results of that therapeutic protocol to be disseminated through her blog as well.

Scenario 3: knee pain

Linda is 41 and has been visually impaired since birth. Unfortunately, she suffers from chronic knee pain and several injuries because of a history of falls and accidents. Linda lives with her family, which comprises her husband and two daughters who are 13 and 8 years of age. She loves to go to the Opera, and to satiate this desire, a charity association has agreed to take her by car to the local theatre, while her husband takes care of their daughters.

Linda's health is also challenged by obesity because of an uncontrolled appetite for food, which leads to stomach pain after recurrent binge episodes when she is alone at home listening to audiobooks and operas and eating without control. Linda is enrolled in a special program that involves the following different topics:

- (a) She is learning to instruct a tablet equipped with a software specifically designed to help her coping with her visual impairment.
- (b) She meets with a self-help group weekly online, discussing ways to deal with her eating disorder.
- (c) She gets at-home support from a physiotherapist, who treats her knee arthritis with low-impact exercises to maintain the joints and strengthen her muscles.

Linda wears a sensor that is able to monitor her walking (counting the number of steps, sedentariness, etc.), and it transmits data to the rehabilitation centre, where statistical data about her fitness and physiotherapy programme are stored.

Scenario 4: mental health (PTSD)

Fedir is a 23-year-old Ukrainian suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). His mental health issues started after he was wounded in a conflict as a soldier in the battle of Donbas. He is now following a rehabilitation program, trying to get support for his brain injuries.

He wears a heart monitor as well as a neurofeedback device. However, sometimes Fedir believes that his rehabilitation program is not assisting him at all, and he frequently fears for the safety of his online data. Therein lies his problem. Because of these fears, he removes his sensors, thus ceasing the monitoring process.

Fedir is now following an additional program through weekly meetings with a mental health counsellor, who tries to convince him about the need to not remove his sensors. This is crucial, as data from sensors are transmitted to a centre that runs a research protocol on PTSD involving patients from countries around Europe, and this centre is harvesting data that aim to confirm the most beneficial treatment for this difficult mental condition.

Scenario 5: neuropathic scar pain following Caesarean section

For more than 3 months, Liz, a 39-year-old, has been suffering from neuropathic scar pain following Caesarean section. She lives with her family in the countryside, 45 km away from the nearest town. She has two children, while her husband is a salesman who spends most of his time travelling for work, returning home only on weekends. Unfortunately, Liz cannot count on any other relatives or friends to support her during her daily chores, and she often feels overwhelmed because of her pain. Whenever she experiences a pain flare, Liz gets anxious and she feels that she cannot provide proper care to her children.

Liz's physician lives in the town, but she finds it difficult to talk to the members of the clinic because of the long waiting times whenever she calls the clinic for support. She has been advised to take medication (paracetamol) when her pain gets intense and to book a medical appointment over the phone. The next available slot for a medical consultation is in 3 months' time, and Liz has been exploring a better strategy to manage her pain by looking for available online support, but with limited success. A doctor in the hospital heard about Liz and organised an online medical consultation with her, which went successfully, and this has been repeated once every month since then. He also suggested that Liz start online sessions with mental health experts in her local area to get support for her mental health as well. Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mark Henry Pitcher, National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Ramajayam Govindaraj, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 17 March 2023 ACCEPTED 15 August 2023 PUBLISHED 29 August 2023

CITATION

Paley CA and Johnson MI (2023) Perspective on salutogenic approaches to persistent pain with a focus on mindfulness interventions. Front. Pain Res. 4:1188758. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1188758

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Paley and Johnson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Perspective on salutogenic approaches to persistent pain with a focus on mindfulness interventions

Carole A. Paley^{1,2} and Mark I. Johnson^{1*}

¹Centre for Pain Research, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Academic Unit of Palliative Care, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom

In this article, we provide a unique perspective on the use of mindfulness interventions in a whole health framework embedded within the theory of salutogenesis and the concept of painogenic environments. We argue that mindfulness is a valuable tool to bridge exploration of inner experiences of bodily pain with socio-ecological influences on thoughts and emotions. We outline research from neuroimaging studies that mindfulness techniques mediate neural processing and neuroplastic changes that alleviate pain and related symptoms. We also review evidence examining behavioural changes associated with mindfulness meditation providing evidence that it promotes self-regulatory activity, including the regulation and control of emotion and catalysation of health behaviour changes; both of which are important in chronic illness. Our viewpoint is that mindfulness could be a core element of salutogenic approaches to promote health and well-being for people living with pain because it rebuilds a fractured sense of cohesion. Mindfulness empowers people in pain to embrace their existence; shifting the focus away from pain and giving their lives meaning. We propose that integrating mindfulness into activities of daily living and individual or community-based activities will promote living well in the modern world, with or without pain; thus, promoting individual potential for fulfilment. Future research should consider the effects of mindfulness on people with pain in real-life settings, considering social, environmental, and economic factors using a broader set of outcomes, including self-efficacy, sense of coherence and quality of life.

KEYWORDS

mindfulness and chronic pain, salutogenesis and persistent pain, painogenicity, mindful approaches to pain, whole health, ecology of wholeness

Introduction

Painogenicity, described as the tendency of socio-ecological environments to promote persistent pain (1), and salutogenesis, a concept that considers the origins of health as opposed to the origins of disease, have proved useful ways of exploring a healthy settings approach to the challenge of persistent pain in society (2–5). Salutogenesis is premised on the concept of a sense of coherence—the way people make sense of the interaction of their body in the world—and is fundamental to understand why some people develop persistent pain whilst others do not (6, 7). Sense of coherence operates at individual, group (family), organization and societal levels and includes *meaningfulness* of one's life, *comprehensibility* of stimuli arising from the internal and external environments, and *manageability* of these stimuli using resources at a person's

disposal, such as health care services and treatments, social networks and peer support, and self-coping strategies to promote mental and physical well-being (8).

Mindfulness involves paying non-judgemental attention to experiences inside and outside of "oneself" on a moment-bymoment basis to aid reconnection of sensations, thoughts and feelings with the outside world in a positive way (9). Our viewpoint proposed here is that mindfulness is a valuable tool to bridge exploration of inner experiences of bodily pain with socioecological influences on thoughts and emotions. In this article, we discuss mindfulness interventions within the framework of the theory of salutogenesis and the concept of painogenic environments.

Shortcomings of the biopsychosocial model

The biomedical model, which associates pain with potential or actual tissue damage, has, at least in part, fostered a reductionist and materialist approach to alleviating pain by analysing and diagnosing the status of tissue, rather than synthesising factors affecting a whole-person's lived experience of pain in the complex socio-ecological milieu of the modern era (10-12). In recent decades, the shift towards a broader biopsychosocial model of pain has acknowledged the importance of psychosocial risk factors-employment conditions and socioeconomic status as two examples-which potentially promote pain and hinder recovery resulting in pain management strategies utilising multimodal interventions and multidisciplinary teams. Often, biopsychosocial interventions are delivered as discrete entities targeting specific elements of a person's psychophysiology in a disconnected manner (e.g., surgery, medication, exercise, diet therapy, cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT), etc.) Thus, some people experience fragmented care to the detriment of their health and well-being. Moreover, there is a treatment-prevalence paradox in which an ever-increasing variety of interventions have not reduced the burden of persistent pain. Calls to shift emphasis towards holistic models of pain supported by integrated health care service delivery are growing (13, 14).

The whole health model

Gaudet advocates a cultural transformation of *the purpose* of healthcare, and other systems impacting on health and well-being, underpinned by the concept of "whole person health" (15). Gaudet argues for a change in the focus of health care by discovering what gives people a sense of meaning and purpose in their lives and building systems that support this. Advocates of Whole Health view a person's life as a journey of "push and pull" within a continuum of health and disease. Thus, Whole Health focuses on factors that create health not just factors that prevent disease.

The concept of wholeness has been discussed by academics for decades; mostly emanating from the "Whole Person Medicine" movement during the 1970's which had its roots in complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) (16). Viewpoints from different CAM protagonists have recently been discussed (17), providing a summary of current thinking from academics endorsing a variety of approaches. Interestingly, it is acknowledged that this model is still falling short of providing effective, integrated care, even after decades of research because "... *in order to successfully transform the existing biomedical model, the Whole Health model must demonstrate validated research outcomes* ..." (17) (p. 3). This, according to Langevin, needs to be achieved by moving away from the reductionist approach to biomedical research (18) and there is still much debate on how this can be achieved.

In 2020, Agarwal published a postmodernist, social constructionist treatise on an "ecology of wholeness" which describes the relationship between the biomedical understanding of the body in pain and its relationship with a person's awareness of themselves and their interaction with micro and macro level aspects of material existence with the natural world (19). Agarwal's ecological model of wholeness comprises The Self (i.e., reflexive and embodied) and The Body [i.e., material and discursive (conversational)], in relationship with The Context (i.e., time, change, Illness intrusion, traditional health system, food, nature, body/self-integration) (19). Agarwal's model emphasises the need to consider not only the person within a diagnostic framework, but also the wider ecological (salutogenic) setting (19, 20). Within this framework, patient involvement, education and empowerment are central tenets.

We advocate reconfiguring the health care mindset away from a reductionist and materialist viewpoint towards a whole-person (societal) health lens that focuses on factors that support and empower people to create their own health and wellbeing, i.e., salutogenesis (2, 5).

Pain and salutogenesis

In 1979, Antonovsky introduced the term "salutogenesis", meaning, "the origins of health" (21). It considers the origins of health as opposed to the origins of disease (22). The key to understanding persistent pain within a salutogenic framework is to consider how people can develop meaning from their suffering and translate pain into something positive and meaningful for them through their internal sense of coherence, either as an individual or as part of a group (7). Salutogenesis is influenced by surroundings, socio-economic and environmental factors that can promote or hinder recovery from pain. Its premise is that people can be healthy despite pain. Environments which promote the persistence, severity, or impact of pain, including hindering recovery from pain, have been described as "painogenic" (1). The relationships between the salutogenic framework and Agarwal's "ecology of wholeness" in a context of persistent pain and whole health are illustrated in Figure 1.

Painogenicity

The term "painogencity" was introduced to reflect parallels between persistent pain and Boyd Swinburn's concept of



obesogenicity (1). Swinburn defined obesogenicity as the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities or conditions of life have on promoting obesity in people or populations (23). It moved away from an individualistic understanding that obesity was "caused" through individual choice or action towards a wider recognition that social, environmental, and commercial conditions may promote conditions that made obesity more likely. Johnson (1) appraised persistent pain from an evolutionary mismatch-perspective and argued that, like obesity, socio-ecological conditions may promote the persistence of pain i.e., that aspects of modern-day living were painogenic. Thus, painogencity was defined as the tendency of socio-ecological environments (or "settings") to promote persistent pain.

Settings-based approaches and health promotion

Rather than focusing on the manifestation of a behaviour or condition (i.e., pain), academic debate on alternative ways to approach the problem of persistent pain, using interventions embedded within the theory of salutogenesis and a settings approach to health and wellbeing has become more accepted in the discourse (7, 24, 25). It is grounded in the World Health Organisation's (WHO) Ottawa Charter, which prioritised empowering people and communities to increase control over, and to improve, their own health by providing the conditions and resources to do this (26).

Settings-based approaches to health are "upstream" and maximize disease prevention and its impact on health (e.g., pain) by attending to the settings where people actively use and shape their environment and create or solve problems relating to their health. Settings comprise physical boundaries and organisational structures. They include homes, workplaces, schools, villages, towns, cities, hospitals, prisons etc. The goal of a settings-based approach is to maximise health promotion and disease prevention through a "whole system" model of public health via community participation, partnership, empowerment and equity (26, 27). Empowering people to understand and make sense of their lives by increasing their sense of coherence has been shown to decrease the risk of non-communicable diseases for which there are currently programmes acting solely on "downstream" risk factors (e.g., hypercholesterolaemia, hypertension and type 2 diabetes) (28).

Campaigns to enable people to explore their emotional relationship with pain and to offer strategies to foster living better lives with their pain have arisen; e.g., *Live Well with Pain* (https://livewellwithpain.co.uk/), *Pain Café* (https://pain.cafe/), *Flippin' Pain* (https://www.flippinpain.co.uk/), *Pain revolution* (https://www.painrevolution.org/), and others. These strategies include, amongst other things, mind-body techniques that increase a person's sense of coherence, such as mindfulness meditation, yoga, tai chi, relaxation techniques and hypnosis. Of these techniques, mindfulness has risen in popularity since the end of the 20th century with healthcare providers (29). Integrating mindfulness practice into activities of daily living can improve a person's sense of coherence.

Mindfulness

Context

The historical roots of mindfulness date back to the 5th century BC. Mindfulness has been defined as: "...the awareness that emerges through paying attention on purpose, in the present moment, and nonjudgmentally to the unfolding of experience moment by moment" (30). Mindfulness involves people being aware of their situation, without being reactive, judgemental, or overwhelmed by what is happening to them or around them. Mindfulness interventions in various guises have been used to prevent or alleviate maladaptive perceptions of pain, such as catastrophising and associated psychological manifestations such as anxiety and depression (31).

The principles of mindfulness can be readily incorporated into creative activities (e.g., music, drawing, writing, painting, clay making, dance), daily activities (e.g., shopping, washing dishes, gardening, walking) and sport, recreation and exercise activities (e.g., swimming, fishing and yoga), both individually and as a group. The optimal state of mindfulness is of "relaxed alertness", which is associated with better mental health (32). Interestingly, it is likely that people who are able to withstand extreme physical discomfort, such as ultra-endurance athletes (33) or those engaging in extreme sports (34) are able to enter some sort of mindful, or self-hypnotic state to divert their attention away from the physical (and psychological) pain.

Beneficial effects of mindfulness

Comprehensive reviews of evidence suggest that mindfulness alters processing of multiple brain regions leading to a variety of beneficial effects for people with persistent pain (35–37). Briefly, mindfulness practices involving focussed attention (e.g., slow, rhythmic breathing or body scanning techniques), promote calmness and relaxation that increase parasympathetic activity (vagal tone) which ameliorates the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis response to stressors such as pain. This improves physiological status including blood pressure, respiration, heart rate reactivity, fatigue and pain and other bodily sensations (38-41). Mindfulness decouples thalamusprecuneus and ventromedial prefrontal deactivation, effectively inhibiting onward transmission of nociceptive input (42). Mindfulness improves emotional and cognitive well-being in people with persistent pain mediated in part by functional alterations in the insula, amygdala, and hippocampus (35-38, 42-50). Neuroplastic changes occur in the insula associated with interoception and a reduction in negative emotional responses to unpleasant sensations such as pain (40, 51). For some people, patterns of neural activity experienced during mindfulness practise can be replicated at will (52). Thus, better acceptance of painful or unpleasant sensations are achieved through modulation of negative appraisals of interoceptive stimuli and by promoting coping strategies (40, 53, 54).

A review of evidence examining behaviour changes associated with mindfulness meditation provided evidence that the intervention promotes self-regulatory activity, including the regulation and control of emotion and catalysation of health behaviour changes; both of which are important in chronic illness (55). Other behavioural changes such as self-compassion are also thought to occur; encouraging behaviours associated with self-compassion and a reduction in overidentification with painful experiences (56). A meta-analysis also showed beneficial effects on negative self-related rumination, suggesting that it might reduce repetitive focus on symptoms (57).

Clinical research evidence for beneficial effects of mindfulness interventions for people with persistent pain is growing, but based on small, under-powered studies which show statistical significance but fail to demonstrate favourable effect sizes (35, 58, 59).

A systematic review published in 2016 indicated that mindfulness produced small improvements in pain symptoms based on a meta-analysis of 24 RCTs of low quality (60). systematic review of 30 RCTs published in 2017 found that mindfulness produced small improvements in the severity of persistent (chronic) pain compared with various control groups (61), yet a systematic review of 13 RCTs published in the same year found that mindfulness did not improve the severity of persistent pain but did improve psychological aspects of pain, such as depression (62). The methodological quality of RCTs included in both reviews was judged to be low. In 2021, Pei et al., conducted a systematic review of eight RCTs that did not find any statistically significant differences between mindfulness and control groups on the severity of persistent pain, although there were improvements in mindfulness and depression in the short-term (63). Pei et al., suggested a need for evaluations of dose-response to optimise mindfulness technique. We suggest that these systematic review findings are promising and might provide impetus for further research.

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, online and smartphone selfhelp interventions for pain, including mindfulness techniques have become popular (64), but research findings on the efficacy and effectiveness of these self-help interventions are inconclusive (65). However, these applications potentially represent a costeffective way of implementing mindfulness interventions. Reviews and evidence syntheses of mindfulness studies for persistent pain conditions using qualitative methodologies were not found but several small individual studies of varying methodological quality reveal several recurring themes following mindfulness-based interventions. A small analysis of four groups of older adults with persistent low back pain, following an eight-week mindfulness programme revealed benefits such as overcoming fear of pain, a reduction in negative emotions and a reduction in focus on the pain (66). Another demonstrated an improvement in pain-related strategies following group mindfulness and problem-solving (67), and a feasibility study found patients more empowered to look after themselves, and were more self-aware and in the moment following an eight-week Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) programme (68).

A simplified diagrammatic illustration of the overlap between the key elements of mindfulness meditation in the context of persistent pain is shown in Figure 2.

Adverse effects of mindfulness meditation

As with any intervention, an awareness of possible adverse effects is essential but frequently overlooked. The British

Psychological Society guidelines on mindfulness-based approaches warns that these interventions should not be expected to confer benefit on everyone (69), although the prevalence of adverse events is thought to be no more likely than it is using other psychotherapeutic techniques (70).

Inducing body-awareness and introspection through mindfulness can vary within and between people and may produce detrimental effects such as autonomic hyperarousal, perceptual disturbances, flashbacks, and even psychosis in those with particularly disturbing past experiences, e.g., childhood trauma or abuse (71, 72). A systematic review by Farias et al. (70), found that adverse events in meditation-based practices included psychosis, delusional events, fear and traumatic flashbacks and a population based survey of 434 people in the US suggested that approximately one third of people had experienced a meditation-related adverse effect such as reexperiencing of trauma, anxiety, emotional sensitivity and functional impairments (73). Surprisingly, approximately 80% of those experiencing adverse effects reported they were still "glad" to have meditated.

It is clear that a "one size fits all" approach to mindfulness meditation carries risks, particularly to people who already suffer from psychiatric illnesses or those who have had previous negative life-experiences (71). The British Psychological Society



refers to guidance for monitoring and reporting of harm or sideeffects in patients with psychosis (74), and this might also be applicable to people with persistent pain, with or without mental illness.

Discussion

Mindfulness to promote the "healing journey"

A salutogenic view of the benefits of mindfulness to promote living well with persistent pain could encompass an ecology of wholeness and the context of a person's "healing journey" (19, 75). Toye et al., (76) conducted a meta-ethnography that synthesized the findings of 195 qualitative studies exploring the experience of people living with persistent, non-malignant musculoskeletal pain that identified key elements of a health intervention to assist people on their "healing journey":

- 1. Validating pain through meaningful and acceptable explanations.
- 2. Validating patients by listening to and valuing their stories.
- 3. Encouraging patients to connect with a meaningful sense of self, to be kind to themselves, and to explore new possibilities for the future.
- 4. Facilitating safe reconnection with the social world.

Toye et al. concluded that people in pain should be encouraged to move forward *alongside* their pain, rather than focusing on expectations of a cure; a model in which self-value, acceptance and recognition are central. Mindfulness is already being embedded in a variety of biopsychosocial interventions used to alleviate pain, thus promoting re-connection with a meaningful sense of self. This would enable people to explore new possibilities for the future.

Mindfulness within a whole health delivery system

We advocate placing mindfulness at the core of interventions to aid recovery by improving a sense of coherence and empowering people to embrace their existence as a whole, giving their lives meaning and potential for fulfilment. In health care, mindfulness is seen as a psychological tool to aid self-management and is disconnected from many biomedical approaches (e.g., surgery and medication). Mindfulness is often at the core of community support activities e.g., yoga, that are rarely integrated with standard health care service delivery. Mindfulness has potential to develop health and well-being across core theoretical components underpinning interventions to promote the health of individuals, communities and nature (i.e., Whole Health perspective), such as those described by Kemp and Fisher (77); balanced mind, healthy body, connecting with people, connecting with nature, sociostructural factors, and sustaining behaviour change. Thus, we believe that encouraging mindfulness as an integrated lifestyle practice offers opportunities for people to use these techniques as adjuncts for many biopsychosocial interventions. Mindfulness skills could be developed through social prescribing of community-based support services for healthy living, and this could confer benefits in all aspects of life from activities of daily living to life enriching activities such as gardening, arts and crafts, walking, swimming, etc. Locating mindfulness as a lifestyle practice sits more comfortably within a whole-systems approach where people move forward in their journey towards better health through validation, acceptance, empowerment and, ultimately, fulfilment.

Future research

Presently, there is tentative, low quality evidence that mindfulness is beneficial for pain (78). Recently, Moore et al., (79) have raised serious concern about methodological shortcomings of RCTs in the broader field of pain research resulting in low confidence in evidence for many analgesic treatments. The Medical Research Council's guidance suggests that attention be given to how interventions are used in the real world (i.e., their utility) including mediating factors, implementability, acceptability, feasibility of delivery and cost-effectiveness (80, 81). Thus, research evaluating baseline level of mindfulness skills, optimal "dose" and moderating influences of environmental factors may prove informative (31, 82). Attention also needs to be given to how best to capture holistic outcomes within the ecology of wholeness model without fragmenting this "wholeness" into a collection of discrete outcomes that are viewed as disconnected entities.

Conclusion

Pain, especially when persistent, catalyses a loss of identity, a diminished sense of self, retreat from the world outside of the painful body and alienation and detachment from a meaningful life (83). Bullington (83) argues that rehabilitation must open up new possibilities of a life beyond or alongside pain through an enhanced sense of self.

By developing skills to attend, on a moment-to-moment basis, to happenings inside and outside of oneself mindfulness can rebuild a sense of cohesion and "wholeness". In doing so, mindfulness can be used to instil a positive, proactive, approach to promote health through learning of a new sense of self and shifting focus away from the dominant biomedical narrative of deficit and opening new opportunities for a fulfilling life beyond, or alongside pain.

Our viewpoint is that mindfulness could be a core element of salutogenic approaches to promote health and well-being for people living with pain because mindfulness rebuilds the sense of cohesion fractured when pain threatens the future self. Mindfulness underpins an "ecology of wholeness" and could be a strategy used by people to mitigate the detrimental consequences of painogenicity. Greater credence should be given to the findings of research investigating the effects of mindfulness on people with pain in real-life settings that considers the influence of social, environmental, and economic factors using a broader set of outcomes including self-efficacy, sense of coherence and quality of life. This will shift the focus of evidence-gathering and expectations of rehabilitation from efficacy and pain to utility and outcomes associated with valuable and fulfilling lives.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

CP and MJ contributed to conception of the article. CP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. CP and MJ wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

2. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):daac128. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

3. Johnson MI, Briggs M, Dixey R. Should health promotion be on the pain agenda? Pain Manag. (2014) 4(6):385-8. doi: 10.2217/pmt.14.31

4. Johnson MI, Dixey R. Should pain be on the health promotion agenda? *Glob Health Promot.* (2012) 19(4):41–4. doi: 10.1177/1757975912464251

5. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

6. Eriksson M, Lindstrom B. A salutogenic interpretation of the Ottawa charter. *Health Promot Int.* (2008) 23(2):190–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dan014

7. Oliveira CC. Suffering and salutogenesis. *Health Promot Int.* (2015) 30(2):222-7. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau061

8. Eriksson M, Mittelmark MB. The sense of coherence and its measurement. In: Mittelmark MB, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer GF, Pelikan JM, Lindström B, et al., editors. *The handbook of salutogenesis*. Cham (CH): Springer (2017). p. 97–106.

9. Khoo EL, Small R, Cheng W, Hatchard T, Glynn B, Rice DB, et al. Comparative evaluation of group-based mindfulness-based stress reduction and cognitive behavioural therapy for the treatment and management of chronic pain: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Evid Based Ment Health*. (2019) 22 (1):26–35. doi: 10.1136/ebmental-2018-300062

10. Kusnanto H, Agustian D, Hilmanto D. Biopsychosocial model of illnesses in primary care: a hermeneutic literature review. *J Family Med Prim Care.* (2018) 7 (3):497–500. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_145_17

11. Roberts A. The biopsychosocial model: its use and abuse. *Med Health Care Philos.* (2023) 26(3):367–84. doi: 10.1007/s11019-023-10150-2

12. Xiao X, Song H, Sang T, Wu Z, Xie Y, Yang Q. Analysis of real-world implementation of the biopsychosocial approach to healthcare: evidence from a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.725596

13. Dunn V. The holistic assessment of the patient in pain. Prof Nurse. (2000) 15 (12):791-3. PMID: 12026428

14. Kress HG, Aldington D, Alon E, Coaccioli S, Collett B, Coluzzi F, et al. A holistic approach to chronic pain management that involves all stakeholders: change is needed. *Curr Med Res Opin.* (2015) 31(9):1743–54. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2015. 1072088

15. Gaudet T. Cultural transformation to a whole health system: lessons learned. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:2164957X221091452. doi: 10.1177/2164957X221091452

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

16. Jonas WB, Eisenberg D, Hufford D, Crawford C. The evolution of complementary and alternative medicine (cam) in the USA over the last 20 years. *Forsch Komplementmed.* (2013) 20(1):65–72. doi: 10.1159/000348284

17. Mills PJ, Bushell WC. Returning wholeness to health. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:2164957X221092358. doi: 10.1177/2164957X221092358

18. Langevin HM. Making connections to improve health outcomes. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:2164957X221079792. doi: 10.1177/2164957X221079792

19. Agarwal V. Medical humanism, chronic illness, and the body in pain: An ecology of wholeness. Maryland, US: Lexington Books (2020). 328 p.

20. Agarwal V. Patient assessment and chronic pain self-management in ethnomedicine: seasonal and ecosystemic embodiment in ayurvedic patient-centered care. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17(8). doi: 10.3390/ijerph17082842

21. Antonovsky A. Health stress and coping. 1st (5th printing) ed. San Francisco, US: Jossey-Bass inc (1979).

22. Mittelmark M, Bauer G. The meanings of salutogenesis. In: Mittelmark M, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer G, Pelikan J, Lindström B, et al., editors. *The handbook of salutogenesis [internet] 2017.* Cham (CH): Springer (2016).

23. Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Prev Med.* (1999) 29(6 Pt 1):563–70. doi: 10.1006/pmed.1999.0585

24. Dooris M, Poland B, Kolbe L, Leeuw ED, Mccall D, Wharf-Higgins J. Healthy settings: Building evidence for the effectiveness of whole system health promotion—challenges and future directions. In: Mcqueen DV, Jones CM, editors. *Global perspectives on health promotion effectiveness*. New York: Springer (2007).

25. Lindström B, Eriksson M. Contextualizing salutogenesis and antonovsky in public health development. *Health Promot Int.* (2006) 21(3):238-44. doi: 10.1093/ heapro/dal016

26. World Health Organisation (WHO). Ottowa charter for health promotion. Health Promotion. (1986) 1(4):iii-v. doi: 10.1093/heapro/1.4.405

27. Stansfield J, South J, Mapplethorpe T. What are the elements of a whole system approach to community-centred public health? A qualitative study with public health leaders in England's local authority areas. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10(8):e036044. doi: 10. 1136/bmjopen-2019-036044

28. Suominen S, Lindstrom B. Salutogenesis. Scand J Public Health. (2008) 36 (4):337-9. doi: 10.1177/1403494808093268

29. Blanck P, Perleth S, Heidenreich T, Kröger P, Ditzen B, Bents H, et al. Effects of mindfulness exercises as stand-alone intervention on symptoms of anxiety and depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Behav Res Ther.* (2018) 102:25–35. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2017.12.002

30. Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2003) 10(2): 144–56. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bpg016

31. Day MA, Jensen MP, Ehde DM, Thorn BE. Toward a theoretical model for mindfulness-based pain management. J Pain. (2014) 15(7):691–703. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2014.03.003

32. Lomas T, Ivtzan I, Fu CH. A systematic review of the neurophysiology of mindfulness on eeg oscillations. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 57:401-10. doi: 10. 1016/j.neubiorev.2015.09.018

33. Brace AW, George K, Lovell GP. Mental toughness and self-efficacy of elite ultramarathon runners. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15(11):e0241284. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0241284

34. Tofler IR, Hyatt BM, Tofler DS. Psychiatric aspects of extreme sports: three case studies. *Perm J.* (2018) 22:17–071. doi: 10.7812/TPP/17-071

35. Carlson LE. Mindfulness-based interventions for physical conditions: a narrative review evaluating levels of evidence. *ISRN Psychiatry*. (2012) 2012:651583. doi: 10. 5402/2012/651583

36. Carmody J, Baer RA. Relationships between mindfulness practice and levels of mindfulness, medical and psychological symptoms and well-being in a mindfulnessbased stress reduction program. *J Behav Med.* (2008) 31(1):23–33. doi: 10.1007/ s10865-007-9130-7

37. Howarth A, Smith JG, Perkins-Porras L, Ussher M. Effects of brief mindfulnessbased interventions on health-related outcomes: a systematic review. *Mindfulness*. (2019) 10:1957–68. doi: 10.1007/s12671-019-01163-1

38. Sovik R. The science of breathing-the yogic view. Prog Brain Res. (2000) 122:491-505. doi: 10.1016/s0079-6123(08)62159-7

39. Chui PL, Wai S, Lai LL, See MH, Tan SB. Mindful breathing: effects of a fiveminute practice on perceived stress and mindfulness among patients with cancer. *Clin J Oncol Nurs.* (2021) 25(2):174–80. doi: 10.1188/21.Cjon.174-180

40. Gibson J. Mindfulness, interoception, and the body: a contemporary perspective. Front Psychol. (2019) 10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02012

41. Warth M, Stoffel M, Koehler F, Bardenheuer HJ, Kessler J, Ditzen B. Characteristics of salivary cortisol and alpha-amylase as psychobiological study outcomes in palliative care research. *BMC Palliat Care*. (2022) 21(1):226. doi: 10. 1186/s12904-022-01085-1

42. Riegner G, Posey G, Oliva V, Jung Y, Mobley W, Zeidan F. Disentangling self from pain: mindfulness meditation-induced pain relief is driven by thalamic-default mode network decoupling. *Pain.* (2023) 164(2):280–91. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002731

43. Adler-Neal AL, Waugh CE, Garland EL, Shaltout HA, Diz DI, Zeidan F. The role of heart rate variability in mindfulness-based pain relief. *J Pain.* (2020) 21(3–4):306–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2019.07.003

44. Chayadi E, Baes N, Kiropoulos L. The effects of mindfulness-based interventions on symptoms of depression, anxiety, and cancer-related fatigue in oncology patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. (2022) 17(7):e0269519. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0269519

45. Ng D-L-C, Gan G-G, Anuar NA, Tung Y-Z, Lai N-Z, Tan Y-W, et al. The effect of a single session of 30-min mindful breathing in reducing fatigue among patients with haematological cancer—a randomised controlled trial. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2021) 20(1):160. doi: 10.1186/s12904-021-00855-7

46. Kerr C, Sacchet M, Lazar S, Moore C, Jones S. Mindfulness starts with the body: somatosensory attention and top-down modulation of cortical alpha rhythms in mindfulness meditation. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00012

47. Russell TA, Arcuri SM. A neurophysiological and neuropsychological consideration of mindful movement: clinical and research implications. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00282

48. Lardone A, Liparoti M, Sorrentino P, Rucco R, Jacini F, Polverino A, et al. Mindfulness meditation is related to long-lasting changes in hippocampal functional topology during resting state: a magnetoencephalography study. *Neural Plast.* (2018) 2018:5340717. doi: 10.1155/2018/5340717

49. Sharma M. Yoga as an alternative and complementary approach for stress management: a systematic review. *J Evid Based Complementary Altern Med.* (2014) 19(1):59–67. doi: 10.1177/2156587213503344

50. Tang Y-Y, Hölzel BK, Posner MI. The neuroscience of mindfulness meditation. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2015) 16(4):213–25. doi: 10.1038/nrn3916

51. Eller-Smith OC, Nicol AL, Christianson JA. Potential mechanisms underlying centralized pain and emerging therapeutic interventions. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2018) 12. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00035

52. Baer RA. Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: a conceptual and empirical review. *Clin Psychol Sci Pract.* (2003) 10(2):125. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bpg015

53. Schmalzl L, Powers C, Henje Blom E. Neurophysiological and neurocognitive mechanisms underlying the effects of yoga-based practices: towards a comprehensive theoretical framework. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:235. doi: 10. 3389/fnhum.2015.00235

54. Haase L, Thom NJ, Shukla A, Davenport PW, Simmons AN, Stanley EA, et al. Mindfulness-based training attenuates Insula response to an aversive interoceptive challenge. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2016) 11(1):182–90. doi: 10. 1093/scan/nsu042

55. Schuman-Olivier Z, Trombka M, Lovas DA, Brewer JA, Vago DR, Gawande R, et al. Mindfulness and behavior change. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (2020) 28(6):371–94. doi: 10.1097/hrp.00000000000277

56. Germer CK, Neff KD. Self-compassion in clinical practice. J Clin Psychol. (2013) 69(8):856–67. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22021

57. Britton W, Loucks E, King J, Schuman-Olivier Z, Lazar SW, Brewer JA, et al. Meta-analytic review of self-regulation processes in mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction. *PROSPERO*. (2016): CRD42016051765.

58. Guan NC, Beng TS, Sue-Yin L, Kanagasundram S. The effect of 5-min mindful breathing on pain in palliative care cancer patients: a randomized controlled study. *Indian J Palliat Care.* (2021) 27(1):83–8. doi: 10.4103/ijpc.ljpc_l22_20

59. Ngamkham S, Holden JE, Smith EL. A systematic review: mindfulness intervention for cancer-related pain. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs. (2019) 6(2):161–9. doi: 10.4103/apjon.apjon_67_18

60. Maglione MA, Hempel S, Ruelaz Maher A, Apaydin E, Ewing B, Hilton L, et al. *Mindfulness meditation for chronic pain: A systematic review.* Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation (2016).

61. Hilton L, Hempel S, Ewing BA, Apaydin E, Xenakis L, Newberry S, et al. Mindfulness meditation for chronic pain: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Behav Med.* (2017) 51(2):199–213. doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9844-2

62. Ball EF, Nur Shafina Muhammad Sharizan E, Franklin G, Rogozińska E. Does mindfulness meditation improve chronic pain? A systematic review. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 29(6):359–66. doi: 10.1097/gco.000000000000417

63. Pei J-H, Ma T, Nan R-L, Chen H-X, Zhang Y-B, Gou L, et al. Mindfulnessbased cognitive therapy for treating chronic pain a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 26(3):333–46. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020. 1849746

64. Eccleston C, Blyth FM, Dear BF, Fisher EA, Keefe FJ, Lynch ME, et al. Managing patients with chronic pain during the COVID-19 outbreak: considerations for the rapid introduction of remotely supported (ehealth) pain management services. *Pain.* (2020) 161(5):889–93. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001885

65. MacPherson M, Bakker AM, Anderson K, Holtzman S. Do pain management apps use evidence-based psychological components? A systematic review of app content and quality. *Can J Pain.* (2022) 6(1):33–44. doi: 10.1080/24740527.2022. 2030212

66. Luiggi-Hernandez JG, Woo J, Hamm M, Greco CM, Weiner DK, Morone NE. Mindfulness for chronic low back pain: a qualitative analysis. *Pain Med.* (2018) 19 (11):2138–45. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnx197

67. Smith C, Skaer T, Orr M, Barbosa-Leiker C, Howell D, Dyck D. Development of multi-family group and mindfulness treatment for chronic pain: preliminary outcomes. *J Musculoskelet Disord Treat.* (2017) 3. doi: 10.23937/2572-3243. 1510042

68. Bawa F M, Sutton J, Mercer S, Bond C. "I'm empowered to Look after myself" mindfulness as a way to manage chronic pain: an interpretative phenomenological analysis of participant experiences in Scotland. *Soc Sci Med.* (2021) 281:114073. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114073

69. Whomsley S, Russell TA. *Mindfulness-based approaches: A guide for psychologists.* Leicester, UK: The British Pscyhology Society (2022). doi: 10.53841/bpsrep.2022.rep166

70. Farias M, Maraldi E, Wallenkampf KC, Lucchetti G. Adverse events in meditation practices and meditation-based therapies: a systematic review. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2020) 142(5):374–93. doi: 10.1111/acps.13225

71. Van Dam NT, van Vugt MK, Vago DR, Schmalzl L, Saron CD, Olendzki A, et al. Mind the hype: a critical evaluation and prescriptive agenda for research on mindfulness and meditation. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2018) 13(1):36–61. doi: 10.1177/1745691617709589

72. Farias M, Wikholm C. Has the science of mindfulness lost its mind? BJPsych Bull. (2016) 40(6):329-32. doi: 10.1192/pb.bp.116.053686

73. Goldberg SB, Lam SU, Britton WB, Davidson RJ. Prevalence of meditationrelated adverse effects in a population-based sample in the United States. *Psychother Res.* (2022) 32(3):291–305. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2021.1933646

74. Ellett L, Chadwick P. Recommendations for monitoring and reporting harm in mindfulness for psychosis research. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2021) 219(6):629–31. doi: 10. 1192/bjp.2021.98

75. Toye F, Seers K, Allcock N, Briggs M, Carr E, Andrews J, et al. A metaethnography of patients' experience of chronic non-malignant musculoskeletal pain. *Health Serv Deliv Res.* (2013) 1(12). doi: 10.3310/hsdr01120

76. Toye F, Belton J, Hannink E, Seers K, Barker K. A healing journey with chronic pain: a meta-ethnography synthesizing 195 qualitative studies. *Pain Med.* (2021) 22 (6):1333-44. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa373

77. Kemp AH, Fisher Z. Wellbeing, whole health and societal transformation: theoretical insights and practical applications. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:21649561211073077. doi: 10.1177/21649561211073077

78. Malinowski P. Neural mechanisms of attentional control in mindfulness meditation. Front Neurosci. (2013) 7:8. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00008

79. Moore A, Fisher E, Eccleston C. Flawed, futile, and fabricated-features that limit confidence in clinical research in pain and anaesthesia: a narrative review. *Br J Anaesth.* (2023) 130(3):287–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2022.09.030

80. Wolfenden L, Foy R, Presseau J, Grimshaw JM, Ivers NM, Powell BJ, et al. Designing and undertaking randomised implementation trials: guide for researchers. *Br Med J.* (2021) 372:m3721. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3721

81. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of medical research council guidance. *Br Med J.* (2021) 374:n2061. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061

82. Day MA, Thorn BE, Ward LC, Rubin N, Hickman SD, Scogin F, et al. Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for the treatment of headache pain: a pilot study. *Clin J Pain.* (2014) 30(2):152–61. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e318287a1dc

83. Bullington J. Embodiment and chronic pain: implications for rehabilitation practice. *Health Care Anal.* (2009) 17(2):100–9. doi: 10.1007/s10728-008-0109-5

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Keesha Roach, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States

REVIEWED BY

Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India Eleni G. Hapidou, McMaster University, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 17 May 2023 ACCEPTED 04 September 2023 PUBLISHED 15 September 2023

CITATION

Johnson MI, Hudson M and Ryan CG (2023) Perspectives on the insidious nature of pain metaphor: we literally need to change our metaphors. Front. Pain Res. 4:1224139.

doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1224139

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Johnson, Hudson and Ryan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Perspectives on the insidious nature of pain metaphor: we literally need to change our metaphors

Mark I. Johnson^{1*}, Matt Hudson^{1,2} and Cormac G. Ryan^{3,4}

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Mind Help Limited, Durham, United Kingdom, ³Centre for Rehabilitation, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, United Kingdom, ⁴The Pain Education Team Aspiring Learning (PETAL) Collaboration

Metaphorical language is used to convey one thing as representative or symbolic of something else. Metaphor is used in figurative language but is much more than a means of delivering "poetic imagination". A metaphor is a conceptual tool for categorising, organizing, thinking about, and ultimately shaping reality. Thus, metaphor underpins the way humans think. Our viewpoint is that metaphorical thought and communication contribute to "painogenicity", the tendency of socio-ecological environments (settings) to promote the persistence of pain. In this perspectives article, we explore the insidious nature of metaphor used in pain language and conceptual models of pain. We explain how metaphor shapes mental organisation to govern the way humans perceive, navigate and gain insight into the nature of the world, i.e., creating experience. We explain how people use metaphors to "project" their private sensations, feelings, and thoughts onto objects and events in the external world. This helps people to understand their pain and promotes sharing of pain experience with others, including health care professionals. We explore the insidious nature of "warmongering" and damage-based metaphors in daily parlance and demonstrate how this is detrimental to health and wellbeing. We explore how metaphors shape the development and communication of complex, abstract ideas, theories, and models and how scientific understanding of pain is metaphorical in nature. We argue that overly simplistic neuro-mechanistic metaphors of pain contribute to fallacies and misnomers and an unhealthy focus on biomedical research, in the hope of developing medical interventions that "prevent pain transmission [sic]". We advocate reconfiguring pain language towards constructive metaphors that foster a salutogenic view of pain, focusing on health and well-being. We advocate reconfiguring metaphors to align with contemporary pain science, to encourage acceptance of non-medicalised strategies to aid health and well-being. We explore the role of enactive metaphors to facilitate reconfiguration. We conclude that being cognisant of the pervasive nature of metaphors will assist progress toward a more coherent conceptual understanding of pain and the use of healthier pain language. We hope our article catalyses debate and reflection.

KEYWORDS

pain, metaphor, linguistic relativity, pain language, enactive metaphor, lived experience, salutogenesis, painogenicity

Introduction

"Disciplines progress according to the strength of their metaphors, and those metaphors are fated to become so familiar that they transform into illusions, if even thought of at all." (1) p.3

Most people understand metaphors according to classical theories of language, as expressions used for figurative embellishment of objective and literal modes of representation. In 1980, Lakoff and Johnson argued that metaphors were more than a literary characteristic of language delivering "poetic imagination and rhetoric flourish". They claimed metaphors underpinned the way humans think; thus, common concepts encoding knowledge were built using metaphoric structure (2). Nowadays, metaphor is considered a basic tool of cognition to comprehend abstract concepts and perform abstract reasoning. In other words, metaphor is fundamental to the way humans frame sociocultural knowledge and structure conceptual systems (3). The Sapir-Whorf hypothesis of linguistic relativity (linguistic determinism) proposes that the structure of a person's native language and culture shapes how they construct their living experience (3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8). Thus, a person's language and cultural narrative are likely to influence whether a person's living experience of pain is associated with health, illness, suffering, and whether there is potential for recovery and/or living well with pain.

Our viewpoint is that metaphorical language and metaphorical thought contributes to "painogenicity", the tendency of socioecological environments (settings) to promote the persistence of pain (9). Painogenicity reflects the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities or conditions of life have on the persistence, severity, and impact of pain, on individuals, groups, and communities (9, 10). Painogenicity, acknowledges micro, meso and macro level influences, especially modern-day social, environmental, and commercial conditions, that make pain "sticky" (11). Previously, we have argued that a salutogenic healthy settings approach may ameliorate painogenicity and reduce the burden of persistent pain on society (12). Salutogenesis (Latin "salus" meaning health; Greek "genesis" meaning origin) is defined as the study of factors that support health as opposed to factors causing disease (13). Salutogenesis explores how people cope with stressors in daily life to remain physically and emotionally healthy (14). Central to salutogenesis is the concept of "sense of coherence", a dispositional orientation allowing a person to be resilient to life-stressors to maintain and improve health and well-being, consisting of comprehension, manageability and meaningfulness of their experiences (e.g., pain) (15, 16). Pivotal to salutogenesis are generalized resistance resources to cope effectively with situations (e.g., money, knowledge, coping strategies, social network). Thus, salutogenic approaches focus on building systems that support a person's sense of purpose and meaning in their life. Salutogenesis is underpinned by "whole person health" (17) arising from the "Whole Person Medicine" movement in the 1970's (18). Oliveira advocates a salutogenic approach to the education of individuals and society about pain, including positive aspects of suffering to improve a person's sense of coherence (19). Thus, constructive and positive pain narrative is the foundation of salutogenesis and whole person health.

The aim of this article is to explore the insidious nature of metaphor in pain language and conceptual (biomedical) models of pain and its persistence. We use the lens of linguistic relativity to reveal the insidious nature of pain language and argue a need to reconfigure metaphor to align with contemporary models of pain experience and salutogenic approaches to living well with and without pain. It is not our intention to undertake a comprehensive review but to challenge dogma and raise issues for scholarly debate. The foundation of our article is based on a free text search of PubMed ("[pain (all fields)] AND [metaphor (all fields)]", 04 October 2022, 207 items) and additional literature found therefrom. Our review is narrative and based on literature that we believed was relevant, contradictory, and contentious. We acknowledge that this approach is open to selection and evaluation biases and opinion-based arguments. Readers are encouraged to follow up references for comprehensive coverage of issues. Before discussing the insidious nature of pain metaphors, it is important to contextualise how metaphors shape human reality.

How metaphors shape human reality

What are metaphors?

People use various types of figurative language to express ideas, abstract concepts, inner experiences, and comparisons.

Aristotle defined metaphor as: "giving something a name that belongs to something else; the transference ("epi-phora") being either from genus to species, or from species to genus, or from species to species, or on the grounds of analogy ... metaphors are constituted on the basis of our ability to see the similarity in dissimilars" (20) p.4 [citing Aristotle (21)].

The Oxford Dictionary defines a metaphor as "a word or phrase used to describe somebody/something else, in a way that is different from its normal use, in order to show that the two things have the same qualities and to make the description more powerful, for example She has a heart of stone" (22).

Thus, metaphors apply a word or phrase to an object or action to which it is not factually appropriate, to convey one thing as representative or symbolic of something else. For example, "pain is a knife stabbing my leg"—pain is *not actually* a knife; or "there is a gnawing pain in my bone"—pain is not actually gnawing the bone. In metaphor, the properties of one thing are integrated with the other, leaving the observer to interpret the relationship.

Linguistically, metaphors are distinct from other types of figurative language such as:

• Simile—comparing one thing with another thing using the words "like", "as", "so", or "than". Simile makes explicit the fact that the properties of one thing are alike to the properties

of another thing (i.e., the two distinct entities are not the same) e.g. "my pain was like a rat, gnawing at my bone" or "my hand feels like it is a burning glove".

- Metonymy—a word or name used to refer to a thing closely associated with another thing, e.g. referring to the quality of pain as "the gnawing continued"
- Hyperbole—exaggerated statements or claims not meant to be taken literally, e.g. "the pain is a million times worse than other pains I have had"
- Idioms—a group of words that has a different meaning than each word on its own, e.g. "a pain in the neck"—which refers to an irritating person, thing, or activity, rather than a neck that is actually painful.

In terms of utility, linguistic precision is of limited importance in conceptualisation and communication of pain, providing concepts remain correct. For the purposes of this article, we will use the word "metaphor" to encompass all types of figurative language that makes an implicit comparison of two things that are similar but not the same. Precise linguistic terminology will only be used when it affects the specific meaning of arguments, e.g., "Pain is like electric shocks shooting down my leg" will be described loosely as "metaphor" (metaphorical language) rather than its precise linguistic definition as a simile.

Metaphorical thinking

In 1980, Lakoff and Johnson reasoned that metaphors used in everyday conversation enable understanding and expression of abstract concepts, such as feelings or ideas, by the process of making sense of one type of thing in terms of another (2). Lackoff and Johnson stated:

"Our concepts structure what we perceive, how we get around the world, and how we relate to other people. Our conceptual system thus plays a central role in defining our everyday realities. If we are right in suggesting that our conceptual system is largely metaphorical, then the way we think, what we experience, and what we do every day, is very much a matter of metaphor. But our conceptual system is not something we are normally aware of. In most of the things we do every day, we simply think and act more or less automatically along certain lines. Just what these lines are is by no means obvious. One way to find out is by looking at language. Since communication is based on the same conceptual system that we use in thinking and acting, language is an important source of evidence for what that system is like." (2) p.3.

Thus, metaphors are a conceptual tool for categorising, organizing, thinking about, and ultimately shaping reality; this is known as the cognitive metaphor theory (3). Since 1980, scholarship on conceptual metaphor theory has developed within the larger disciplines of cognitive linguistics and cognitive psychology. Claims of conceptual ambiguities and challenges to

the accuracy of empirical evidence means that cognitive metaphor theory has evolved over time, although the central concept remains irrefutable (23).

Importantly, Lakoff and Johnson demonstrated that metaphorical concepts are formed according to the configuration of a human body interacting with the external environment, i.e., as a 3-dimensional object in space acting consciously within the dimension of time. Consequently, conceptual thinking has developed according to the constraints of being human, i.e., a visually dominant, bipedal, upright, mobile human being living on the surface of a spherical planet under the force of gravity. Human concepts develop according to the human body schema and are characterised by front, back, top, bottom, middle (medial), side (lateral), left, right, inside, and outside, and in relation to moving forward, backwards, up, and down. It is unlikely that these concepts would develop in a sentient organism with a spherical body-schema existing in the gravityfree void of space (24). Consequently, the constraints of embodied human existence restricts and obscures human conceptual thinking.

Metaphor shapes who we are

Perceiving, acting and communicating in metaphorical language shapes mental organization and is realised through embodied neural circuitry that encodes signatures of conceptual domains, as described in the neural theory of metaphors [for review see (25)]. Metaphors are at the core of our lived experience, they govern the way we perceive, navigate and gain insight to the nature of the world, creating and describing new realities (26). Metaphor is a tool to project private experiences (sensations, feelings, and thoughts) onto externally located objects and events to understand one's own inner bodily state and to communicate this private inner experience to others.

The process of creating coherently organised experience through metaphor involves the use of a source domain that is shared by others (e.g., an enemy) to understand a target (concept) domain (e.g., pain). Thus, the idea that "pain is an enemy" comprises a concept we are trying to understand (e.g., *pain*) and a concept from which we draw a metaphorical expression (e.g., *an enemy*). "Pain is an enemy" is considered a *primary* metaphor because it forms a "rudimentary theme" that spawns secondary metaphors such as "fighting pain", "battling pain", "surrendering to pain", and "pain killers".

The utility of pain metaphor

Metaphor to understand pain in oneself

Pain is a complex, sometimes formless, bodily experience not directly sharable to others. Humans describe formless sensations and feelings by "projecting" the experience to objects and events that have form in the external world. Thus, people borrow from the world of form and meaning to connect bodily symptoms to objects, enabling symptoms to gain a sense of structure, i.e., they apply a word or phrase to convey one thing as representative or symbolic of something else.

Using language to "project" inner states to entities and events in the external world helps people gain a sense of clarity and control of the meaning of their experience. A thematic analysis of interviews with 23 older adults by Clarke et al. (27) revealed that people use vivid stories, metaphors, and similes, rather than using isolated words, to personalise the meaning of their lived experience of chronic pain, e.g., "two bones rubbing together" or 'the sensation of "running cold water". Nortvedt and Engelsrud (28) found men used dramatic metaphors to describe the impact of phantom pain sensation on relationships with their self (body), others, and the world, e.g., "being invaded by insects" or "skin being scorched and stripped from the body".

In the book *The Language of Pain*, Biro describes metaphors as a powerful means of worldmaking, creating a descriptive language for the often silencing effect of pain (29).

"In pain, we don't choose metaphor but are forced in that direction because there is no literal language; it's either metaphor or continued absence of speech." (29) p.73

Biro argues that metaphor is the only means available to represent the reality of pain experience.

"Pain threatens to destroy our language and conceptual abilities, leaving a void. The only way to represent the experience and fill the void is through metaphor." (29) p.75

In this quote, Biro transforms pain into a "thing" that threatens to destroy. Thus, metaphors attempt to objectify the subjective. Bourke describes this as a metaphorical *concretisation of pain* that brings the nature of private experience into the "knowable, external world" of others.

"Metaphors enable people to move a subject (in this case, pain) from inchoateness [not yet properly developed] to concreteness" (**30**) p.477.

The idea of pain as a "concrete thing" is contentious and exposes ongoing tension about the nature of pain and the use of literal and metaphorical language (31, 32, 33). Bourke contends that pain should be considered as a "kind of event" or "a way of being-in-the-world" (30, 34). To make sense of "unstable pain-events" people constitute and reconstitute their experiences of the body's behaviour during and after social and environmental interactions using metaphorical language. Thus,

"... bodies are not simply receptacles of sensations, but are actively engaged in the linguistic processes and social interactions that constitute those sensations" (30). p.475.

Metaphors to share pain with others

Explaining the experience of pain is likened to making the invisible visible. Metaphorical expression uses a common understanding of words and non-verbal vocabularies e.g., visual art, music, and rhythmic movement, to communicate pain, and to elicit an empathetic response. Semino (35) summarised psycholinguistic and neuroscientific research that supports the premise that detail, creativity and textual complexity of pain metaphor can influence the nature and intensity of an embodied simulation of pain experience, a proxy of empathy, in listeners.

Metaphoric communication of pain enables the expression of disordered and indescribable inner thoughts and feelings providing emotional release and relief. Shinebourne and Smith (36) suggest that metaphors provide a "safe bridge" to communicate emotions too distressing to express literally. Metaphoric expression enables the repair of broken connections of the internal sense of self and with oneself, culture, and society. Sharing experiences creates a sense of "connective liberation". McFarland et al. (37), argue that living with pain is an "emotional time bomb" and that metaphoric thinking can help to deactivate and reframe inner emotions, and "off-load" the explosive and destructive inner experience of living with pain to oneself and to others.

Metaphor during clinical consultation

In health care settings, scaffolding for a person's sense-making of their bodily experience comes from a variety of sources such as the physical and social environment of the clinic, and the consultation with practitioners. During a consultation, patients describe their internal states using stories flooded with metaphors. Thus, metaphorical dialogue between patient and practitioner is the norm, although neither is fully aware that they are talking in metaphor (just as we have done here by instinctively using the term "flooded").

A thematic analysis of 18 interviews of pain practitioners by Munday et al. (38) revealed that metaphors were used as a communicative tool, a clue, an obstacle and as an adjunct in treatment. Practitioners reported most metaphors used by patients provided insight into the meaning attributed to pain, although some metaphors used by patients were unhelpful for patient recovery. Sometimes interpreting metaphorical meaning in patient narrative was challenging because patients were using metaphors that did not align with the clinician's biomedical paradigm.

Often, healthcare professionals default to structural biomechanistic metaphors when explaining pain, perhaps because it is an easier viewpoint from which to understand the body. However, biomechanistic metaphors may infer, whether intentionally or not, that the body is damaged, fragile, weak, and slow to heal. Metaphorical language can conjure up distressing imagery such as "bone-on-bone" or "wear and tear". People may interpret metaphors literally, believing that vertebral discs "slip", core stability has "gone", or joints have "seized". These metaphorical misunderstandings and incorrect beliefs may reinforce rumination on sensations of pain and stiffness, attention to crepitus, and fear avoidance of movement. Medical imaging used to confirm pathology and anatomical models used to explain pathophysiological processes may inadvertently strengthen negative rumination. The use of a destructive pain metaphor is insidious and generally goes unnoticed.

Insidious metaphor to describe pain?

Destructive metaphor aligns with explanatory models associating pain with actual or potential tissue damage. This reinforces the allure of biomedical, pathoanatomically based remedies. This may impede engagement with first-line health promoting (salutogenic) self-managed lifestyle adjustments of physical activity, diet, and positive psychological state. The use of destructive pain language conjures up metaphors of warfare that dates to antiquity, and are so ingrained that it may be very difficult to change.

Warmongering metaphor for pain

Historical analyses of pain metaphors provide useful insights into how the societal meaning of pain has changed through the ages (30). A prevailing view throughout early history, as described by the Greek physician Galen AD 129–216, was that pain was "of the soul", associated with illness and disease resulting from an imbalance of internal humors.

Díaz Vera (39) appraised metaphorical language in Middle English medical writings from the period 1350-1500 and found that pain was described as a process of commencement, treatment, and cure, rather than a permanent state, i.e., as a type of event [*c.f* (30, 34).]. Often pain was described (metaphorically) as a gas entering the body ("being in motion") to affect bodily organs, or as living entities with hostile intentions e.g., a living creature that grows within the body or as an angry person outside the body. Thus, medieval physicians described "fighting pain" with an arsenal of weapons (treatments); this contrasted with religious treatises and homilies that pain needed to be endured for relief in the afterlife (40).

By the 17th century, warmongering language underpinned beliefs that relief of pain depended on correct medical treatment. The prevailing view was diseases were caused by discrete pathological entities (objects) that were "the enemy" and could be "targeted" (treated) by interventions that "eradicated", "annihilated", "attacked", "battled", and "destroyed". The development of Germ Theory in the late 1800s, engrained warmongering metaphors within the medical discourse and people with disease began to be viewed as "clinical research material" within a "metaphorical medical battlefield". Bourke's historical analysis of metaphorical language within medical texts of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries reveals the attitudes of many physicians to wage war on diseased tissue with little compassion towards the person in pain (41). Thus, medical practice involved decontextualising a person's lived experience of pain.

By the 20th century, warmongering language was ubiquitous in medical literature, with healthcare practitioners (the soldiers) encouraged to "wage war" on communicable and noncommunicable diseases (the enemy) such as AIDS, Covid, cancer, diabetes, obesity, and pain. The success of "an arsenal of weapons" such as antibiotics, vaccination, medication, and surgery has conceptualized the body in metaphors of warfare that are so pervasive they go unnoticed, e.g., "a battle against disease", "winning or losing the fight", "pathogens invading or attacking", "the body"s defences", "doctor"s orders", "the magic bullet" and "fighting disease".

Damage metaphor for pain

Warmongering metaphors easily unite with the metaphor "pain is damage" in common language about; sensations (e.g., "attacks of pain", "stabbing pain"), emotions (e.g., "the horror of pain"), thoughts (e.g., "tortured by pain"), treatments (e.g., "pain killers"), strategies for relief (e.g., "fighting pain") and personnel (e.g., "victims of pain"). Pain assessment tools to capture the quality of pain are dominated by metaphors of damage and warmongering. A case in point is the McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), designed to "measure" sensory, affective, and cognitive dimensions of pain. Patients are invited to describe how their pain "feels" by selecting from a list of words, examples of which "throbbing", "stabbing", "shooting", include "gnawing", "burning", "scalding", "searing", "lancinating", "stinging", "suffocating", "killing", "blinding", "penetrating", "piercing" "tearing" and "torturing". An online survey of 247 people with various persistent pain conditions by Munday et al. (42), found pain metaphors to be characterised by the overarching theme of "damage", with source domains including electricity, insects, rigidity, causes of damage, bodily misperception, and death and mortality. Damage dominates the lexicon of pain.

Leading pain organisations define pain within a framework of tissue damage (e.g., the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP), the European Federation of International Chapters of IASP (EFIC), American Pain Association, and the British Pain Association). The IASP's definition of pain is "An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage" (43). Pain organisations emphasise the complex relationship between tissue damage and pain experience, i.e., it is not one-to-one; rather pain is a multifaceted sensory, emotional and cognitive experience influenced by ecological, sociological, psychological and biological factors. Thus, serious tissue damage may occur without pain (44), and pain may occur without tissue damage (45, 46, 47), although this is often counterintuitive to patients.

Warmongering metaphor is often used for motivational messaging, e.g., the British Pain Society's 2022 Pain Awareness Month campaign "*I beat cancer. Now I am fighting pain*". There is, however, an insidious side to damage and warmongering metaphors. Fighting pain may encourage unrealistic expectations

that recovery is associated with how hard you fight. Fighting fosters an ever-expanding arsenal of weaponry (e.g., painkillers) leading to the medicalization of issues that may be socially rather than biomedically rooted; instigating overdiagnosis and overtreatment (20, 48, 49, 50). Fighting pain could misdirect efforts; for example, by therapy shopping for "quick fix cures" at the expense of interdisciplinary biopsychosocial-based treatment and salutogenic approaches that promote living well with and without pain (51).

Corkhill (52) suggests that "fighting pain to the end" may be a feisty attitude but thoughts of fighting your own body may trigger psychophysiological stressors that may make pain worse. Warmongering language creates "battlefields" rather than "safe havens" and this is not only contrary to the goal of alleviating suffering and aiding recovery, but reveals issues such as "where are the safe havens and how do people get to them?" So, metaphors of damage and warmongering may harm health, wellbeing, and recovery by:

- Generalising conceptual (mis)understanding of pain as *always* being due to tissue damage resulting in constant vigilance, e.g., of an "attack" of pain
- Fostering thoughts of war, suffering, chaos and being unsafe resulting in fear, worry, anxiety hopelessness and despair, i.e., warzones are not conducive to recovery
- Placing people into a state of persistent fight, flight, freeze or flop, i.e., sympathetically mediated stress
- Encouraging simplified thinking of treatments as weapons to "quick-fix tissue" and practitioners as "soldiers to kill pain"
- Fostering ideas of an end game of winning or losing, leaving no space for play, laughter, curiosity, or healing in the moment

We contend that fighting pain involves placing the self in a civil war against itself, rather than creating peace through arbitration and a sharing of values.

Scarry (53) argues that reducing pain to a sign and symptom of illness, disease, or trauma places the person within a paradigm of disability, disorder, and diagnosis, reinforcing biomedical discourse and decontextualising a person's lived experience. At the core of biomedical discourse is a neuro-mechanistic model of pain conceptualised in metaphor that often goes unnoticed, is insidious in nature, and motivates patients to constantly search for medical solutions. Biomedical discourse was not always the norm.

Erosion of culturally derived metaphors

In many so-called "traditional societies", the language used to describe pain and discomfort has its roots in "biophilic metaphors". These are figures of speech that draw from nature and natural processes to convey abstract ideas or emotions such as phrases that invoke images of the land, weather, or local flora and fauna. Such metaphors were not merely poetic expressions but reflections of deep-seated cultural beliefs and understandings of the human condition (54). Over time, the spread of Western mechanistic medicine in conjunction with the pervasive reach of global media, began to mould and, in some cases, outright replace these indigenous understandings of pain. Research by Halliburton suggests that traditional interpretations of mental illness that reference spirits with names and personalities in Kerala, India, have been replaced by psychological idioms such as "tension", "stress" and "depression"—concepts that, while perhaps more standardised, lack cultural specificity or veracity (55). Halliburton advocates salutogenic approaches that incorporate traditional and biomedical modalities (56, 57, 58).

Our viewpoint is that the erosion of biophilic cultural beliefs and understandings of the human condition may foster a necrophilous mindset. A person with a "biophilic" lens sees growth, function, and the spirited intricacies of living beings, with a love for life, whereas a necrophilous person is "entranced" by static and mechanical aspects of life, drawn to the unchanging, lifeless, and inanimate, seeing living beings as objects, devoid of spirit or agency (59, 60). Interpreting pain through a necrophilous lens replaces the rich tapestry of cultural nuances with a cold, clinical uniformity. We contend that the biophilic spirit of humankind, which thrives on understanding, empathy, and the celebration of life in all its forms, is eroded by this mechanistic view, leading to a world where pain, and by extension, life, is understood not in its vibrant, multi-faceted entirety, but as a mere malfunctioning of physiological machinery.

In fact, biomedical pain language has encroached upon human activity unrelated to potential or actual tissue damage, i.e., unrelated to so-called "physical pain [sic]". This is often termed "psychological pain" or "social pain" and refers to unpleasant experiences such as grief, sadness, anguish, embarrassment, shame, and hopelessness that arise from social situations such as the death of a loved one, rejection from a social group, or bullying. Shneidman (61) devised the neologism "psychache" to describe unbearable psychological anguish, soreness, hurt, "pain" and aching and theorized that unresolved psychache due to an unfulfilled psychological need caused suicide. This demonstrates the pervasive nature of biomedical pain language in the development of scientific concepts of the human condition.

Insidious metaphorical concepts in pain science?

"There are no metaphor-free zones in science" (62) p.131.

Metaphor shapes scientific knowledge and the development and communication of complex, abstract ideas, theories, and models. Thus, explanatory models of pain are always metaphorical because they develop according to the constraints of human conceptual thinking.

Conceptual models of pain are described using neuromechanistic metaphor, comprising detectors (nociceptors), wiring maps (neural pathways), gates (synaptic processing), locks (membrane receptors), keys (neurotransmitters), doors (gated ion channels) and processing centres (ganglion and nuclei). A cornerstone of contemporary thinking from pain science is the so-called "Gate Control Theory" that uses a "gate" metaphor to represent how the flow of neural information (nerve impulses) is modulated (inhibited or facilitated) at synapses in the central nervous system (63, 64).

The search for biosignatures, such as neural correlates, is pivotal to a scientific explanation of how the subjective pain experience arises from the activity of the "stuff" (biological matter) of the body. Neuro-mechanistic explanations of nociception remain a dominant component in the biopsychosocial model of pain and exert a powerful influence on clinical practice (65, 66). Bendelow (67) contends that pain is a subjective, value-laden, sensory and emotional experience that relies on bodily signs and culturally-embedded language that is subject to multiple interpretations, and medicine reduces the complexity of pain to a system of nerve impulses signalling tissue damage. Corns (68) describes this as an "orthodoxy of simplicity" and argues, using the tools of analytic philosophy, that pain is so complex and idiosyncratic that scientific generalisations from mechanistic models may have limited utility [see also (69)]. In an appraisal of "Pain as a metaphor", Neilson contends that the neuro-mechanistic model of pain is oversimplistic, unsophisticated and based on metaphorical shorthand that hinders a more encompassing understanding of pain (1).

Neilson (1) uses the "pain pathway [sic]", included in every textbook of pain, as an example of the insidious nature of biomedical schematic diagrams, the "sine qua non of the medical pain discourse". Neilson states:

"[The pain pathway] shows a peripheral stimulus sending a signal to central structures (a wire system), the diagram is conceptually as simple as Descartes" thread running from the skin to the brain: no more advanced than the Cartesian model of thread running from the skin to the brain" (1) p. 8.

Neilson contends that an unhealthy focus on neuromechanistic metaphor conflates nociception and pain, promoting misconceptions, such as pain being sensed, transmitted, and gated, that contaminate scientific literature. Examples of some common fallacies and misnomers include "pain-sensing neurons" (70), "... abdominal pain transmission ..." (71), "Astrocytes contribute to pain gating in the spinal cord" (72). Fundamental conceptual errors remain unchecked in prestigious scientific journals in favour of incorrect metaphorical shorthand, for example, a Research Highlight in the journal *Nature* titled "Nerve cells that carry pain signals" (73). Cohen et al. (31) call for "epistemic discipline" in the use of language and logic in pain medicine to prevent fallacies and misnomers such as reification of pain (treating pain as if it were a physical entity—a "concrete thing").

Neilson argues that the neuro-mechanistic model of pain drives a research agenda generating vast amounts of sophisticated biomedical data that " ... create[s] an illusion of vast medical knowledge that, to a significant degree, is metaphor-based" (1) p. 3., placing the power of authority to "police the door for pain remedies" to the medical sciences. Neilson states: "Mechanisms are emphasised in medical discourse. 'What is pain?' is a difficult question to answer, but opiate and GABA receptors can be identified, tested in experiments, and the results published in articles rich with schematics and diagrams. In this way, the simple is represented simply, demonstrating the secret and dangerous power of visual representations that avoid images of human beings in pain. Standing on the shoulders of schematics, medicine appears powerful and knowledgeable. Yet the schematics are metaphors which perpetuate themselves to the detriment of complex truth. Schematics are visual metaphors that limit understanding because of extreme simplicity." (1) p. 6.

Mechanistic metaphors pervade advertisements for pain treatments. Violet (74) analysed metaphors in commercials of pregabalin for fibromyalgia. A neuro-mechanistic metaphor reduced fibromyalgia to one symptom, pain, that travelled in a "wire", thus reducing the person with fibromyalgia to a body part (disembodied), and pain to a "pulsating scientific aesthetic". This is far from the realism of living with fibromyalgia. In addition, metaphors of "illness as a thief", "fear of isolation" and expectations of "normality" were used to evoke guilt and provoke a desire for pregabalin to aid a return to gendered domestic life before illness [for further discussion of how metaphor can stigmatize people see (75, 76)].

Biomedical orthodoxy and obstinate adherence to materialistic reductionist frameworks of the Standard Model of Physics may have constrained a more encompassing understanding of pain by focussing on deconstructing systems, organs, tissues, cells, molecules, and even subatomic particles at the expense of the "whole person". Conflating pain and nociception contribute to highly convergent research activity grounded in a "comfortable professional consensus", reinforced by attractive biomedical metaphors. There is no doubt that the mechanistic model of pain provides incredible insight into structures and processes but has not explained subjective experience; nor reduced the burden of persistent pain.

We have argued that metaphors used in pain language are negative, destructive and insidious and we advocate reconfiguration of pain metaphors towards constructive, holistic, and person-centred. This requires a paradigm shift away from a simplified biomechanistic pain metaphor toward a salutogenic pain metaphor, reflecting a richer understanding of biopsychosocial processes and subjective phenomenon, and informed by non-biomedical disciplines. Diligence in appropriate use of language and logic is critical to reduce fallacies and misnomers that result in suboptimal patient care and potential harm (31). We acknowledge that such a shift is likely to be very slow. Moreover, it is critical to balance the precision and utility of language used to convey pain concepts, especially when assisting conceptual understanding for the lay person in community-orientated education (77). In the next section, we appraise strategies being used to reconfigure pain language.

Reconfiguring metaphors used in pain language

Constructive pain metaphor

The need to adopt constructive metaphorical language that reflects contemporary understanding of pain experience has been acknowledged, e.g., "The malleable magic of metaphor" by Moseley and Butler (78). Moseley and Butler advocate societal strategies to adopt positive pain metaphors within a psychoeducational model that re-contextualizes pain from the primary metaphor "pain is damage" to "pain is protection". This spawns constructive metaphors such as "pain as a gift", "sore but safe", "hurt's not harm" and "pain is an alarm" (78, 79). "Pain is an alarm" and "Pain is a protector" have become dominant metaphors used in public health initiatives and by pain education providers to assist people reconceptualise pain, e.g., Live Well With Pain (www.livewellwithpain.co.uk), Pain Revolution (www. painrevolution.org), Flippin' Pain (www.flippinpain.co.uk), and Neuro Orthopaedic Institute Australasia (Noigroup, https://www. noigroup.com/).

Contemporary constructive metaphors concur with evolutionary theories that pain serves to warn of stimuli that cause potential or actual disruption to the integrity of the body, including stimuli that may hinder tissue healing achieved by making injured body parts "sensitive" (80, 81, 82). Pain commands attention and utilises cognitive resources to elicit behaviours that attempt to minimise physiological disruption to alleviate the pain. In situations where pain persists with no clear underlying condition or out of proportion to any observable injury or disease (primary chronic pain), metaphors of "alarm" and "protection" can be developed and stories created to assist understanding of sociopsycho-bio factors that influence pain and its persistence, e.g., "an oversensitive alarm" and "an overprotective brain" [see (83) for examples].

Metaphorical stories

Storytelling is an essential characteristic of human beings (84). Stories with metaphors that include visual and verbal cues are increasingly being used to aid health communication and literacy, e.g., in acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). The therapeutic effect of metaphor has been shown to improve when people imagine themselves as a protagonist of a metaphorical story compared with the story presented in the third person (85). Stones and Cole (86) developed a primary metaphor-based visualisation called the "bus of life". The person (reader) is described as on their "bus of life" when, one day, the pain got on as a passenger; the bus can be driven by the pain or by the reader. The "bus of life" metaphor enables a sustained and coherent "big picture" narrative of emotional qualities and meaning and can spawn secondary metaphors, e.g., "direction of travel". If pain drives the bus, a persistent "red Pain wheel", indicating a persistent pain cycle, is in control of the direction of travel,

whereas if the reader drives the bus, a persistent "green Gain wheel" is in control alluding to a virtuous circle (86).

Vilardaga et al. (87) offers other examples of storylines:

- The Football Player and the Robbery Victim to Pain: To describe 3 distinct features of chronic pain, i.e., personal relevance, complexity, and unpredictability of pain—to address hopelessness and lack of connectedness to others.
- Life Navigation System and The Fog of Pain: To introduce the importance of identifying and reconnecting with personal values—to address values clarification and behavioural activation and change.
- Life Rhythms: To introduce the mechanics of behaviour change and the importance of consistent rates of behaviour—to address pacing and behavioural momentum.

Metaphorical images

Padfield (88) reported the benefits of using visual metaphors to facilitate dialogue in clinical consultations. Patients selected a photographic image, from an assortment, that best represented their pain experience, enabling a "shared narrative space" for practitioner and patient to negotiate the meaning of pain. Padfield et al. have found that metaphoric images catalyse memories of experiences to construct meaning, increase disclosure of emotional information from the patient and increase empathetic engagement from the clinician (88, 89, 90).

Stilwell et al. (91) created five paintings of pain-related metaphors from a study of sense-making of pain during communication between patient and clinician. The paintings were then used to catalyse deeper levels of reflection on the language, action, meaning, and experience of pain. This process revealed how practitioners may accidently reinforce overprotection through inadvertent use of threatening metaphors, thus, increasing pain and disability. Stilwell called for practitioners to be sensitive to how pain-related metaphors are used, reinforced, and reconceptualised when co-constructing meanings of pain for patients.

Evidence of benefit and harm

There is a paucity of research that evaluates the efficacy of therapeutic metaphor using randomised controlled clinical trial (RCT) methodology, and we failed to find any systematic reviews of RCTs specifically evaluating therapeutic metaphor for pain. A small study by Bahremand et al. (92) found that metaphor therapy (n = 10) was inferior to relaxation training (n = 13) at alleviating pain and beliefs of hopelessness in patients with non-cardiac chest pain. Metaphor therapy was delivered in four x 2-hour sessions using two metaphoric stories designed to challenge existing beliefs, followed by discussions about the connection between the metaphoric story and the medical condition, with instructions to mentally rehearse the metaphors daily.

Gallagher et al. (93) found that delivering pain education material through metaphor and story (i.e., via a book of

metaphors) assisted reconceptualization of pain and reduced catastrophizing for at least three months when delivered as a precursor to other interventions that target functional capacity. A mixed-methods systematic review of 12 RCTs (n = 755 participants) and four qualitative studies (n = 50 participants) by Watson et al. (94) demonstrated that allowing patients to tell their pain stories was a key component of success for pain science education. However, Louw et al. (95) found that overall messages of reconceptualising pain were more important than any individual story or metaphor.

A systematic review of six qualitative studies by Stewart and Ryan (96) offers indirect evidence that metaphors help people fashion meaning to pain and this assists expression of pain experience to others. Four therapeutic themes emerged for the value of metaphors for people with pain:

- Expression (relief in finding a way of expressing pain)
- Connection (repairing connections between a sense of self and culture and society)
- Understanding (to make sense of pain experience)
- Control (to express a need to regain control of life with pain).

There was insufficient evidence from the qualitative studies to judge whether the use of metaphor affected pain, function, sleep, or mood, although findings suggested that metaphors improved knowledge and understanding, communication, self-efficacy, resilience, empowerment, and behavioural change.

The possibility of adverse effects associated with the use of therapeutic metaphors has been overlooked in trials to date. Thus, evaluations of the benefits and harms of therapeutic metaphors are needed to inform their value and utility in clinical practice.

Future directions

Concerns have been expressed that the biopsychosocial model of pain perpetuates a reductionist approach, creating artificial boundaries between biological, psychological, and social dimensions, fragmenting a person's sense of coherence, and lived experience of pain (91, 97). Carefully crafted metaphors have potential to reconstruct a person's sense of coherence. Advances in phenomenology and cognitive sciences suggest that sensemaking emerges from relational processes distributed across the brain-body-environment providing opportunities to develop metaphors to capture and integrate contextual factors in sensemaking of embodied and embedded aspects of pain experience in clinical and non-clinical settings.

A role for enactive metaphors?

Enactivism is a theory for sense-making grounded in the idea that people are embodied and action-oriented beings. Enactivism is defined as "... a relational and emergent process of sensemaking through a lived body that is inseparable from the world that we shape and that shapes us." (98) p. 637. Enactive metaphors bring metaphors into existence through actions. Metaphors are expressed *via* movement such as play to facilitate the embodiment of the metaphor through "full-body engagement". Thus, enactive metaphors could aid the conceptualisation, construction, and internalisation of positive meanings of pain.

Enactive metaphors to conceptualise pain

Stilwell et al. advocate the use of enactive metaphors to assist conceptualisation of pain through the lens of "metaphordances"-connecting enactivism to a more dynamic view of metaphor (91, 98, 99). Metaphordance encompasses possibilities available to a person for action ("landscape of affordances") specific to a person's body and experience ("field of affordances") and life-stage and socio-cultural practices (affordance space). Stilwell et al., argue that the landscape of affordances created by society and the healthcare system constrains the field of affordances available to a person living with pain, where agency is already restricted. Thus, activities utilising enactive metaphors have the potential to open up a person's affordances, providing opportunities to conceptualise a more encompassing understanding of pain, providing opportunities to assist people on a "healing journey".

Enactive metaphors to assist health and wellbeing

Metaphors used in patient consultation, education and rehabilitation are usually delivered by verbal dialogue where the learner "thinks through" mappings from source to target domain, and as a consequence are static, passive and disembodied, i.e., "sitting metaphors" (24). In contrast, enactive metaphors use actions to put metaphors into existence, i.e., acting out understanding as conveyed in the metaphor. Enactive metaphors, delivered via activities such as play-acting or moving in a particular way to facilitate the embodiment of the metaphor through "full-body engagement", reinforce learning through embodied action and help to shape how a person makes sense of their world (24). Enactive metaphors may be particularly relevant in the rehabilitation of people with persistent pain where movement and exercise are core elements of treatment, it fosters active engagement and interaction via embodied clinician-patient interaction.

Modern technologies using virtual and augmented realities that merge real and virtual worlds have been used to improve movement in people with fear-avoidance of pain [e.g., immersive dodgeball (100)] and to facilitate movement of artificial limbs using performance feedback [e.g., augmented reality driving of motor vehicles for phantom limb pain (101)]. Such technologies have the potential to bring enactive metaphors to life by integrating perceptions and movements to catalyse learning through body cueing (102). Gallagher and Lindgren provide evidence of the potential of enactive metaphors combined with modern technologies, including virtual reality environments to improve learning in educational settings (24). The use of motion sensing, haptic feedback, and digital imagery can augment movement activities to reinforce enactive metaphors so that the learner becomes part of the system they are trying to understand (24). Examples include expressing pain through metaphorical movement, or metaphorical sound, and conceptualising pain through enabling an inside-the-body perspective.

We have used enactive metaphors in artist-led workshops to co-create stories of living with persistent pain via creative movement, resulting in improvements in health, well-being and quality of life (103). Community-based pain services that connect people living with persistent pain to pain education and community-based activities, such as artist-lead workshops, may provide opportunities not only for the use of enactive metaphors, but also for holistic support of a person's physical, mental, social and environmental needs. An example of such a service is Rethinking Pain, Bradford and Craven, England (https:// rethinkingpain.org/).

Beyond biomedical metaphors

Constructive metaphorical language reflecting contemporary understanding of pain that extends beyond a neuro-mechanistic lens is continuously growing through pain education initiatives by public and privately owned providers. Here, we demonstrate how pain metaphors can be reconfigured to assist people in pain acceptance:

- Pain as a journey: Instead of "Fighting pain" consider "Navigating pain" or "Every day is a different path on my pain journey".
- Pain as weather: Instead of "Pain is a thunderstorm of suffering" consider "Pain is like a cloud, sometimes dark and looming, but eventually moving on" or "Just as there are rainy days, I have painful days, and like rain eventually pain will pass with time".
- Pain as a teacher: Instead of "Pain is like school, restricting my freedom" consider "Pain teaches me resilience" or "Every flareup is a lesson in understanding my body".
- Pain as waves: Instead of "Shooting pain is a tsunami of suffering" consider "Pain comes in waves, sometimes big, sometimes small. I ride them as they come" or "Like a surfer, I'm learning to ride the waves of pain".
- Pain as a companion: Instead of "Pain engulfs my entire being" consider "Pain is a part of me, not the whole me" or "My pain is a companion on this journey, but not the driver".
- Pain as a window-pane: Instead of "Pain has shattered my entire life" consider "Pain is like a window-pane; sometimes clear, sometimes fogged, but always providing a perspective" or "Like a cracked window-pane, pain distorts but doesn't fully block the view".

We recommend "*The malleable magic of metaphor*" by Moseley and Butler (78) for a synopsis of the development of constructive pain metaphor.

We advocate the development of metaphors mirroring modern concepts of embodied and embedded pain that utilise notions from non-biomedical disciplines (104). This provides opportunities for new perspectives and paradigm shift. For example, informational or quantum metaphors might better resonate with the subjective nature of pain, offering a less rigid objectivity. For instance, quantum superposition, where particles exist in multiple states, can be likened to patients observing all their life's temporal moments as "now". We have used this perspective to develop a framework called Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN), showcasing how some people may become "ensnared" by their temporal perception of pain (105). We believe that our PAIN framework offers practitioners a chance to use quantum metaphors to help patients reframe their pain experiences. For instance, suggesting "pain arrives from the past" might prompt patients to reconsider their past experiences in their present, possibly liberating them from their previously "fixed time-lines"—a concept in time travel theories where events are predetermined and unchangeable as an outcome.

Summary and conclusion

In summary, we offer examples of the insidious nature of pain metaphors contributing to painogenicity in society. Metaphors link pain experience personal to oneself, to entities and events in the external world. This enables people to make sense of their own pain and to share the private world of their pain with others. Pain conversation steeped in warmongering and destructive pathoanatomical metaphor is, in some instances, detrimental to recovery. Thus, we advocate reconfiguring pain language towards constructive metaphors that encourages society to adopt a salutogenic view of pain that focuses on health and well-being.

We demonstrated that metaphors are more than figurative language; metaphors are fundamental tools for conceptual mapping, i.e., the way people think. Being cognisant of the pervasive use of metaphor provides an appreciation of their use in explanatory models of pain and assists development of accurate conceptual understanding and healthier language. Explanatory models built on neuro-mechanistic metaphor contribute to fallacies and misnomers about pain and has prejudiced research towards biomedical detail underpinning nociception, in the hope of eradicating pain by "preventing pain transmission [sic]". This has been at the expense of research on the lived experience of pain and has constrained the exploration of non-medicalised strategies for recovery, especially for persistent pain.

In conclusion, it is a metaphorical battle—literally! Metaphors are the building blocks of conceptual understanding and have created the framework on which the science of pain is based. Metaphors spread as memes (i.e., ideas, behavior, or styles that pass from one individual to another by imitation) for acceptance in the societal narrative, constraining diverse thinking and possible alternatives. In the book The Meme Machine, Blackmore states:

"Memes spread themselves around indiscriminately without regard to whether they are useful, neutral, or positively harmful to us." p.7 (106).

Metaphorical memes of warmongering, damage and mechanistic explanatory models gained access to the pain lexicon many centuries ago and still dominate the public understanding of the persistence of pain. Moving towards a broader eco-sociopsychological understanding of pain persistence [e.g., an ecology of wholeness view (107)] requires compelling and intuitive constructive metaphors that out-compete metaphors dominating modern-day parlance. This vocabulary-based escape route from a biomedically dominated understanding of pain offers new avenues to explore the persistence of pain within a salutogenic framework of health and well-being.

Campaigns to promote the use of positive and constructive metaphors in commercial adverts of pain interventions in corporate and social media are urgently needed. Moreover, as pain transcends all healthcare disciplines, we advocate curricula that develop the knowledge and skills needed to employ positive pain metaphors by healthcare professionals. We hope that this article catalyses debate and reflection on the sinister nature of pain metaphor, to improve conceptual understanding of pain and to purposefully promote living well with and without pain.

Author contributions

MJ conceptualised the article and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press. CR is a named inventor on a patent for a sensory discrimination training

References

1. Neilson S. Pain as metaphor: metaphor and medicine. *Med Humanit*. (2016) 42 (1):3–10. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2015-010672

2. Lakoff G, Johnson M. *Metaphors we live by*. London: University of Chicago Press (1980).

3. Lakoff G. The contemporary theory of metaphor. Metaphor and thought. In: Ortony A, editors. *Metaphor and thought*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1993). p. 202–51.

4. Whorf BL. Language, thought, and reality: Selected writings of Benjamin Lee Whorf. Eastford, Connecticut: Martino Fine Books (2011).

5. Sapir E. The unconscious patterning of behavior in society. In: Child CM, Koffka K, Anderson JE, Watson JB, Sapir E, Thomas WI, editors. *The unconscious: a symposium*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf (1927). p. 114–42.

6. Fabrega H Jr. Language, culture and the neurobiology of pain: a theoretical exploration. *Behav Neurol.* (1989) 2(4):235-60. doi: 10.3233/BEN-1989-2405

7. Boroditsky L. How language shapes thought. Sci Am. (2011) 304(2):62–5. doi: 10. 1038/scientificamerican0211-62

8. Thibodeau PH, Hendricks RK, Boroditsky L. How linguistic metaphor scaffolds reasoning. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2017) 21(11):852–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.07.001

9. Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

10. Johnson MI. The landscape of chronic pain: broader perspectives. *Medicina (Kaunas)*. (2019) 55(5):182. doi: 10.3390/medicina55050182

based medical device which could be used in the management of persistent pain conditions. He is also the community pain champion for the Flippin PainTM campaign which is run by Connect Health Ltd. The consultancy fees for this role go directly to Teesside University, CR receives no personal income for this role. He has received research funding from a number of commercial and non-commercial bodies including: NIHR, Innovate UK, Medtronics Ltd., MediDirect Ltd., 2PD Ltd., The Higher Education Academy, and The Health Foundation. Professional, corporate, and scientific bodies have reimbursed him for expenses related to presentation of research on pain and rehabilitation at conferences/symposia. He has received speaker fees for presentations on pain and rehabilitation.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Lisa Mcloughlin, Co-founder, Mind Help Limited and Carole Paley for providing constructive feedback of drafts of the manuscript.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. *Pain.* (2018) 159 (12):2421-36. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401

12. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:1000170. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

13. Mittelmark M, Bauer G. The meanings of salutogenesis. In: Mittelmark M, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer G, Pelikan J, Lindström B, et al. editors. *The handbook of salutogenesis 2017*. Cham, CH: Springer (2016). p. 7–13.

14. Antonovsky A. Health stress and coping. San Francisco, US: Jossey-Bass inc (1979).

15. Hochwälder J. Sense of coherence: notes on some challenges for future research. Sage Open. (2019) 9:1–8. doi: 10.1177/2158244019846687

16. Eriksson M, Lindstrom B. A salutogenic interpretation of the Ottawa charter. *Health Promot Int.* (2008) 23(2):190–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dan014

17. Gaudet T. Cultural transformation to a whole health system: lessons learned. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:2164957X221091452. doi: 10.1177/216495722 1091452

18. Jonas WB, Eisenberg D, Hufford D, Crawford C. The evolution of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) in the USA over the last 20 years. *Forsch Komplementmed*. (2013) 20(1):65–72. doi: 10.1159/000348284

19. Oliveira CC. Suffering and salutogenesis. *Health Promot Int.* (2015) 30(2):222–7. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dau061

20. Nie JB, Gilbertson A, de Roubaix M, Staunton C, van Niekerk A, Tucker JD, et al. Healing without waging war: beyond military metaphors in medicine and HIV cure research. *Am J Bioeth.* (2016) 16(10):3–11. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2016. 1214305

21. Lucas DW. Aristotle poetics. Oxford: Clarendon Press (1968).

22. Lea D, Bradbery L. Oxford Advanced learner's dictionary. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2020). [20 March 2023]. Available from: https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/english/metaphor#:~:text=%E2%80%8Ba% 20word%20or%20phrase,of%20such%20words%20and%20phrases

23. Madsen MW. Cognitive metaphor theory and the metaphysics of immediacy. Cogn Sci. (2016) 40(4):881–908. doi: 10.1111/cogs.12320

24. Gallagher S, Lindgren R. Enactive metaphors: learning through full-body engagement. *Educ Psychol Rev.* (2015) 27:391–404. doi: 10.1007/s10648-015-9327-1

25. Lakoff G. Mapping the brain's metaphor circuitry: metaphorical thought in everyday reason. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:958. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00958

26. Ricoeur P. Creativity in language: word, polysemy, metaphor. *Philosophy Today*. (1973) 17:1.

27. Clarke A, Anthony G, Gray D, Jones D, McNamee P, Schofield P, et al. I feel so stupid because I can't give a proper answer..." how older adults describe chronic pain: a qualitative study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2012) 12:78. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-12-78

28. Nortvedt F, Engelsrud G. "Imprisoned" in pain: analyzing personal experiences of phantom pain. *Med Health Care Philos*. (2014) 17(4):599–608. doi: 10.1007/s11019-014-9555-z

29. Biro D. The language of pain: finding words, compassion and relief. New York: W.W. Norton & Company Ltd (2010).

30. Bourke J. Pain: metaphor, body, and culture in anglo-American societies between the eighteenth and twentieth centuries. *Rethink Hist.* (2014) 18(4):475–98. doi: 10.1080/13642529.2014.893660

31. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. *J Pain.* (2022) 23(8):1283-93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235

32. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Response to van Rysewyk S and Moseley GL et al.'s comments on Cohen et al. J Pain 2022; 23(8):1283-1293. J Pain. (2023) 24 (1):184–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.11.003

33. Weisman A, Quintner J, Galbraith M, Masharawi Y. Why are assumptions passed off as established knowledge? *Med Hypotheses*. (2020) 140:109693. doi: 10. 1016/j.mehy.2020.109693

34. Bourke J. The story of pain. From prayers to painkillers. New York, USA: Oxford University Press (2014).

35. Semino E. Descriptions of pain, metaphor and embodied simulation. *Metaphor Symb.* (2010) 25(4):205–26. doi: 10.1080/10926488.2010.510926

36. Shinebourne P, Smith JA. The communicative power of metaphors: an analysis and interpretation of metaphors in accounts of the experience of addiction. *Psychol Psychother*. (2010) 83(1):59–73. doi: 10.1348/147608309X468077

37. McFarland L, Barlow J, Turner A. Understanding metaphor to facilitate emotional expression during a chronic disease self-management course. *Patient Educ Couns.* (2009) 77(2):255–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2009.03.024

38. Munday I, Newton-John T, Kneebone I. Clinician experience of metaphor in chronic pain communication. *Scand J Pain.* (2022). 23(1):88–96. PMID: 35920187. doi: 10.1515/sjpain-2022-0043

39. Díaz Vera JE. When pain is not a place: pain and its metaphors in late middle English medical texts. *Onomázein*. (2012) 26(2):279–308. doi: 10.7764/onomazein.26. 10 (Accessed September 8, 2023).

40. Cohen E. *The modulated scream: pain in late medieval culture.* London: University of Chicago Press Ltd (2010). 384.

41. Bourke J. Pain, sympathy and the medical encounter between the mid eighteenth and the mid twentieth centuries. *Hist Res.* (2012) 85(229):430–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2281.2011.00593.x

42. Munday I, Newton-John T, Kneebone I. 'Barbed wire wrapped around my feet': metaphor use in chronic pain. *Br J Health Psychol.* (2020) 25(3):814–30. doi: 10.1111/ bjhp.12432

43. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised international association for the study of pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain*. (2020) 161(9):1976–82. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939

44. Beecher HK. Anesthesia for men wounded in battle. Ann Surg. (1945) 122 (5):807–19. doi: 10.1097/0000658-194511000-00004

45. Fisher J, Hassan D, O' Connor N. Minerva. Br Med J. (1995) 310:70. doi: 10. 1136/bmj.310.6971.70

46. Bayer TL, Baer PE, Early C. Situational and psychophysiological factors in psychologically induced pain. *Pain.* (1991) 44(1):45–50. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(91) 90145-N

47. Castro WH, Meyer SJ, Becke ME, Nentwig CG, Hein MF, Ercan BI, et al. No stress-no whiplash? Prevalence of "whiplash" symptoms following exposure to a

placebo rear-End collision. Int J Legal Med. (2001) 114(6):316-22. doi: 10.1007/ s004140000193

48. Lane HP, McLachlan S, Philip J. The war against dementia: are we battle weary yet? Age Ageing. (2013) 42(3):281–3. doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft011

49. Wiggins NM. Stop using military metaphors for disease. Br Med J. (2012) 345: e4706. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e4706

50. McCartney M. The fight is on: military metaphors for cancer may harm patients. Br Med J. (2014) 349:g5155. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g5155

51. Eccleston C, Crombez G. Worry and chronic pain: a misdirected problem solving model. *Pain.* (2007) 132(3):233-6. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.09.014

52. Corkhill B. Pain signals and other bad language. In: Wemyss-Gorman P, editors. *Innovative approaches to chronic pain*. London and Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley Publishers (2021). p. 119–32.

53. Scarry E. The body in pain: the making and unmaking of the world. USA: Oxford University Press (1985).

54. Barbiero G, Berto R. Biophilia as evolutionary adaptation: an onto- and phylogenetic framework for biophilic design. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:700709. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.700709

55. Halliburton M. "Just some spirits": the erosion of spirit possession and the rise of "tension" in south India. *Med Anthropol.* (2005) 24(2):111-44. doi: 10.1080/01459740590933849

56. Halliburton M. Hegemony versus pluralism: Ayurveda and the movement for global mental health. *Anthropol Med.* (2023) 30(2):85–102. doi: 10.1080/13648470. 2020.1785842

57. Halliburton M. Finding a fit: psychiatric pluralism in south India and its implications for who studies of mental disorder. *Transcult Psychiatry*. (2004) 41 (1):80–98. doi: 10.1177/1363461504041355

58. Halliburton M. Rethinking anthropological studies of the body: manas and bodham in kerala. *Am Antropol.* (2002) 104(4):1123–34. doi: 10.1525/aa.2002.104.4. 1123

59. Fromm E. The anatomy of human destructiveness. London: Pimlico (1997).

60. Lenton TM, Dutreuil S, Latour B. Life on earth is hard to spot. Anthr Rev. (2020) 7:248-72. doi: 10.1177/2053019620918939

61. Shneidman ES. Suicide as psychache. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1993) 181(3):145-7. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199303000-00001

62. Sheldrake R. The science delusion. London: Hodder & Stoughton Ltd (2020).

63. Wall PD. The gate control theory of pain mechanisms. A re-examination and re-statement. *Brain.* (1978) 101(1):1–18. doi: 10.1093/brain/101.1.1

64. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science. (1965) 150 (3699):971–9. doi: 10.1126/science.150.3699.971

65. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):1–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

66. Sik D. Power from indirect pain: a historical phenomenology of medical pain management. *Cont Philos Rev.* (2021) 54:41–59. doi: 10.1007/s11007-020-09518-5

67. Bendelow G. Chronic pain patients and the biomedical model of pain. Virtual Mentor. (2013) 15(5):455–9. doi: 10.1001/virtualmentor.2013.15.5.msoc1-1305

68. Corns J. The complex reality of pain. London: Routledge (2022)

69. Coninx S. The notorious neurophilosophy of pain: a family resemblance approach to idiosyncrasy and generalizability. *Mind Lang.* (2023) 38(1):178–97. doi: 10.1111/mila.12378

70. Zhang W, Lyu M, Bessman NJ, Xie Z, Arifuzzaman M, Yano H, et al. Gutinnervating nociceptors regulate the intestinal microbiota to promote tissue protection. *Cell.* (2022) 185(22):4170–89 e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.09.008

71. Panteleev SS, Sivachenko IB, Lyubashina OA. The buspirone-dependent abdominal pain transmission within the nucleus tractus solitarius in the rat. *Neuroscience.* (2021) 452:326–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2020.11.032

72. Xu Q, Ford NC, He S, Huang Q, Anderson M, Chen Z, et al. Astrocytes contribute to pain gating in the spinal cord. *Sci Adv.* (2021) 7(45):eabi6287. doi: 10. 1126/sciadv.abi6287

73. Nature. The surprise saviours of the gut: the neurons that sense pain. *Nature*. (2022) 611:12. doi: 10.1038/d41586-022-03320-4

74. Violet TK. Constructing the gendered risk of illness in lyrica ads for fibromyalgia: fear of isolation as a motivating narrative for consumer demand. *J Med Humanit*. (2022) 43(1):55–64. PMID: 31475311. doi: 10.1007/s10912-019-09575-9

75. Clow B. Who's afraid of Susan Sontag? Or, the myths and metaphors of cancer reconsidered. Soc Hist Med. (2001) 14(2):293–312. doi: 10.1093/shm/14.2.293

76. Sontag S. Illness as metaphor. New York City, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux (1978).

77. Moseley GL, Pearson N, Reezigt R, Madden VJ, Hutchinson MR, Dunbar M, et al. Considering precision and utility when we talk about pain. Comment on Cohen et al. J Pain. (2023) 24(1):178–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2022.05.010

78. Moseley GL, Butler DS. The malleable magic of metaphor. In: Moseley GL, Butler DS, editors. *Explain pain supercharged the clinician's manual*. Adelaide, Australia: Noigroup Publications (2017). p. 143–67.

79. Butler DS, Moseley GL. Explain pain. Adelaide: Noigroup Publications (2013).

80. Williams AC. What can evolutionary theory tell US about chronic pain? *Pain.* (2016) 157(4):788–90. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000464

81. Price TJ, Dussor G. Evolution: the advantage of 'maladaptive' pain plasticity. *Curr Biol.* (2014) 24(10):R384–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.04.011

82. Walters ET, Williams ACC. Evolution of mechanisms and behaviour important for pain. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2019) 374(1785):20190275. doi: 10.1098/ rstb.2019.0275

83. Moseley GL. Painful yarns: metaphors and stories to help understand the biology of pain. Canberra: Dancing Giraffe Press (2010).

84. Storr W. The science of stroytelling. London: Williams Collins (2019).

85. Ramirez ES, Ruiz FJ, Pena-Vargas A, Bernal PA. Empirical investigation of the verbal cues involved in delivering experiential metaphors. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18(20):10630. PMID: 34682375; PMCID: PMC8535567. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph182010630

86. Stones C, Cole F. Breaking the cycle: extending the persistent pain cycle diagram using an affective pictorial metaphor. *Health Commun.* (2014) 29(1):32–40. doi: 10. 1080/10410236.2012.715537

87. Vilardaga R, Davies PS, Vowles KE, Sullivan MD. Theoretical grounds of pain tracker self manager: an acceptance and commitment therapy digital intervention for patients with chronic pain. *J Contextual Behav Sci.* (2020) 15:172–80. doi: 10. 1016/j.jcbs.2020.01.001

88. Padfield D, Zakrzewska JM, Williams AC. Do photographic images of pain improve communication during pain consultations? *Pain Res Manag.* (2015) 20 (3):123-8. doi: 10.1155/2015/145964

89. Padfield D, Omand H, Semino E, Williams ACC, Zakrzewska JM. Images as catalysts for meaning-making in medical pain encounters: a multidisciplinary analysis. *Med Humanit.* (2018) 44(2):74–81. doi: 10.1136/ medhum-2017-011415

90. Padfield D, Janmohamed F, Zakrzewska JM, Pither C, Hurwitz B. A slippery surface...can photographic images of pain improve communication in pain consultations? *Int J Surg.* (2010) 8(2):144–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2009.11.014

91. Stilwell P, Stilwell C, Sabo B, Harman K. Painful metaphors: enactivism and art in qualitative research. *Med Humanit.* (2021) 47:235–47. doi: 10.1136/medhum-2020-011874

92. Bahremand M, Moradi G, Saeidi M, Mohammadi S, Komasi S. Reducing irrational beliefs and pain severity in patients suffering from non-cardiac chest pain (Nccp): a comparison of relaxation training and metaphor therapy. *Korean J Pain.* (2015) 28(2):88–95. doi: 10.3344/kjp.2015.28.2.88

93. Gallagher L, McAuley J, Moseley GL. A randomized-controlled trial of using a book of metaphors to reconceptualize pain and decrease catastrophizing in people with chronic pain. *Clin J Pain*. (2013) 29(1):20–5. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182465cf7

94. Watson JA, Ryan CG, Cooper L, Ellington D, Whittle R, Lavender M, et al. Pain neuroscience education for adults with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a mixed-methods systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pain.* (2019) 20(10):1140 e1–e22. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2019.02.011

95. Louw A, Puentedura EJ, Diener I, Zimney KJ, Cox T. Pain neuroscience education: which pain neuroscience education metaphor worked best? *S Afr J Physiother*. (2019) 75(1):1329. doi: 10.4102/sajp.v75i1.1329

96. Stewart M, Ryan S-J. Do metaphors have therapeutic value for people in pain? a systematic review pain and rehabilitation. J Physio Pain Assoc. (2019) 2020(48):10–23.

97. Sullivan MD, Sturgeon JA, Lumley MA, Ballantyne JC. Reconsidering fordyce's classic article, "Pain and suffering: what is the unit?" to help make our model of chronic pain truly biopsychosocial. *Pain.* (2023) 164(2):271–9. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002748

98. Stilwell P, Harman K. An enactive approach to pain: beyond the biopsychosocial model. *Phenomenol Cogn Sci.* (2019) 18:637–65. doi: 10.1007/s11097-019-09624-7

99. Cormack B, Stilwell P, Coninx S, Gibson J. The biopsychosocial model is lost in translation: from misrepresentation to an enactive modernization. *Physiother Theory Pract.* (2022) 28:1–16. PMID: 35645164. doi: 10.1080/09593985.2022.2080130 [Epub ahead of print].

100. Thomas JS, France CR, Applegate ME, Leitkam ST, Walkowski S. Feasibility and safety of a virtual reality dodgeball intervention for chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. J Pain. (2016) 17(12):1302–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.08.011

101. Ortiz-Catalan M, Sander N, Kristoffersen MB, Hakansson B, Branemark R. Treatment of phantom limb pain (PLP) based on augmented reality and gaming controlled by myoelectric pattern recognition: a case study of a chronic PLP patient. *Front Neurosci.* (2014) 8:24. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00024

102. Lindgren R, Tscholl M, Wang S, Johnson E. Enhancing learning and engagement through embodied interaction within a mixed reality simulation. *Comput Educ.* (2016) 95:174–87. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2016.01.001

103. Johnson MI, Chazot P, Cole F, Cruickshank R, Fuller D, Keyse C, et al. Pain through the perspective of art and creativity: insights from the unmasking pain project. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne).* (2023) 4:1179116. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1179116

104. Tabor A, Keogh E, Eccleston C. Embodied pain-negotiating the boundaries of possible action. *Pain.* (2017) 158(6):1007–11. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000875

105. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN): perspectives on the impact of temporal language on the persistence of pain. *Front Pain Res.* (2023). doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

106. Blackmore S. The meme machine. Oxford: Oxford University Press (1999).

107. Agarwal V. Medical humanism, chronic illness, and the body in pain: an ecology of wholeness. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books (2020). 328.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sayyed Mohsen Fatemi, York University, Canada

REVIEWED BY Sara Berger, IBM Research, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 22 June 2023 ACCEPTED 24 August 2023 PUBLISHED 18 September 2023

CITATION

Hudson M and Johnson MI (2023) Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN): perspectives on the impact of temporal language on the persistence of pain. Front. Pain Res. 4:1244390. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1244390

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hudson and Johnson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN): perspectives on the impact of temporal language on the persistence of pain

Matt Hudson^{1,2} and Mark I. Johnson^{1*}

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Mind Help Limited, Durham, United Kingdom

Persistent pain is a significant healthcare issue, often unresponsive to traditional treatments. We argue for incorporating non-biomedical perspectives in understanding pain, promoting more comprehensive solutions. This article explores how language, specifically time-related terms, may affect the persistence (stickiness) of pain. We delve into how language influences one's experience of the world, especially in understanding pain through spatial metaphors. Notably, time perceptions differ across languages and cultures and there is no absolute construct of temporal pain experience. In English, time is viewed linearly as past, present, and future. We introduce a framework called Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN) which includes various temporal phases of pain; Past Perfect, Past Imperfect, Present, Future Imperfect, and Future Perfect. We suggest that past negative memories (emotional memory images) can "trap" individuals in a "sticky" pain state. We speculate that the process of diagnosing pain as "chronic" may solidify this "stickiness", drawing from the ancient Greek idea of "logos", where pain communicates a message across time and space needing recognition. Our PAIN framework encourages examining pain through a temporal lens, guiding individuals towards a more positive future.

KEYWORDS

pain, persistent pain, linguistic relativity, temporal language, linguistics, emotional memory image (EMI)

Introduction

In this article, we explore the influence of temporal (time-based) language on the persistence (stickiness) of pain (1). Although the study of language and pain is not new, we hope to add a novel perspective by appraising the temporality of pain language through the lens of linguistic relativity (2-4), i.e., how language shapes a person's lived experience. We argue that the Sapir-Whorf hypothesis that a person's perception and construction of experience is determined by the structure of their native language and culture, is of critical relevance to the subjectivity of a person's pain (5-7). The words used to represent time, place, space and experience are intricate representations of complex systems of language, and therefore a person's use of the word "pain" may not necessarily resemble their actual experience of pain (8). We model pain experience onto a novel framework termed Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN) to consider how temporal language may promote pain persistence by trapping a person within the health practitioner's time frame of recovery, not their own. We explain how the notion of Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN) comprising a Past Perfect, Past Imperfect, Present

(now), Future Imperfect and Future Perfect may assist pain practitioners in reconfiguring temporal language to accelerate healing and recovery.

Temporality and mental models of reality

Time is a fundamental human experience and a construct of conceptual thinking. Philosophically, debates exist between presentism (only the present moment exists) and eternalism (past, present, and future coexist) (9). In the theory of general relativity, time refers to a dimension intertwined with space. In biology, time is a variable associated with growth, ageing, and circadian rhythms. In psychology, time is considered a perceptual experience of duration, order, and intervals between events, resulting in a subjective experience of "the passage of time". Thus, time may be considered a physical thing (objective) and/or a psychological construct (subjective), and malleable in both instances.

Temporality and language

Language, using linguistic symbols such as words, enables humans to communicate information about abstract thoughts and ideas, and objects and events in the external environment (8). A person's "lifeworld" denotes a person's subjective construction of reality formed within their life circumstances (10), and metaphoric language appears to be critical in shaping perceptions of reality and subjective experience (2–4). People who speak different languages attend to and encode different aspects of the world and think and perceive different features from similar situations; this affects how a person constructs and experiences their reality within the conditions and circumstances of the situation (11, 12). Thus, a person's lifeworld may be malleable through the reconfiguration of their language narrative.

Humans learn a vocabulary of time (temporal language) during physiological development. In English, temporal language maps into the nature of experience, including pain, using a *horizontal* framework as past, present and future. However, people from different linguistic backgrounds conceptualise time using different domains, e.g., horizontal-vertical, left-right, front-back, East-West, distance-quantity, stationary-moving, and limitedopen ended (12, 13).

In English language, linguistic constructions for time and space overlap, using metaphors that locate events on a horizontal mental timeline, i.e., front-back metaphors of the future being in front ("looking forward") and the past being behind ("looking back") (14). However, in the Andes language of Aymara, future events are framed as behind and past events in front (15). In Mandarin, time and order may be described using a vertical metaphorical construct of up and down, e.g., shàng (up) instead of last and xià (down) instead of next (11, 16). For English speakers, who write from left to right mental timelines are represented on a left (before/past)-right (after/future) axis, but this is reversed for languages writing right to left, e.g., Arabic and Hebrew. Thus, time is represented in different ways in different languages and in accordance with common spatial metaphors used in the respective language (17). Health practitioners should be mindful of language (conceptual) and cultural diversity when discussing the time course of pain with non-English speakers. In the remainder of this article, we will focus on temporality from the perspective of the English language.

Temporality of pain experience

The intersection between time and pain is typically experienced in a relational context, which is to say, in relation to something else. This might involve contrasting the intensity or quality of pain across different points in time, or it may involve comparing pain within a specific duration but in correlation to another factor. A person's lifeworld is in continuous flow, whereby each thought influences the next moment. Adams describes "timescapes" as a lens through which humans understand their lifeworld, and temporal relations with the world can rupture when a person's relationship with themselves or others in their world changes, for example, through episodes of pain associated with physical trauma (18, 19). When this happens sense making needs to be rebuilt to differentiate cause from effect and this offers future directions that are plausible based on an understanding of the past and present (18, 19). From this perspective, a person's experience of pain can be shaped not only by their personal temporal understanding but also through the interaction with the temporal experiences of others within the same culture (20). This suggests that changes in the language relating to time and pain might have effects that reach beyond the individual, potentially impacting a group-level experience. This is due to the nature of pain, which is inherently social and relational. Thus, the influence of shared temporal experiences must be considered alongside individual factors in understanding and managing pain (21).

Temporal language is the process of time-framing events in sentences using transitional words and phrases that indicate the order, direction, and flow of ideas, meaning, context or events. Transitional words and phrases that function to define, limit, and restrict time (temporal connectives) tell the listener or reader *when* something (an action) is happening and enable the meaning and context of information to flow. Common examples include first, second, now, then, before, after, later, eventually, finally, to begin with, in a moment, and suddenly.

Grammar is the system and structure of a language. In traditional English grammar, tenses are used to reference time, i.e., a tense is the arrangement of a verb that enables the expression of time. Verb tenses describe something happening now (present), had happened (past), or will happen (future) and comprise the following forms (aspects): Simple, Continuous (Progressive), Perfect, Perfect Continuous (Perfect Progressive). A perfect tense refers to completed actions or states, and a continuous (imperfect) tense describes incomplete actions or states that are continuous or repeated (e.g., "was doing"). Thus, twelve basic English tenses arise:

- Present Simple, Present Continuous, Present Perfect, Present Perfect Continuous
- Past Simple, Past Continuous, Past Perfect, Past Perfect Continuous
- Future Simple, Future Continuous, Future Perfect, Future Perfect Continuous

Perfect (completed) and imperfect (continuous) aspects of tenses offer supplementary steps within a person's structure of time and help to chart a person's pain history. Past Perfect tenses refer to past actions or states that were completed (resolved) before another action started. Past Continuous tenses refer to past actions or states that were ongoing (unresolved) before another action started. Thus:

- Past Simple: Describes an activity that started in the past—"I was in pain".
- Past Continuous: Describes an unfinished (ongoing) activity in the past—"The pain was hurting when ... [I saw a doctor]"
- Past Perfect: Describes an action that was completed in the past
 —"I had pain in 2021 before... [I saw a doctor]" or "I had never
 been in pain before ... [I saw a doctor]" or "I only recovered
 because ... [I saw a doctor]"
- Past Perfect Continuous: Describes an action that started in the past and continued until another time in the past —"I had been hurting until [I saw a doctor]", "I wanted to see a doctor because I had been hurting all day at work", and "How long had you been hurting before ... [you saw the doctor?]"

The Past Perfect Continuous tense is a useful way to suggest cause and effect.

The Past *Imperfect* tense describes an unfinished action and is also known as the past continuous or past progressive. In the context of this article, and from a perspective of utility, *imperfect* is a word that not only conveys unfinished actions but also imperfect "situations" that may influence the present (now), including thoughts about the future.

Mapping pain onto a simplified temporal framework of perfect and imperfect tenses reveals the relationship between unfinished (ongoing) situations from the past (i.e., adverse events), and bodily pain, including thoughts about the future, which can only exist in the present (i.e., now).

When applied as a verb "pain" necessitates a detachment of a person's identity (not necessarily from their physical body, but more so from their ego). For example, "The wound pained me." inherently creates a distinction between the individual and the wound, with the wound becoming an object that can be acted upon through an external attribution to the wound causing the discomfort. This contrasts with phrases like "My pain makes me suffer". where the pain is internalised and objectified and becomes part of one's perception of self, the personal "my/me/ ego". In Buddhism, pain is seen as the fuel for transcendence and thus the ego is let go (22).

Nominalisation of pain experience

In linguistics, "nominalisation" is the process of converting verbs, adjectives, or other word types into nouns. Nouns are crucial as they name or identify entities or ideas, shaping our understanding of the world. By using universally understood nouns, we foster shared comprehension. Nominalisation allows us to assign existence or identity to actions, qualities, and concepts, differentiating them from others.

The nominalisation of pain generally goes unnoticed. In everyday conversation, the word pain is used to convey an experience of an inner state of the body that lacks distinctiveness [for debates on the *nature* of pain see (23-27)]. The common viewpoint, that pain is representational of something in the world, e.g., bodily adversity, harm, tissue damage etc., is contested by an alternative viewpoint, less widely accepted, that pain is a free-floating sensation, and not *about* [representational of] anything [for review see (23)].

Pain is a subjective experience and the topic (object) of that experience. Biomedical science investigates pain via a materialistic and reductionist paradigm that uses equipment to detect a concrete (physical) thing, e.g., chemical, or neural substrates as direct or indirect markers (signatures) of pain. Cohen et al. argue that pain is not a "thing" (28) and Bourke argues that pain is "a type of event" (29). Even when arguing that pain is not a thing, pain becomes nominalised! The examples provided in the caption of Figure 1 reveal the nominalisation of pain, i.e., the English language allows a person to hurt (verb) but not to pain. In this instance pain is not expressed as a verb. In the English language, pain has become a noun, representative of a "thing", and we contend that this may influence the stickiness of pain. There is, however, the use of "pained" where pain is used as a transitive verb, although this is seldom used in modern-day speech. In the English language, nominalisation of pain has the potential to create time-related dimensions of pain that convey fallacies, misnomers and pain narratives that are more insidious than depicted in the caption for Figure 1. For example, "my diagnosis is chronic pain" may inadvertently shape a person's belief of no hope for recovery, when this might not be the case, fostering a pessimistic view of future health.

By reflecting on the nominalisation of pain and temporal markers of pain experience, opportunities arise for scholars, patients, and practitioners to participate together in a process of discovery of how Past Adversity Influences Now (PAIN). For example, we postulate that, in some people, nominalisation "freezes" a person's living experience of pain in the present, thus "blocking the flow" of a person's reality. This "locks" pain in a lived experience of the past and in so doing collapses future possibilities into a reality that retains the adversity of an imperfect past. This stagnant state of mind and body may create worry, rumination and catastrophising, a significant psychological factor related to the persistence of pain and disability (30–33). The interplay of biological, social, and psychological disturbances that contribute to chronic pain unresponsive to treatment has the nickname "stickiness" (1, 34).



FIGURE 1

Pain experience and temporal language

Past imperfect tenses set the context of what was happening while another event occurred. For example:

- "I was studying when a stabbing pain started in my leg". (ongoing action of studying)
- "I was playing rugby when I noticed my arm hurting". (ongoing action of playing rugby)

Past imperfect tenses also describe habitual actions or states such as repeated actions or ongoing situations. For example:

- "Every day, I was complaining of pain". (habitual action of complaining)
- "She was always talking about her pain". (habitual action of talking about pain)

Past adverse experiences influence thoughts, expectations and predictions of the "now" (present) resulting in stickiness of pain expressed via future tenses:

- Future Imperfect Simple-"I will hurt tomorrow".
- Future Imperfect Continuous—"I will be hurting tomorrow"
- Future Imperfect—"I will have no pain tomorrow".
- Future Perfect Continuous "On my next birthday I will have been hurting for 7 years".

If a person is in the present and says "I will have no pain tomorrow" their language is Future Imperfect because they are remaining in the present to look forward at an action that is incomplete. If a person is in the present and says "I can't wait until my next birthday to look back on how my pain cleared" their language is Future Perfect because they have gone past the incomplete action to a point in the future to look back at the completed action. Hence, "By then I will have had" is constructive language because it completes an imperfect or incomplete action and creates a perfect future seen as the problem has been resolved.

Past Adversity Influencing Now (PAIN)

A person experiences sensations and emotions, including pain, only in the current moment. While pain is experienced in the present, it is influenced by past events and potential future occurrences. Pain emerges from the integration of sensory, emotional, and cognitive elements of present moment physiological processes, along with memories of past experiences, both conscious and unconscious. A discussion of the nature and formation of memories is beyond the scope of this article; suffice to say that the conventional synaptic and bioplastic model of memory (35) has limitations and has been challenged (36).

When discussing a person's pain, practitioner and patient are often unaware of the power that time-based narrative brings to bear on their respective realities of experiences and situations. Health practitioners and their patients discuss pain within a temporal construct of the past, "What happened to cause pain", present "How does pain affect you now", and future "What should be done to effect recovery". This time-based narrative creates a sequential construct whereby pain experienced in the "now" (Present Pain), matches expectations with what happened in the past (Past Perfect), and a prediction that pain will resolve (Future Perfect—positive prognosis). For example, a transient inconsequential pain now (Present Pain) described as "I had stubbed my toe" (Past Perfect), is expected to disappear within seconds "Ouch! the pain will disappear in a moment" (Future Perfect), and it usually does. Likewise, a person reporting that the intensity of their pain is decreasing with medication and no longer interferes with activities of daily living (Present Pain) due to an accident two weeks ago (Past Perfect) will expect their pain to disappear in a few weeks more (Future Perfect).

An imperfect past contributing to an imperfect present and future

Imagine pain persists beyond the expected duration of healing; "An accident happened a long time ago, yet I'm still in pain despite the medication". Temporal language may become structured as "I was arguing with my partner when the accident happened, and I am still in pain today" (Past Imperfect). When pain remains unresolved, despite treatment, a temporal narrative of "I have been in pain (hurting) for nearly two years, and I will just have to learn to live with this pain" (Future Imperfect) emerges. The person's temporal language is simple, easy to follow and leads to a logical conclusion. Based on the experience of living a long time with ongoing (unresolved) pain (Past Imperfect) the patient expects that pain (Present Pain) will always be there (Future Imperfect), i.e., the person's pain becomes "sticky".

Emotional Memory Images (EMIs) and PAIN

In 2021, we proposed a model of psychophysiological "disease" whereby stress responses from first-time, novel, and unprecedented traumatic emotional experiences are rapidly learnt and then retriggered later in daily life when a person encounters a reminder of the original traumatic experience (37). Central to our proposal was the concept of Emotional Memory Images (EMIs) coupled to the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and stress like responses, e.g., flight, fight, freeze, tonic immobility, and quiescent immobility (38, 39). We defined EMIs "Trauma induced, non-conscious, contiguously formed as multimodal mental imagery, which triggers an amnesic, anachronistic, stress response within a split-second". (39). We argued that EMIs are re-triggered by encounters broadly akin to the original experience, continually revivifying the past and contributing to states of psychophysiological dis-ease, influencing the persistence of pain (40-42). Importantly, the anachronistic nonconscious nature of EMIs renders the person amnesic to the original traumatic experience and bereft of reasons why they experience persistence of pain (Figure 2A). Thus, clearing (unlearning) EMIs may alleviate, at least in part, autonomic stress-like responses associated with past adversity, thereby reducing allostatic load (43).

We described a therapeutic approach, Split-Second Unlearning (37), whereby practitioners screen for micro-expression(s) signifying an in-the-moment stress response representative of the presence of an EMI. The practitioner makes the patient aware of these micro-expressions and encourages curious exploration of the influence of EMIs on temporal positions of their condition (pain experience) so that the patient can learn to separate the EMI from the stress, clearing the EMI, metaphorically or literally, and alleviating discomfort (Figure 2B). For case vignettes see (37, 39, 40).

Curiously moving time to positively impact PAIN

There is a wealth of evidence that time and pain are intrinsically linked (44). Bodily pain slows down the perception of time (45) and the temporal state of mind shapes pain experience for better (placebo) or worse (nocebo) (46, 47). Therapeutic interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) mindfulness and eye movement desensitisation and reprocessing (EMDR) have temporal components within the methodology designed to positively influence the relationship between time and pain (48– 51). Indeed the core tenet of mindfulness is to focus one's attention on the present moment (52). The psychological aspect of pain is driven by the perception of what was, what is and what shall be, and we contend that EMIs act as placeholders bringing past pain into the present and advocate approaches that address nonconscious motivational traits detrimental to recovery.

Our Split-Second Unlearning model of psychophysiological dis-ease (37) was developed from the principles and practice of Neurolinguistic Programming (NLP). The field of NLP describes nonconscious motivational traits called metaprograms that show specifically how much time is needed before an individual will decide on something, such as positive change in attitude and behaviour (53). Strategies used by people to decide on something are:

- Automatic—a person is immediately convinced of an idea/ situation.
- Number of times—It usually takes a person a few goes before they are convinced (e.g., "Third time lucky").
- Period of time—It can take a month or more for a person to be convinced as they need time to pass before they can accept or decide something.
- Consistent—No matter how much time a person is given they are still not convinced.

Temporal language that aligns with a patient's decision strategy can be used as a motivational tool to influence health outcomes (54). Examples include,

- "You'll be up and about in no time at all"-Automatic
- "It may take 2 or 3 days of exercise before you begin to notice how much better you are feeling"—Number of times
- "You're going to need some time before you start feeling any improvement ... [the practitioner pauses for 1 min] ... and now that you've had time what are you beginning to notice?"—Period of time
- "The thing is Mr Brown even when you are back walking 15 miles a day you will still have doubts about whether the pain will stay away for good!"—Consistent

Self-reports of pain include a level of nonconscious bias (55). For example, a person's measure of time can become distorted as they judge their experience as being longer than it actually was (56, 57). Pain assessment tools inherently focus on past and present pain. The McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ) asks patients to rate their pain "felt during the past week", and this may inadvertently reinforce and even intensify pain by reviving dormant memories (58, 59). Asking patients to complete pain body maps, denoting pain as a static experience may also contribute to stickiness. Moreover, self-reports may fall foul of the "peak-end rule", a psychological heuristic (mental shortcut) to quickly solve problems and make judgements (60), whereby people report pain from the peak (most intense) and the end (most recent) of their pain experience (61).

Types of cognitive heuristics that draw on the past when reporting pain experience may include:

- 1. Availability Heuristic: Judgments based on the most *recent* episode of pain.
- 2. Anchoring Heuristic: Judgements based on the *initial* episode of pain, when pain first appeared.
- 3. Representativeness Heuristic: Judgements based on the similarity of pain to *previous* typical pain experiences.



4. Familiarity Heuristic: Judgements based on *previous* pain behaviour that was successful under similar circumstances, such as gaining access to pain medication during a clinical consultation.

These heuristics not only shape patient expectations and coping strategies, but also influence healthcare providers' communication and treatment plans (62–64) [see also (65) for a greater insight into the temporal aspect of pain]. Greater awareness of how these unconscious and conscious considerations of past

experience influence a person's experience of the present ("now") can be used in clinical practice to curiously move time to positively impact PAIN.

Careless use of temporal language in clinical practice

There is increasing awareness of the need to use positive and constructive pain language (66), yet less attention has been given to

10.3389/fpain.2023.1244390

the insidious nature of *temporal* pain language that may be detrimental to patient outcomes. In our article, for example, we default to conventional pain nomenclature that suggests permanence, such as "persistent pain", "chronic pain", and "intractable pain", potentially leading patients to feelings of anxiety, depression, and fear-avoidance of activities that may intensify pain, resulting in physical and emotional deterioration. Moreover, "persistent", "chronic", and "intractable" may skew the attitudes of healthcare professionals towards symptom management rather than broader causes that may assist recovery, and influence language used in clinical consultation. Examples include,

- "You will have to learn to live with it"
- "There's nothing more we can do"
- "You'll be on this medication for life"
- · "You will have to learn to pace yourself".

These examples show how the practitioner condemns the patient to a reality of pain and suffering that did not exist before the practitioner spoke. However, the statements do not hold logically as there is no knowing what the future holds.

An awareness of the danger of careless use of temporal language can be traced back to ancient Greek philosophers such as Aristotle and Plato. Both Aristotle and Plato discussed the concept of "logos" (67, 68). For Aristotle "logos" was one of three persuasive modes, alongside "ethos" and "pathos". It denotes logical appeal in persuasion. Both Aristotle and Plato emphasised its importance but with varying interpretations. For Aristotle, it was a principle in human thought and nature. An example: in diagnosing "sticky pain", while it appears illogical, practitioners aim for a logical explanation. Plato viewed "logos" as a cosmic truth, whereby pain is a message awaiting acknowledgement. Here pain is considered more of an emotional than sensory experience, that belonged in the soul. If pain stickiness is driven, at least in part by emotional memories as proposed in our framework of PAIN and Split-Second Unlearning theory, then the logos of both philosophers will stand, switching focus from a mechanistic biomedical model of pain in the brain to a model of pain that encompasses a metaphysical mind.

It is possible to learn new ways to talk about time by learning new metaphors and in doing so it is possible to reconfigure spacetime associations and non-linguistic representations of time (69). We encourage practitioners to experiment with temporal metaphors that embrace the logos of Plato and Aristotle to help the person break free from the confines of a mechanistic biomedical model. That is, to explore time-based metaphysical metaphors for a metaphysical mind rather than a mechanistic brain. For example:

- "When the mind is willing healing can happen very quickly"
- "You will know when the time is right for you, to begin again"
 "Some patients get this and transform their lives immediately, some take a few days longer, and others can take up to a month or so before they really begin to feel the benefits, there are even those who feel the benefits and will never admit to it coming from this work and that's okay, too".

The final statement utilises all the temporal decision-making metaprograms and may be used to address all patients.

Conclusion

Early life adversities negatively affect health and increase the risk of an episode of pain persisting (70). We contend that adverse experiences may trap individuals in their perception of time, making pain "sticky", and describe this phenomenon as a "Past Imperfect" when one's past negatively impacts their present outlook and future expectations. Linguistic studies reveal that English speakers represent pain in a temporal manner, specifically in a horizontal space. We have conceptualised this as "Past Adversity Influencing Now" (PAIN), suggesting that prior negative experiences can keep individuals trapped in a specific time perception, which affects their pain experience. Different languages and cultures have varied mental models of time, and existing representations can change, providing a path to healing. Contemporary views in pain management suggest that conventional pain treatments might not always benefit patients. Instead, exploring the linguistic aspects of pain might offer more holistic healing. Health professionals are encouraged to use language as a tool to help patients explore their pain experiences. Interdisciplinary research, combining linguistics, psychology, and medical science, is essential for a comprehensive understanding of pain.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Both authors contributed equally to the conception and writing of the review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Lisa Mcloughlin, Co-founder, Mind Help Limited for assistance in preparing the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. *Pain.* (2018) 159 (12):2421-36. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401

2. Boroditsky L. How language shapes thought. Sci Am. (2011) 304(2):62–5. doi: 10. 1038/scientificamerican0211-62

3. Lakoff G. The contemporary theory of metaphor. Metaphor and thought. In: Ortony A, editors. *Metaphor and thought*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1993). p. 202–51.

4. Thibodeau PH, Hendricks RK, Boroditsky L. How linguistic metaphor scaffolds reasoning. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2017) 21(11):852–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.07.001

5. Whorf BL. Language, thought, and reality: Selected writings of benjamin lee whorf. Eastford, Connecticut: Martino Fine Books (2011).

6. Sapir E. The unconscious patterning of behavior in society. In: Child CM, Koffka K, Anderson JE, Watson JB, Sapir E, Thomas WI, et al. editors. *The unconscious: A symposium*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf (1927). p. 114–42.

7. Fabrega H Jr. Language, culture and the neurobiology of pain: a theoretical exploration. *Behav Neurol.* (1989) 2(4):235-60. doi: 10.1155/1989/407435

8. Ochs E. Experiencing language. Anthropological Theory. (2012) 12(2):142–60. doi: 10.1177/1463499612454088

9. Ingram D, Tallant J. Presentism. In: Zalta EN, Nodelman U, editors. The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy (2022).

10. Vargas GM. Alfred Schutz's life-world and intersubjectivity. Open J Soc Sci. (2020) 8(12):417-25. doi: 10.4236/jss.2020.812033

11. Fuhrman O, McCormick K, Chen E, Jiang H, Shu D, Mao S, et al. How linguistic and cultural forces shape conceptions of time: English and mandarin time in 3d. *Cogn Sci.* (2011) 35(7):1305–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1551-6709.2011.01193.x

12. Fuhrman O, Boroditsky L. Cross-cultural differences in mental representations of time: evidence from an implicit nonlinguistic task. *Cogn Sci.* (2010) 34(8):1430–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1551-6709.2010.01105.x

13. Fedden S, Boroditsky L. Spatialization of time in mian. *Front Psychol.* (2012) 3:485. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00485

14. de la Fuente J, Santiago J, Roman A, Dumitrache C, Casasanto D. When you think about it, your past is in front of you: how culture shapes spatial conceptions of time. *Psychol Sci.* (2014) 25(9):1682–90. doi: 10.1177/0956797614534695

15. Nunez RE, Sweetser E. With the future behind them: convergent evidence from Aymara language and gesture in the crosslinguistic comparison of spatial construals of time. *Cogn Sci.* (2006) 30(3):401–50. doi: 10.1207/s15516709cog0000_62

16. Boroditsky L, Fuhrman O, McCormick K. Do English and mandarin speakers think about time differently? *Cognition.* (2011) 118(1):123–9. doi: 10.1016/j. cognition.2010.09.010

17. Majid A, Gaby A, Boroditsky L. Time in terms of space. Front Psychol. (2013) 4:554. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00554

18. Adam B. Reflexive modernization temporalized. Theory Cult Soc. (2003) 20 (2):59–78. doi: 10.1177/0263276403020002004

19. Adam B. *Timewatch: the sociological analysis of time.* Cambridge: Polity Press (1995).

20. Spector RE. Cultural diversity in health and illness. J Transcult Nurs. (2002) 13 (3):197–9; discussion 200-1. doi: 10.1177/10459602013003007

21. Anderson SR, Losin EA. A sociocultural neuroscience approach to pain. Cult Brain. (2016) 5(1):14-35. doi: 10.1007/s40167-016-0037-4

22. Smith-Toner M. How buddhism influences pain control choices. Nursing. (2003) 33(4):17. doi: 10.1097/00152193-200304000-00013

23. Cutter B. Pain and representation. In: Corns J, editors. *The routledge handbook of philosophy of pain. Routledge handbooks in philosophy.* Oxon, UK: Routledge (2020). p. 29-39.

24. Hill CS. Fault lines in familiar concepts of pain. In: Corns J, editors. *The routledge handbook of philosophy of pain. Routledge handbooks in philosophy*. Oxon, UK: Routledge (2020). p. 60–9.

25. Klein C. Imperativism. In: Corns J, editors. The routledge handbook of philosophy of pain. Routledge handbooks in philosophy. Oxon, UK: Routledge (2020). p. 51-9.

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

26. Hardcastle VG. A brief and potted overview on the philosophical theories of pain. In: Corns J, editors. *The routledge handbook of philosophy of pain. Routledge handbooks in philosophy*. Oxon, UK: Routledge (2020). p. 19–28.

27. Bain D. Evaluativist accounts of pain' unpleasantness. In: Corns J, editors. *The routledge handbook of philosophy of pain. Routledge handbooks in philosophy*. Oxon, UK: Routledge (2020). p. 40–50.

28. Cohen M, Weisman A, Quintner J. Pain is not a "thing": how that error affects language and logic in pain medicine. J Pain. (2022) 23(8):1283-93. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2022.03.235

29. Bourke J. The story of pain. From prayers to painkillers. New York, USA: Oxford University Press (2014).

30. Petrini L, Arendt-Nielsen L. Understanding pain catastrophizing: putting pieces together. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:603420. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.603420

31. Wertli MM, Eugster R, Held U, Steurer J, Kofmehl R, Weiser S. Catastrophizinga prognostic factor for outcome in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. *Spine J.* (2014) 14(11):2639–57. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2014.03.003

32. Lewis GN, Rice DA, McNair PJ, Kluger M. Predictors of persistent pain after total knee arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth.* (2015) 114(4):551–61. doi: 10.1093/bja/aeu441

33. Sullivan MJ, Tripp DA. Pain catastrophizing: controversies, misconceptions and future directions. *J Pain.* (2023):S1526-5900(23)00471-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2023.07. 004 [Epub ahead of print].

34. Firouzian S, Osborne NR. Chronic pain: breaking free from stickiness. *Pain Rep.* (2019) 4(3):e746. doi: 10.1097/PR9.00000000000746

35. Langille JJ, Brown RE. The synaptic theory of memory: a historical survey and reconciliation of recent opposition. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2018) 12:52. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2018.00052

36. Trettenbrein PC. The demise of the synapse as the locus of memory: a looming paradigm shift? *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2016) 10:88. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2016.00088

37. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Split-second unlearning: developing a theory of psychophysiological dis-ease. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:716535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2021.716535

38. Kozlowska K, Walker P, McLean L, Carrive P. Fear and the defense cascade: clinical implications and management. *Harv Rev Psychiatry.* (2015) 23(4):263–87. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000065

39. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Definition and attributes of the emotional memory images underlying psychophysiological dis-ease. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:947952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.947952

40. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Perspectives on emotional memory images and the persistence of pain. Front Pain Res. (2023) 4:1217721. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

41. Keay KA, Bandler R. Parallel circuits mediating distinct emotional coping reactions to different types of stress. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2001) 25(7-8):669–78. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(01)00049-5

42. da Silva LF, Coimbra NC, Menescal-de-Oliveira L. Rostral ventromedial medulla modulates nociception and tonic immobility behavior through connections with the A7 catecholaminergic region. *Behav Brain Res.* (2012) 233(2):422–7. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2012.05.020

43. McEwen BS. Stressed or stressed out: what is the difference? J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2005) 30(5):315-8. PMID: 16151535.

44. Rey AE, Michael GA, Dondas C, Thar M, Garcia-Larrea L, Mazza S. Pain dilates time perception. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7(1):15682. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15982-6

45. Wittmann M, Vollmer T, Schweiger CWH. The relation between the experience of time and psychological distress in patients with hematological malignancies. *Palliat Support Care.* (2006) 4(4):357–63. doi: 10.1017/s1478951506060469

46. Peerdeman KJ, van Laarhoven AI, Peters ML, Evers AW. An integrative review of the influence of expectancies on pain. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1270. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01270

47. Hartmann H, Bingel U. Placebo and nocebo effects: the importance of treatment expectations and patient-physician interaction for treatment outcomes. Fact Sheet: International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) (2022). 1–4.

48. Kip KE, Rosenzweig L, Hernandez DF, Shuman A, Diamond DM, Girling SA, et al. Accelerated resolution therapy for treatment of pain secondary to symptoms
of combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Eur J Psychotraumatol. (2014) 5. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v5.24066.

49. Lim JA, Choi SH, Lee WJ, Jang JH, Moon JY, Kim YC, et al. Cognitivebehavioral therapy for patients with chronic pain: implications of gender differences in empathy. *Medicine*. (2018) 97(23):e10867. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000010867

50. Michl LC, McLaughlin KA, Shepherd K, Nolen-Hoeksema S. Rumination as a mechanism linking stressful life events to symptoms of depression and anxiety: longitudinal evidence in early adolescents and adults. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2013) 122 (2):339–52. doi: 10.1037/a0031994

51. Harrison AM, Scott W, Johns LC, Morris EMJ, McCracken LM. Are we speaking the same language? Finding theoretical coherence and precision in "mindfulnessbased mechanisms" in chronic pain. *Pain Med.* (2017) 18(11):2138–51. doi: 10. 1093/pm/pnw310

52. Kabat-Zinn J. Wherever you go, there you are: Mindfulness meditation for everyday life. London: Piatkus (2019).

53. Charvet SR. Words that change minds: The 14 patterns for mastering the language of influence. 3rd edn. Wilmington, DE: Bloomanity LLC (2019).

54. Sahebalzamani M. Efficacy of neurolinguistic programming training on mental health in nursing and midwifery students. *Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res.* (2014) 19 (5):503–7. PMID: 25400679.

55. Phillips K, Wright BJ, Kent S. Irritable bowel syndrome and symptom severity: evidence of negative attention bias, diminished vigour, and autonomic dysregulation. *J Psychosom Res.* (2014) 77(1):13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.04.009

56. Gan T, Wang N, Zhang Z, Li H, Luo YJ. Emotional influences on time perception: evidence from event-related potentials. *Neuroreport.* (2009) 20 (9):839-43. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e32832be7dc

57. Somov PG. Time perception as a measure of pain intensity and pain type. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. (2000) 14:111–21. doi: 10.3233/BMR-2000-14306

58. Ecker B, Vaz A. Memory reconsolidation and the crisis of mechanism in psychotherapy. *New Ideas Psychol.* (2022) 66:100945. doi: 10.1016/j.newideapsych. 2022.100945

59. Nader K. Reconsolidation and the dynamic nature of memory. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2015) 7(10):a021782. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a021782

60. Tversky A, Kahneman D. Judgement under uncertainty: heuristics and biases. *Science*. (1974) 185:1124–31. doi: 10.1126/science.185.4157.1124

61. Muller UWD, Witteman CLM, Spijker J, Alpers GW. All's bad that ends bad: there is a peak-end memory bias in anxiety. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:1272. doi: 10. 3389/fpsyg.2019.01272

62. Marewski JN, Gigerenzer G. Heuristic decision making in medicine. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2012) 14(1):77–89. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2012.14.1/jmarewski

63. Blumenthal-Barby JS, Krieger H. Cognitive biases and heuristics in medical decision making. *Med Decis Making.* (2014) 35(4):539–57. doi: 10.1177/0272989 (14547740

64. Kahneman D, Fredrickson BL, Schreiber CA, Redelmeier DA. When more pain is preferred to less: adding a better end. *Psychol Sci.* (1993) 4:401–5. doi: 10.1111/j. 1467-9280.1993.tb00589.x

65. Kahneman D. Thinking, fast and slow. New York: Farrar, Strauss, Giroux (2011).

66. Moseley L, Butler DP. The malleable magic of metaphor. In: Moeseley GL, Butler DS, editors. *Explain pain supercharged the Clinician's manual*. Adelaide, Australia: NOI Group Publications (2017). p. 143–67.

67. Rapp C. Aristotle's rhetoric. In: Zalta EN, editors. The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy. Spring (2022).

68. Griswold CL. Plato on rhetoric and poetry. In: Zalta EN, editors. *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. Spring (2020).

69. Hendricks RK, Boroditsky L. New space-time metaphors foster new nonlinguistic representations. *Top Cogn Sci.* (2017) 9(3):800–18. doi: 10.1111/tops. 12279

70. Tidmarsh LV, Harrison R, Ravindran D, Matthews SL, Finlay KA. The influence of adverse childhood experiences in pain management: mechanisms, processes, and trauma-informed care. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:923866. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022. 923866

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sayyed Mohsen Fatemi, York University, Canada

REVIEWED BY David Erekson, Brigham Young University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson Imijohnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 05 July 2023 ACCEPTED 26 September 2023 PUBLISHED 06 October 2023

CITATION

Georgiadis E and Johnson MI (2023) Incorporating personal narratives in positive psychology interventions to manage chronic pain.

Front. Pain Res. 4:1253310. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1253310

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Georgiadis and Johnson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Incorporating personal narratives in positive psychology interventions to manage chronic pain

Emmanouil Georgiadis¹ and Mark I. Johnson^{2*}

¹School of Social Sciences and Humanities, University of Suffolk, Ipswich, United Kingdom, ²Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom

In this perspective paper, we argue for incorporating personal narratives in positive psychology interventions for chronic pain. Narratives refer to the telling and retelling of events. Narratives detail accounts of events and provide rich, indepth information on human interactions, relationships, and perspectives. As such, narratives have been used to understand people's experiences with pain and pain coping mechanisms—as well as to facilitate therapeutic outcomes. Furthermore, narrative research has shown that narration can help restore and promote relief, calm, hope, self-awareness, and self-understanding in chronic pain sufferers. Positive psychology interventions have been successful in improving the lives of people living with chronic pain, but these psychology interventions do not typically incorporate personal narratives. Still, narrative, and positive psychology scholarship foci overlap, as both aim to enhance people's quality of life, happiness, and well-being, and to promote the understanding of psychosocial strengths and resources. In this article, we provide a rationale for incorporating personal narratives as an agentic form of positive psychology intervention. To that aim, we outline areas of convergence between positive psychology and narrative research and show how combining positive psychology exercises and narration can have additive benefits for pain sufferers. We also show how integrating narration in positive psychology intervention research can have advantages for healthcare research and policy.

KEYWORDS

personal narrative, chronic pain, positive psychology, agency, healthcare

Introduction

Chronic (persistent or long-standing) pain is defined by the World Health Organisation and by the International Association for the Study of Pain as pain persisting or recurring for longer than 3 months (1, 2). It is estimated to affect more than 20% of the adult population contributing significantly to the global burden of disease with significant impact on mortality and disability across human societies worldwide (3). Chronic pain is associated with reduced functional capacity, low sense of wellbeing, impaired social interactions, medication overprescription, illegal substance use and abuse, mood disorders, suicidal ideation and suicide attempts; this results in low quality of life (4).

It is widely acknowledged that a multidisciplinary person-centred biopsychosocial approach using pharmacotherapy, restorative therapies, behavioural treatments, complementary and integrative therapies, and self-care is optimal to manage chronic pain (5). It is recommended that safe, less invasive treatments should be indicated first (5–8),

yet biomedical interventions (i.e., surgical and pharmacological) still dominate clinical practice, despite evidence of unfavourable risk benefit profiles (5, 9, 10).

The biopsychosocial model of pain, evolved from Melzack and Wall's theory of pain (11) and Engel's new model for medicine (12) over 40 years ago [for a historical account see (13)]. The biopsychosocial model describes a dynamic interaction of biological (e.g., tissue injury, genetics, neurobiology, sex differences, physical health conditions), psychological (e.g., thoughts, beliefs, attitudes, emotions, coping patterns), and social (e.g., poverty, access to welfare, stigma, discrimination) influences to explain between and within person variability in pain experience, including cognitive appraisal of symptoms. Biopsychological approaches to the management of pain are incorporated within an interdisciplinary model of care, emphasizing holistic patient-centred strategies, that combine pharmacotherapy, physical therapy, cognitive-behavioural counselling and other psychotherapeutic modalities, progressive muscle relaxation, risk-reduction training, biofeedback training, social support groups and networking (14, 15).

In this article, we explore the psychological aspect of the biopsychosocial model of pain and advocate the inclusion of personal narratives as part of psychological interventions used in chronic pain management. Specifically, we advocate a positive psychology approach to personal narration and outline areas of convergence between positive psychology and narrative research. We show how combining positive psychology techniques and narration can have synergistic benefits for pain sufferers, and how narration can have advantages for healthcare research and policy.

Personal narratives and healthcare

Narratives are personal stories through which humans tell and retell events (16). Narratives describe events but also become part of the events. Narratives merge with the narrator's reality but may not be accurate depictions of events and may or may not be linear in time and place. Narratives provide rich, in-depth insights on human experiences, interactions, relationships, and behaviours; they are a tool for sense-making and meaning-making (17).

In recent years narrative literature in healthcare has been used to gain insight to the attitudes of individuals about treatments, therapy, barriers preventing treatment, and unaddressed means for enhancing overall quality of life (18). Research evidence suggests short/medium term benefit of using narrative as part of therapy and there are calls for narrative to be included in health care policies (19, 20).

Therapeutically, personal narratives have been shown to support personal values, identity formation, positive emotions, resilience and purpose (21). For example, encountering a negative event such as a life-threatening diagnosis, can turn into a positive story of experiencing redemption via personal courage and realisation of deeper meaning and a new purpose in life. This can increase self-worth and resilience (22, 23).

Personal narratives and pain management

Pain is a private, complex, organic, multidimensional experience that is idiosyncratic in nature (24, 25). People living with persistent pain experience difficulties constructing meaningful explanations for their pain and suffering (26, 27). People struggle to articulate their personal pain story in a way that is understood, heard, or taken seriously by others, including health care professionals (28–31). In clinical consultation, patients are often forced to express pain through assessment tools that collapse the multi-faceted nature of pain into simplified generalisations or into individual, disconnected, items that fragment pain experience (31). Being unable to express pain through personal narrative results in decontextualise care that is detrimental to health and well-being (32).

Human social groups bond through gossiping and storytelling (33, 34). The act of storytelling personally significant events and contemplating towards lessons learnt and future actions, confers benefit for people living with chronic pain (35). Evidence suggests that personal narrations can improve wellbeing when linked to positive expectations of longer-term recovery, such as relief from pain and improvement in functioning (36). An appraisal of the value of personal story for people living with chronic pain by Hovey et al. suggested that narratives help people interpret their pain and their new lived experience with pain (37). Personal narratives with optimistic content have been associated with beneficial outcomes including enhanced psychological states such as acceptance of areas beyond personal control, positive reinforcement, progress to new achievements, new personal meaning, and motivation to continue exercise, which improve health, well-being and quality of life (35, 38).

Positive psychology for pain management

Equally, recent findings support the ability of positive psychology interventions to improve quality of life and the severity and impact of pain. The operational mechanism of positive psychology intervention is relatively simple. During pain, negative emotions may exist to instigate behaviours to protect tissue from actual or potential harm (39). However, adhering to action preventing negative emotions may exacerbate negative thinking and destructive behavioural patterns (i.e., heightened worry and avoidance of movement), with pain becoming chronic and increasingly devastating (40). Engaging in frequent positive psychology exercises seems to offset the links between pain and negative emotions (e.g., fear, anxiety and sadness) and cognitions (e.g., rumination, worry, helplessness and catastrophising), eliciting positive sentiments instead (41).

A systematic review of 16 RCTs by Braunwalder et al. (42) provides tentative evidence that positive psychology interventions, delivered as online self-help or guided face-to-face interventions are efficacious to alleviate chronic pain. Thus,

simple, regular, positive psychology exercises, may help to reduce the severity and impact of chronic pain. Examples of positive exercises that encourage strengthening and enjoyment of social connections and human relationships to improve perceived pain, emotional states and physical function include performing good deeds to other people, reflecting on blessings, appreciating life circumstances, feeling grateful, and pursuing meaningful and significant goals in daily living (42, 43).

Positive psychology interventions aiming to alleviate chronic pain and its consequences in daily living are usually delivered online and asynchronously (without the presence of a specialist) providing a cost-effective technique (42). Successful implementation requires participants to dedicate personal time and effort to execute these exercises repetitively, based on self-selected pace and personal understanding.

Practitioners define the nature of the intervention to meet desired outcomes (i.e., improved social connection), although sometimes participants are given an opportunity to select which type of positive psychology technique they wish to use (44). For example, in a study by Muller et al. (43) participants had the option to engage in one or more of four types of positive psychology exercises; relationships, kindness, gratitude, optimism. Through this methodology design, autonomy of choosing a positive psychology exercise seems to be enhanced. Positive psychology intervention seems contrary to the concept of "agency" as defined by Seligman (45). Seligman (45) defines agency as the power behind each person's belief that can change the world, or more precisely here, change an individual's sense making of the world. Agency relates to the efficacy to act, based on self-defined criteria, with optimism and inspiration being integral to the will to control one's own fate irrespective of life's adversities (45). Clearly, agency requires personal freedom to implement selfdefined priorities in one's life. Such degree of freedom seems to be missing from existing positive psychology techniques aiming to support wellbeing indices in chronic pain. This is based on the philosophical, epistemological and practical background of positive psychology, which can be significantly enriched with an emphasis on agency and personal responsibility (46).

Personal narratives in positive psychology interventions to manage pain

We advocate the use of personal narratives as an innovative positive psychology technique through protocols that support personal agency and autonomy for the participants. Positive psychology interventions provide encouraging results when used for people living with chronic pain (42), and this is achieved by improving components of the Positive emotions, Engagement, valued/supported Relationships, Meaningfulness and Achievement (PERMA) model (47). Personal narratives empower individuals with greater ownership of the direction, pace and content of sense making through exploration of *personal* memories, that make autobiographical sense, through the realisation of dispositional traits and how these may adapt under current circumstances. Hence, personal narratives define identity in various ways but most importantly, via the capacity to keep a unique agentic and personally-defined narrative, using dispositional traits under certain socio-cognitive, developmental, and environmental requests (23). Applying personal narratives to a previously challenging or traumatising event improves quality of life and daily functioning (48, 49). However, the use of personal narrative has not been integrated with positive psychology techniques that have shown capacity to support positive emotions by improving engagement, purpose, achievement, and human relationships.

One way to combine agency and positive psychology techniques is starting with the examination of personal beliefs and values through the use of the Values In Action (VIA) Inventory of Strengths instrument (VIA-IS instrument, http://www. viacharacter.org/ (50), updated in 2019 to the VIA Inventory of Strengths-Revised [VIA-IS-R (51)]). The original VIA-IS was a 240-item questionnaire and the VIA-IS-R consists of 196 items (52) measuring 24 key character strengths (e.g., creativity, bravery, teamwork) based on 6 distinct virtues (wisdom and knowledge, courage, humanity, justice, temperance, transcendence).

The VIA-IS instrument is used to profile personal strengths to aid integration of these character strengths into daily living, by setting goals and acting purposefully to enhance well-being, improve self-acceptance, and boost life-satisfaction (53). The results of the VIA-IS questionnaire are applied to a three-step process, Aware-Explore-Apply, to create a framework to navigate how identified strengths can improve happiness, boost relationships, and contribute to a better outlook for the future (54). After recognising preferred virtues and personal strengths, individuals are invited to narrate their personal story based on significant past events, and by looking at their present and future lives, with special reference to experiences that contain those preferred virtues and strengths. We provide a possible intervention schedule in **Table 1**.

The life story interview

We advocate the use of a "life story interview" in the form of a personal written narrative, to facilitate this process (55). The life story interview relates to a metaphor based on which major life events are contributing to the main chapters of one's life. After defining those, the individual considers the high, the low and the turning point, as well as the positive experience and wisdom that derives from each one of those important life events. The ultimate phase relates to the individual's aspiration regarding the next chapter of their life story, personal hopes and future life project that is expected to be in accordance with the report of the already completed VIA-IS questionnaire. Personal agency is manifested here on three levels:

- 1. The exploration of personal values and strengths,
- 2. The availability of ample time and self-selected pace to complete one's life story interview, and
- 3. The future life project and its numerous options for the individual.

TABLE 1	Stages and	meetings of	a positive	psychology with	personal	narrative intervention.
---------	------------	-------------	------------	-----------------	----------	-------------------------

Suggested Intervention	on Protocol. Meetings can be in person and/or online via teleconferencing platforms
Meeting 1 (Counsellor)	30 minutes meeting with a specialist counsellor to discuss the stages of the suggested protocol starting with stage 1 (VIA-IS Questionnaire). The goal of the session is to respond to the question "What will I get from the VIA-IS questionnaire?"
Stage 1 (Independent)	Completion of VIA-IS Questionnaire (https://www.viacharacter.org/) at the person's chosen time and place
Meeting 2 (Counsellor)	30 minutes meeting with a specialist to discuss Stage 2 of the life-story interview protocol and how it works. The goal of the session is to respond to the question "What will I get from the life-story interview?"
Stage 2 (Independent)	The life-story interview. The goal of this stage is for the person to appreciate significant events, challenges, and accomplishments in life. Allow up to 15 days for the person to complete Stage 2 at their chosen time and place.
Meeting 3 (Counsellor)	60 minutes meeting with a specialist to go through the three-step Aware-Explore-Apply process to explore the results of the VIA-IS questionnaire. Realisations from the life-story interview are discussed and preparatory work is undertaken for the design of the final stage of the life-story interview (future life). There are 2 objectives; (i) to be aware and explore ways personal strengths have been shaping previous significant events and accomplishments in life highlighted in Stage 2 via the life-story interview, and (ii) realise and decide on which personal strengths to activate to derive personal fulfilment, success, and control in daily living. The goal of the session is to respond to the question: <i>"How can I use my personal strengths to energise my life?"</i>
Stage 3 (Independent)	Creation of the future life. The goal of the stage is for the person to clarify how stages 1 and 2 can support a personally fulfilling life by responding to the question " <i>How can I shape my future?</i> ". Allow up to 15 days for the person to complete Stage 3 at their chosen time and place.
Meeting 4 (Counsellor)	60 minutes meeting with a specialist to go through the whole experience of the intervention protocol and shape personal behaviours (e.g., future plans, actions, realisations). The goal of the session is to respond to the question "What are the my realisations from this experience?"
Meetings 5, 6 and 7 (Counsellor)	30 to 60 minutes monthly or bi-monthly meetings with a specialist to check progress and support the person activate their new plan. The goal of each session is to respond to the question " <i>How am I progressing based on the goals I have set?</i> "

TABLE 2 Example of how positive psychology with personal narrative can change a person's outlook.

Negative narrative of an individual with persistent pain

The pain is always there. It's a dull ache that never goes away, and it's always worse in the morning. It's hard to get out of bed, and it's even harder to do anything productive. I used to be so active, but now I just sit around all day. I've lost touch with my friends, and I'm starting to feel like I'm losing my mind. I've been to the doctor, but they can't find anything wrong with me.

They say it's just chronic pain and there's nothing they can do. I'm starting to think they're right. I'm just going to have to live with this pain for the rest of my life. I'm starting to detach from my social connections. I don't want to see my friends because I don't want them to see me like this. I'm tired of being the friend who's always in pain. I'm tired of being the friend who can't do anything fun. I'm just tired. I'm starting to feel like I'm all alone in this. I don't know anyone else who understands what I'm going through. I feel like I'm losing my grip on reality. I'm starting to wonder if this pain is ever going to end. I'm scared. I don't know what to do. I just want the pain to stop.

Positive narrative of an individual with persistent pain

I was diagnosed with chronic pain when I was 45 years old. It was a devastating diagnosis, and I didn't know how I was going to cope. I had always been an active person, and I loved to play sports and go hiking. But now, I was in constant pain, and I couldn't do the things I loved. At first, I was really depressed. I felt like my life was over. But then through a suggested intervention, I started to realise and apply my strengths in my daily living. This allowed me to take important decisions about my future and my options to shape my life according to my preferences.

I'm not afraid of a challenge. I'm also a positive person, and I always try to find the silver lining. So, I decided that I wasn't going to let chronic pain define me. I was going to find a way to live a happy and fulfilling life, even with pain. It hasn't been easy. There have been times when I've wanted to give up. But I've always found a way to keep going. I've learned to manage my pain, and I've found new ways to be active. I've also found a great support system of friends and family who have helped me through the tough times. I'm not cured, and I may have chronic pain for many more years, but I've learned to live much more positively with it, and I'm not going to let it stop me from living a fulfilling life. Here are some of the personal strengths that have helped me cope with chronic pain; **resilience**—I don't give up easily, **optimism**—I try to find the silver lining, even in the darkest of times, **adaptability**—I've learned to my pain, and I've found new ways to be active and enjoy life, and **social connection**—I have a great support system of friends and family who have helped me through the tough times.

Based on significant events and challenges, and through the comparison of already performed behaviours versus personally valued actions, each individual has an increased chance to realise areas of reduced control and opportunities for personal growth. It also allows for contemplating continuity of personal identity based on valued activities and actions (53).

With an aim to reverse the negative experiences of chronic pain, the goal of the life story narrative technique is to create personal and agentic experiences of redemption leading to a revitalised connection to personal meaning, engaging behaviours and flow, synergetic relationships, personal activation, optimism, and increased resilience (see example in Table 2). Similarly to other positive psychology interventions, this technique can be implemented repetitively (thematically and until long-term resilience is established), online and in an asynchronous way, providing a low-cost alternative to expensive pain treatments.

Narratives in healthcare pain policy development

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines on chronic pain highlight the importance of person-centred assessment and management (7). The NICE guidelines emphasise the need to support individuals' control and autonomy over their condition and social/ psychological circumstances, while using an active exploration of personal strengths to improve management of chronic pain. Even though these guidelines propose a holistic approach to the management of chronic pain (i.e.,

psychological, social, and pharmacological) they endorse psychological approaches that are relatively expensive and time consuming (i.e., Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) and Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT)). Positive psychology with personal narrative aligns with a wholeperson-centred biopsychosocial paradigm of care and empowers people to take an active role in their healing journey to foster adaptive, resilient and autonomous lifestyles against adversities linked to chronic pain (19).

The cost of interventions using personal narratives within a framework of positive psychology is likely to be competitive compared with existing psychological approaches e.g., four hours to learn how to self-administer a positive psychology approach to personal narration (Table 1) compared with 6–20, one hour clinically supervised sessions of CBT. For these reasons we call for evaluations of positive psychology with personal narratives to provide robust research evidence to enable health policy and clinical decision makers to judge the cost-benefit-safety profile.

Conclusion

A positive psychology approach to personal narration sits within a whole-person paradigm capturing a holistic and biopsychosocial multidimensional method of care (56). Following our appraisal of extant literature, we conclude that integration of personal narratives within a framework of positive psychology offers an innovative agentic technique to assist the psychological states for people living with chronic pain in clinical and non-clinical settings. A recent systematic review provides tentative evidence that positive psychology interventions are efficacious for chronic pain. There is a paucity of research on which to judge the efficacy of integrating personal narrative into positive psychology interventions. Thus, we recommend a scoping review and evidence gap map to inform the direction of future research. We hope that this article stimulates further debate on the topic.

References

1. World Health Organisation. Icd-11: international classification of diseases (11th revision). (2019).

2. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain.* (2020) 161(9):1976–82. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 000000000001939

3. Diseases GBD, Injuries C. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet*. (2020) 396(10258):1204-22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (20)30925-9

4. Cáceres-Matos R, Gil-García E, Barrientos-Trigo S, Porcel-Gálvez AM, Cabrera-León A. Consequences of chronic non-cancer pain in adulthood. Scoping Review. *Rev Saúde Pública*. (2020) 54:39. doi: 10.11606/s1518-8787.2020054001675

5. Cohen SP, Vase L, Hooten WM. Chronic pain: an update on burden, best practices, and new advances. *Lancet.* (2021) 397(10289):2082-97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00393-7

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

EG: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MJ: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to Dr Cleo Protogerou for valuable comments on the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Osteoarthritis in over 16s: Diagnosis and management. Nice guideline [Ng226]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2022).

7. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: Assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain (Ng193). London, UK: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2021). 1–36.

8. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: Assessment and management.* London, UK:Clinical Guideline [Ng59]: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2016). 1–18. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59

9. Inoue S, Kamiya M, Nishihara M, Arai Y-CP, Ikemoto T, Ushida T. Prevalence, characteristics, and burden of failed back surgery syndrome: the influence of various residual symptoms on patient satisfaction and quality of life as assessed by a nationwide internet survey in Japan. *J Pain Res.* (2017) 10:811–23. doi: 10.2147/JPR. S129295

10. Neuman MD, Bateman BT, Wunsch H. Inappropriate opioid prescription after surgery. *Lancet.* (2019) 393(10180):1547–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19) 30428-3

11. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science*. (1965) 150 (3699):971–9. doi: 10.1126/science.150.3699.971

12. Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. Science. (1977) 196(4286):129-36. doi: 10.1126/science.847460

13. Nicholas MK. The biopsychosocial model of pain 40 years on: time for a reappraisal? *Pain.* (2022) 163(S1):S3-S14. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002654

14. Cheatle MD. Biopsychosocial approach to assessing and managing patients with chronic pain. *Med Clin N Am.* (2016) 100(1):43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2015.08.007

15. Bevers K, Watts L, Kishino ND, Gatchel RJ. The biopsychosocial model of the assessment, prevention, and treatment of chronic pain. US Neurol. (2016) 12 (2):98–104. doi: 10.17925/USN.2016.12.02.98

16. Bruner JS. Actual minds, possible worlds. Harvard, USA: Harvard university press (2009).

17. Harding S-A. "How do I apply narrative theory?": socio-narrative theory in translation studies. *Targ Intern J Transl Stud.* (2012) 24(2):286–309. doi: 10.1075/ target.24.2.04har

18. Cuyul-Vásquez I, Barría JA, Perez NF, Fuentes J. The influence of verbal suggestions in the management of musculoskeletal pain: a narrative review. *Phys Ther Rev.* (2019) 24(3-4):175-81. doi: 10.1080/10833196.2019.1639011

19. Overcash JA. Narrative research: a review of methodology and relevance to clinical practice. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2003) 48(2):179–84. doi: 10.1016/j. critrevonc.2003.04.006

20. Owens JE, Menard M, Plews-Ogan M, Calhoun LG, Ardelt M. Stories of growth and wisdom: a mixed-methods study of people living well with pain. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2016) 5(1):16–28. doi: 10.7453/gahmj.2015.065

21. Rutledge PB. Everything is story: telling stories and positive psychology. California: ABC-CLIO LLC (2016). 01–25.

22. Baumeister RF, Wilson B. Life stories and the four need for meaning. *Psychol Inq*. (1996) 7(4):322–5. doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli0704_2

23. McAdams DP. The psychology of life stories. Rev Gen Psychol. (2001) 5 (2):100-22. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.5.2.100

24. Facco E. Pain, the unknown: epistemological issues and related clinical implications. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2021) 87(11):1255–67. doi: 10.23736/S0375-9393. 21.15920-6

25. Corns J. The complex reality of pain. London: Routledge (2022).

26. Scarry E. The body in pain: the making and unmaking of the world. USA: Oxford University Press (1985).

27. van Hout F, van Rooden A, Slatman J. Chronicling the chronic: narrating the meaninglessness of chronic pain. *Med Humanit.* (2022) 49(1):1–8. doi: 10.1136/ medhum-2021-012331

28. Toye F, Seers K, Barker KL. Meta-ethnography to understand healthcare professionals' experience of treating adults with chronic non-malignant pain. *BMJ Open*. (2017) 7(12):e018411. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018411

29. Toye F, Belton J, Hannink E, Seers K, Barker K. A healing journey with chronic pain: a meta-ethnography synthesizing 195 qualitative studies. *Pain Med.* (2021) 22 (6):1333–44. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa373

30. Toye F, Seers K, Allcock N, Briggs M, Carr E, Andrews J, et al. Patients' experiences of chronic non-malignant musculoskeletal pain: a qualitative systematic review. *Br J Gen Pract.* (2013) 63(617):e829–41. doi: 10.3399/bjgp13X675412

31. Johnson MI, Chazot P, Cole F, Cruickshank R, Fuller D, Keyse C, et al. Pain through the perspective of art and creativity: insights from the unmasking pain project. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne).* (2023) 4:1179116. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023. 1179116

32. Miglio N, Stanier J. Beyond pain scales: a critical phenomenology of the expression of pain. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne)*. (2022) 3:895443. doi: 10.3389/fpain. 2022.895443

33. Storr W. The science of stroytelling. London: Williams Collins (2019).

34. Dunbar RI. Group Size. Vocal grooming and the origins of language. *Psychon Bull Rev.* (2017) 24(1):209-12. doi: 10.3758/s13423-016-1122-6

35. Angel S, Jensen LD, Maribo T, Gonge BK, Buus N. Narratives of life with long-term low back pain: a follow up interview study. *Scand J Pain.* (2017) 17(1):382–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sjpain.2017.09.018

36. Hydén L-C. Illness and narrative. Sociol Health Ill. (2008) 19(1):48–69. doi: 10. 1111/j.1467-9566.1997.tb00015.x

37. Hovey RB, Khayat VC, Feig E. Listening to and letting pain speak: poetic reflections. Br J Pain. (2018) 12(2):95–103. doi: 10.1177/2049463717741146

38. Wainwright E, Wainwright D, Coghill N, Walsh J, Perry R. Resilience and return-to-work pain interventions: systematic review. *Occup Med (Chic Ill)*. (2019) 69(3):163–76. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqz012

39. Cook AJ, Brawer PA, Vowles KE. The fear-avoidance model of chronic pain: validation and age analysis using structural equation modeling. *Pain.* (2006) 121 (3):195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2005.11.018

40. Costanza A, Chytas V, Piguet V, Luthy C, Mazzola V, Bondolfi G, et al. Meaning in life among patients with chronic pain and suicidal ideation: mixed methods study. *JMIR Form Res.* (2021) 5(6):e29365. doi: 10.2196/29365

41. Zale EL, Lange KL, Fields SA, Ditre JW. The relation between pain-related fear and disability: a meta-analysis. *J Pain.* (2013) 14(10):1019–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain. 2013.05.005

42. Braunwalder C, Muller R, Glisic M, Fekete C. Are positive psychology interventions efficacious in chronic pain treatment? A systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pain Med.* (2022) 23(1):122–36. doi: 10. 1093/pm/pnab247

43. Müller R, Segerer W, Ronca E, Gemperli A, Stirnimann D, Scheel-Sailer A, et al. Inducing positive emotions to reduce chronic pain: a randomized controlled trial of positive psychology exercises. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2022) 44(12):2691–704. doi: 10.1080/ 09638288.2020.1850888

44. Brady A, Grenville-Cleave B. Positive psychology in sport and exercise. New York, NY: Routledge (2018).

45. Seligman M. Agency in greco-roman philosophy. J Posit Psychol. (2021) 16 (1):1–10. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2020.1832250

46. Waterman AS. The humanistic psychology–positive psychology divide: contrasts in philosophical foundations. *American Psychologist.* (2013) 68(3):124–33. doi: 10. 1037/a0032168

47. Seligman M. Flourish: a visionary new understanding of happiness and wellbeing. London, UK: Simon and Schuster (2012).

48. Bauer JJ, McAdams DP, Pals JL. Narrative identity and eudaimonic well-being. J Happiness Stud. (2008) 9(1):81-104. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9021-6

49. Pals JL, McAdams DP. The transformed self: a narrative understanding of posttraumatic growth. *Psychol Inq.* (2004) 15(1):65–59.

50. Peterson CA, Seligman MEP. Character strengths and virtues: a handbook and classification. Washington DC, USA: Oxford University Press (2004). p. 800.

51. McGrath RE. Technical report: the via assessment suite for adults: development and initial evaluation (rev. Ed.). Cincinnati, OH: VIA Institute on Character (2019).

52. McGrath RE, Wallace N. Cross-validation of the via inventory of strengthsrevised and its short forms. J Pers Assess. (2021) 103(1):120-31. doi: 10.1080/ 00223891.2019.1705465

53. Schutte NS, Malouff JM. The impact of signature character strengths interventions: a meta-analysis. *J Happiness Stud.* (2019) 20(4):1179–96. doi: 10. 1007/s10902-018-9990-2

54. Niemiec RM. Character strengths interventions: a field guide for practitioners. Boston, MA: Hogrefe Publishing GmbH (2018).

55. Lilgendahl JP, McAdams DP. Constructing stories of self-growth: how individual differences in patterns of autobiographical reasoning relate to well-being in midlife: stories of self-growth. J Pers. (2011) 79(2):391–428. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2010.00688.x

56. Thomas H, Mitchell G, Rich J, Best M. Definition of whole person care in general practice in the english language literature: a systematic review. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8(12):e023758. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023758

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Marco L. Loggia, Harvard Medical School, United States

REVIEWED BY Richa Wardhan, University of Florida, United States Wesley Gilliam, Mayo Clinic, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Yuelin (Cindy) Li 🖂 liyuelin@pm.me

RECEIVED 16 December 2022 ACCEPTED 18 September 2023 PUBLISHED 24 October 2023

CITATION

Li Y and Hapidou EG (2023) Multidimensional visualization and analysis of chronic pain variables of patients who attended a chronic pain program. Front. Pain Res. 4:1125992.

doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1125992

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Li and Hapidou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Multidimensional visualization and analysis of chronic pain variables of patients who attended a chronic pain program

Yuelin (Cindy) Li^{1*} and Eleni G. Hapidou^{2,3}

¹University of London Worldwide, London, United Kingdom, ²Michael G. DeGroote Pain Clinic, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ³McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Psychologically-based chronic pain variables measure multiple domains of the pain experience such as anxiety, depression, catastrophizing, acceptance and stages of change. These variables measure specific areas such as emotional and cognitive states towards chronic pain and its management, acceptance towards the chronic pain condition, and an individual's readiness to move towards self-management methods. Conceptually, these variables appear to be interrelated to each other, and also form groupings of similar underlying themes. Groupings that have been previously discussed for these variables include positive and negative affect, and improved and poor adjustment. Psychological experience of chronic pain as a whole is mostly understood through conceptually consolidating individual scores across different measures covering multiple domains. A map of these variables in relation to each other can offer an overview for further understanding and exploration. We hereby visualize highlights of relationships among 11 psychosocial chronic pain variables including measures examining physical and somatic aspects, using three-dimensional biplots. Variables roughly form two groupings, with one grouping consisting of items of negative affect, cognition, and physical state ratings, and the other grouping consisting of items of acceptance and the later three stages of change (contemplation, action, maintenance). Also, we follow up with canonical correlation as a complement to further identify key relationships between bimodal groupings. Key variables linking bimodal relationships consist of catastrophizing, depression and anxiety in one grouping and activity engagement in the other. Results are discussed in the context of existing literature.

KEYWORDS

chronic pain, visualization, biplot, canonical correlation analyses (CCA), outcomes—health care

Introduction

The biopsychosocial model conceptualizes pain from three perspectives, the physiological, psychological and sociocultural and their interactions (1). The psychological portion of the model further comprises individual factors such as affect, cognition, acceptance and stages of change. Affective factors include anxiety, depression, and catastrophizing, which are negative in quality (2). Multiple anxiety and trauma-related disorders such as panic and posttraumatic stress (PTSD) are associated with chronic pain and pain-related impairment (3, 4). The presence of pain or depression negatively influences treatment outcomes of the other, and these two factors may also interact with each other to negatively influence pain outcomes (5). Anxiety, together with depression increases odds of disabling pain, even with anxiety or depression in remission (6).

Anxiety and depression can interact with cognitive factors such as catastrophizing, which is a mediator for both anxiety and depression, and has also been found to predict depressive symptoms (7–9). Conversely, anxiety and depression can potentiate catastrophizing (10).

In addition to affective factors, chronic pain experiences have been captured through variables with positive qualities including pain acceptance and stages of change. These are related to improved functioning (11), and are intertwined with negative affect and cognition. The pain willingness (PW) and activities engagement (AE) subscales of the Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ) are negatively associated with depressive symptoms and pain intensity and positively associated with functioning and work (12, 13). Acceptance is a mediator for the effect of pain on catastrophizing (14). In a study that examined the effects of a multidisciplinary CBT-based intervention on pain intensity and interference, only catastrophizing and AE were significant predictors of changes in pain and interference (15). Catastrophizing also has a notable influence on the relationship between acceptance and chronic pain adjustment (16).

The Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire (PSOCQ) is also intermingled with pain affect. Patients with chronic pain have different beliefs regarding pain management, and changing behaviour might be related to changes in stages of readiness (17, 18). Anxiety and depression significantly predicted the pre-contemplation subscale of the PSOCQ (19) in patients with chronic pain assessed at multidisciplinary pain clinics. Lower depression scores were associated with decreased scores in pre-contemplation and increased scores in maintenance pre- to post-treatment from interdisciplinary pain management programs (20, 21). Also, reductions in pre-contemplation and increases in action/maintenance were associated with improvements in functioning and pain (20). Change scores in pre-contemplation before and after pain neuroscience education were positively related to change scores in pain catastrophizing (22). In patients with fibromyalgia, increase in contemplation was associated with increase in catastrophizing, and post-treatment, depression was associated with contemplation in pain clinic patients (23). For patients in the action/maintenance stages, higher scores on weekly positive affect were associated with lower weekly pain perception (24).

These different measures make up two groups of factors: one consisting of negative affect/poor adjustment to chronic pain (depression, anxiety, catastrophizing), and the other consisting of positive affect/improved adjustment to chronic pain (CPAQ, PSOCQ) (11). Pain management aims at decreasing negative affect/poor adjustment and increasing positive affect/improved adjustment. These two groups may be bivalent, consisting of negative affect/poor adjustment and positive affect/improved adjustment (25). However, according to the Dynamic Affect Model, the differentiation between positive and negative affect is not as clear during stressful events such as pain and this may show variation between people as well. In chronic pain, which is a stressful event, there is more overlap between positive and negative affect (26). This study aims to explore the relationship between positive and negative factors, how these conceptual

groups are reflected in practice, and which factors are key in the connection between the positive and negative.

Methods

Data were collected as described in Li and Hapidou (27). In short, participants were adults attending a four-week chronic pain management program from 2007 to 2017. The program has been described in Williams et al. (21). The University and Hospital Ethics Board reviewed the study protocol and determined ethical approval for retrospective data analysis was not necessary.

Brief description of the sample

The average age (SD) of the participants was 44.20 (10.28), with 49% males and 51% females. Their educational level was 13.35 years (3.24) and their pain duration was 64.99 (76.20). The majority, 80%, were Canadian-born and 65% were employed. The majority of patients had musculoskeletal pain.

Previous data analysis demonstrated highly significant changes between admission and discharge (p < 0.001) on the variables administered in the program such as pain intensity, depression, catastrophizing, anxiety, stages of change and pain acceptance (27).

Data analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) examined the structure and relationship of psychometric variables at admission and discharge (28). Then, the principal components were scaled and plotted on three-dimensional variable biplots for visualization. Biplots allow visual representation of the relationships among variables. A variable biplot focuses on relationships among variables (29).

The angle between the variable vectors represents correlation between the variables, and the length of the vector represents the variance of the variable (30).

A three-dimensional biplot includes the first 3 eigenvectors, and can capture the dimensions to a greater degree as compared to a two-dimensional representation (31).

The lengths of the vectors in the biplot were calculated as follows: the first 3 principal components in the admission and discharge datasets were scaled by the square root of their respective eigenvalues (32).

Canonical correlation analysis was conducted on both admission and discharge datasets, dividing the variables into two conceptual sets: negative affect/poor adjustment, positive affect/ improved adjustment (33, 34). Canonical correlation can be used as a complement to PCA to further examine and concur structural relations (35).

Statistical analysis was conducted using R Statistical Software (v4.1.1) and RStudio (v2021.09.0.351) (36, 37). Biplots were created using the plotly package (v4.10.0) (38). Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin test and Bartlett's test of sphericity were conducted using the psych package (v2.1.9) (39). Canonical correlation analysis was conducted using the CCA package (v1.2.1) and significance tests were conducted using the CCP package (v1.1) (40, 41).

Results

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed on admission and discharge datasets from a total of 927 patients with chronic pain who attended a four-week interdisciplinary chronic pain management program.

There were complete data on the 11 variables from 780 patients in the admission dataset, and from 797 patients in the discharge dataset.

Outliers were calculated with Mahalanobis distances, with criterion at p < 0.001 (28). After removing outliers, there were 770 patients in the admission dataset and 788 patients in the discharge dataset.

Variables were overall normally distributed as assessed by their graphed distribution (28).

Assumptions of linearity between 2 variables within the admission and discharge set were also met, as assessed by bivariate scatterplots (28).

The large samples were adequate for analysis. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test was 0.83 for the admission dataset, and 0.89 for the discharge dataset (42).

The determinant of the correlation matrices for admission and discharge were non-zero and there were enough correlations between the variables to conduct dimensional analysis (43). Bartlett's test of sphericity for the admission dataset was 3120.79 (p < 0.001) and 4,330.22 (p < 0.001) for the discharge dataset (44).

There were two moderately high correlations, between the action and maintenance subscales of the PSOCQ (correlation = 0.73 for admission, correlation = 0.75 for discharge) (See **Tables 1, 2**). There were no correlations above 0.90. For the

purposes of structural and dimensional analysis, presence of higher correlations will not affect the strength of the analysis (28).

The first 3 principal components in the admission dataset and the discharge dataset were plotted in 3-dimensional biplots (See **Figures 1, 2**). Principal components and eigenvalues are shown in **Tables 3, 4**. Admission and discharge structures were similar, with roughly two groupings. One grouping consisted of somatic symptoms, anxiety, depression, catastrophizing, pain intensity and pre-contemplation. The other grouping consisted of activity engagement, action, maintenance, and contemplation. The vector for pain willingness leaned towards the second grouping. Vectors within the groupings became more tightly correlated at discharge as compared to admission, as shown by the distance between their vectors in the biplot.

Canonical correlation was performed between the two sets of variables representing negative affect/poor adjustment (somatic symptoms, anxiety, depression, catastrophizing, pain intensity) and positive affect/ improved adjustment (CPAQ, PSOCQ). For admission, the first canonical correlation was 0.68, the second was 0.20, the third was 0.12, and the following two correlations were close to zero. The F-test was F (30, 3080.00) = 18.65, *p* < 0.001 for all 5 canonical correlations. After removing the first canonical correlation, the F-test value was F (20, 2521.59) = 2.41, *p* < 0.001. Removing the second canonical correlation and subsequent removals produced F-tests that were not significant. Therefore, significant relationships between the two groupings were captured by the first two pairs of canonical variates.

Table 5 shows standardized canonical variate coefficients, correlations between the variates and canonical variates, proportion of variance, redundancy and canonical correlations for the admission data. From total proportion variance and redundancy, the first pair of canonical variates were moderately related, and the second pair of canonical variates were weakly related.

All variables in the negative affect/poor adjustment set were correlated with the first canonical variate, with all correlations of

TABLE 1 Correlation table of variables in admission datase

Admission	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Pain Intensity	1									
2. Depression	0.29***	1								
3. Catastrophizing	0.33***	0.64***	1							
4. Anxiety	0.26***	0.72***	0.58***	1						
5. Somatic Symptoms	0.21***	0.59***	0.48***	0.57***	1					
6. Activity Engagement	-0.26***	-0.50***	-0.49***	-0.44***	-0.33***	1				
7. Pain Willingness	-0.23***	-0.35***	-0.47***	-0.30***	-0.27***	0.33***	1			
8. Pre-contemplation	0.21***	0.33***	0.45***	0.25***	0.22***	-0.29***	-0.34***	1		
9. Contemplation	-0.02	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	0.05	0.08*	-0.15***	-0.21***	1	
10. Action	-0.09**	-0.24***	-0.28***	-0.16***	-0.10**	0.36***	0.09*	-0.30***	0.25***	1
11. Maintenance	-0.13***	-0.28***	-0.31***	-0.22***	-0.15***	0.43***	0.11***	-0.24***	0.16***	0.73***

Pain Intensity = Pain Intensity Scale; Depression = Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depressed Mood Scale; Catastrophizing = Pain Catastrophizing Scale; Anxiety = Clinical Anxiety Scale; Somatic Symptoms = Patient Questionnaire of the PRIME-MD; Activity Engagement = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Activity Engagement; Pain Willingness = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Pain Willingness; Pre-contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Pre-contemplation; Contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Contemplation; Action = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Action; Maintenance = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Maintenance.

*<0.05.

**p < 0.01.

***p < 0.001.

117

TABLE 2 Correlation table of variables in discharge dataset.

Discharge	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Pain Intensity	1									
2. Depression	0.35***	1								
3. Catastrophizing	0.34***	0.66***	1							
4. Anxiety	0.31***	0.74***	0.65***	1						
5. Somatic Symptoms	0.29***	0.65***	0.53***	0.64***	1					
6. Activity Engagement	-0.28***	-0.55***	-0.56***	-0.48***	-0.43***	1				
7. Pain Willingness	-0.18***	-0.33***	-0.54***	-0.33***	-0.26***	0.27***	1			
8. Pre-contemplation	0.26***	0.43***	0.56***	0.36***	0.33***	-0.45***	-0.30***	1		
9. Contemplation	-0.20***	-0.21***	-0.20***	-0.16***	-0.13***	0.30***	-0.06	-0.41***	1	
10. Action	-0.32***	-0.40***	-0.39***	-0.30***	-0.29***	0.46***	0.08*	-0.53***	0.59***	1
11. Maintenance	-0.30***	-0.44***	-0.39***	-0.33***	-0.31***	0.48***	0.08*	-0.54***	0.56***	0.75***

Pain Intensity = Pain Intensity Scale; Depression = Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depressed Mood Scale; Catastrophizing = Pain Catastrophizing Scale; Anxiety = Clinical Anxiety Scale; Somatic Symptoms = Patient Questionnaire of the PRIME-MD; Activity Engagement = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Activity Engagement; Pain Willingness = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Pain Willingness; Pre-contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Pre-contemplation; Contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Contemplation; Action = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Activity Engages of Change Questionnaire – Activity = Pain Stages of Chang

*<0.05.

**p < 0.01.

***p < 0.005.



these variables above 0.3 (28). The strongest correlations were catastrophizing (0.95) and depression (0.82). Except for contemplation, all variables in the positive affect/ improved adjustment set were correlated with the first canonical variable. The strongest correlation was activity engagement (-0.81). The first canonical variate indicated that increases in catastrophizing, depression, pain intensity, anxiety, and somatic symptoms were associated with decreases in activity engagement, pain willingness, action and maintenance and increase in pre-contemplation.

The second canonical variate consisted of depression (0.43) and anxiety (0.61) in the negative affect/poor adjustment set, and activity engagement (-0.56) and pre-contemplation (-0.47) in the positive affect/ improved adjustment set. The second canonical variate showed that decreased depression and anxiety were associated with increase in activity engagement, and pre-contemplation.

For discharge, the first canonical correlation was 0.76, the second was 0.30, the third was 0.16 and the following two



TABLE 3 Principal components of admission and discharge datasets. Principal components consist of eigenvectors scaled by the square root of eigenvalues.

Admission	Variable	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8	PC9	PC10	PC11
	Pain Intensity	0.44	-0.14	0.37	-0.12	-0.79	0.12	-0.03	0.01	-0.03	0.00	-0.01
	Depression	0.82	-0.21	-0.25	-0.09	0.02	-0.01	0.01	-0.18	-0.10	0.38	0.16
	Catastrophizing	0.82	-0.14	0.10	-0.04	0.09	0.00	0.00	-0.22	0.49	-0.07	-0.02
	Anxiety	0.75	-0.28	-0.34	-0.14	0.00	-0.04	0.00	-0.26	-0.25	-0.27	-0.13
	Somatic Symptoms	0.64	-0.36	-0.35	-0.08	0.06	0.30	-0.12	0.47	0.07	-0.03	-0.01
	Activity Engagement	-0.71	-0.12	0.04	-0.18	0.09	0.52	-0.32	-0.25	-0.01	-0.01	0.05
	Pain Willingness	-0.54	0.30	-0.52	-0.26	-0.25	0.20	0.41	-0.06	0.12	0.00	0.00
	Pre-contemplation	0.56	0.16	0.51	-0.29	0.32	0.28	0.35	0.04	-0.13	-0.03	0.03
	Contemplation	-0.13	-0.54	0.03	0.75	-0.02	0.24	0.25	-0.07	-0.02	0.01	-0.03
	Action	-0.49	-0.73	0.05	-0.23	0.00	-0.18	0.11	0.03	0.02	-0.14	0.32
	Maintenance	-0.53	-0.66	0.12	-0.35	0.08	-0.10	0.07	0.02	0.03	0.17	-0.31
Discharge	Variable	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8	PC9	PC10	PC11
Discharge	Variable Pain Intensity	PC1 0.50	PC2 -0.01	PC3 0.17	PC4 -0.85	PC5 -0.03	PC6 0.05	PC7 -0.07	PC8 0.02	PC9 -0.02	PC10 -0.01	PC11 0.00
Discharge												
Discharge	Pain Intensity	0.50	-0.01	0.17	-0.85	-0.03	0.05	-0.07	0.02	-0.02	-0.01	0.00
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression	0.50 0.81	-0.01 0.28	0.17 0.24	-0.85 0.10	-0.03 0.04	0.05	-0.07 0.01	0.02 -0.19	-0.02 -0.23	-0.01 0.32	0.00
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing	0.50 0.81 0.81	-0.01 0.28 0.31	0.17 0.24 -0.22	-0.85 0.10 0.02	-0.03 0.04 0.03	0.05 -0.01 0.02	-0.07 0.01 -0.12	0.02 -0.19 -0.13	-0.02 -0.23 0.32	-0.01 0.32 0.00	0.00 -0.08 -0.26
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing Anxiety	0.50 0.81 0.81 0.75	-0.01 0.28 0.31 0.38	0.17 0.24 -0.22 0.28	-0.85 0.10 0.02 0.11	-0.03 0.04 0.03 0.11	0.05 -0.01 0.02 -0.12	-0.07 0.01 -0.12 -0.09	0.02 -0.19 -0.13 -0.25	-0.02 -0.23 0.32 0.01	-0.01 0.32 0.00 -0.24	0.00 -0.08 -0.26 0.23
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing Anxiety Somatic Symptoms	0.50 0.81 0.81 0.75 0.68	-0.01 0.28 0.31 0.38 0.34	0.17 0.24 -0.22 0.28 0.38	-0.85 0.10 0.02 0.11 0.12	-0.03 0.04 0.03 0.11 0.17	0.05 -0.01 0.02 -0.12 0.06	-0.07 0.01 -0.12 -0.09 0.14	0.02 -0.19 -0.13 -0.25 0.45	-0.02 -0.23 0.32 0.01 0.05	-0.01 0.32 0.00 -0.24 -0.02	0.00 -0.08 -0.26 0.23 -0.03
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing Anxiety Somatic Symptoms Activity Engagement	0.50 0.81 0.81 0.75 0.68 -0.73	-0.01 0.28 0.31 0.38 0.34 0.00	0.17 0.24 -0.22 0.28 0.38 0.01	-0.85 0.10 0.02 0.11 0.12 -0.13	-0.03 0.04 0.03 0.11 0.17 0.63	0.05 -0.01 0.02 -0.12 0.06 0.01	-0.07 0.01 -0.12 -0.09 0.14 0.16	0.02 0.19 0.13 0.25 0.45 0.13	-0.02 -0.23 0.32 0.01 0.05 0.03	-0.01 0.32 0.00 -0.24 -0.02 0.02	0.00 -0.08 -0.26 0.23 -0.03 -0.05
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing Anxiety Somatic Symptoms Activity Engagement Pain Willingness	0.50 0.81 0.75 0.68 -0.73 -0.43	-0.01 0.28 0.31 0.38 0.34 0.00 -0.50	0.17 0.24 -0.22 0.28 0.38 0.01 0.64	-0.85 0.10 0.02 0.11 0.12 -0.13 0.12	-0.03 0.04 0.03 0.11 0.17 0.63 -0.04	0.05 -0.01 0.02 -0.12 0.06 0.01 0.28	-0.07 0.01 -0.12 -0.09 0.14 0.16 -0.20	0.02 -0.19 -0.13 -0.25 0.45 -0.13 -0.10	-0.02 -0.23 0.32 0.01 0.05 0.03 0.12	$ \begin{array}{r} -0.01 \\ 0.32 \\ 0.00 \\ -0.24 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ \end{array} $	0.00 -0.08 -0.26 0.23 -0.03 -0.05 -0.07
Discharge	Pain Intensity Depression Catastrophizing Anxiety Somatic Symptoms Activity Engagement Pain Willingness Pre-contemplation	0.50 0.81 0.75 0.68 -0.73 -0.43 0.71	-0.01 0.28 0.31 0.38 0.34 0.00 -0.50 -0.19	0.17 0.24 -0.22 0.28 0.38 0.01 0.64 -0.38	-0.85 0.10 0.02 0.11 0.12 -0.13 0.12 0.08	-0.03 0.04 0.03 0.11 0.17 0.63 -0.04 0.21	0.05 -0.01 0.02 -0.12 0.06 0.01 0.28 0.44	-0.07 0.01 -0.12 -0.09 0.14 0.16 -0.20 -0.22	0.02 -0.19 -0.13 -0.25 0.45 -0.13 -0.10 0.06	-0.02 -0.23 0.32 0.01 0.05 0.03 0.12 -0.10	-0.01 0.32 0.00 -0.24 -0.02 0.02 0.01 -0.01	0.00 -0.08 -0.26 0.23 -0.03 -0.05 -0.07 0.11

Pain Intensity = Pain Intensity Scale; Depression = Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depressed Mood Scale; Catastrophizing = Pain Catastrophizing Scale; Anxiety = Clinical Anxiety Scale; Somatic Symptoms = Patient Questionnaire of the PRIME-MD; Activity Engagement = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Activity Engagement; Pain Willingness = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Pain Willingness; Pre-contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Pre-contemplation; Action = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Activity Barbard Stages of Change Questionnaire – Action; Maintenance = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Maintenance.

Admission	Principal Component	Eigenvalue	Proportion Variance	Cumulative % Variance
	1	4.14	37.64%	37.64%
	2	1.68	15.25%	52.89%
	3	0.99	9.02%	61.91%
	4	0.97	8.85%	70.76%
	5	0.82	7.42%	78.18%
	6	0.60	5.44%	83.62%
	7	0.48	4.41%	88.02%
	8	0.44	4.02%	92.05%
	9	0.35	3.19%	95.24%
	10	0.27	2.49%	97.73%
	11	0.25	2.27%	100.00%
Discharge	Principal Component	Eigenvalue	Proportion Variance	Cumulative % Variance
	1	5.00	45.47%	45.47%
	2	1.74	15.81%	61.28%
	3	0.90	8.19%	69.47%
	4	0.80	7.25%	76.72%
	5	0.53	4.86%	81.58%
	6	0.47	4.23%	85.81%
	6 7	0.47 0.43	4.23% 3.91%	85.81% 89.72%
	7	0.43	3.91%	89.72%
	7	0.43 0.38	3.91% 3.48%	89.72% 93.20%

TABLE 4 Eigenvalues of principal component analysis of admission and discharge datasets.

TABLE 5 Canonical correlation analysis of the admission dataset. Variables grouped by negative affect/ poor adjustment (Pain Intensity, Depression, Catastrophizing, Anxiety, Somatic Symptoms) and positive affect/ improved adjustment (Activity Engagement, Pain Willingness, Pre-contemplation, Contemplation, Action, Maintenance).

Admission	First Ca	anonical Variate	Second	l Canonical Variate
	Correlation	Function Coefficient	Correlation	Function Coefficient
Negative Affect/ Poor Adjustme	ent Set Variables			
Pain Intensity	0.47	0.15	0.07	0.06
Depression	0.82	0.32	0.43	0.49
Catastrophizing	0.95	0.69	-0.24	-1.05
Anxiety	0.69	0.03	0.61	0.91
Somatic Symptoms	0.55	-0.01	0.22	-0.09
Proportion of Variance	0.52		0.13	Total = 0.65
Redundancy	0.24		0.01	Total = 0.25
Positive Affect/ Improved Adjust	stment Set Variables			
Activity Engagement	-0.81	-0.52	-0.56	-0.95
Pain Willingness	-0.71	-0.40	0.32	0.41
Pre-contemplation	0.67	0.35	-0.47	-0.53
Contemplation	-0.08	0.00	-0.07	-0.13
Action	-0.42	-0.01	0.18	0.42
Maintenance	-0.48	-0.12	-0.03	-0.08
Proportion of Variance	0.34		0.11	Total = 0.45
Redundancy	0.15		0.00	Total = 0.15
Canonical correlation	0.68		0.20	
Canonical correlation squared	0.46		0.04	

Pain Intensity = Pain Intensity Scale; Depression = Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depressed Mood Scale; Catastrophizing = Pain Catastrophizing Scale; Anxiety = Clinical Anxiety Scale; Somatic Symptoms = Patient Questionnaire of the PRIME-MD; Activity Engagement = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Activity Engagement; Pain Willingness = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Pain Willingness; Pre-contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Pre-contemplation; Contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Contemplation; Action = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Activity = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Action; Maintenance = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Maintenance.

correlations were close to zero. The F-test was F (30, 3110.00) = 29.05, p < 0.001 for all 5 canonical correlations. After removing the first canonical correlation, the F-test value was F (20,

2581.28) = 4.96, p < 0.001. Removing the third canonical correlation and subsequent removals produced F-tests that were not significant (p > 0.001). Therefore, significant relationships

TABLE 6 Canonical correlation analysis of the discharge dataset. Variables grouped by negative affect/ poor adjustment (Pain Intensity, Depression, Catastrophizing, Anxiety, Somatic Symptoms) and positive affect/ improved adjustment (Activity Engagement, Pain Willingness, Pre-contemplation, Contemplation, Action, Maintenance).

Discharge	First Ca	anonical Variate	Second Canonical Variate	
	Correlation	Function Coefficient	Correlation	Function Coefficient
Negative Affect/ Poor Adjustme	ent Set Variables			
Pain Intensity	0.45	0.10	-0.41	-0.39
Depression	0.79	0.26	-0.52	-0.95
Catastrophizing	0.97	0.79	0.22	1.14
Anxiety	0.70	-0.07	-0.30	-0.11
Somatic Symptoms	0.62	0.04	-0.36	-0.17
Proportion of Variance	0.53		0.14	Total = 0.67
Redundancy	0.31		0.01	Total = 0.32
Positive Affect/ Improved Adjust	stment Set Variables			
Activity Engagement	-0.78	-0.42	0.41	0.43
Pain Willingness	-0.69	-0.44	-0.52	-0.54
Pre-contemplation	0.76	0.34	0.12	0.57
Contemplation	-0.30	0.07	0.30	-0.12
Action	-0.57	-0.11	0.48	0.20
Maintenance	-0.58	-0.11	0.61	0.68
Proportion of Variance	0.40		0.19	Total = 0.59
Redundancy	0.23		0.02	Total = 0.25
Canonical correlation	0.76		0.30	
Canonical correlation squared	0.58		0.09	

Pain Intensity = Pain Intensity Scale; Depression = Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depressed Mood Scale; Catastrophizing = Pain Catastrophizing Scale; Anxiety = Clinical Anxiety Scale; Somatic Symptoms = Patient Questionnaire of the PRIME-MD; Activity Engagement = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Activity Engagement; Pain Willingness = Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire – Pain Willingness; Pre-contemplation = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Contemplation; Action = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Activity Engages of Change Questionnaire – Action; Maintenance = Pain Stages of Change Questionnaire – Maintenance.

between the two groupings were captured by the first two pairs of canonical variates.

Table 6 shows standardized canonical variate coefficients, correlations between the variates and canonical variates, proportion of variance, redundancy and canonical correlations for the discharge data. Similar to admission, the first pair of canonical variates were moderately related, and the second pair of canonical variates were weakly related. As compared to admission, both pairs of canonical correlates were more correlated in the discharge set.

All variables in the negative affect/poor adjustment set were correlated with the first canonical variate, with all correlations of these variables above 0.3 (28). The strongest correlations were again catastrophizing (0.97) and depression (0.79). All variables in the positive affect/ improved adjustment set were correlated with the first canonical variable. The strongest correlation was activity engagement (-0.78) and pre-contemplation (0.76). The first canonical variate indicated that increase in catastrophizing, depression, pain intensity, anxiety, and somatic symptoms was associated with decrease in activity engagement, pain willingness, contemplation, action, maintenance and increase in pre-contemplation.

The second canonical variate consisted of pain intensity (-0.41), depression (-0.52), and somatic symptoms (-0.36) in the negative affect/poor adjustment set, and pain willingness (-0.52), activity engagement (0.41) action (0.48), and maintenance (0.61) in the positive affect/improved adjustment set. The second canonical variate showed that decreased pain

intensity, depression and somatic symptoms were associated with increase in activity engagement, action and maintenance and decrease in pain willingness.

Overall, negative affect/poor adjustment is negatively correlated with the positive affect/improved adjustment, with pre-contemplation positively correlated with positive affect/ improved adjustment.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to examine the structure of variables in patients attending a chronic pain program, specifically groupings illustrating positive and negative variables. In the biplot, the overall structure of the variables makes up roughly two groupings. One grouping consists of anxiety, depression, catastrophizing, somatic symptoms, pain intensity and pre-contemplation. The second grouping roughly consists of contemplation, action, maintenance, activity engagement and pain willingness. Pain willingness appears to be the least correlated with the other factors in the second group. These two groupings appear to resonate with the bivalent Behavioral Inhibition System-Behavioral Activation System (BIS-BAS) model (45, 46), with one grouping consisting of generally positive variables and the other representing negative variables. The negative variables appear to consist of anxiety, depression and cognitive content; and the positive variables appear to consist of positive emotions and affect (46). The BIS-BAS

model, as proposed by Jensen et al. (2016, 2017) was devised to explain the benefits of psychosocial treatments for chronic pain (45, 46). It hypothesizes the existence of two groups of negative and positive cognitions, affect and behavioral intensions or motivations.

When comparing across admission and discharge biplots, the two groupings of variables become more tightly related at discharge. For example, in the positive variables grouping, contemplation moves closer to activity engagement, action, and maintenance cluster at discharge. This type of change has been previously described in the Dynamic Model of Affect (26) according to which, in stressful situations, the separation between positive and negative emotions decreases. The general pattern of clustering changes between admission and discharge as visualized in the biplots seems to reflect similar notions as those described in the Dynamic Model of Affect. That is, under stressful situations, the emotions become less differentiated.

This mixed state is shown in the admission biplot, with a wide spread of variables whereas in the discharge biplot, the separation between the groupings increases to create more distinct groupings, referring to a change to a possible lower stress state overall at discharge. This in fact, corresponds to the fact that all variables consistently improve at discharge from the four-week interdisciplinary pain management program (47).

Factors in the negative group, such as catastrophizing and anxiety, can be broadly considered to be related to poor psychological adjustment to pain (11). The physical functioning factors, namely pain intensity and somatic symptoms are very closely associated with emotional factors. Thus, physical sensation can be seen as an aspect of emotion. This highlights the importance of psychological treatment (48, 49). With the high correlation of pain intensity and somatic symptoms with these psychological factors, the first grouping may be considered as an aggregation of factors associated with poor adjustment psychological and physical functioning. Catastrophizing, emotional distress, and pain intensity have been found to be closely associated with each other (9, 50, 51). The pre-contemplation subscale of the PSOCQ is also positively associated with the close interplay of negative emotions, cognition, and physical pain. Patients in the pre-contemplation stage are focused on their physical pain and on seeking biomedical solutions (52). This grouping reflects earlier similar findings (23, 53).

In the canonical correlation analysis, at both admission and discharge, all five factors (pain intensity, depression, catastrophizing, anxiety, somatic symptoms) contribute to the poor adjustment canonical variate. Depression, and especially, catastrophizing contributes the most to predicting improved adjustment factors (activity engagement, pain willingness, pre-contemplation, contemplation, action, maintenance) as compared to the physically-focused factors, pain intensity and somatic symptoms.

Catastrophizing is the most influential factor in predicting improved adjustment. It is different from anxiety and depression. In the biplot, catastrophizing was more related to pre-contemplation as compared to other affective factors (depression, anxiety). In patients with chronic pain, depression and anxiety are more closely related to each other as compared with catastrophizing (54). Conceptually, catastrophizing is not pain intensity (55) but catastrophizing may be a mediator within the affective and physical factors such as the indirect effect of pain intensity on depressive symptoms via catastrophizing (7), or as a mediator for depressed mood, pain interference, and pain severity (10, 51, 56). Within the context of the pain experience and its effect on patients' lives, from the fearavoidance model, catastrophizing may be a gatekeeper between recovery and the loop of negative affect (54, 57).

In this study, catastrophizing was measured as a single dimension, which limits its interpretability in terms of its three sub-dimensions of rumination, magnification, and helplessness (58). However, it appears that the most notable sub-dimension of catastrophizing is helplessness (58). Helplessness catastrophizing is related to pain intensity (59). There may be an interplay between wanting to engage in recovery and return to normal living but helplessness keeps patients with chronic pain from doing so in the short term. Depression and anxiety may be related to long-term helplessness, as catastrophizing and depression are risk factors for physical disability and other poor adjustment outcomes in patients with chronic pain (50, 60). Thus, in this canonical correlation analysis specifically, it may be helplessness that most strongly correlates with factors of improved adjustment and functioning. Further analysis may examine this potential relationship.

In both admission and discharge biplots, there is another group of factors that appears generally negatively correlated with factors in the poor adjustment/functioning as mentioned previously. These factors consist of pain willingness, activity, engagement, contemplation, action, and maintenance. These are subdivisions of the chronic pain acceptance questionnaire and the stages of change questionnaire (13, 52), and psychological factors related to improved adjustment to chronic pain (11). The correlations within these factors are weaker as compared to poor adjustment/ functioning. The weaker correlation is most noticeable with pain willingness, as it appears to be almost unrelated to both poor and improved adjustment and functioning. In the biplots comparing principal component 1 (PC1) and principal component 2 (PC2), the two adjustment/functioning groupings point in another direction away from pain willingness. This open space may be representative of factors related to positive psychology, such as life satisfaction or self-efficacy. Pain willingness contributes less to the canonical variate as compared to the other subscale of the CPAQ, activities engagement. Pain willingness has been shown to be different from activities engagement, as activities engagement appears to be more closely related to pain intensity and depression in comparison (12, 61-63). Even though it appears to be different from activities engagement in the biplot, pain willingness contributes to the improved adjustment measures in a similar manner as activities engagement.

Further examination is needed to see how other factors fit into this space captured by the biplot. The action and maintenance subscales of the PSOCQ are closely related, and may measure similar concepts (52, 53). Patients with chronic pain were more willing to engage in self-management at discharge (23). In the biplot, at discharge, contemplation becomes more correlated with action and maintenance as compared to admission (64).

Of the six different factors that make up the improved adjustment/functioning canonical variate (pain willingness, activity engagement, pre-contemplation, contemplation, action, and maintenance), activity engagement has the largest contribution to the canonical variate in relating to lower scores on the poor adjustment/functioning measures. High scores on activity engagement, pain willingness and lower scores on pre-contemplation are predictive of lower scores on poor adjustment/functioning. The negative contribution of pre-contemplation corroborates with the pre-contemplation vector placement on the biplot, grouping together with poor adjustment variables. Pre-contemplation is negatively correlated with the rest of the PSOCQ subscales, and has been shown to be correlated with negative pain control, depression, disability and pain severity (23, 53). The contemplation subscale contributed the least to the canonical variate. It has been shown to be different from the other subscales as well (23). At discharge, the contemplation variable became more closely related to the poor adjustment latent. Even though the PSOCQ was developed for assessing patient readiness to engage in self-management at admission to a program or therapy (52), it may be important to re-examine subscales, especially the pre-contemplation and contemplation subscales at discharge as well as when patients move into long-term self-management.

In terms of relating poor adjustment/functioning and improved adjustment/functioning, the most notable relationship between the two groups is highlighted by catastrophizing and activity engagement. This relationship had been conceptualized with the Coping Strategies Questionnaire (CSQ), as catastrophizing in the CSQ was associated with pain interference in activities and increased pain behavior (65, 66). As well, acceptance may be an important factor of consideration for examining catastrophizing (16). It is unclear if pain level is correlated with pain willingness or activity engagement (9). Thus, it may be possible that change in pain cognition, such as catastrophizing, is a more immediate essential treatment outcome as compared to pain willingness, which may reflect behaviors that follow successful cognitive transition to self-management. Further studies may examine this relationship and possible precedents.

In conclusion, this study mapped the overall structure and pattern of interplay between variables in pain management. The relationships were found to be congruent with theories and models of pain psychology. Further work is needed develop these variable structures and improve understanding of treatment outcomes.

Potential limitations include the sample studied. This study utilizes one group of patients from one pain clinic in Canada.

References

1. Gatchel RJ, Peng YB, Peters ML, Fuchs PN, Turk DC. The biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain: scientific advances and future directions. *Psychol Bull.* (2007) 133:581. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.4.581

However, the length of time in the collected data and the different patient referral sources provide variation in the sample. Another potential limitation is the two time points in the collected data. Additional time points may provide further insight into changes in psychosocial variables. Future studies may examine changes over longer and multiple time points.

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study are subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Hospital owned patient information. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to EH, hapidou@hhsc.ca.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

YL and EH contributed to conception and design of the study. EH collected and managed the dataset. YL performed the statistical analysis. YL wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} Wootton RJ, Warfield CA, Bajwa ZH. *Principles and practice of pain medicine*. 3rd Ed. United States: McGraw-Hill Education (2016). Available at: https://books.google. ca/books?id=6NcUrgEACAAJ

3. Kroenke K, Outcalt S, Krebs E, Bair MJ, Wu J, Chumbler N, et al. Association between anxiety, health-related quality of life and functional impairment in primary care patients with chronic pain. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2013) 35:359–65. doi: 10. 1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.03.020

4. McWilliams LA, Cox BJ, Enns MW. Mood and anxiety disorders associated with chronic pain: an examination in a nationally representative sample. *Pain.* (2003) 106:127–33. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(03)00301-4

5. Bair MJ, Robinson RL, Katon W, Kroenke K. Depression and pain comorbidity: a literature review. *Arch Intern Med.* (2003) 163:2433–45. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.20. 2433

6. de Heer EW, Gerrits MM, Beekman AT, Dekker J, Van Marwijk HW, De Waal MW, et al. The association of depression and anxiety with pain: a study from NESDA. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e106907. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106907

7. Cheng S-T, Leung CM, Chan KL, Chen PP, Chow YF, Chung JW, et al. The relationship of self-efficacy to catastrophizing and depressive symptoms in community-dwelling older adults with chronic pain: a moderated mediation model. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0203964. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203964

8. Hülsebusch J, Hasenbring MI, Rusu AC. Understanding pain and depression in back pain: the role of catastrophizing, help-/hopelessness, and thought suppression as potential mediators. *Int J Behav Med.* (2016) 23:251–9. doi: 10.1007/s12529-015-9522-y

9. Lami MJ, Martínez MP, Miró E, Sánchez AI, Guzmán MA. Catastrophizing, acceptance, and coping as mediators between pain and emotional distress and disability in fibromyalgia. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings*. (2018) 25:80–92. doi: 10. 1007/s10880-018-9543-1

10. Dong H-J, Gerdle B, Bernfort L, Levin L-Å, Dragioti E. Pain catastrophizing in older adults with chronic pain: the mediator effect of mood using a path analysis approach. J Clin Med. (2020) 9:2073. doi: 10.3390/jcm9072073

11. Keefe FJ, Rumble ME, Scipio CD, Giordano LA, Perri LM. Psychological aspects of persistent pain: current state of the science. *J Pain*. (2004) 5:195–211. doi: 10.1016/j. jpain.2004.02.576

12. Carvalho SA, Gillanders D, Palmeira L, Pinto-Gouveia J, Castilho P. Mindfulness, selfcompassion, and depressive symptoms in chronic pain: the role of pain acceptance. *J Clin Psychol.* (2018) 74:2094–106. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22689

13. McCracken LM, Vowles KE, Eccleston C. Acceptance of chronic pain: component analysis and a revised assessment method. *Pain.* (2004) 107:159–66. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2003.10.012

14. Ravn SL, Vang ML, Vaegter HB, Andersen TE. Pain-related acceptance as a mediator in the fear avoidance model of chronic pain: a preliminary study. *Pain Medicine.* (2018) 19:1764–71. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnx223

15. Miró J, Castarlenas E, de la Vega R, Galán S, Sanchez-Rodriguez E, Jensen MP, et al. Pain catastrophizing, activity engagement and pain willingness as predictors of the benefits of multidisciplinary cognitive behaviorally-based chronic pain treatment. *J Behav Med.* (2018) 41:827–35. doi: 10.1007/s10865-018-9927-6

16. Esteve R, Ramírez-Maestre C, López-Martínez AE. Adjustment to chronic pain: the role of pain acceptance, coping strategies, and pain-related cognitions. *Ann Behav Med.* (2007) 33:179–88. doi: 10.1007/BF02879899

17. Kerns RD, Wagner J, Rosenberg R, Haythornthwaite J, Caudill-Slosberg M. Identification of subgroups of persons with chronic pain based on profiles on the pain stages of change questionnaire. *Pain.* (2005) 116:302–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pain. 2005.04.022

18. Krebs P, Norcross JC, Nicholson JM, Prochaska JO. Stages of change and psychotherapy outcomes: a review and meta-analysis. J Clin Psychol. (2018) 74:1964–79. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22683

19. Hadjistavropoulos H, Shymkiw J. Predicting readiness to self-manage pain. *Clin J Pain*. (2007) 23:259–66. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e31802f67f3

20. Jensen MP, Nielson WR, Turner JA, Romano JM, Hill ML. Changes in readiness to self-manage pain are associated with improvement in multidisciplinary pain treatment and pain coping. *Pain*. (2004) 111:84–95. doi: 10. 1016/j.pain.2004.06.003

21. Williams RM, Hapidou EG, Lin C-YA, Abbasi H. Examining the pain stages of change questionnaire in chronic pain. *Physiotherapy Canada*. (2007) 59:132–41. doi: 10.3138/ptc.59.2.132

22. Fletcher R, Braithwaite FA, Woodhouse M, MacInnes A, Stanton TR. Does readiness to change influence pain-related outcomes after an educational intervention for people with chronic pain? A pragmatic, preliminary study. *Physiother Theory Pract.* (2021) 37:608–19. doi: 10.1080/09593985.2019.1636436

23. Jensen MP, Nielson WR, Turner JA, Romano JM, Hill ML. Readiness to selfmanage pain is associated with coping and with psychological and physical functioning among patients with chronic pain. *Pain*. (2003) 104:529–37. doi: 10. 1016/S0304-3959(03)00092-7

24. Strand EB, Kerns RD, Christie A, Haavik-Nilsen K, Klokkerud M, Finset A. Higher levels of pain readiness to change and more positive affect reduce pain reports-a weekly assessment study on arthritis patients. *Pain.* (2007) 127:204–13. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.08.015

25. Finan PH, Garland EL. The role of positive affect in pain and its treatment. *Clin J Pain*. (2015) 31(2):177–87. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0000000000092

26. Zautra A, Smith B, Affleck G, Tennen H. Examinations of chronic pain and affect relationships: applications of a dynamic model of affect. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2001) 69:786. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.69.5.786

27. Li Y, Hapidou EG. Patient satisfaction with chronic pain management: patient perspectives of improvement. *Journal of Patient Experience*. (2021) 8:23743735211007830. doi: 10.1177/23743735211007834

28. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS, Ullman JB. Using multivariate statistics. Boston: Pearson (2019).

29. Husson F, Lê S, Pagès J. *Exploratory multivariate analysis by example using R*. New York: Taylor & Francis Limited (2020). Available at: https://books.google.ca/books?id=xyu5zQEACAAJ

30. Everitt B, Hothorn T. An introduction to applied multivariate analysis with R. New York: Springer Science & Business Media (2011). 284.

31. Gabriel KR. The biplot graphic display of matrices with application to principal component analysis. *Biometrika*. (1971) 58:453–67. doi: 10.1093/biomet/58.3.453

32. Jacoby WG. Statistical graphics for visualizing multivariate data. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications (1998). p. 120. Available at: http://archive.org/details/ statisticalgraph0000jaco (Accessed March 28, 2022).

33. Reading and understanding MORE multivariate statistics. Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association (2000). p. 437.

34. Sherry A, Henson RK. Conducting and interpreting canonical correlation analysis in personality research: a user-friendly primer. *J Pers Assess.* (2005) 84:37–48. doi: 10. 1207/s15327752jpa8401_09

35. Dunteman GH. *Principal components analysis*. California: SAGE Publications (1989). Available at: https://books.google.ca/books?id=Pzwt-CMMt4UC

36. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2021). Available at: https://www.R-project.org/

37. RStudio Team. RStudio: integrated development environment for R. Boston, MA (2021). Available at: http://www.rstudio.com/

38. Sievert C. Interactive web-based data visualization with r, plotly, and shiny. Florida: Chapman and Hall/CRC (2020). Available at: https://plotly-r.com

39. Revelle W. Psych: procedures for psychological, psychometric, and personality research. Evanston, Illinois (2021). Available at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=psych

40. González I, Déjean S. CCA: canonical correlation analysis. (2021). Available at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=CCA

41. Menzel U. CCP: significance tests for canonical correlation analysis (CCA). (2012). Available at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=CCP

42. Dziuban CD, Shirkey EC. When is a correlation matrix appropriate for factor analysis? Some decision rules. *Psychol Bull.* (1974) 81:358. doi: 10.1037/h0036316

43. Schumacker RE. Using R with multivariate statistics. 1st edition. California: SAGE Publications, Inc (2015). 406 p.

44. Meyers LS, Gamst G, Guarino AJ. Applied multivariate research: design and interpretation. California: Sage publications (2016).

45. Jensen MP, Ehde DM, Day MA. The behavioral activation and inhibition systems: implications for understanding and treating chronic pain. *J Pain.* (2016) 17:529–e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.02.001

46. Jensen MP, Ward LC, Thorn BE, Ehde DM, Day MA. Measuring the cognitions, emotions, and motivation associated with avoidance behaviors in the context of pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2017) 33:325–34. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0000000000000407

47. Hapidou EG, Pham E, Bartley K, Anthonypillai J, Altena S, Patterson L, et al. Chronic pain program management outcomes: long-term follow-up for veterans and civilians. *J Mil Veteran Fam Health.* (2021) 7:74–91. doi: 10.3138/jmvfh-2021-0054

48. Romano JM, Turner JA. Chronic pain and depression: does the evidence support a relationship? *Psychol Bull.* (1985) 97(1):18–34. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.97.1.18

49. Scascighini L, Toma V, Dober-Spielmann S, Sprott H. Multidisciplinary treatment for chronic pain: a systematic review of interventions and outcomes. *Rheumatology*. (2008) 47:670–8. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ken021

50. Edwards RR, Giles J, Bingham CO III, Campbell C, Haythornthwaite JA, Bathon J. Moderators of the negative effects of catastrophizing in arthritis. *Pain Medicine*. (2010) 11:591–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.00804.x

51. Martinez-Calderon J, Jensen MP, Morales-Asencio JM, Luque-Suarez A. Pain catastrophizing and function in individuals with chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2019) 35:279–93. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000676

52. Kerns RD, Rosenberg R, Jamison RN, Caudill MA, Haythornthwaite J. Readiness to adopt a self-management approach to chronic pain: the pain stages of change questionnaire (PSOCQ). *PAIN*. (1997) 72:227–34. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(97)00038-9

53. Jensen MP, Nielson WR, Romano JM, Hill ML, Turner JA. Further evaluation of the pain stages of change questionnaire: is the transtheoretical model of change useful for patients with chronic pain? *Pain.* (2000) 86:255–64. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00257-8

54. Turk DC, Fillingim RB, Ohrbach R, Patel KV. Assessment of psychosocial and functional impact of chronic pain. *J Pain*. (2016) 17:T21–49. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016. 02.006

55. Furrer A, Michel G, Terrill AL, Jensen MP, Müller R. Modeling subjective wellbeing in individuals with chronic pain and a physical disability: the role of pain control and pain catastrophizing. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:498–507. doi: 10.1080/ 09638288.2017.1390614

56. Craner JR, Lake ES, Bancroft KA, George LL. Treatment outcomes and mechanisms for an ACT-based 10-week interdisciplinary chronic pain rehabilitation program. *Pain Pract.* (2020) 20:44–54. doi: 10.1111/papr.12824

57. Vlaeyen JW, Linton SJ. Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. *Pain.* (2000) 85:317–32. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00242-0

58. Gilliam WP, Craner JR, Morrison EJ, Sperry JA. The mediating effects of the different dimensions of pain catastrophizing on outcomes in an interdisciplinary pain rehabilitation program. *Clin J Pain*. (2017) 33:443–51. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000419

59. Adachi T, Nakae A, Maruo T, Shi K, Maeda L, Saitoh Y, et al. The relationships between pain-catastrophizing subcomponents and multiple pain-related outcomes in Japanese outpatients with chronic pain: a cross-sectional study. *Pain Pract.* (2019) 19:27–36. doi: 10.1111/papr.12712

60. Lazaridou A, Martel MO, Cornelius M, Franceschelli O, Campbell C, Smith M, et al. The association between daily physical activity and pain among patients with

knee osteoarthritis: the moderating role of pain catastrophizing. *Pain Medicine*. (2019) 20:916–24. doi: 10.1093/pm/pny129

61. Day MA, Thorn BE. The mediating role of pain acceptance during mindfulnessbased cognitive therapy for headache. *Complement Ther Med.* (2016) 25:51–4. doi: 10. 1016/j.ctim.2016.01.002

62. Nicholas MK, Asghari A. Investigating acceptance in adjustment to chronic pain: is acceptance broader than we thought? *Pain.* (2006) 124:269–79. doi: 10.1016/j.pain. 2006.04.032

63. Sánchez-Rodríguez E, Racine M, Castarlenas E, Tomé-Pires C, Galán S, Jensen MP, et al. Behavioral activation and inhibition systems: further evaluation of a BIS-BAS model of chronic pain. *Pain Medicine.* (2021) 22:848–60. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa330

64. Kerns RD, Rosenberg R. Predicting responses to self-management treatments for chronic pain: application of the pain stages of change model. *Pain.* (2000) 84:49–55. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00184-0

65. Sullivan MJ, Thorn B, Haythornthwaite JA, Keefe F, Martin M, Bradley LA, et al. Theoretical perspectives on the relation between catastrophizing and pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2001) 17:52–64. doi: 10.1097/00002508-200103000-00008

66. Turner JA, Jensen MP, Warms CA, Cardenas DD. Catastrophizing is associated with pain intensity, psychological distress, and pain-related disability among individuals with chronic pain after spinal cord injury. *Pain.* (2002) 98:127–34. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00045-3

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Maral Tajerian, Queens College (CUNY), United States

REVIEWED BY Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

*CORRESPONDENCE Mark I. Johnson m.johnson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 28 September 2023 ACCEPTED 22 November 2023 PUBLISHED 14 December 2023

CITATION

Hudson M and Johnson MI (2023) Hidden family rules: perspective on a dysfunctional paternalistic system and the persistence of pain. Front. Pain Res. 4:1303853. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1303853

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hudson and Johnson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Hidden family rules: perspective on a dysfunctional paternalistic system and the persistence of pain

Matt Hudson^{1,2} and Mark I. Johnson^{1*}

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Mind Help Limited, Durham, United Kingdom

This article explores how paternalistic control and power reside within the family system and how this may influence pain and its persistence. Drawing upon clinical case studies and existing literature, this exploration emphasises the role of paternal dysfunction in creating emotional memory images and delves into how this may influence the chronification and treatment resistance of pain (i.e., making pain "sticky"). We argue that a dysfunctional paternalistic family system, often characterised by authoritarian dynamics, emotional neglect, and abuse, results in adverse experiences and emotional memory images that create a fertile ground for the entrenchment and propagation of psychosomatic symptoms, including pain. Further, the paper emphasizes the potential intergenerational effects of such a scenario, where inherited "Family Rules" drive maladaptive coping mechanisms, which contribute to the persistence of psychological and physiological distress across generations. Understanding these complexities offers new perspectives on treating psychological disorders and their physiological ramifications. It also highlights the urgency of addressing dysfunctional familial dynamics in psychotherapeutic interventions for both immediate and long-term psychophysiological health outcomes.

KEYWORDS

family, family rule, pain, folie à deux, dysfunctional paternalistic system, painogenicity, emotional memory image (EMI), Split-Second Unlearning

Introduction

A nurtured child forms the foundation for health, wellbeing, and human development (1). Family strain and dysfunction have a negative impact on the flourishing of a child (2). Childhood adversity is associated with poorer health and the occurrence, severity, and impact of chronic pain in later life (3-9). Chronic pain negatively impacts family dynamics (10-12), and conversely, family strain negatively impacts pain experience (13-16). Chronic pain in parents is associated with non-specific chronic pain in adolescents and young adults (3, 17-21).

Paternalistic system power remains on the periphery of a pain practitioner's clinical practice. Adversity and trauma resulting from paternalistic system power may influence chronification and treatment resistance of pain later in life (i.e., making pain "sticky"). Pain stickiness is a nickname introduced by Borsook et al. (22) to capture numerous social, psychological, and biological factors that influence pain persistence, pain behavior, and resistance to therapeutic intervention. Borsook et al. argued a need for neurobiologically informed psychotherapy, focused on pain as a motivational drive to avoid harm, to assist people in overcoming pain behavior that prevents exploration of possible alternatives to a life with persistent pain. Our perspective is that "Family Rules" causing adversity and trauma produce emotional memory images (EMIs) that may contribute to pain stickiness.

Reviews of the literature provide evidence that internal family systems contribute to chronic pain and treatment outcomes and should be a target for intervention (23–25). In 2023, a systematic review by Nicolson et al. of 68 studies found strong associations between chronic pain in adulthood and a broad range of adverse childhood events including household dysfunction, bullying, living in fear, emotional trauma, and weak parental attachment (9). Nicolson et al. (9) identified 15 different types of adverse childhood experiences, with emotional abuse being common, although there were no studies that specifically investigated childhood adversity through the lens of paternalistic family system power. In this article, we seek to uncover where paternalistic control and power reside within the family system, and how this may influence pain and its persistence.

Family rules, myths, and secrets

Within an open paternalistic system of a family dynamic model/framework, shared responsibility among parents/caregivers allows the child to freely express their fears, hopes, and dreams (26). A closed paternalistic system demands power and control over those within it, creating censorship, isolation, and fear (27, 28). Satir suggested that family members would develop various behavioural strategies termed "Survival Stances" to describe how individuals acted out their roles to "survive," such as placating, blaming, super-reasonable, and irrelevant (27).

The Family Rule maintains a closed paternalistic system. When a parent (or caregiver) is perceived as uncaring by the child or is caught doing something that they should not be doing, the parent may attempt to suppress the child's knowledge of the event by explaining that the child has misunderstood the situation. By discrediting the child's understanding of a situation in this way, a parent "saves face," hiding the event from others and psychologically suppressing the event for the child and the parent. As the child grows older, the experience may be assigned to a myth or kept a secret, following a Family Rule of maintaining silence out of fear of reprisal. It is as if the secret "hangs" in the relationship as an "ever-present noose," ready to tighten if it should ever be approached (29).

Societal norms that prioritize materialism through a culture of having rather than being contribute to the decline of mental and physical wellbeing, as the focus becomes possessing rather than experiencing (30, 31). When fundamental human needs for autonomy, relationships, security, and purpose are not met, the detrimental effects of materialism become more pronounced (32). Consequently, individuals conditioned to adhere to these norms may favor materialistic remedies such as medication over conversational therapies (33, 34). Thus, we posit a pain patient raised in a closed paternalistic system perpetuating harm and dysfunction via a Family Rule would favor biomedical physicalist or mechanistic explanations for their pain and would seek "physical treatments" for a "physical ailment," even when they are aware that they have been a casualty of psychological trauma. Speaking out or asking for help from the clinician may be psychologically impossible for the patient, as they may be

trapped inside a subconscious Family Rule, which enforces the rule of the dominant family member over the health and wellbeing of the individual. The patient may aggressively or passive-aggressively deny any psychological sensitivity. In contrast, a pain patient raised in an open paternalistic system may present to the clinic able to discuss any emotional factors that may be contributing to their pain.

Family system power—a metaphorical folie à deux?

Here, we use the concept of a folie à deux as a metaphor to enlighten the pain practitioner about the nature of patients who may have a non-conscious Family Rule. Folie à deux is considered a delusional belief system held by two or more individuals within the field of mental illness. In 1860, Jules Baillarger coined the term "folie à communiqué" to describe a shared psychotic disorder, and in 1877, Laségue and Falret coined the phrase "folie à deux" ("madness for two") to describe a psychotic disorder shared by two people. American psychiatrist Theodore Lidz and his colleagues carefully observed 14 families of people diagnosed with schizophrenia (35-37) and found that behaviors would be shared between the dominant individual (inducer) who would apply rules to the family (induced) (38, 39) but not to themselves, which to the "induced" would appear as an admonition-"Do as I say, not as I do." The inducer would clearly set themselves up to be seen as a hypocrite, yet the rest of the induced family would suffer punishment if they were to point out that this was the case-"the Emperor has no clothes" (40, 41).

Originally, it was assumed that the primary partner (the inducer) who initiated the delusions had a domineering personality, and the secondary partner (the induced) was generally submissive. This idea has been superseded by the concept of an adaptive mutual delusional system that allows members and partners to identify with each other, channel aggressive drives, and preserve intimacy (42-45). Today, the term folie à deux has been broadened to encompass a delusional belief system concurrently held by two or more individuals, so despite the wording, the disorder is not confined to pairs; it can encompass larger groups, adjusting to "folie à trois," "folie à famille," (44) and "folie en société" (46). This is to represent the number of people engulfed in the shared delusion. In psychiatry, a folie à deux is analogous to the "double bind" first proposed by Bateson in 1956 (47), as a miscommunication within a paternalistic relationship that can lead an individual to schizophrenia.

We caution that our use of folie à deux as a metaphor should not be interpreted to imply that pain is a form of psychosis. Our viewpoint is that the Family Rule is a form of miscommunication within a closed paternalistic system, a metaphorical folie à deux and double bind, that is a potent source of EMIs that, in turn, are realized as changes in neurobiology, including neurophysiological sensitization and bioplasticity that contribute to hyperalgesia, allodynia, and "sticky pain" (48). Furthermore, the relationship between cognitive distortions induced by dysfunctional closed paternalistic systems and pain is complex and far wider in scope than simply a shared delusional disorder (29), e.g., to include family system effects on assuming a "sick role" and illness behaviour (49).

Family rules and emotional memory images

Emotional memory images are central to our theory of Split-Second Unlearning and psychophysiological disease. We proposed that adverse, emotionally overwhelming first-time experiences create EMIs (50) defined as "Trauma induced, non-conscious, contiguously formed multimodal mental imagery, which triggers an amnesic, anachronistic, stress response within a split-second" (51). In brief, traumatic events instigate psychophysiological stress responses and the formation of EMIs within very short "split-second" time frames, and these EMIs can be retriggered in daily living "replaying" stress responses, the recurring nature of which results in chronic "disease." We posit that a Family Rule creates a multimodal EMI resulting from auditory (verbal and non-verbal sounds) and visual cues from the inducer, such as anger, disapproval, and rejection.

The EMI "holds" the unspoken, non-conscious rule, which must be obeyed to prevent severe punishment. The ultimate punishment as an infant may be abandonment by the parent or caregiver (inducer) or the withholding of love and attention (29). Generally, adults can rationalise rejection, whereas cognitive areas of the brain are still developing in children, and therefore, a "primitive" fight-flight-freeze reaction applicable to survival is more likely, i.e., the sense that the situation is "life or death." In infancy and childhood, fighting or fleeing are implausible options, so freeze responses of hyperarousal or hypoarousal are activated to avoid punishment. Bateson et al. (47) suggest that repeated experiences embed adversity, although we assert that EMIs are a contiguously formed response to a single first-time emotionally overwhelming experience.

The EMI is formed when a child is in a state of heightened vulnerability and is learning to grapple with ambiguity and uncertainty stemming from the parent or caregiver's actions. This "learning" becomes encoded within the EMI. Empirical research into adverse childhood experiences underscores the profound psychophysiological repercussions in adults who endured harm during their formative years (52–55). Hence, the EMI traps the child in a psychological double bind, in which they seek assurance from a figure whose behavior is inconsistent. This predicament may precipitate an intolerance of uncertainty, compelling the individual to eschew scenarios that could trigger the EMI [see (56, 57)].

Activation of a Family Rule results in a non-conscious limbic system sympathetically mediated freeze response. In stressful circumstances that enable fight or flight, stress hormones are produced to mediate energy-consuming physical activity. The freeze response, however, puts the person into a heightened state of "pause," and the person is held in a perpetual state of hypoarousal, manifesting as withdrawal and avoidance of sensory stimuli. This may explain, at least in part, the sluggishness observed in psychophysiological states of disease including depression, chronic fatigue syndrome (myalgic encephalomyelitis), and chronic primary pain (58). Chronic primary pain is defined as pain associated with significant emotional distress or functional disability that is not better explained by another chronic pain condition and includes non-specific chronic musculoskeletal pains (e.g., low back pain, neck pain), widespread pain, fibromyalgia, and irritable bowel syndrome (58–60).

The Imbalance of Threat and Soothing Systems model, proposed by Pinto et al. (61), corroborates this theory. In the Family Rule scenario, the freeze response is an optimal survival strategy as the induced do not have the fortitude to flee from or fight the perpetrator. Thus, children or vulnerable adults remain subservient. Releasing a person from a state of hypoarousal may enable a person to act out a fight or flight, assisting escape from the freeze response. We posit that the censorship created by the inducer proliferates the delusion, and the threat of neglect or abuse creates an EMI in the "induced," suppressing their "spirit," resulting in their silence.

We contend that EMIs facilitate psychophysiological disease through dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, triggering the stress response that augments physiological processes associated with persistent (primary) pain. Genes influence the response of the HPA axis to traumatic events in early life (e.g., FKBP5 and CRHR1 polymorphisms) (62) and how people respond to experiences in early life (63)and in adulthood (64); this may affect risk for chronification of pain (65). Borsook et al. (22) focused their discussion of the stickiness of pain on the contribution of neurobiological processes to a "stuck pain state", including stress-induced epigenetic modifications, central sensitization, synaptic plasticity, HPA axis activity, brain circuitry, and opioidergic and dopaminergic tone, and how these may influence vulnerability or resilience to chronification. We advocate exploring the relationship between paternalistic family dynamics and the stickiness of pain at neurobiological and psychological levels, including health anxiety and reinforcement through caregiving behavior by formerly hostile or critical family members.

Previously, we have described a Split-Second Unlearning theory as a therapeutic framework to diagnose and "clear" EMIs created by trauma and adversity (50). Here, we describe how Split-Second Unlearning techniques can be used for clients presenting with trauma and adversity arising from codes of conduct (behavioral rules) imposed on family members by a dominant family member who does not follow the behavioral rules themselves.

Childhood abuse and trauma

There is strong evidence that adverse childhood experiences are associated with mental health disorders and persistent pain later in life (5, 54, 66, 67). Adverse childhood experiences include emotional and physical neglect and sexual, physical, and

10.3389/fpain.2023.1303853

emotional abuse. Adverse childhood experiences that are created during a child's formative years when the brain is developing, may leave a lasting imprint within the brain structure or, at the very least, an EMI that perpetuates a cascade of molecular and neurobiological effects, which hinders neuronal development (68, 69). This past adversity subsequently becomes the lens through which the child filters their experience of the world around them. This "experience" can develop into psychiatric symptoms like psychosis, aggression, or anxiety, as well as hostile behaviour as non-conscious physiological processes in the brain "hide" the person's awareness (observer) from the perpetual threat (70).

Globally, it has been estimated that up to 1 billion children have suffered abuse within dysfunctional Family Rule structures (71–74), contributing to adversity and the potential for intractable pain later in life (3–5). Previously, we have explored "Past Adversity Influencing Now" (PAIN) through the lens of temporal language and how this may impact the persistence of pain (75). Considering the relationship between hidden Family Rules and PAIN can assist the practitioner in affecting a positive outcome for the patient presenting with persistent pain.

Detecting PAIN in clinical practice

The literature on childhood and preverbal trauma suggests that adverse experiences associated with Family Rules are difficult to identify. This is likely due to the young age at which adversity has taken place, within the child's development, and the nature of the traumatic event, e.g., varying severity of sexual, physical, or psychological abuse.

In 2023, we introduced a framework called PAIN to encourage exploration of pain through a temporal lens, guiding individuals toward a more positive future (75). Our PAIN framework encompassed temporal phases of pain: past perfect, past imperfect, present, future imperfect, and future perfect. We suggested that EMIs may contribute to a future imperfect and "sticky pain." We described how detecting PAIN requires the practitioner to observe the client's eyes, breathing, voice tonality, and skin tone while completing a case history. The client may not be able to answer obvious questions such as "Were you raped or severely traumatized as a child?" due to the amnesic and anachronistic nature of the EMI formed by the original trauma (51), serving to "keep the family secret safe."

The practitioner can gently coax the client by explaining that EMIs are created via experiences that are emotionally overwhelming at the time. For example, a parent or caregiver yelling at a child playing with a spider, "Don't touch the spider!" produces a fear-induced EMI in the child. Prior to the yell, the child was not afraid of the spider, and the new EMI motivates fear-avoidance reactions to spiders, promoting safety and survival in future encounters. EMIs are created within a dysfunctional paternalistic system, whereby as a child the individual is powerless and complies with the wishes of the "ruler" (inducer), even when illogical, to "survive." This makes sense to those who are within the paternalistic system but may appear to be "fuzzy logic" to an outsider (see Figure 1). By providing the client with a simple explanation of this process, practitioners "allow" clients more scope to be open to the prospect of having PAIN.

Structure of compliance

Children are reliant on parents or caregivers as a route to survival. From an evolutionary perspective, children are adapted to promote behaviors that seek alliances with parents or caregivers who provide protection and access to food. Disobeying parents or caregivers may be catastrophic to health and wellbeing, with the possibility of death. Parents or caregivers may impose codes of conduct (behavioral rules) on their children without following the behavioral rules themselves. Neurolinguistic programming (NLP) describes this process from the perspective of the parent or caregiver as a No/My rule structure, i.e., No rules for me/My rules for you. Compliance is the "safest" strategy for a child to "survive" (exist without confrontation) in this rule structure; from the child's perspective (induced), the rule structure is Your/. (period), i.e., your rules for me, full stop-there are no other rules (76). A synopsis of Family Rule structures is provided in Table 1, where the EMI is seen as a psychophysiological heuristic.

Practitioners can incorporate knowledge about Family Rules when using Split-Second Unlearning techniques to "clear" an EMI from a client presenting with bodily pain with no ostensible pathology (e.g., chronic primary pain). PAIN can be revealed via microexpressions that manifest while taking the case history. Making the client aware of their microexpressions (i.e., a biobehavioral marker) indicative of an EMI and engaging the client in a curious exploration of PAIN may be enough to shift their conceptual understanding of their painful condition, opening new opportunities for recovery [further details on these techniques can be found in our previous studies (75, 77)].

Case vignettes

Here, MH uses case vignettes as examples of Split-Second Unlearning to treat PAIN in practice.

Case vignette 1

A 12-year-old girl presented with chronic, widespread, nonspecific musculoskeletal pain. The girl had been adopted from an unkempt orphanage in Eastern Europe, where she had been placed by her birth mother. The girl's adoptive mother presented with anxiety regarding her daughter's adoption, and I believed that this anxious tension was translating to her adopted daughter, precipitating musculoskeletal pain. The adoptive mother was diagnosed as having an EMI of her daughter as an infant, resulting in PAIN. As the adoptive mother spoke, both the mother and the daughter sat with their eyes transfixed on the spot within the peripersonal space between them. The mother was encouraged to look through the image of the past and to see



her daughter with today's eyes. This action simultaneously cleared the EMI and the Family Rule of compliance; without the EMI, no rule is necessary. Clearing the adoptive mother's EMI reduced all pain from the girl within 30 minutes of treatment. The client was given an appointment for an online follow-up call 1 month later, at which the child reported no recurrence of symptoms; this was maintained at the 2-month, 6-month, and 12-month follow-ups. It is as though the child's pain was acting as a cry for help on behalf of both the mother and child, who were trapped in PAIN.

Case vignette 2

A 15-year-old girl with myalgic encephalomyelitis and chronic widespread non-specific musculoskeletal pain presented to the clinic with her mother. The girl had physically matured early, which her mother reported to be of great concern to her father. The mother reported that the father was lavishing extra attention on the girl to ensure his daughter did not start dating, destabilising the family system. It was suggested to the mother that this may be precipitating her daughter's symptoms while the daughter listened indignantly. It was fascinating to note the mother's eyes were averted, while her daughter's eyes were fixated. Both aversion and fixation are signs of fear. The mother was listening, avoiding looking at her daughter, and her daughter was glaring when the Family Rule was brought to their conscious awareness. This is against the rules! The EMI in this situation is held in place by the Family Rule "Though must obey!"; both are induced, and the EMI oppresses them. The action of naming the source frees all from the rule, including the father, and restabilises the family system. The client was given an appointment for an online follow-up call in 1-month. The mother reported that she had discussed our session with her husband, and the couple had begun spending more time on their relationship. Thus, the father had reduced the overwhelming attention given to his daughter. The daughter's pain and fatigue had diminished greatly. At the 6- and 12-month follow-ups, the daughter reported that she was without pain or fatigue.

Case vignette 3

A 48-year-old woman presented with finger joint pain associated with rheumatoid arthritis that had persisted for the past 3 years. When talking about her past experiences, the client's eyes looked to her left; this was interpreted as an experiential timeline from left (her past) to the right (her future). Interestingly, when the client spoke of her arthritis, her eyes fixated upward and to the right. This was interpreted as indicative of an EMI that was generalizing over time. I described my observations and deductions to the client, who appeared astonished and began to recall a conversation with her mother approximately 35 years earlier. The client explained that her mother had early-onset rheumatoid arthritis at age 45 and had been told that if she had a daughter, the daughter would suffer the same fate. This EMI, created from the conversation with her

Frontiers in Pain Research

Family Rule	Description	Example
 My/My My My/My My 	My rules for me, my rules for you "If you want it to work then follow my instructions."	"I've learned to live with my pain, you must learn to live with your pain too!"
the same. 2. Myr. (period) 1. Myr. (period) 1	My rules for me, full stop (i.e., there are no other rules) "I did it my way." My/. is synonymous with My/No—My rules for me/No rules for you—I'm not bothered about your rules.	"I'm not bothered about statistics I am talking about my pain"
 My/Your My/Your	My rules for me, your rules for you "Each to their own."	"Better lifestyle choices cleared my pain, but you've got to find what's right for you"
 No/My 	No rules for me, my rules for you "Do as I say not as I do." No/My is synonymous with Your/Your—Your rules for me (I must obey you), your rules for you (you can do what you want)	"I have no idea how to clear my pain, but I know what you should do to clear yours"
		(Continued)



mother, remained dormant until the client reached 45 years of age. As the client spoke, she displayed a PAIN; her eyes were wide as she appeared detached from the present and fully associated with her EMI of the past. By bringing the EMI to the client's awareness and explaining how her mother's adversity had transferred to her, the EMI cleared, and the client was fully associated with the present once more. At the 1-month follow-up appointment, pain and swelling had diminished, and flexibility had returned to the client's fingers. At the 6- and 12-month follow-ups, there was no recurrence of any pain.

Summary of case vignettes

The case vignettes demonstrate that bodily pain may be driven by PAIN. Attention to PAIN within a framework of Split-Second Unlearning may rapidly resolve bodily pain by clearing an EMI, allowing the HPA axis to return to a prestress state. The vignettes are examples of psychotherapeutic intervention; however, practitioners must appreciate that these clients did not require "talking therapy." Often, clients are unaware that they are traumatised, either with a capital T or a lowercase t, although they are aware of bodily pain and require help from a practitioner. In vignettes 1 and 2, the parent and child must be present for the Family Rule to be broken or cleared. By gaining new insight into the psychological aspect of pathology, no blame is apportioned to the caregiver, and the EMI is cleared. We concur with Ecker and Vaz (79) that the process of erasure clears any psychophysiological attachment to this emotional learning. In all cases, the Family Rule is the elephant in the room, which will continue to create misery and pain if the practitioner is unable or unwilling to address it.

Closed paternalistic systems and painogenic environments

In a broader context, closed paternalistic systems with the potential for dysfunctional rules, structures, and maladaptive beliefs can operate at various levels in society. This may include idiosyncratic beliefs of an individual, beliefs shared by a few individuals (shared delusions), and beliefs shared by subgroups, subcultures within and between communities, regions, and nations, resulting in, for example, prejudice, discrimination, or dogma. A "collapsing tin can" metaphor describes people living within a "closed-societal system": A social milieu of threat, fear, and anxiety mediated by complex societal structures, settings, and narratives compresses the mental wellbeing of individuals, creating a closed societal system, like high atmospheric pressure compressing the walls of a tin can with a low-pressure interior. Forces producing this constraining milieu may be insidious and invisible to individuals (32, 80, 81). Individuals utilize a variety of strategies for existing and surviving within the pressure of the closed system. Psychophysiological disease may be a consequence and/or a survival strategy of being immersed in insidious macrolevel forces. This promotes the rise in mental illness and

non-communicable diseases, including chronic primary pain, chronic fatigue syndrome, depression, generalised anxiety, and so on (82).

Societal settings creating closed systems operating within a No/ My authoritarian rule structure (i.e., No rules for me/My rules for you) may fall foul of groupthink. Groupthink is when no one will challenge the thoughts of a group and people just go along blindly obeying in a Your rules for me/full stop fashion (i.e., Your/.).

"They are playing a game. They are playing at not playing a game. If I show them I see they are, I shall break the rules and they will punish me. I must play their game, of not seeing I see the game" (83, p. 1).

We contend that a dominant biomedical groupthink may be detrimental to alleviating the societal burden of chronic pain, leading to personal suffering. Insights may be gained by exploring dysfunctional paternalistic systems within the socioecological framework of painogenicity (84). The concept of painogenicity provides a socio-ecological framework to explore the persistence of pain (84, 85). Painogenicity is the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities, or conditions of life have on promoting persistent pain in individuals or populations, encompassing micro-, meso-, and macrolevel factors (85, 86). Macrolevel factors such as built or natural habitats, geopolitics, and economic sectors are often neglected in models of pain, despite their potential to foster a social milieu of threat, fear, and anxiety through illness narratives of pain grounded in tissue damage, pathological causation, and warmongering of biomedical remedy (80, 87).

Increasingly, scholars argue that biomedicalisation of mental health conditions and chronic (primary) pain has perpetuated rather than diminished the burden of disease (32, 88). No doubt, biomedical remedy assists resolution of episodes of pain in many people, some of the time, although the global burden of persistent pain remains high irrespective of a country's social and economic development and despite ever-increasing varieties of treatment (89–91). We advocate exploration of this treatment-prevalence paradox through the lens of a closed paternalistic biomedical system to deepen an understanding of socio-ecological factors influencing the persistence of pain and other intractable noncommunicable diseases, including mental illness.

Conclusion

In this article, we describe how dysfunctional family structures may lead to Family Rules resulting in PAIN and EMIs that contribute to the persistence (stickiness) of bodily pain. We describe a Split-Second Unlearning approach to "clear" EMIs and unblock the detrimental effects of PAIN, with the potential for a "healing journey" toward recovery from persistent pain (92). We position this approach within a salutogenic framework of care (93) that may be more successful than biomedical interventions in "unsticking" pain.

We conclude that exploring pain and its persistence within a dysfunctional paternalistic context could deepen an

understanding of factors contributing to chronification and treatment resistance and may provide opportunities to assist people on a "healing journey". Emphasizing a holistic, socioecological model of pain encourages healthcare practitioners to think beyond traditional diagnoses and treatment strategies. In this regard, consideration of the influence of family dynamics and psychosocial factors on a person's experience of persistent pain may improve intervention strategies and potentially break intergenerational cycles of disease.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

MH: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MJ: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The authors declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Lisa Mcloughlin, co-founder of Mind Help Limited, for providing constructive feedback on drafts of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

MH is the co-founder and co-creator of the MindReset app, which is supported by individual subscribers. In the previous 5 years, MJ's employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GSK, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press. MH was employed by Mind Help Limited.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Clark H, Coll-Seck AM, Banerjee A, Peterson S, Dalglish SL, Ameratunga S, et al. A future for the world's children? A WHO-UNICEF-Lancet commission. *Lancet*. (2020) 395(10224):605–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32540-1

2. Westphaln KK, Lee E, Fry-Bowers EK, Kleinman LC, Ronis SD. Examining child flourishing, family resilience, and adversity in the 2016 national survey of children's health. *J Pediatr Nurs*. (2022) 66:57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2022.05.014

3. Hoftun GB, Romundstad PR, Rygg M. Association of parental chronic pain with chronic pain in the adolescent and young adult: family linkage data from the hunt study. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2013) 167(1):61–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.422

4. Zadro JR, Nilsen TIL, Shirley D, Amorim AB, Ferreira PH, Mork PJ. Parental chronic widespread pain and the association with chronic widespread pain in adult offspring: family-linkage data from the Norwegian hunt study. *Eur J Pain.* (2018) 22(8):1485–93. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1237

5. Lumley MA, Yamin JB, Pester BD, Krohner S, Urbanik CP. Trauma matters: psychological interventions for comorbid psychosocial trauma and chronic pain. *Pain.* (2022) 163(4):599–603. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002425

6. Davis DA, Luecken LJ, Zautra AJ. Are reports of childhood abuse related to the experience of chronic pain in adulthood? A meta-analytic review of the literature. *Clin J Pain.* (2005) 21(5):398–405. doi: 10.1097/01.ajp.0000149795.08746.31

7. Paras ML, Murad MH, Chen LP, Goranson EN, Sattler AL, Colbenson KM, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of somatic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2009) 302(5):550–61. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1091

8. Yavne Y, Amital D, Watad A, Tiosano S, Amital H. A systematic review of precipitating physical and psychological traumatic events in the development of fibromyalgia. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2018) 48(1):121–33. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit. 2017.12.011

9. Nicolson KP, Mills SEE, Senaratne DNS, Colvin LA, Smith BH. What is the association between childhood adversity and subsequent chronic pain in adulthood? A systematic review. *BJA Open.* (2023) 6:100139. doi: 10.1016/j.bjao.2023.100139

10. Boone D, Kim SY. Family strain, depression, and somatic amplification in adults with chronic pain. *Int J Behav Med.* (2019) 26(4):427–36. doi: 10.1007/s12529-019-09799-y

11. Benjamin JZ, Harbeck-Weber C, Sim L. Pain is a family matter: quality of life in mothers and fathers of youth with chronic pain. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2019) 45 (3):440–7. doi: 10.1111/cch.12662

12. de Sola H, Salazar A, Duenas M, Ojeda B, Failde I. Nationwide cross-sectional study of the impact of chronic pain on an individual's employment: relationship with the family and the social support. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6(12):e012246. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012246

13. Woods SB, Roberson PNE, Abdelkhaleq H. Family strain, but not family support, is linked to worse pain interference among midlife adults reporting new chronic pain. *Fam Syst Health.* (2023). doi: 10.1037/fsh0000825

14. Saito T, Shibata M, Hirabayashi N, Honda T, Morisaki Y, Anno K, et al. Family dysfunction is associated with chronic pain in a community-dwelling Japanese population: the Hisayama study. *Eur J Pain.* (2023) 27(4):518–29. doi: 10.1002/ejp. 2076

15. Hayaki C, Anno K, Shibata M, Iwaki R, Kawata H, Sudo N, et al. Family dysfunction: a comparison of chronic widespread pain and chronic localized pain. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2016) 95(49):e5495. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005495

16. Signs TL, Woods SB. Linking family and intimate partner relationships to chronic pain: an application of the biobehavioral family model. *Fam Syst Health.* (2020) 38(1):38–50. doi: 10.1037/fsh0000459

17. Roth-Isigkeit A, Thyen U, Stoven H, Schwarzenberger J, Schmucker P. Pain among children and adolescents: restrictions in daily living and triggering factors. *Pediatrics.* (2005) 115(2):e152–62. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-0682

18. Petersen S, Brulin C, Bergstrom E. Recurrent pain symptoms in young schoolchildren are often multiple. *Pain*. (2006) 121(1–2):145–50. doi: 10.1016/j.pain. 2005.12.017

19. Hoftun GB, Romundstad PR, Zwart JA, Rygg M. Chronic idiopathic pain in adolescence—high prevalence and disability: the young HUNT study 2008. *Pain.* (2011) 152(10):2259-66. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.05.007

20. King S, Chambers CT, Huguet A, MacNevin RC, McGrath PJ, Parker L, et al. The epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents revisited: a systematic review. *Pain.* (2011) 152(12):2729–38. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.016

21. Koechlin H, Beeckman M, Meier AH, Locher C, Goubert L, Kossowsky J, et al. Association of parental and adolescent emotion-related factors with adolescent chronic pain behaviors. *Pain.* (2022) 163(7):e888–98. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002508

22. Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. *Pain.* (2018) 159 (12):2421–36. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401

23. Payne B, Norfleet MA. Chronic pain and the family: a review. *Pain*. (1986) 26 (1):1–22. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(86)90169-7

24. Lewandowski W, Morris R, Draucker CB, Risko J. Chronic pain and the family: theory-driven treatment approaches. *Issues Ment Health Nurs.* (2007) 28(9):1019–44. doi: 10.1080/01612840701522200

25. Lewandowski AS, Palermo TM, Stinson J, Handley S, Chambers CT. Systematic review of family functioning in families of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *J Pain.* (2010) 11(11):1027–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2010.04.005

26. Lau WK-W, Leung PP-Y, Chung CL-P. Effects of the Satir model on mental health: a randomized controlled trial. *Res Soc Work Pract.* (2019) 29(7):775–85. doi: 10.1177/1049731518819829

27. Satir V. The new peoplemaking. Palo Alto, CA: Science and Behavior Books (1988).

28. Banmen J. The Satir model: yesterday and today. Contemp Fam Ther. (2002) 24 (1):7-22. doi: 10.1023/A:1014365304082

29. Bowlby J. On knowing what you are not supposed to know and feeling what you are not supposed to feel. *Can J Psychiatry*. (1979) 24(5):403–8. doi: 10.1177/070674377902400506

30. Fromm E. To have or to be? London: Bloomsbury Publishing (2013).

31. Dittmar H, Bond R, Hurst M, Kasser T. The relationship between materialism and personal well-being: a meta-analysis. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2014) 107(5):879–924. doi: 10.1037/a0037409

32. Davies J. Sedated. How modern capitalism created our mental health crisis. London: Atlantic Books (2022).

33. Khalsa SR, McCarthy KS, Sharpless BA, Barrett MS, Barber JP. Beliefs about the causes of depression and treatment preferences. *J Clin Psychol.* (2011) 67(6):539–49. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20785

34. Kimerling R, Calhoun KS. Somatic symptoms, social support, and treatment seeking among sexual assault victims. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (1994) 62(2):333–40. doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.62.2.333

35. Lidz RW, Lidz T. The family environment of schizophrenic patients. Am J Psychiatry. (1949) 106(5):332–45. doi: 10.1176/ajp.106.5.332

36. Lidz T, Cornelison AR, Fleck S, Terry D. The intrafamilial environment of the schizophrenic patient. I. The father. *Psychiatry*. (1957) 20(4):329–42. doi: 10.1080/00332747.1957.11023099

37. Lidz T, Fleck S, Cornelison A, Terry D. The intrafamilial environment of the schizophrenic patient. IV. Parental personalities and family interaction. *Am J Orthopsychiatry.* (1958) 28(4):764–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.1958.tb03991.x

38. Lasègue EC, Falret J. La folie À deux (ou folie communiquee). Dialogues Philos Ment Neuro Sci. (2016) 9(2):62–8.

39. Lasègue C, Falret J. La folie À deux. Ann Med Psychol. (1877) 18:321-55.

40. Lidz T, Cornelison AR, Fleck S, Terry D. The intrafamilial environment of schizophrenic patients. II. Marital schism and marital skew. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1957) 114(3):241–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.114.3.241

41. Hahlweg K, Baucom DH. Family therapy for persons with schizophrenia: neglected yet important. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2023) 273(4):819–24. doi: 10.1007/s00406-022-01393-w

42. Balducci PM, Gobbicchi C, Moretti P, Tortorella A. Delusional sharing: a history focus-on and case report of folie a deux. *Riv Psichiatr.* (2017) 52(4):168–71. doi: 10. 1708/2737.27910

43. Shimizu M, Kubota Y, Toichi M, Baba H. Folie a deux and shared psychotic disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2007) 9(3):200-5. doi: 10.1007/s11920-007-0019-5

44. Srivastava A, Borkar HA. Folie a famille. Indian J Psychiatry. (2010) 52(1):69–70. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.58899

45. Loh YL, Wong HK. Folie a famille—a case report of three sisters. *East Asian Arch Psychiatry*. (2007) 17:64–6.

46. Jaccard R. La folie. Paris Cedex 14: Presses Universitaires de France (2004). p. 128.

47. Bateson G, Jackson DD, Haley J, Weakland J. Toward a theory of schizophrenia. Behav Sci. (1956) 1(4):251-64. doi: 10.1002/bs.3830010402

48. You DS, Meagher MW. Childhood adversity and pain sensitization. *Psychosom Med.* (2016) 78(9):1084–93. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000399

49. Petroni FA. Preferred right to the sick role and illness behavior. Soc Sci Med (1967). (1971) 5(6):645–53. doi: 10.1016/0037-7856(71)90014-x

50. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Split-Second unlearning: developing a theory of psychophysiological disease. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:716535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2021.716535

51. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Definition and attributes of the emotional memory images underlying psychophysiological disease. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:947952. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.947952

52. Herzog JI, Schmahl C. Adverse childhood experiences and the consequences on neurobiological, psychosocial, and somatic conditions across the lifespan. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:420. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00420

53. Hughes K, Ford K, Bellis MA, Glendinning F, Harrison E, Passmore J. Health and financial costs of adverse childhood experiences in 28 European countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*. (2021) 6(11):e848–57. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00232-2

54. Antoniou G, Lambourg E, Steele JD, Colvin LA. The effect of adverse childhood experiences on chronic pain and major depression in adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Anaesth.* (2023) 130(6):729–46. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2023.03.008

55. Tidmarsh LV, Harrison R, Ravindran D, Matthews SL, Finlay KA. The influence of adverse childhood experiences in pain management: mechanisms, processes, and trauma-informed care. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne)*. (2022) 3:923866. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.923866

56. Boswell JF, Thompson-Hollands J, Farchione TJ, Barlow DH. Intolerance of uncertainty: a common factor in the treatment of emotional disorders. J Clin Psychol. (2013) 69(6):630–45. doi: 10.1002/jclp.21965

57. Wu S, Sun S, Camilleri JA, Eickhoff SB, Yu R. Better the devil you know than the devil you don't: neural processing of risk and ambiguity. *Neuroimage*. (2021) 236:118109. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118109

58. World Health Organisation. *ICD-11: International classification of diseases (11th revision)*. Geneve, Switzerland: WHO Press - World Health Organization (2019).

59. Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP classification of chronic pain for the International Classification of Diseases (icd-11). *Pain.* (2019) 160(1):19–27. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000001384

60. Nicholas M, Vlaeyen JWS, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Benoliel R, et al. The IASP classification of chronic pain for icd-11: chronic primary pain. *Pain.* (2019) 160 (1):28–37. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001390

61. Pinto AM, Geenen R, Wager TD, Lumley MA, Hauser W, Kosek E, et al. Emotion regulation and the salience network: a hypothetical integrative model of fibromyalgia. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2023) 19(1):44–60. doi: 10.1038/s41584-022-00873-6

62. Lessard J, Holman EA. FKBP5 and CRHR1 polymorphisms moderate the stressphysical health association in a national sample. *Health Psychol.* (2014) 33(9):1046–56. doi: 10.1037/a0033968

63. Binder EB, Bradley RG, Liu W, Epstein MP, Deveau TC, Mercer KB, et al. Association of FKBP5 polymorphisms and childhood abuse with risk of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adults. *JAMA*. (2008) 299(11):1291–305. doi: 10.1001/jama.299.11.1291

64. Bortsov AV, Smith JE, Diatchenko L, Soward AC, Ulirsch JC, Rossi C, et al. Polymorphisms in the glucocorticoid receptor co-chaperone FKBP5 predict persistent musculoskeletal pain after traumatic stress exposure. *Pain.* (2013) 154 (8):1419–26. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.04.037

65. Holliday KL, McBeth J. Recent advances in the understanding of genetic susceptibility to chronic pain and somatic symptoms. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2011) 13(6):521-7. doi: 10.1007/s11926-011-0208-4

66. Runyan D, Wattam C, Ikeda R, Hassan F, Ramiro L. Child abuse and neglect by parents and other caregivers. In: Krug EGDJ, Mercy AB, Lozano Z, Lozano R, editors. *World report on violence and health*. Geneve, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2002). p. 57–86.

67. Brown RC, Plener PL, Braehler E, Fegert JM, Huber-Lang M. Associations of adverse childhood experiences and bullying on physical pain in the general population of Germany. *J Pain Res.* (2018) 11:3099–108. doi: 10.2147/JPR. S169135

68. De Bellis MD, Keshavan MS, Clark DB, Casey BJ, Giedd JN, Boring AM, et al. A.E. Bennett research award. Developmental traumatology. Part II: brain development. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1999) 45(10):1271–84. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(99) 00045-1

69. De Bellis MD, Baum AS, Birmaher B, Keshavan MS, Eccard CH, Boring AM, et al. A.E. Bennett research award. Developmental traumatology. Part I: biological stress systems. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1999) 45(10):1259–70. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(99) 00044-x

70. Teicher MH. Scars that won't heal: the neurobiology of child abuse. Sci Am. (2002) 286(3):68-75. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0302-68

71. Hillis SD, Mercy JA, Saul JR. The enduring impact of violence against children. *Psychol Health Med.* (2017) 22(4):393–405. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2016.1153679

72. van Der Kolk B, Ford JD, Spinazzola J. Comorbidity of developmental trauma disorder (DTD) and post-traumatic stress disorder: findings from the DTD field trial. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10(1):1562841. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2018. 1562841

73. Moody G, Cannings-John R, Hood K, Kemp A, Robling M. Establishing the international prevalence of self-reported child maltreatment: a systematic review by maltreatment type and gender. *BMC Public Health*. (2018) 18(1):1164. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6044-y

74. Lee H, Kim E. Global prevalence of physical and psychological child abuse during COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2023) 135:105984. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105984

75. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Past adversity influencing now (pain): perspectives on the impact of temporal language on the persistence of pain. *Front Pain Res.* (2023) 4:1244390. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

76. Hudson M. Family rules okay: becoming whole without the need for approval. (2023). p. 216. https://www.amazon.co.uk/Family-Rules-Okay-Becoming-Approval/dp/1838495118

77. Hudson M, Johnson MI. Perspectives on emotional memory images and the persistence of pain. Front Pain Res. (2023) 4:1217721. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1217721

78. Charvet SR. Words that change minds: the 14 patterns for mastering the language of influence. 3rd edn. Wilmington, DE: Bloomanity LLC. (2019).

79. Ecker B, Vaz A. Memory reconsolidation and the crisis of mechanism in psychotherapy. *New Ideas Psychol.* (2022) 66:100945. doi: 10.1016/j.newideapsych. 2022.100945

80. Johnson MI, Bonacaro A, Georgiadis E, Woodall J. Reconfiguring the biomedical dominance of pain: time for alternative perspectives from health promotion? *Health Promot Int.* (2022) 37(4):1–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daac128

81. Sik D. Power from indirect pain: a historical phenomenology of medical pain management. *Cont Philos Rev.* (2021) 54:41-59. doi: 10.1007/s11007-020-09518-5

82. World Health Organisation. *Noncommunicable diseases*. Geneve, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2023). Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases.

83. Laing RD. Knots: selected works of RD Laing: vol 7. New York: Random House Inc (1972).

84. Johnson MI. Opinions on paleolithic physiology living in painogenic environments: changing the perspective through which we view chronic pain. *Pain Manag.* (2019) 9(3):219–24. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2018-0095

85. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res.* (2022) 3:1000170. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

86. Zimmer Z, Fraser K, Grol-Prokopczyk H, Zajacova A. A global study of pain prevalence across 52 countries: examining the role of country-level contextual factors. *Pain*. (2022) 163(9):1740–50. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000002557

87. Johnson MI, Hudson M, Ryan CG. Perspectives on the insidious nature of pain metaphor: we literally need to change our metaphors. *Front Pain Res.* (2023) 4:1224139. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2023.1224139

88. Scull A. American psychiatry in the new millennium: a critical appraisal. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51(16):2762–70. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721001975

89. Elzahaf RA, Tashani OA, Unsworth BA, Johnson MI. The prevalence of chronic pain with an analysis of countries with a human development index less than 0.9: a systematic review without meta-analysis. *Curr Med Res Opin*. (2012) 28(7):1221–9. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2012.703132

90. GBD 2019 BBoDC. The burden of diseases and risk factors in Bangladesh, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet Global Health*. (2023) 11:e1931-42. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(23)00432-1

91. GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396(10258):1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

92. Toye F, Belton J, Hannink E, Seers K, Barker K. A healing journey with chronic pain: a meta-ethnography synthesizing 195 qualitative studies. *Pain Med.* (2021) 22 (6):1333–44. doi: 10.1093/pm/pnaa373

93. Bhattacharya S, Pradhan KB, Bashar MA, Tripathi S, Thiyagarajan A, Srivastava A, et al. Salutogenesis: a bona fide guide towards health preservation. *J Family Med Prim Care*. (2020) 9(1):16–9. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_260_19

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mark I. Johnson, Leeds Beckett University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Sanjeev Rastogi, University of Lucknow, India Carole A. Paley,

University of Leeds, United Kingdom *CORRESPONDENCE

Vinita Agarwal vxagarwal@salisbury.edu

RECEIVED 24 October 2023 ACCEPTED 09 January 2024 PUBLISHED 26 January 2024

CITATION

Agarwal V (2024) Ayurvedic protocols of chronic pain management: spatiotemporality as present moment awareness and embodied time.

Front. Pain Res. 5:1327393. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2024.1327393

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Agarwal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ayurvedic protocols of chronic pain management: spatiotemporality as present moment awareness and embodied time

Vinita Agarwal*

Department of Communication, Salisbury University, Salisbury, MD, United States

Background: Temporality is understood as the subjective perception of the flow of chronological time and is a central component of contemporary and integrative medicine approaches. Although temporal dynamics are recognized as central to the processes associated with chronic pain (CP), the temporal management of CP is inadequately understood in pain research.

Research question: How is temporality conceptualized in Ayurvedic protocols of CP management?.

Method: Ayurvedic physicians (N = 10) from India were recruited through purposive and snowball sampling. A semi-structured interview protocol was employed to gather qualitative data focusing on the Ayurvedic protocol employed to treat CP patients. The interviews were audio-recorded, professionally transcribed, and thematically analyzed. Member validation, participant voice, and researcher self-awareness were employed to strengthen reliability and validity.

Findings: An ontologically grounded thematic exploration of Ayurvedic protocols illustrates that temporality is conceptualized in CP as spatiotemporal present moment awareness (PMA) and embodied time (ET). Spatiotemporality as PMA references an awareness of the relationality of cognitive temporal movement, *dosha* operations, and their pathophysiological expression in the body. Spatiotemporality as ET is conceptualized as awareness of the expression of time in embodied emotional and psychosocial processes as in the movement of the breath through the body, the movement of body sensations over time, and in their intersection with consciousness.

Discussion: The study findings present an experiential and relational framework situating spatiotemporality ontologically as an organizing principle in CP management. While temporality focuses on the representation of experiences and relations over time, spatiotemporality foregrounds a constructionist approach by centering the embodied spatial cognitive expression of time, consciousness, and subjective experience.

KEYWORDS

mind-body approaches, complementary and integrative medicine, environment, chronic pain management, Ayurveda, ecological, spatiotemporality, embodied time

Introduction

Chronic pain (CP) is the leading indication for the use of complementary and integrative medicine (CIM) approaches (1). Approximately 33% of adults and 12% of children in the United States use CIM for a range of conditions such as the management of back, neck, and joint pain (2-5). CIM therapies support enhanced ownership of care and shared decision-making (6-8) and employ diverse ontological frameworks to emphasize an experiential and relational praxis (9-14). Studies focusing on body ownership in CP management (15) emphasize the individualized nature of pain to underscore the benefits provided by multisensory integration and self-awareness from CIM therapies employing mindfulness, deep breathing, gratitude, and relaxation techniques (9, 16-19). CIM therapies employ temporality (in movement, mindfulness, and seasonality) in targeting subjective wellbeing and health-related quality of life (20) through centering the organization of experiences and relations over time. Temporality emphasizes the subjective perception of the flow of chronological time through the past, present, and future, as experienced through historicity in events and movement, or understood phenomenologically as simultaneity, subjective duration, successiveness, and the subjective present. CIM therapies involving meditation and mindfulness focus on awareness of the passage of time and selfconsciousness, distinguishing between self-time perspective (internal time), world duration (external time), and the embodied self as associated with the subjective experience of internal time (21). The consciousness of subjective time is experienced in relationship with the temporality of pain experience through being conscious of the present as a moment in time (22). Temporality in CP can be experienced as a form of depersonalization separating the field of presence from the past and the future through embodied functions such as implicit bodily memory and bodily anticipation (23). Although such findings address temporality, the embodied self, and subjective time in CP, there is an inadequate understanding of how temporality is conceptualized by CIM providers and how CIM providers employ temporality in managing CP. Similarly, the patient's subjective experience of pain temporality in CP management also remains underexamined (24). The pain experience disrupts lived temporality, suggesting a need to examine how time is experienced in the CP phenomenon (25).

The multicomponent nature of temporality is underscored in examinations of how time (e.g., through time perception) contributes to the construction of health and flourishing. Phenomenologists have attended to the construction of temporality through the temporally contracted disease progression model to a focus on the present discrete snapshot of disease in the diagnosis and prognosis process (26). In humans, time perception encompasses the integrating and evaluating temporal facet of memories, emotions, and experiences. It has been examined through constructs such as present fatalism, morning–evening orientation (27), present-hedonism orientation, and subjective and objective passage of time to understand the interconnections between circadian typology, individual time perception, and passage of time (28). Interest in time perception has spanned identification of its neurobiological basis through a focus on brain structure variations (28) to understand its relationship with the flow of time (29), image of time (30), and neural bases for perception of time (31) to understanding its role in behavioral health through explicating its associations with self-regulation (32), anxiety, and depression (33), among other outcomes.

More recently, consciousness and self-reflexivity have been recognized as components of temporality in the pain experience. Investigations of neural correlates of mental phenomena such as the self, consciousness, and perception have examined spatiotemporality as a mechanism for understanding how the brain's activity in constructing inner time and space is manifested in cognition and mental features (34). The neurophysiological estimation of time and the perception of self are considered as sharing a common neural substrate, suggesting that alongside bodily arousal and attentional capture, self-reflexivity may also be a component of dilated subjective time during the experience of pain (35). Imaging studies suggest a spatiotemporal reorganization of brain activity and CP cognition whereby conscious experiencing of unpleasant sensory or emotional sensations through cognitive processing is perceived as pain (36). One way of considering temporality, thus, is as embedded in the neurophysiological expression of CP. The inter-individual difference in the neurophysiological encoding of painful stimuli and memory emphasizes how the anxiety influences the handling of the noxious vs. the innocuous stimuli (36).

A focus on anxiety and sensory intensification in the pain experience emphasizes pain development as constituting its own time within time, as through slower life routines, greater uncertainty, and a limited future time perspective. Temporality has been assessed in chronic (or persistent) pain measures through pain temporal pattern, pain duration, and future time perspective. Future time perspective is understood as the subjective perception of time as limited or expansive in an assessment of future opportunities and the amount of time one has left to live (37). In contrast, flow experiences are temporally grounded in their perception of life in its entirety within a unified flow process and with a unified sense of purpose (38). Some studies have examined how pain limits individuals' qualitative perceptions of the future by challenging their ability to construct flow experiences that envision a future or by negatively affecting their future outlook (39). Moreover, a limited future time perspective is associated with greater pain-related activity interference whereas longer pain duration as in CP has been associated with a more expansive future time perspective (40).

Along with future time perspective and flow experiences, the conceptualization of temporality in CP has focused on balanced time perspective or an adaptive engagement with past, present, and future time perspectives in alignment with contextual elements (41). The balanced time perspective is associated with myriad positive psychosocial outcomes including higher life satisfaction (42), emotional intelligence (43), psychological need satisfaction and gratitude (44), happiness (45), attributional

10.3389/fpain.2024.1327393

complexity, wisdom, and mental health (46), and mindfulness (47, 48). Temporally, mindfulness has been understood as a nonjudging and open way of relating toward the present moment (49) associated with constructs such as knowledge of one's true self (50), self-awareness, and meaning in life (51). Balanced time perspective is also associated with outcomes such as emotional regulation and affect (52); flow, mindfulness, and mental health (53); and adaptive identity styles and flourishing (46). Because cognitive and emotional processes involved in the construct meaning-in-life draw upon distinct temporal frames, the meaningmaking and time perspective relationship can be modified in illness domains such as CP. Similar to mindfulness, the construct meaning in life is also temporally grounded, referencing an orientation to the world that embraces the past, present, and future (54, 55). For instance, meaning-making through the past orientation has been associated with autobiographical reflections (56), in the present by staying in the moment or present-focused with mindfulness (33), and in its future orientation with wellbeing processes (57). The association of time perception (e.g., as future and balanced time perspective) with subjective wellbeing, meaning-making, and mental health (including positive associations with love, joy, life satisfaction, wisdom, growth narratives, gratitude, life satisfaction, and flow experiences) suggests how understanding temporality is central to managing anxiety, depression, and negative affect associated with CP (58, 59).

Although temporal dynamics are central to the pathophysiological, psychosocial, and behavioral processes (including mindfulness, meaning in life, and flourishing) associated with CP and its clinical management, their association with the temporal facets of the pain experience (e.g., frequency, duration, and intensity of pain episodes) has not received adequate attention in pain research (60). Methodological approaches such as ecological momentary assessments have examined the modulation of pain experiences and their dynamic nature over time with patients' natural daily environments, variability in context and activity dependence, and diurnal cyclicity. However, the temporality of these associations has not been sufficiently examined in CP management [e.g., circadian variability of CP in rheumatoid arthritis (61-64)]. CIM approaches such as the Ayurvedic system of medicine focus on temporality (e.g., in the characterization of dosha dominance in the lifespan, diurnally, seasonally, and ecosystemically; where doshas reference the manifestation of the three forms of energy, vata, pitta, and kapha, that govern the operations of the body) and provide an ontologically distinct medical model for understanding temporality in CP management. For instance, Ayurvedic medical protocols of CP categorize musculoskeletal pain conditions as dominated by vata and kapha doshas and as affected by diurnal (morning stiffness and increased pain intensity in rheumatoid arthritis are seen as an instance of clinical presentation in musculoskeletal pain) and seasonal changes (65). Ayurvedic treatments (Amavata for diagnosis and virechanakarma, including swedana in the morning) prioritize the observation of temporality in the diagnosis, prognosis, and therapeutic processes [e.g., by avoiding daytime sleep, divaswapna (66)]. Thus, an examination of Ayurvedic conceptualization of temporality can further conceptual understandings of temporality and provide innovative insights into CP management from distinctive ontological medical models. This study examines how temporality is conceptualized in Ayurvedic protocols of CP management through an in-depth thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews with Ayurvedic physicians.

Materials and methods

Participants and procedures

The study analytic procedures have been described elsewhere in detail (12). The goal of this concise, exploratory qualitative study is to provide deeper insights into the phenomenon of interest (CP management in Ayurvedic protocols). To achieve this goal, a methodological approach centered on expert sampling of Ayurvedic physicians in India (N=10) with a Bachelors of Ayurvedic Medical Science (BAMS) degree was employed to gather information-rich data with limited resources (see Table 1 for participant description) (67). The study participants were recruited from a city in the southwest and one from the northwest region of India from a professional training center and based on public practitioner searches. Participant recruitment was conducted following the criterion of maximum variation, availability, willingness to participate, and ability of participants to communicate experiences and opinions in English in an articulate manner (68). The study's participant recruitment was concluded once a representative depth and breadth of perspectives was obtained from a small yet tightly focused pool based on saturation within a specific content domain and where participant responses showed low variability and high homogeneity (69). A semi-structured in-depth interviewing protocol (Appendix 1) was employed with a combination of open-ended domain-level questions and probes for the exploration of participant beliefs, thoughts, and practices. The case study method was consulted to elucidate the conceptual dimensions of an underexamined, niche conceptual domain and to identify similarities and differences in the phenomenon of interest (68, 70). To gain an understanding of CP management approaches in-context, the researcher incorporated observations of Ayurvedic provider-patient interactions, artifacts, offices, and hospitals in situ in national and regional urban centers and through official tours of national and international Ayurvedic medical institutions in India (Table 2 provides a summary of the research methodology flow). Participant interviews were conducted in practice sites, residences, and hospitals and were audio-recorded, professionally transcribed verbatim, and analyzed using thematic analysis (71). The interviews were conducted in English; thus, the participants' occasional recitation of native language verses (e.g., Sanskrit) from original ancient texts such as the Charaka Samhita in their interviews was not transcribed. The researcher has native or bilingual proficiency in English and Hindi and elementary proficiency in Sanskrit.

Pseudonym	Age (years)	Education	Specialty	Profession*	Employment (years)***	City†
А	32	MD	Dravyaguna	Ayurvedic Physician & Practitioner	9	Pune
		Ayurveda				
		(BAMS)				
В	45	MA, Ayurveda		Ayurvedic physician	20	Pune
		MA,				
		Sanskrit				
С	44	BAMS & MD, Ayurveda	Kayachikitsa	Ayurvedic physician	18	Pune
D	51	BAMS	Medicine & Surgery	Ayurveda physician/practitioner	27	Pune/
		Ayurveda				Mumbai
		MS in Ayurvedic Dietetics				
E	33	BAMS	Medicine & Surgery	Ayurveda physician/practitioner	10	Mumbai
		Ayurveda				
F	26	BAMS	Medicine & Surgery	Ayurveda physician/practitioner	2	Delhi
		Ayurveda				
G	34	MD, Ayurveda	Charak Samhita	Ayurveda physician and academician	17	Pune
Н	46	BAMS	Medicine & Surgery	Ayurveda Acharya** (Physician)	20	Pune
		Ayurveda				
I	46	BAMS	Medicine & Surgery, Yoga	Ayurveda Consultant, Physician,	22	Pune
		Ayurveda, MA, Yoga		Yoga teacher		
J	69	MD, PhD, Ayurveda	Medicine & Surgery	Professor & Government of India	35	Delhi

TABLE 1 Participant demographics.

*Profession as self-described by participant.

**Ayurved Acharya is the Hindi translation for Ayurved Physician.

*** Aggregate reported in cases where participants have had multiple concurrent or additional professional roles (e.g., Ayurvedic physician and yoga teacher or academician).

[†]Location of current practice reported or where participant was based for a major duration.

TABLE 2 Research design and structure considerations (69).

Philosophical Worldview	Selected Qualitative Strategies of Inquiry	Research Methods	Research Design
Social constructive	Participation	Purposively recruited participants using snowball sampling	Qualitative
Phenomenological	Observation (e.g., Ayurvedic physician-patient meetings; preparation of food in traditional Ayurvedic methods; consumption; lifestyle at Ayurvedic physician homes)	Semi-structured interviews Videos and photographs	Small sample size
Multiple meanings	Field visits (e.g., Ayurvedic centers, national government bodies, and major regional hospitals)	Data analysis: inductive theme analysis	Non-generalizable
Socially and historically contingent construction and interpretation	Immersion <i>in situ</i> (e.g., meditation retreat and training; physician home visits)	Interpretative, descriptive analysis and presentation	Rich, complex data context and analysis
		Self-reflexive write-up Internal validation	

Validity and reliability

The study's trustworthiness was emphasized by strengthening its validity and reliability through the use of triangulation and data synthesis by supplementing the observation of Ayurvedic physician interactions with their patients (n = 5 physician-patient session visits). To bolster the subjective and interpretive nature of the data analytic process, internal validity was supported through face validity and multiple forms of empirical observation. These included visits to Ayurvedic physician offices and homes (n = 6), observation of the Ayurvedic belief system in its lived sociocultural context, and data triangulation through researcher employment of multiple experiential modes (72) including completing a 10-day silent Vipassana meditation retreat and an advanced certification in Ayurvedic diet and nutrition principles. Rigor in the analytic process was incorporated through researcher sensitivity to the culturally specific meanings in bolstering the accuracy of interpretation, identification of similar and contradictory themes, and presentation of multiple participant voices (72, 73).

Ethical considerations

The International Review Board (IRB) approval (Human Subjects Review Committee, FWA00020237) for the study protocol (Protocol # 52) was received on 29 April 2019, for the larger study goal of examining Ayurvedic mind-body therapies in CP management. Informed consent was obtained through oral administration of the informed consent (audio-recorded) prior to

participation in the study and receipt of an electronic or hard copy of the informed consent.

Research design and researcher role

The bottom-up research design employing a small sample size allowed for the exploration and thick (i.e., rich and detailed) description of an underexamined conceptual domain. The research design facilitated flexibility of exploration of the philosophy and practice of an ontologically distinct whole medicine system (Table 2). One limitation of a purposeful sampling strategy is the lack of knowledge of the range of variation at the onset of the study; thus, a combination of conceptual understanding of the research domain coupled with iterative data analysis alongside the data gathering process supported the determination of emergent data saturation (74). A second limitation is the bias stemming from a study designed and conducted by a single researcher with a philosophical background in Ayurvedic lifestyle on the interpretation of the concepts in relationship with biopsychosocial and integrative medicine clinical approaches.

Case study inductive data analytic procedures

This study reports findings derived from a subset of the data. Inductive qualitative content analysis was employed (75) to derive the categories and themes from the data. Critical conceptual insights were integrated into the interpretive analytic processes comprising the phenomenon of study by including participant voices and reducing data into categories and themes through iterative funneling (76). The data analysis process was initiated alongside data gathering. At the end of each interview, the audio recording was reviewed by the researcher to identify themes and ideas deemed as interesting, iterative, or recurring. These were further explored in successive interviews to ensure their dimensions were fully examined. The present study was analyzed solely by the author; thus, these steps helped mitigate researcher bias and strengthen data analysis. To further help mitigate researcher bias in the data analytic process, the researcher sought to cultivate openness to emerging concepts and themes (77) and undertook multiple passes of the data. The first pass of the transcripts examined the environmental-ecological context with subsequent passes narrowing down to the temporal experientiality of CP, to spatiotemporality and its key thematic dimensions (76). The data analytic procedures sought to go beyond observation, description, and categorization to identification of points of distinction and relatedness with existing conventional knowledge bases through a process of abstraction and constant comparison. In the second pass, the researcher conducted a line-by-line process of open coding with a subsequent pass-through salient data to identify axial codes that comprised the descriptive themes by attending to the "patterns, insights, and concepts" (72) (p. 167) that emerged in the descriptive level (e.g., association of cognitive temporal movement with *doshas*). Relationships among the categories were finalized by keeping interpretation close to participant descriptions to help strengthen reliability through reader corroboration of the themes. Participant confidentiality was maintained in the presentation of their quotes in the findings. Minor corrections for syntax or missing words were made for readability and are presented in parentheses. The participants are referenced by alphabetical letters in parentheses, e.g., [A] or [C].

The reporting of the findings emphasizes participant voices in the spirit of the interpretive nature of an explorative research inquiry, highlighting the researcher's native knowledge alongside participant interviews (please refer to Appendix 2 for author's note regarding limitations in the interpretation of the study premise and findings for Ayurvedic and integrative medicine clinical practice). As a small qualitative study, the findings enhance understandings of temporality and propose an innovative conceptual framework to further its integration in CP management. Owing to the qualitative case study design with a small sample size, the study findings are exploratory and descriptive in nature and non-generalizable. The findings can be further validated and extended through experimental methodologies to enhance understandings of an inadequately understood conceptual domain in CP management.

Results

Thematic analyses reveal Ayurvedic protocols for pain management and conceptualize temporality in CP as spatiotemporal present moment awareness (PMA) and embodied time (ET).

Spatiotemporality as present moment awareness

Ayurvedic physicians employ temporality in present moment awareness in CP management by seeking to construct a balance between the spatial-temporal organization of cognitive temporal movement and the *doshas*, among the three *doshas*, and between



the cognitive temporal movement, the doshas, and dosha expression in body sensations (Figure 1). Spatiotemporality is conceptualized in PMA as an awareness of the relationality of cognitive movement, dosha operations, their and pathophysiological expression through their movement as thought and intentionality in the body (Figure 2). PMA is conceptualized as the state of awareness in the present regarding cognitive temporal movement with the three body constitution types (doshas) and their pathophysiological expressions. Ayurvedic practitioners employ methodological approaches including mantra chanting, respiration-breath modulation through yoga and pranayama and diet and lifestyle modification to cultivate PMA.

Pain is understood in Ayurvedic medicine as a perception of sensations in the physical, mental, and emotional body. The perception of sensations is an essential component of the doshas in the body. In PMA, the Ayurvedic physician addresses the imbalance of the three doshas with cognitive temporal movements categorized as an unpleasant sensation, or pain. According to H, "whenever you will find pain, there is a role of vata," with there being "three different types of pains." The form and description of pain is characterized as any form of sensation in the body, whether that be pleasurable or like "needles ... shifting ... throbbing ... sharp." The spatiotemporal perception of pain indicates the type of dosha predominance causing the imbalance. For instance, it can be burning (characteristic of pitta imbalance), or dull (characteristic of a kapha imbalance) [H]. Accordingly, a spatiotemporal equilibrium or harmony among the doshas, the sense organs, the cognitive system, spiritual system, and the elimination of toxicity, is associated with pleasant sensations characterized by good health and wellbeing. As [H] explained, good health is "when there is harmony among the body, mind, soul, indriya (the senses) dosha, and mala (toxins). If all the body along with its mind and conscious (ness) are working together in harmony then only we can say that the person is in good health." As [G] explains, "many of the aspects of the body are controlled by the mind through the breath or the pranayama", such as "the relation between vata and the raja guna of the mind. Raja dosha of the mind ... when we control our respiration, we control our mind." The Ayurvedic physician emphasizes the spatiotemporality of the interrelationships



between respiration and the brain and breath and mind. Thought is understood as a cognitive temporal movement, regulated by *vata dosha*: "and when there is a movement, there is a *vata* exercises that control the mind" [G]. The emphasis on movement (e.g., of thought in this instance, and all functions governed by *vata* more generally) underscores the spatiotemporal nature of cognitive processes.

The theme of PMA emphasizes how the Ayurvedic physician looks for a spatiotemporally balanced operation of the doshas to create harmony without the dominance of any one dosha or accumulation of toxicity (that may be perceived as an unpleasant sensation, pain, or disease). In other words, to understand pain, the Ayurvedic physician starts with the principle that "mana (mind) and emotions are very closely related ... we need to take care of body and mind while treating the chronic pain management." One way Ayurveda cultivates PMA is as a cognitive approach to realigning the individual's relationship with pain. One approach in Ayurveda, [H] noted, is "mantra chanting or having positive thoughts in your mind ... [which] reduces the pain threshold." Thought and cognitive activity is understood as a form of temporal movement arising from the interaction of the body and mind, referencing the spatiotemporal organizing of the nature of the relations between mind and emotions. Mantra chanting focuses positive thoughts centering the body, centering the mind, spirit, and nature relationship in PMA. For the Ayurvedic physician, both the origin and manifestation of diseases are associated with historical time and its relationship with cognitive temporal movement: "whatever disorders take place in mind, they surely affect the body ... whatever diseases take place in the body, they certainly affect the mind, so there is a strong interrelation in between mind and body" [B]. Understanding the nature of pain encompasses understanding the "psychological disturbances ... profession, stress levels, diet habits" of the patient [H]. Obtaining an understanding of the psychosocial experiences alongside the anatomical, biochemical, and sensory experiences of pain as a sensation allows the Ayurvedic physician to comprehend pain processing spatially through its cognitive temporal movement arising from an imbalance.

To understand CP, [G] examines how pain and sadness in the mind and body mutually influence each other in the patient. The nature of sound is spatiotemporally connected with thoughts (e.g., silent thoughts in the mind or thoughts in an utterance). Thus, sound as employed through mantras expresses the cognitive temporal movement of intention. Yoga (combining breath through pranayama, body through asanas, and mind through meditation and mantras), alongside lifestyle and diet modifications, has the function of energizing the mind by strengthening the direction of thoughts that express the movement of negative qualities to positive [G]. The doshas are further modified by their spatiotemporal qualities (or gunas). The gunas are also targeted in Ayurveda to bring their energy characteristics expressed through sensations in balance for reconceptualizing how the pain sensation is experienced. [G] brings the movement of the body and thoughts in harmony over time through "diet and nutrition, lifestyle management ...

exercise, yoga *pranayama*, relaxation and breathing techniques, some medicinal herbs, *panchakarma*, and then rejuvenation." Spatiotemporal analysis of these components at an individual level illustrates the interaction of their energy composition as defined in Ayurveda with the individual's *dosha* balance and working to bring their movement in harmony.

Spatiotemporality as embodied time

Ayurvedic physicians cultivate embodied time in CP management as an awareness of the expression of time as embodied in the emotional and psychosocial processes of the body. CP management employs ET by cultivating an awareness of spatiotemporality as reflected in the movement of the breath through the body, the movement of body sensations over time, and their intersection with consciousness (Figure 2). To connect body sensations (ranging from painful, *vedana* to pleasant, *sukha*) with consciousness, Ayurvedic practitioners employ approaches such as *pranayama* yoga, diet, herbs, *marma*, *panchakarma*, and *dinacharya* and *ritucharya* (Table 3).

Pain is conceptually understood by the Ayurvedic physician as sensations of both pleasure (sukha) and sadness (vedana). However, for its treatment as pathology, [A] mentioned that CP is "not directly related with the atma (consciousness), means in case of chronic pain ... if you go with the Sanskrit shloka, meaning of vedana means pain ... is essential for your mind, is sukha, means pleasantness ... The pain who is give very much difficulty to your mind, it's a dukha, means sorrowness. So, every condition is related with that definition." Hence, pain is spatiotemporally embodied sensations expressed over time through the body. The notion of time, or kaal, is considered essential in understanding the cause of its expression: "because the pain, how many days pain is occurring? ... How many days the things is happening, because ... One of the reasons of any disease is kaal [time]" [A]. Spatiotemporality embodies the expression of time through the body as sensations of pain and pleasure.

ET is expressed in the spatiotemporal movement of the breath through the body. According to [H], "*pranayama* yoga or relaxation techniques... increase the *prana* or energy force in your body. Also, they remove the obstructions in the body and does the help to reduce the pain threshold." The obstructions (or blocks) can be psychosocial or pathophysiological. Through its

TABLE 3 PMA and ET: balancing and reconceptualizing modalities.

РМА	ET
Balancing and	Reconceptualizing Modalities
Mantras	Pranayama yoga
Yoga <i>asanas</i>	Diet
Pranayama	Medicinal herbs
Diet	Marma
Medicinal herbs	Panchakarma
Meditation	Dinacharya and ritucharya
Panchakarma	
Exercise and lifestyle	

spatiotemporal movement, breath modulates and aligns thought and the internal functions of the body. In fact, "emotionally *mana* [mind] is in the heart and the brain is the functional part of *mana* [as consciousness]... herbs like *brahmi, ashwagandha*, then *vata, yashtimadhu*... reduce the mental pressure and ultimately the pain" by targeting the mental functions. Thus, the spatiotemporal movement of the breath through the body balances the mind and brain and modulates pain by aligning the perception of challenging (*dukha*) or pleasurable (*sukha*) sensations in the body.

ET is expressed in the spatiotemporal movement of body sensations over time. For [B], "many things come under [our reactions to feelings, such as] raga, like hatred is there, anger is there, passion is there, fear is there, fear of something. All these are the diseases according to this text and they're saying that these are the real diseases." In other words, the arising of reactions (e.g., love, raga, or hatred/aversion, dvesha) to specific feelings of pleasure (sukha) and pain (dukha) as perceived in the body in response to CP are also associated with time and associated with CP pathophysiology. As [B] noted, the very first Vaidya, "hasn't enlisted any physical disease [diagnostic conditions], actually. They haven't enlisted fever there, they haven't enlisted diarrhea, they haven't enlisted skin diseases ... We can see that all the physical diseases basically arise most of the times from the mind, psychological effects." [B] emphasizes the cause of CP as the arising of the reaction (through aversion, dvesha, or love, raga) to the emotional or thought sensation in the body (vedana or sukha) that in turn gives rise to an imbalance in the body that manifests as physical conditions or disease. As [B] notes, "if we see in Charaka Samhita, that is another classical text of Ayurveda, the various diseases like fever, [d]iarrhea, [skin] diseases ... they are telling [us] that the very first appearance of these diseases in the ... ancient times [was] due to some psychological things related to mind." Thus, the arising of reactions (raga, dvesha) in the mind to the spatiotemporal movement of embodied sensations (of dukha and sukha) over time is associated with the pathophysiology of CP.

ET is expressed through the consciousness of the individual expressed through the *chakras*. The *marma* massage practice connects the consciousness components of the body (*chakras*) with spatiotemporal movement of breath and body sensations in ways that function to balance and rejuvenate. Pain treatment through practices such as *marma* and *panchakarma* in the Ayurvedic physician's description is based on the evaluation and alignment of breath in everyday practices and norms that are manifested through the actions of the body:

"I will advise them a proper diet, then proper nutrition. Then I will advise them to have a regular exercise, proper implementation of dinacharya, after *that ritucharya*, *ritucharya* is nothing but the fine-tuning of *dinacharya* with the nature. So, you have to make certain changes according to the outside climate. So that will help the patient for healthy living. Then I will suggest them to have some type of herbal teas on regular basis. Then I will suggest them the regular exercise, yoga, *pranayama* along with some massage,

even massages mentioned in *dinacharya*, to reduce the dryness of the body... Also, I will suggest my patient to have the *rasayana* treatment, which is a good treatment for rejuvenation. Then also I will suggest them to have the *marma* therapy treatment or *marma* massage, which can be done at home level." [H]

The marma massage may include practices such as abhyanga and svedana (oil therapy, taila massage). As [I] notes, "in panchakarma, we use an oil. Suppose we can, for daily application also, if there is pain like in, if there is ligament tear, or if there is muscle tear, and there is persistent pain." The treatment is tailored to the unique dosha composition of each individual. According to [H], "marma is the junction between the physiology and consciousness ... each major marma point corresponds to several chakras or energy centers of the body. And when we stimulate these marma points, the energy which is clogged is released and it increases the circulation and helps to reduce the pain." Thus, marma practices are employed with the goal to remove the consciousness blocks and help modulate the embodied reaction to pain sensations (raga and dvesha) over time.

In panchakarma, one of the central treatment pathways in Ayurveda, according to [G], "the mind is very much involved ... we rejuvenate that mind, or we calm that mind [using] a medicinal purgation for the vitiated [dosha]." Similarly, as [G] noted, practices such as yoga also cultivate the consciousness: "while doing yogasana [such as the] sun salutation is a kind of concentration or is a kind of thinking of ourselves. Pranayama is also thinking of ourselves. Any kind of yoga is also thinking of ourselves ... When we are doing sun salutation, their other typical asanas with the control on our respiration. While doing such kind of asana, we control our mind." The energy facets of physical movement as defined in yoga align the energy flow with the thought and connect with the energy flow of nature, the environment, and the cosmos. For instance, as [G] noted, there is a connection between these yoga and marma practices with food, as described in the case of treatment for knee pain, "so, when we are treating the knee joint, with the help of any kind of medicines or panchakarma process, I must, or a physician must look after the ... mental status of that person ... or any kind of disorder or digestive problem." Food ultimately gets converted into matter, thought, and energy. The spatiotemporal movement shapes the individual of these experience of CP. Spatiotemporality is conceptualized in ET as an awareness of the relationality of inner time and space with the emotional, cognitive, and consciousness processes through their movement in the body as breath, as body sensations, and as shifts in consciousness (Figure 2).

Discussion

The Ayurvedic protocols of pain management conceptualize temporality in CP as present moment awareness and as embodied time. PMA comprises a spatiotemporal awareness of cognitive temporal movement, *dosha* operations, and their pathophysiological expression as constructing the body. PMA is cultivated through mind-body practices that support spatiotemporal awareness of thought and sound (e.g., in chants, such as *mantras*), constituting the individual's cognitive, pathophysiologically experienced environment (Figure 1 and Table 3). ET comprises a spatiotemporal awareness of the relationality of breath, body sensations, and consciousness as constructing the individual's experiential environment. ET is cultivated through practices that produce a spatiotemporal awareness of breath, body, and consciousness (e.g., in *pranayama* yoga, *marma*, and *panchakarma*), constituting the individual's ecosystemic, seasonal, and circadian environment (Figure 2 and Table 3).

PMA is described as cultivating a spatiotemporal awareness of cognitive temporal movement (e.g., thoughts), dosha operations (e.g., movement of the three different forms of energy, vata, pitta, and kapha), and their pathophysiological expressions (e.g., pain duration and intensity). PMA is centered in the spatiotemporal equilibrium among these interrelated components (e.g., among the three doshas and their expression in body sensations). For instance, as the doshas manage the functioning of the body, a state of dynamic equilibrium will support the elimination of toxicity, alignment with cognitive temporal movement (governed by specific dosha functions), and regulation of body sensations. The spatiotemporality of cognitive movement expressed as thought is regulated through practices that center the body and mind (e.g., through particular forms of sound, as in mantras). Thus, the Ayurvedic physician will examine the relationality of the dosha processes governing the operations of the body and the mind. The spatiotemporal practices in PMA will focus on individualized centering and balancing functions such as those emphasizing positive and resilient qualities using mantras, yoga asanas, and pranayama (Figure 1 and Table 3).

ET is described as cultivating a spatiotemporal awareness of movement of breath (e.g., as prana), of the body's emotional and psychosocial sensations (e.g., of pleasure and pain), of the reactions to body sensations (e.g., of positive and negative affect to feelings of pain or pleasure), and in their intersection with consciousness (e.g., as chakras). ET is centered in the spatiotemporal expression of energy, body sensations, psychosocial reactions, and consciousness in an experiential ecosystemic environment. For instance, embodiment references the integrated experience of movement of breath through the body, the movement of body sensations, and of nature and the ecosystemic environment in consciousness. The spatiotemporality of breath, of body sensations and their reactions, and consciousness is expressed through practices that center the integration of the body, its perceptual mechanisms, and the consciousness (e.g., as in marma massage). Thus, the Ayurvedic physician will examine the spatiotemporal nature of the emotional, cognitive, and consciousness processes. The spatiotemporal practices in ET will emphasize rejuvenation and self-reflexivity using marma, panchakarma, pranayama yoga, and medicinal herbs (Figure 2 and Table 3).

The study findings present an experiential and relational framework conceptualizing temporality through its spatial
dimensions as an organizing principle in CP management. While temporality focuses on the representation of experiences and relations over time, spatiotemporality emphasizes а constructionist approach by centering balance and equilibrium in the passage of time, consciousness, and subjective experience of the body in relationship with its environment. Spatiotemporality highlights pain as a materially grounded experience that evokes cognition, emotion, perception, and consciousness body-incontext. Research shows that CP disrupts the experience of lived temporality (25) CP cognition, and conscious experiencing of sensations through cognitive processing (36). The body dissociation associated with CP is centered through spatiotemporality as PMA and ET in embodied, relational, and body-aware ways. Biopsychosocial approaches to CP management emphasize mindfulness meditation and cognitive therapy as modes for altering pain catastrophizing (e.g., by altering cognitive content, processing, and negative affectivity) or restructuring pain-related cognitive content, making adaptive changes necessary to counter pain perception (78). The spatiotemporal frame balances the emphasis on cognition in Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT)-based approaches through the integration of the PMA and ET dimensions. The spatiotemporality of PMA and ET cultivates an experiential and emergent quality that has the potential to extend tailored multimodal treatment plans that comprise pain neuroscience education, cognition-targeted exercise therapy, sleep and stress management, and/or dietary interventions to support CP management. Integrating the ontological-epistemological framework of Ayurvedic whole medicine attends to the spatiotemporal environment in nuanced ways to cultivate a dialectical relationship with the reflexive self in PMA [e.g., selfawareness (35)] and the embodied internal-external temporal environment referenced by biographical-historical, geographicaluniversal environments in ET.

Understanding time perception as a component of an individual's psychological phenomena (79), PMA in CP management emphasizes the alignment of recollections and anticipation with the spatiotemporal awareness of the body and change (of sensations) in the present, past, and future. Integrating cognitive temporal movement and dosha awareness extends current research examining temporality in multisensory integration and self-awareness (9, 16, 17) as they contribute to body ownership and acceptance in CP management (15) by expanding the conceptualization of temporality from the subjective representation of experiences and relations over time, time perceptions, and flow experiences (53). PMA introduces spatiotemporality as a state of dynamic equilibrium cultivating an awareness of internal time, external duration, and the self with subjective experience (21) through centering the spatiotemporal frame in the pathophysiologically experienced environment. Extending temporal constructs such as the conceptualization of the passage of time (21, 22) through the lens of spatiotemporality centers the internal and external environment of the body in its lived space and attends to the disruption in lived temporality experienced by CP patients. Time is assessed as a component of spatiotemporality in clinical CP diagnosis, treatment, and

evaluation when the Ayurvedic physician examines the patients' daily and seasonal lifestyle, mind, and emotions as an interconnected whole in PMA and ET. Assessing the experience of longitudinal time through PMA and ET helps the Ayurvedic physician focus integratively and in environmentally centered and embodied ways on the subjectively experienced past, present, and future by focusing on sensemaking related with past choices (43), prioritizing what is meaningful in the moment (80), or imagining a purposeful future (81).

The cultivation of PMA can support the disruption of lived temporality and the experience of time (25) in CP through the practices employed by the Ayurvedic physician. The Ayurvedic physician attends to the relationship of internal time with spatiotemporality through sound and the body's energy balance as expressed through daily practices and the lived environment. Mindfulness practices can be enhanced through PMA by conceptualizing being present in the moment with awareness of thoughts, the pathologies of the body, and the doshas in relationship with the spaces of one's lived environment and the natural world. Similarly, the awareness of spatiotemporality in daily practices through sound (mantras) extends the understandings of mental health in relationship with cognitive activity as a form of temporal and referencing the spatiotemporal nature of the relations between the mind and emotions. Selfreflexivity supports the provider-patient relationship (5) in PMA as cultivating an awareness of the relationality of cognitive movement, dosha operations, and their pathophysiological expression in the body. PMA processes align cognition and pain processing to highlight how enjoining awareness of the relationality of space with temporality advance techniques incorporating dialectic integration of change with acceptance of the present.

Grounding temporality with spatial awareness in ET connects intentionality with action upon pain duration, future time perspective, and subjective perception of time (37). ET deepens the conceptualization of space to include internal bodily spaces, the lived environment, and the natural environment that shapes the body's functions to cultivate an awareness of spatiotemporality as integrated with the embodied sensory and psychosocial processes of the body. The Ayurvedic assessments of dosha analysis, tongue analysis, and its relationship with the doshas to assess temporal change are key to conceptualizing the embodied mind-body relationship. Integrating spatial awareness in ET attends to the intentional recollection and spatiotemporal (re)situatedness of sensory memories, emotions, and experiences (41). Spatiotemporality of embodied processes such as those of flow of breath (through pranayama) and the body's energy centers (through chakra meditation or marma massage) enhances awareness of how pain perceptions are constructed through continual interaction with bodily, lived, and environmental spaces. Spatiotemporality of ET processes deepens conceptualization of unified flow experiences (29, 38, 41) in adaptive mutual engagement with pain experiences and cultivate ways of conceptualizing spaces as temporally constructed in CP management.

The conceptual explication of spatiotemporality as ET extends the understandings of how the pathophysiological, behavioral, and

emotional processes of CP relate with temporal dynamics (60) and expansion in the perception of subjective time and space (82). Conceptualizing spatiotemporality as ET expands how CIM provider co-engagement in CP management (83) is constituted as perceptual subjective process over time through cultivating awareness of intentionality in movement of breath, thoughts, and emotions that inform the bi-directional relationship between cognition and pain and the disruption of cognitive processing in CP (34, 36). Emerging perspectives such as the ecological momentary assessment approach assessing the modulation of pain experiences over time (61) in relationship with their natural daily environments can be extended through an embodied understanding of their relationship with the patient's daily activities and circadian variability (84). Examining the qualities of bodily vitality (as ojas), strength (as bala), and type (as prakriti) through relations of space and time in alignment with circadian and seasonal temporal cycles offers an expansive and integrated frame for conceptualizing spatiotemporal relationships of the mind and body.

The study is limited by its very small, expert-focused sample size in a complex knowledge domain spanning temporality, Ayurvedic medicine, and biopsychosocial CP management. The generalizability of the study is further limited by the fact that it was designed and conducted by a single researcher. Future studies can explicate the clinical contribution of constructs such as temporality and belief (85) that are significant components of Ayurvedic medical ontologies and respond to the call to enhance specialized clinical practice in Ayurveda (86) (see also Appendix 2). The process of observing change over a spatiotemporal frame, such as through the moment-by-moment movement of the breath in PMA and ET supports both the expression and perception of CP. The Ayurvedic physician employs their knowledge of individual operation of doshas, bodily vitality (as ojas), bodily strength (as bala), integral individual bodily nature (as prakriti), and ET (as kaal) to recommend multimodal approaches comprising nutrition, physiological postures through yoga and massage, movement through practices involving physiological purification (e.g., nasya), and a whole-person approach through the central Ayurvedic program of panchakarma and related modalities and therapies. In centering patient empowerment, the Ayurvedic physician incorporates an assessment of the patient's mental and spiritual strength (bala) in the treatment of pain in alignment with the daily and seasonal temporal cycles.

The findings address a gap in the conceptualization of temporality in CP management and offer an ontologically diverse conceptualization of spatiotemporality in envisioning how space and temporal relations can be conceptualized in integrative CP models (87–89). Incorporating PMA and ET in adaptive relationship with the lived environment, cognitive and emotional processes, and circadian and seasonal changes enhances how clinical approaches to CP management can consider pain subtype, structural pathology, and patient biopsychosocial profile by attending to the relations of space and temporality in nuanced and complex ways.

Author's note

An earlier version of this paper was presented virtually at the International Communication Association Annual Convention, and an additional version has been previously presented virtually at the National Communication Association Annual Convention. Previous versions have also been presented as an abstract at the Global Approaches of Integrative Oncology session of the National Cancer Institute and the Trans NCI-NIH Conference on International Perspectives on Integrative Medicine for Cancer Prevention and Cancer Patient Management (virtual poster presentation). This study presents part of the larger data set. Additional publications from this data set can be found under References, Agarwal, 2020.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the author, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Human Subjects Review Committee, Salisbury University, MD, United States, FWA00020237, Study Protocol #52. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because the study poses minimal risk to the participants. Informed consent was administered orally and audio-recorded; the participants were provided an electronic copy of the informed consent form.

Author contributions

VA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author declares financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

This study was supported by an internal research grant from the author's institution.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

References

1. Barnes PM, Bloom B, Nahin R. Complementary and alternative medicine use among adults and children: United States, 2007. CDC National health Statistics Report No. 12. National Institutes of Health (NIH), *National Center for Complementary and Alternative Medicine* (NCCAM), Hyattsville, MD (2008).

2. Chen L, Michalsen A. Management of chronic pain using complementary and integrative medicine. Br Med J. (2017) 257:j1284. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j1284

3. Delgado R, York A, Lee C, Crawford C, Buckenmaier C 3rd, Schoomaker E, et al. Assessing the quality, efficacy, and effectiveness of the current evidence base of active self-care complementary and integrative medicine therapies for the management of chronic pain: a rapid evidence assessment of the literature. *Pain Med.* (2014) 15 Suppl 1:S9–20. doi: 10.1111/pme.12412

4. Lee C, Crawford C, Swann S. Mind-body therapies for the selfmanagement of chronic pain symptoms. *Pain Med.* (2014) 15(S1):SS21-39. doi: 10. 1111/pme.12383

5. Agarwal V. Complementary and alternative medicine provider knowledge discourse on holistic health. *Front Health Commun.* (2018) 3:15. doi: 10.3389/ fcomm.2018.00015

6. Agarwal V. The provider's body in the therapeutic relationship: how complementary and alternative medicine providers describe their work as healers. *Health Commun.* (2018) 34(11):1350-8. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2018.1489201

7. Matthias MS, Blair MJ. The patient-provider relationship in chronic pain management: where do we go from here. *Pain Med.* (2010) 11(12):1747-9. doi: 10. 1111/j.1526-4637.2010.00998.x

8. Agarwal V. Reconceptualizing pain through patient-centered care in the complementary and alternative medicine therapeutic relationship. J Adv Nurs. (2018) 74(10):2406–15. doi: 10.1111/jan.13734

9. Garland EL, Brintz CE, Hanley WA, Roseen EJ, Atchley RM, Gaylord SA, et al. Mind-body therapies for opioid-treated pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. (2020) 180(1):91–105. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.4917

10. Budhrani-Shani P, Berry DL, Arcari P, Langevin H, Wayne PM. Mind-body exercises for nurses with chronic low back pain: an evidence-based review. *Nurs Res Pract.* (2016) 2016:9018036. doi: 10.1155/2016/9018036

11. Morone NE, Greco CM, Moore CG, Rollman BL, Lane B, Morrow LA, et al. A mind-body program for older adults with chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2016) 176(3):329–37. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed. 2015.8033

12. Agarwal V. Patient assessment and chronic pain self-management in ethnomedicine: seasonal and ecosystemic embodiment in Ayurvedic patient-centered care. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17(8):2842. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17082842

13. Agarwal V. Patient communication of pain in the complementary and alternative medicine therapeutic relationship. *J Patient Exp.* (2019) 7(2):238–44. doi: 10.1177/2374373519826137

14. Bowman RL, Davis DL, Ferguson S, Taylor J. Women's motivation, perception, and experience of complementary and alternative medicine in pregnancy: a meta-synthesis. *Midwifery*. (2018) 59:81–7. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2017.11.007

15. Pamment J, Aspell JE. Putting pain out of mind with an "out of body" illusion. *Eur J Pain*. (2017) 21(2):334-42. doi: 10.1002/ejp.927

16. Doorley J, Greenberg J, Stauder M, Vranceanu AM. The role of mindfulness and relaxation in improved sleep quality following a mind-body and activity program for chronic pain. *Mindfulness.* (2021) 12(11):2672–80. doi: 10.1007/s12671-021-01729-y

17. Popok PJ, Greenberg J, Gates MV, Vranceanu AM. A qualitative investigation of activity measurement and change following a mind-body activity program for chronic pain. *Complement Ther Clin Pract.* (2021) 44:101410. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101410

18. Greenberg J, Mace RA, Bannon SM, Kulich RJ, Vranceanu AM. Mind-body activity program for chronic pain: exploring mechanisms of improvement in

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

patient-reported, performance-based and ambulatory physical function. J Pain Res. (2021) 14:359–68. doi: 10.2147/JPR.S298212

19. Wieland LS, Skoetz N, Pilkington K, Vempati R, D'Adamo CR, Berman BM. Yoga treatment for chronic non-specific low back pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 1(1):CD010671. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010671.pub2

20. la Cour P, Petersen M. Effects of mindfulness meditation on chronic pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Pain Med.* (2015) 16(4):641–52. doi: 10.1111/ pme.12605

21. Droit-Volet S, Dambrun M. Awareness of the passage of time and self-consciousness: what do meditators report? *Psych J.* (2019) 8(1):51–65. doi: 10.1002/ pchj.270

 Brough JB. Temporality and illness: a phenomenological perspective. In: Toombs SK, editors. *Handbook of Phenomenology and Medicine*. *Philosophy and Medicine*. Vol.
Dordrecht: Springer (2001). p. 29–46. doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-0536-4_2

23. Geniusas S. The pathos of time: chronic pain and temporality. *Dialogue Univ.* (2015) 25(3):25–38. doi: 10.5840/du201525365

24. Nilsen G, Elstad I. Temporal experiences of persistent pain. Patients' narratives from meetings with health care providers. *Int J Qual Stud Health Well-Being*. (2009) 4 (1):51–61. doi: 10.1080/17482620802416129

25. Hellström C, Carlsson SG. The long-lasting now: disorganization in subjective time in long-standing pain. *Scand J Psychol.* (1996) 37(4):416–23. doi: 10.1111/j. 1467-9450.1996.tb00673.x

26. Benner P. The phenomenon of care. In: Toombs SK, editors. *Handbook of Phenomenology and Medicine*. Vol. 68. Dordrecht: Springer (2002). p. 351-69. doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-0536-4_19

27. Beracci A, Fabbri M, Martoni M. Morningness-eveningness preference, time perspective, and passage of time judgments. *Cogn Sci.* (2022) 46(2):e13109. doi: 10. 1111/cogs.13109

28. Schmitt S, Besteher B, Gaser C, Nenadić I. Human time perspective and its structural associations with voxel-based morphometry and gyrification. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2021) 15(5):2237–45. doi: 10.1007/s11682-020-00416-1

29. Muller T, Nobre AC. Flow of time: perceiving the passage of time: neural possibilities. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2014) 1326(1):60–71. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12545

30. Wiener M, Turkeltaub P, Coslett HB. The image of time: a voxel-wise metaanalysis. *Neuroimage*. (2010) 49(2):1728-40. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.09.064

31. Merchant H, Harrington DL, Meck WH. Neural basis of the perception and estimation of time. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 36(1):313–36. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-062012-170349

32. Baird HM, Webb TL, Sirois FM, Gibson-Miller J. Understanding the effects of time perspective: a meta-analysis testing a self-regulatory framework. *Psychol Bull.* (2021) 147(3):233–67. doi: 10.1037/bul0000313

33. Altan-Atalay A, Özarslan I, Biriz B. Negative urgency and time perspective: interactive associations with anxiety and depression. *J Gen Psychol.* (2020) 147 (3):293–307. doi: 10.1080/00221309.2020.1745139

34. Northoff G, Wainio-Theberge S, Evers K. Is temporo-spatial dynamics the "common currency" of brain and mind? In quest of "spatiotemporal neuroscience.". *Phys Life Rev.* (2020) 33:34–54. doi: 10.1016/j.plrev.2019.05.002

35. Rey AE, Michael GA, Dondas C, Thar M, Garcia-Larrea L, Mazza S. Pain dilates time perception. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:15682. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15982-6

36. Khera T, Rangasamy V. Cognition and pain: a review. Front Psychol. (2021) 12:673962. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.673962

37. Carstensen LL, Lang FR. *Future Time Perspective Scale*. Standford, CA: Stanford University (1996) Unpublished manuscript. doi: 10.1037/t31314-000

38. Csikszentmihalyi M. Flow: The Psychology of Happiness. New York, NY, USA: Random House (2013).

39. Agerström J, Stening K, Axman O. Pain here and now: physical pain impairs transcendence of psychological distance. *J Pain Res.* (2019) 12:961–8. doi: 10.2147/ JPR.S194114

40. Lang FR, Carstensen LL. Time counts: future time perspective, goals, and social relationships. *Psychol Aging*. (2002) 17(1):125–39. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974. 17.1.125

41. Zajenkowski M, Stolarski M, Witowska J, Maciantowicz O, Lowicki P. Fluid intelligence as a mediator of the relationship between executive control and balanced time perspective. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1844. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.01844

42. Zhang JW, Howell RT. Do time perspectives predict unique variance in life satisfaction beyond personality traits? *Pers Ind Differ*. (2011) 50(8):1261-6. doi: 10. 1016/j.paid.2011.02.021

43. Stolarski M, Bitner J, Zimbardo PG. Time perspective, emotional intelligence, and discounting of delayed awards. *Time Soc.* (2011) 20:346–63. doi: 10.1177/0961463X11414296

44. Zhang JW, Howell RT, Stolarski M. Comparing three methods to measure a balanced time perspective: the relationship between a balanced time perspective and subjective well-being. *J Happiness Stud.* (2013) 14(1):169–84. doi: 10.1007/s10902-012-9322-x

45. Boniwell I, Osin E, Linley PA, Ivanchenko GV. A question of balance: time perspective and well-being in British and Russian samples. *J Pos Psychol.* (2010) 5 (1):24–40. doi: 10.1080/17439760903271181

46. Webster JD, Bohlmeijer ET, Westerhof GJ. Time to flourish: the relationship of temporal perspective to well-being and wisdom across adulthood. *Aging Ment Health*. (2014) 18(8):1046–56. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2014.908458

47. Muro A, Feliu-Soler A, Castellà J, Deví J, Soler J. Does time perspective predict life satisfaction? A study including mindfulness as a measure of time experience in a sample of Catalan students. *Mindfulness*. (2017) 8(3):655–63. doi: 10.1007/s12671-016-0644-3

48. Stolarski M, Vowinckel J, Jankowski KS, Zajenkowski M. Mind the balance, be contented: balanced time perspective mediates the relationship between mindfulness and life satisfaction. *Pers Ind Diff.* (2016) 93:27–31. doi: 10.1016/j.paid. 2015.09.039

49. Bishop SR, Lau M, Shapiro S, Carlson L, Anderson ND, Carmody J, et al. Mindfulness: a proposed operational definition. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2004) 11 (3):230–41. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bph077

50. Carlson EN. Overcoming the barriers to self-knowledge mindfulness as a path to seeing yourself as you really are. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2013) 8(2):173–86. doi: 10.1177/1745691612462584

51. Allan BA, Bott EM, Such H. Connecting mindfulness and meaning in life: exploring the role of authenticity. *Mindfulness.* (2015) 6(5):996–1003. doi: 10.1007/s12671-014-0341-z

52. Barsics C, Rebetez MML, Rochat L, D'Argembeau A, Van der Linden M. A French version of the balanced time perspective scale: factor structure and relation to cognitive reappraisal. *Canadian J Behav Sci.* (2017) 49:51–7. doi: 10. 1037/cbs0000065

53. Vowinckel JC, Westerhof GJ, Bohlmeijer ET, Webster JD. Flourishing in the now: initial validation of a present-eudaimonic time perspective scale. *Time Soc.* (2017) 26(2):203–26. doi: 10.1177/0961463X15577277

54. Webster JD, Vowinckel J, Ma X. The meaning of temporal balance: does meaning in life mediate the relationship between a balanced time perspective and mental health? *Eur J Pyschol.* (2021) 17(1):119–33. doi: 10.5964/ejop.2415

55. Steger MF. Making meaning in life. Psychol Inquiry. (2012) 23:381-5. doi: 10. 1080/1047840X.2012.720832

56. Fivush R, Brooker JA, Graci ME. Ongoing narrative meaning-making within events and across the life span. *Imagin Cogn Pers.* (2017) 37(2):127–52. doi: 10. 1177/0276236617733824

57. Waytz A, Hershfield HE, Tamir DI. Mental simulation and meaning in life. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2015) 108:336-55. doi: 10.1037/a0038322

58. Przepiorka A, Sobol-Kwapinska M. People with positive time perspective are more grateful and happier: gratitude mediates the relationship between time perspective and life satisfaction. *J Happiness Stud.* (2020) 22::113–26. doi: 10.1007/s10902-020-00221-z

59. Dezutter J, Luyckx K, Wachholtz A. Meaning in life in chronic pain patients over time: associations with pain experience and psychological well-being. *J Behav Med.* (2015) 38(2):384–96. doi: 10.1007/s10865-014-9614-1

60. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. *Pain.* (2005) 113:9–19. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain. 2004.09.012

61. Bellamy N, Sothern R, Campbell J, Buchanan W. Rhythmic variations in pain, stiffness, and manual dexterity in hand osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2002) 61:1075–80. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1136/ard.61.12.1075

62. Murphy SL, Smith DM, Clauw DJ, Alexander NB. The impact of momentary pain and fatigue on physical activity in women with osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2008) 59:849–56. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1002/art.23710

63. Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Keefe FJ, Schwartz JE, Stone AA, Broderick JE. Individual differences in the day-to-day variability of pain, fatigue, and well-being in patients with rheumatic disease: associations with psychological variables. *Pain.* (2012) 153:813–22. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001215

64. Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2008) 4:1–32. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3. 022806.091415

65. Gupta SK, Thakar AB, Dudhamal TS, Nema A. Management of Amavata (rheumatoid arthritis) with diet and Virechanakarma. *Ayu.* (2015) 36(4):413–5. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.4103/0974-8520.190688

66. Rastogi S, Pandey P, Kumar S, Verma A, Chinmayi R. "Obesity and arthritis" as the morbid duo: designing and experimenting a novel strategy for weight reduction and a secondary Ayurveda-arthritis center. *J Ayurveda Integr Med.* (2023) 14 (5):100722. doi: 10.1016/j.jaim.2023.100722

67. Patton MQ. *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications (2001).

68. Palinkas LA, Horwitz SM, Green CA, Wisdom JP, Duan N, Hoagwood K. Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Adm Policy Men Health.* (2016) 41(5):533–44. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

69. Creswell JW. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods and Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage (2013).

70. Agarwal V. The semi-structured interviewing method in a qualitative study examining complementary and alternative medicine providers' knowledge discourse. In *Sage Research Methods Cases: Medicine and Health.* SAGE Publications, Ltd. (2020). p. 1–21. doi: 10.4135/9781529715989

71. Glaser B, Strauss A. The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press (1967).

72. Yin RK. Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc (2018).

73. Thakkar J, Chaudhari S, Sarkar PK. *Ritucharya*: answer to the lifestyle disorders. *Ayu.* (2011) 32(4):466–71. doi: 10.4103/0974-8520.96117

74. Miles MB, Huberman AM. Qualitative data analysis: an expanded sourcebook. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage (1994).

75. Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis. J Adv Nurs. (2008) 62:107–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x

76. Krippendorff K. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. Newbury Park: Sage Publications (1980).

77. Cavanagh S. Content analysis: concepts, methods, and applications. *Nurs Res.* (1997) 4:5–16. doi: 10.7748/nr.4.3.5.s2

78. Day MA, Ward LC, Thorn BE, Burns J, Ehde DM, Barnier AJ, et al. Mechanisms of mindfulness meditation, cognitive therapy, and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for chronic low back pain. *Clin J Pain.* (2020) 36:740–9. doi: 10.1097/AJP. 00000000000862

79. Carstensen L. The influence of a sense of time on human development. *Sci.* (2006) 312:1913–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1127488

 Soman A, Venkatram S, Chikkanna U, Ramakrishna KK, Bhargava H, Varambally
Ayurveda for management of migraine: a narrative review of clinical evidence. J Family Med Prim Care. (2022) 11(8):4228–35. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_2109_21

81. Wijma AJ, Wilgen CPv, Meeus M, Nijs J. Clinical biopsychosocial physiotherapy assessment of patients with chronic pain: the first step in pain neuroscience education. *Physiother Theory Pract.* (2016) 32(5):368–84. doi: 10.1080/09593985.2016.1194651

82. Whittaker M, Okifuji A, Creem-Regehr S, Stefanucci J. The impact of fibromyalgia pain on space and time perception. J Vision. (2022) 22:3217. doi: 10. 1167/jov.22.14.3217

83. Agarwal V. Mimetic self-reflexivity and intersubjectivity in complementary and alternative medicine practices: the mirror neuron system in breast cancer survivorship. *Front Integr Neurosci.* (2021) 15:641219. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2021.641219

84. Walker WH, Walton JC, DeVries C, Nelson RJ. Circadian rhythm disruption and mental health. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:28. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0694-0

85. Rastogi S, Pandey P, Maurya K, Kumar S, Varma RRC, Singh G. Self-reported benefits of participating in group prayer in a hospital outpatient setting: a cross-sectional observational study. *J Ayurveda Integr Med.* (2023) 14(5):100738. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2023.100738

86. Rastogi S. Emanating the specialty clinical practices in Ayurveda: preliminary observations from an arthritis clinic and its implications. J Ayurveda Integr Med. (2021) 12(1):52–7. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2019.09.009

87. Tick H, Nielsen A, Pelletier KR, Bonakdar R, Simmons S, Glick R, et al. Evidence-based nonpharmacologic strategies for comprehensive pain care: the

consortium pain task force white paper. *Explore*. (2018) 14(3):177-211. doi: 10.1016/j. explore.2018.02.001

88. Houzé B, El-Khatib H, Arbour C. Efficacy, tolerability, and safety of nonpharmacological therapies for chronic pain: an umbrella review on various CAM approaches. *Prog Neurophsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2018) 87(Pt B):307–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.002

89. Teets RY, Dahmer S, Scott E. Integrative medicine approach to chronic pain. *Prim Care.* (2010) 37(2):407–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2010.02.001 90. Rastogi S, Singh RH. Principle of hot (*ushna*) and cold (*sheeta*) and its clinical application in Ayurvedic medicine. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2021) 343:39–55. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-80983-6_4

91. Rastogi S, Tiwari V, Jatav SP, Singh N, Verma S, Verma S, et al. A survey of patients visiting an Ayurvedic teaching hospital for factors influencing the decision to choose Ayurveda as a health care provider. *J Ayurveda Integr Med.* (2023) 14(1):100539. doi: https://www.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2021. 100539

Appendix 1

Selected salient conceptual domains and constructs explored in the semistructured interview

Protocol

- Participant information: Name/Age/Qualifications (specialization)/Degree credentials/Profession/How many years in current profession and position/Location
- Domain: Chronic pain management, Ayurvedic principles and practices, connection of *ahar/dravya/shastra/with chikitsa* focus on connection of *manas/atman/shareer* in Ayurvedic practices and their effectiveness (how described, perceived, conceptualized)
- Understanding tailoring principles in practice for pain management mind-body integrative approach (*dosha/panchmahabhoota/rasa/guna*)
- Understanding physician communication of abstract concepts and implementation in practice by patient
- Evolution to incorporate role of desha and environment from Charaka Samhita to present-day.

Semi-structured interview protocol domains

- I. Mind-body practice protocol: Mind and body in relationship with each other
- II. Communication of mind-body-spirit practices for CP
- III. CIM practice protocol
- IV. Focusing attention (man) and regulating emotions in mind-body practices:
- V. CIM practices associated with pain management
- VI. How does the Ayurvedic physician help the patient address the following pain aspects in their lives? (Fatigue/Stress/Fear/Quality of life/Cognitive impairment/Body distress)
- VII. Understanding how Ayurveda communicates the relationship between healing, functionality, quality of life, and wellbeing in CP management

Appendix 2

Ayurvedic terminology in clinical practice and interpretive premise of study

The interpretive premise of the study implies that the thematic findings reference the author's interpretive lens to the Ayurvedic ontological and philosophical thought as reflected in the themes in the Results section of the study. Accordingly, the interpretive frames identified in this exploratory study are not clinical findings intended to reflect the medical training informing Ayurvedic physicians' clinical practice protocols as applied in Ayurvedic and integrative medicine in India. Rather, they reflect the author's identification of spatiotemporality as a philosophical and interpretive construct that may be further evaluated, examined, and explicated in future studies to enrich its dimensionality in practice through a diverse knowledge translation provided by the findings in this study. To this end, the study provides one instance of an effort to provide one instance of a complex translation of the knowledge base and study field of the examination of Ayurvedic philosophy from a diverse lens.

For related research findings specifically from a clinical practice perspective, for instance, Ayurvedic physicians will assess temporality in a highly complex and nuanced manner to examine when pain arises or peaks (i.e., pain variation), its relationship with diurnal and seasonal temporality, age, geography, diet, and lifestyle, among a range of variables. Ayurvedic physicians will also examine the specific dominance of the dosha function with each of these variables (e.g., the gradual decline of *kapha dosha* as the person ages and its relationship with pain variation). Similarly, a range of principles and precepts is employed to inform such assessments of health and disease (e.g., the principle of hot, *ushna*, and cold, *sheeta*) and their related pathogenesis features (90). Greater clarity in such constructs can help tailor Ayurvedic treatments to patient priorities for choosing Ayurveda treatment [e.g., potential to eradicate disease, belief, direct and indirect evidence of efficacy and safety in managing the clinical condition of interest (91)].

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Judy Watt-Watson, University of Toronto, Canada

REVIEWED BY Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

*CORRESPONDENCE Kate Thompson 🛙 k.a.thompson@leedsbeckett.ac.uk

RECEIVED 22 September 2023 ACCEPTED 08 March 2024 PUBLISHED 20 March 2024

CITATION

Johnson MI, Page K, Woodall J and Thompson K (2024) Perspectives on community-based system change for people living with persistent pain: insights from developing the "Rethinking Pain service". Front. Pain Res. 5:1299027. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2024.1299027

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Johnson, Page, Woodall and Thompson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Perspectives on communitybased system change for people living with persistent pain: insights from developing the "Rethinking Pain service"

Mark I. Johnson¹, Kerry Page², James Woodall^{1,3} and Kate Thompson^{1*}

¹Centre for Pain Research, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom, ²Rethinking Pain Programme, Keighley Healthy Living (KHL) & Health Action Local Engagement (HALE), Bradford, United Kingdom, ³Centre for Health Promotion, School of Health, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom

In this perspective article we advocate community-based system change for people living with persistent pain. Our view is that greater use of the voluntary and community sector, in partnership with the clinical sector, creates the conditions for a "whole person" approach to pain management, leading to greater personalised care for adults living with long-term pain whilst having the potential to ease some of the pressures on General Practitioners and other clinical services. We advocate pain care that is socially connected, meaningful within socio-cultural contexts and aligned with the principles of salutogenesis. We provide an example of a UK National Health Service (NHS) commissioned pain service called "Rethinking Pain" that operationalises this perspective. Led by the voluntary and community sector, Rethinking Pain works in partnership with the clinical sector to provide a central holistic pathway of care for people experiencing persistent pain. This is the first time that this model of care has been commissioned for persistent pain in this area of England. The Rethinking Pain service is underpinned by core values to work with people to manage their pain holistically. The Rethinking Pain team proactively engage with people in the community, actively approaching and engaging those who experience the biggest health inequalities. In this article we provide an overview of the context of pain services in the UK, the rationale and supporting evidence for community-based system change, and the context, pathway, values, goals, and aspirations of the Rethinking Pain service.

KEYWORDS

chronic pain, voluntary and community sector, system change, clinical sector, salutogenesis, whole health, community

Introduction

Recently, the UK has introduced integrated care systems that focus on a personcentred approach as part of reforming its health and care landscape (1). Guided by the National Health Service (NHS) Long Term Plan, health and care services need to continually evolve to meet the changing health needs of society (2). A key area of work within the NHS long term plan is "personalised care" which focusses on shared decision making, giving people more choice and control over their mental and physical health. In 2023, the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) Global Year advocacy campaign focussed on integrative pain care (3), defined as "... the carefully planned integration of multiple evidence-based treatments—offered to an individual suffering from pain—that strives to be individualized (person-centred), mechanism-guided, and temporally coordinated". This definition situates individualised person-centred care within a mechanistically guided treatment paradigm. Gaudet et al. contend that people need to be equipped to take control of their mental, emotional, spiritual, and physical health in order to live their most meaningful lives, and that this cannot be achieved solely by improvements in existing health systems (4). Instead, Gaudet et al. argue there is a need for "true cultural transformation" in health care services for whole health to be realised (4).

We advocate policies and practices that promote health at the community level (5, 6), utilising the principles of salutogenesis as a vehicle to alleviate painogenic environments and the burden of persistent (chronic) pain (7). Salutogenesis is about creating an environment and lifestyle that supports the way people understand their interaction in the world (comprehensibility), view their life (meaningfulness) and respond to stressful situations (manageability), i.e., developing a strong sense of coherence (8, 9). Salutogenic interventions take a whole-person approach grounded in a person's unique life story and current situation, encompassing physical, mental, social, and spiritual aspects that are meaningful to the individual. Through active participation, individuals learn to identify and utilise resources to successfully change comprehensibility, meaningfulness, and manageability, to reconfigure their conception of health as a lifelong process, with stressors and tension becoming a normal part of life and potentially health-promoting. In 2022, Langeland et al. reviewed 41 studies and concluded that salutogenic programs and interventions help people learn how to construct self-identity and a sense of coherence in various challenging life situations including mental health problems and pain (10). In other words, salutogenic approaches help people actively adapt to stressful environments through discovery of resources that shift them away from "dis-ease".

In this article, we provide perspective for personalised care for people living with persistent pain through greater use of voluntary and community care sector activity. We describe a new community-based chronic pain support service called Rethinking Pain that is led and delivered by the voluntary and community sector. Rethinking Pain aligns with the key features of salutogenesis and whole-person health. Although a salutogenic framework was not used in the design of the service and a sense of coherence not measured as a health outcome, we contend that community-based support pain services, such as Rethinking Pain, are likely to improve sense of coherence not only in individuals, but also in communities. Rethinking Pain is commissioned by Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership (a statutory NHS organisation responsible for the provision of health services in England), including funding from Primary Care Networks. We provide examples of the referral pathway along with the context, goals, values and aspirations of the

Rethinking Pain service, from the perspective of the Rethinking Pain team, captured during one, two-hour focus group discussion, conducted six months after the service had "gone live". The focus group discussion was conducted as part of a broader, on-going, service evaluation underpinned by Theory of Change research methodology (11) which we will publish in a subsequent research article. However, the Rethinking Pain team members provided informed consent that anonymised quotes could be used in this "Perspectives Article" as examples of their views.

Provision of pain care in the UK

The current landscape of pain services in the UK

In the UK, people living with persistent pain are typically supported by their General Practitioner (GP, physician), other health professionals (e.g., physiotherapists or pharmacists), or by multi-disciplinary pain clinics or pain management programmes (12). The service provision for people living with persistent pain is determined at a local level by the respective funding organisations and may be in community, primary or secondary care settings. Typically, people present to a GP or first contact physiotherapist who has authority to refer patients to secondary care for more specialist support, although there is an absence of secondary pain clinic provision in some areas. Core standards for pain management services in the UK published by the Faculty of Pain Medicine provide a comprehensive overview of commissioning, pathways, personnel, interventions, and governance (13).

Biopsychosocial approaches to pain management are considered optimal (14), although fragmentation of bio-psychosocial elements of service delivery are recognised limitations (15, 16), especially when they are not part of the same referral "pathway" with oversight and organisation from one provider. There is variability in chronic pain service provision in different areas of the UK and this may be associated with health inequalities and inequities resulting in poor outcomes for patients (17, 19). Integrating care requires resources, commitment across organisations, functioning information technology, coordination of finances and care pathways, aligned objectives, and buy-in from teams (20).

Rationale for system change

Between one-third and one-half of the UK population (28 million adults) are affected by persistent pain (21), creating significant pressures on NHS clinical services. Waiting times for NHS pain services are often many months. There is a need to ease pressures on clinical services yet also provide high quality care. The NHS long term plan is to give people more control of their own health with a drive for more personalised care. Personalised care aims to fundamentally shift how professionals

work alongside patients and to focus on "what matters" to individuals (1). Working collaboratively across the voluntary, community and clinical sector is one way to achieve this.

A Cochrane review provided evidence that personalised care resulted in health improvements for long term conditions, including pain (22). Personalised care improved musculoskeletal health related quality of life, understanding of the condition and confidence in self-management for people living with fibromyalgia (23). A key feature of personalised care is to work in partnership with patients, as a whole person within the context of their whole life, to deliver care and support that matters most to individuals (24). Importantly, patients should have access to various support options including peer support and communitybased resources to build knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their health and wellbeing (24). Social prescribing is a key component of personalised care. Social prescribing connects people to activities, groups, and services in their community to meet the practical, social and emotional needs that affect their health and wellbeing (25). The focus is to support individuals to have more control and choice over their health.

Evidence to support system change

In the UK, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) make various recommendations to assess and support people living with chronic (primary and secondary) pain, including options accessible via community-based organisations (26). Previously, integrating community support (i.e., the voluntary and community sector) into NHS pathways has been challenging. However, the long-term plan of the NHS is to build the infrastructure for increased community engagement. The NICE were unable to evaluate the clinical and cost effectiveness of social interventions for persistent pain because there were no clinical studies comparing social interventions with standard care (27). However, a systematised review of social prescribing in the UK as part of non-clinical community interventions identified 86 schemes, of which 40 schemes were evaluated using either quantitative, qualitative or mixed methods approaches (28). Findings suggested benefits for self-esteem, confidence, mood, anxiety, depression, and mental well-being. Furthermore, a qualitative study by Moffatt et al. (29) found that a link worker social prescribing programme to connect people with long-term conditions, including pain, to the community, reduces social isolation and improves self-confidence, resilience, effective problem-solving strategies and health-related behaviours. There are increasing calls for healthcare to connect people to activities, groups, and services in their community because "The Biomedical Model [for treating pain] Needs Urgent Help" (30) p. 263. There are examples of voluntary and community sector support services working in partnership with the NHS specifically for people living with pain [e.g., Dover Town Primary Care Network (31)], but, to our knowledge, there are no NHS commissioned pain services that are voluntary and community sector-led. Sim and Barker contend that community pain services can be delivered at lower costs while enabling long-lasting integration of self-management into the lives of individuals (32).

The concept of the Rethinking Pain service

Rethinking Pain is a new community-based pain service that aligns to the key features of personalised care. The Rethinking Pain service aims to support people's physical, mental, social, and environmental needs in the community, whilst providing a seamless pathway of care into therapy-led provision for people who need additional support. The purpose is to provide a central, holistic, connected, and accessible pain pathway for adults who have been experiencing pain that has been adversely affecting their quality of life, despite treatment, for greater than three months.

The Rethinking Pain service has been commissioned by Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership, including funding from Primary Care Networks. Commissioning the voluntary and community sector to lead and deliver pain care, in partnership with the clinical sector, is a significant system change for this geographical area of England, i.e., this is a voluntary and community sector-led (rather than therapy- or medically- led) pain service.

The Rethinking Pain team comprises health coaches, social prescribers and community partners who are trained to support the health and wellbeing of people with persistent pain. Their role is "patient facing" i.e., they work in the community (in nonclinical settings) in partnership with people who are experiencing persistent pain. The Rethinking Pain team also comprises GPs and clinical therapists who have specialist experience and/or training in supporting people with persistent pain. Their roles are to support the health coaches, social prescribers, and community partners; to develop resources and educational materials; to provide clinical governance; to discuss more complex patients in regular multidisciplinary team meetings; and to deliver Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) with patients who require additional support.

Health coaches and social prescribers are recruited from local recruitment and community sector platforms to meet professional standards and competencies set out in the NHS Workforce development framework for health and wellbeing coaches. Health coaches complete a comprehensive in-house pain focussed training programme as part of their role at Rethinking Pain. This includes training on supported self-management for people living with persistent pain designed and delivered by clinical members of Rethinking Pain, supplemented by external courses and resources for practitioners (e.g., 10 Footsteps to Live Well With Pain, a training course for practitioners wanting to develop key skills and tools to support pain self-management; https://livewellwithpain.co.uk/ten-footsteps-programme/).

The design, delivery and development of the Rethinking Pain programme was informed through proactive engagement with caregivers, families, and the wider community via a variety of community consultation exercises. Service users are encouraged to involve family members, caregivers, or friends by attending educational modules, or being present during consultations, so that those living with people experiencing pain also receive relevant information about persistent pain. Choice and consent are important, and an interpreter service is available for individuals who do not speak English as a first language. In terms of the wider community, the Rethinking Pain team have partners from the voluntary and community sector who run engagement events in community settings and faith centres, including the delivery of educational modules.

Referral process

There is a central referral pathway for Primary Care Networks (PCNs) which enables GPs or musculoskeletal practitioners to refer people into the Rethinking Pain service. Once in the service, there are three tiers of support. An overview of the referral pathway is provided in Figure 1. In Tier 1, pain trained health coaches provide 1–1 support. They work with individuals to understand what is important to them in the context of their whole life. Individuals are signposted to a 2 h education module and are connected into the community. People who require additional support move through to Tier 2 where there is more active signposting from health coaches and/or social prescribers plus a range of education modules. Tier 2 education modules are continually being developed as the Rethinking Pain team consult different communities within Bradford District and Craven. Currently, the Tier 2 modules are:

- 1. More on Managing Pain
- 2. Keeping Active & Safe Movement
- 3. Sleep Therapy
- 4. Emotional Wellbeing Support
- 5. Developing Helpful Habits, Setting Goals & Making Plans
- 6. Diet Therapy
- 7. Creative Therapies
- 8. Your Stories (a chance to talk and be heard)
- 9. Acceptance & Taking Control of Your Pain
- 10. Beliefs, Spirituality, Faith, and Pain.

In Tier 1 and Tier 2 the GPs and clinical therapists work "in the background" to support the health coaches, social prescribers, and community providers, and provide clinical governance. There are regular multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meetings where any patients that are requiring additional support are identified so that they can be discussed and where appropriate move seamlessly through to Tier 3 (Figure 1). The additional support offered in Tier 3 is therapy-led CBT.

The uniqueness of the Rethinking Pain service

The salient driving force in the Rethinking Pain service is the voluntary and community sector. This is a step-change of traditional models of care which is highly contingent on statutory providers. Of course working with clinical practitioners remains a fundamental component, but this partnership is on a more equal footing and guided by advocating for wider system change. The health coach is a critical role, given that they can build trust and rapport and give time and resource to working in collaboration with the patient in non-medical settings:

"Those health coach contacts are the person who's with them on this longer and sustained journey, without a focus on discharge" (Rethinking Pain team)

The health coach can be responsive to need and to negotiate goals and targets to support pain management, underpinned by principles of personalised care:

"It really is a negotiation with the individual...their plan will be constantly setting goals, resetting the goals and it really is that relationship which is the core of it all." (Rethinking Pain team)

The Rethinking Pain service places great value on being socially connected and reconfiguring notions of biomedical cure by focussing on social, community and environmental needs. Rethinking Pain opts for a discourse on new possibilities and empowering individuals:

"Supporting and empowering individuals so that they can better manage their pain in their daily lives.... from an individual's perspective it's equipping them with tools and giving them the confidence to try something new around managing their pain." (Rethinking Pain team)

"Pain is inevitable to some extent, but it is the suffering element that I think we're trying to help people who are in pain manage better....also helping them [the patient] live better with pain." (Rethinking Pain team)

A unique feature of the Rethinking Pain service is the seamless partnership and care pathway across the voluntary, community and clinical sector. This is a significant system change for Bradford District and Craven and if successful has potential to be scaledup nationally. Reconfiguration of mindset and funding is necessary to realise system-change and "true cultural transformation" for persistent pain across the health sector globally (4). In the UK, health campaigns targeting policy makers and the public are changing the way people think about, talk about, and treat persistent pain. Perhaps the most critical systemic barrier to implementing Rethinking Pain on a larger scale is funding, particularly for services that are additional to existing provision, and/or innovative, and/or are awaiting the outcome of formal service evaluation. Prior to Rethinking Pain a community-barrier was people having the confidence to access voluntary and community activities without support. Rethinking Pain overcomes this using health coaches, social prescribers and link workers who gain the trust of the service user and act as a bridge between clinic and community. Moreover, there needs to be an uplift in the status of the voluntary and community sector by placing them as key partners so that they are engaged on an



equal footing to the clinical team, with investment in training so that the expertise of health coaches, social prescribers and link workers is valued equally to that of clinical colleagues.

Reconfiguration from medical- or therapy-led to voluntary and community sector-led pain service provision was driven in part by a desire to de-medicalise through community engagement, pain education, health coaching, social prescribing, *and* tiered support in a single pathway of care. The intention of the Rethinking Pain service is to optimise the delivery of "whole-health":

"Working with clinical teams, that's unique and that's about a focus to bring this service to people in their place, in their communities where they're comfortable and where we can deliver in ways that meet their needs. I think it's innovative... there is a lot of interest in this piece of work because of the system change potential and the learning around connecting services, and what happens for those services and for people in the service." (Rethinking Pain team)

Service aspirations

Prior to Rethinking Pain, Bradford District and Craven services had the following challenges:

- 1. GPs had limited options for people with persistent pain
- 2. The number of people with persistent pain was increasing
- 3. Social determinants of persistent pain were not being addressed
- 4. Health inequalities and persistent pain

Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership are addressing these needs by commissioning the voluntary and community sector to deliver a central, holistic, connected, accessible care pathway. The principal tenet of the Rethinking Pain team's core set of values is that the biomedical model has significant limitations and that health services alone are unable to counteract persistent pain in communities: "The medications we (health professionals) use are pretty useless (for chronic pain) and some of the interventions that we've thought of being quite successful in the past, again not great, and so therefore we as a district had to think about what else is there available to our chronic pain patients. And the honest answer was there was nothing." (Rethinking Pain team)

"The answer isn't solely medical. If it was, we wouldn't need this service." (Rethinking pain team)

The Rethinking Pain service harvests the power of the voluntary and community sector, whilst simultaneously collaborating across the clinical sector, so that a person's physical, emotional, social, and environmental needs are considered.

"Pain is multifactorial, multifaceted and managing everything else around the pain, including mental health, physical health....if you're able to manage those conditions and those factors, then you're more likely to have a better quality of life...." (Rethinking Pain team)

"You know, the people sat around told us that they've tried all the medicines. They've done acupuncture, they've done all of that. We explore how can we [Rethinking Pain] help you manage that [alternatives to medication] moving forward?" (Rethinking Pain team)

A core ambition for the Rethinking Pain team is to meet diverse needs by proactively engaging with local communities representing such diversity. The team recognise the impact of health inequalities and the importance of addressing these for people living with persistent pain.

For the (RP) service, to try and evaluate whether we're having an impact on our disadvantaged communities and (to consider) how we could change and adapt to cater for different needs. The population in Bradford is very diverse. It would be really good to try to see where we are really with those communities, so we can improve the offer to them. (Rethinking Pain team)

Genuine co-production of the Rethinking Pain service is seen as central to succeeding in understanding and addressing health inequalities:

"Moving forward, it (co-production) would be a real opportunity, to really grasp that with both hands and really involve the people that are accessing and using the service in developing it" (Rethinking Pain team)

The importance of cultural-adaptation

Rethinking Pain is based on community and voluntary participation within a multi-cultural region of the UK

Rethinking Pain serves an ethnically diverse city with a significant Black, Asian and minority ethnic population, and a predominance of people with Pakistani heritage and Muslim faith. Bradford is ranked the third highest for health inequality nationally and characterised as a population group amongst the most income and employment deprived. Social and cultural conditions influence the prevalence, presentation, illness behaviour, and community responses to persistent pain in diverse communities. It is common for people with persistent pain in Bradford to experience life with high levels of social deprivation, poor housing and limited formal education, and the Rethinking Pain Team recognise that participants with persistent pain conceptualise and experience pain in a much wider sense than a Westernised biopsychosocial model. Service users frequently referred to "faith and belief" constructs to understand and live with pain, effectively using their faith and beliefs to live a positive life with pain. Thus, the nature and cultural utility of the educational modules delivered by Rethinking Pain have evolved over time to acknowledge and explore beliefs related to pain, e.g., the development of an educational workshop on Beliefs, Spirituality, Faith and Pain. Health coaches record and flag people they work with where conversations indicate their faith would be a barrier to them from engagement with aspects of the support. Health coaches attend bi-weekly meetings with a multidisciplinary team (MDT) that includes voluntary and community sector leads, a clinical team (GPs and CBT therapists), and social prescribers to discuss their caseloads and clients presenting with complex circumstances. The MDT meetings are an opportunity for the full Rethinking Pain team to support health coaches in their decisions and to consider and discuss the diverse offer of the programme.

Other aspects considered critical to the successful delivery of the Rethinking Pain service include; recruiting staff who are multilingual and of similar faith and representative of Bradford's diverse communities, a key partnership with a voluntary and community sector organisation Happy Healthy You (Bradford and Beyond), promoting voluntary and community sector engagement events to connect and work with the various communities represented in the region, and co-production of materials, sessions and workstreams with members of the community, to assure cultural appropriateness and sensitivities. Rethinking Pain uses an organisation with expertise to make information accessible to communities with low level literacy skills or where English is not the primary language.

Service evaluation

The Rethinking Pain service will be evaluated by an independent research team, underpinned by principles of theory of change (11) that will reveal the principles, values, components, structures, processes, and goals of Rethinking Pain. This might overcome some of the potential barriers to scalability by showing the value of working with the voluntary and community sector and which aspects of the service may be transferable to different contexts and geographical areas. Funding is more likely to follow

if Rethinking Pain demonstrates success at easing pressure on GP and hospital services. In addition, the Rethinking Pain team have instigated ten community consultations to be thematically analysed as part of the development and evaluation of the first year.

Findings from the development, implementation and evaluation of the service will be shared with commissioners, clinical, voluntary and community partners, patients, and the wider society. Evaluation activities will include theory of change workshops, interviews with key stakeholders/staff and partners, quantitative and qualitative analysis of monitoring data, and consultation with different communities.

Implications for future policy and practice

A review by Kozlowska et al. (20) recognised resistance to change and constrained resources as a barrier to better integrated care in the UK Barriers included lack of commitment to integration by the organisations involved, conflicting organisational interests, insufficient resources to develop the integrated service, and inadequate mechanisms of payments between the organisations. We advocate Gaudet et al.'s call for "true cultural transformation" of services to a whole health system, if "whole-person health" with or without pain is to be realised (4). In that regard, the Rethinking Pain service will be tested across twelve primary care networks. If successful, the Rethinking Pain service will provide evidence for a new conceptual model for a health and well-being pathway that complements and reduces the need for medical intervention, and this can be adopted across the NHS, and potentially other long term health conditions.

Rethinking Pain provides opportunities for greater shared understanding of how the voluntary and community sector can work collaboratively with medical professionals and clinical settings to support patients with persistent pain. It is expected that a set of principles for targeting equitable interventions towards those with the greatest need and who face health inequalities, will be produced, and shared with the potential to be transferable and scalable. Successful development and implementation of integration of the Rethinking Pain service across the NHS will require shared goals and values across organisations and well-resourced teams to foster commitment and enthusiasm for joint working (20).

Conclusion

Our perspective is that greater use of the voluntary and community sector, in partnership with the clinical sector, creates the conditions for a "whole-person" approach to pain management, leading to greater personalised care, whilst having the potential to ease some of the pressures on General Practitioners and other clinical services. The Rethinking Pain service are piloting this perspective, by providing innovative voluntary and community sector-led system change for people living with persistent pain in Bradford District and Craven. The Rethinking Pain team are adept at using de-medicalised pain "language" in de-medicalised settings and embracing the whole context of a person's living experience within their community. The intention is that people reconceptualise pain beyond a biomedically-dominated narrative and are empowered to embark on a "healing journey" meaningful within their socio-cultural context and grounded in the principles of salutogenesis. Evaluation of the Rethinking Pain system change will be published in subsequent articles by our team.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics Statement

Ethical approval was gained from Leeds Beckett University Research Ethics Committee to undertake the focus group discussion. Participants provided informed consent that anonymised quotes could be used in this "Perspectives Article" as examples of their views (Application Reference 112905).

Author contributions

MJ: Writing – original draft. KP: Writing – review & editing. JW: Writing – review & editing. KT: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

Ian Wallace for vision in transformation and systems change for the Rethinking Pain Programme. Sonjia Peers & Melanie Hey for supporting strategic direction of the Rethinking Pain Programme. General Practitioners, Asim Suleman, Catherine Hart and Shahzad Jamil for clinical governance and development of adult education components for the Rethinking Pain Programme. Ghazala Tabasam and Ursula Philpott for discussions on developing the evaluation protocol for the Rethinking Pain Programme.

Conflict of interest

In the previous 5 years, MJ employer has received income for expert consultancy activities from GlaxoSmithKline, TENSCare, and LifeCare Ltd. that lie outside of the submitted work. MJ declares book royalties from Oxford University Press.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. National Health Service. A new service model for the 21st century. In: NHS, editor. *The NHS Long Term Plan.* England: National Health Service (2019). p. 11–32. Available online at: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-1-a-new-service-model-for-the-21st-century/ (accessed March 1, 2024).

2. National Health Service. Personalised Care (2023). Available online at: https:// www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/social-prescribing#:~:text= This%20explainer%20was%20originally%20written,support%20their%20health%20and %20wellbeing (accessed February 27, 2024).

3. International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP). Iasp 2023 Global Year for Integrative Pain Care (2023).

4. Gaudet T. Cultural transformation to a whole health system: lessons learned. *Glob Adv Health Med.* (2022) 11:2164957X221091452. doi: 10.1177/2164957X221091452

5. Johnson MI, Briggs M, Dixey R. Should health promotion be on the pain agenda? Pain Manag. (2014) 4(6):385-8. doi: 10.2217/pmt.14.31

6. Johnson MI, Dixey R. Should pain be on the health promotion agenda? Glob Health Promot. (2012) 19(4):41-4. doi: 10.1177/1757975912464251

7. Johnson MI, Woodall J. A healthy settings approach to addressing painogenic environments: new perspectives from health promotion. *Front Pain Res (Lausanne).* (2022) 3:1000170. doi: 10.3389/fpain.2022.1000170

8. Mittelmark MB, Bauer GF, Vaandrager L, Pelikan JM, Sagy S, Eriksson M, et al. *The Handbook of Salutogenesis.* 2nd ed. Cham, CH: Springer (2022).

9. Antonovsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promot Int.* (1996) 11(1):11-8. doi: 10.1093/heapro/11.1.11

10. Langeland E, Vaandrager L, Nilsen ABV, Schraner M, Meier Magistretti C, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to enhance the sense of coherence in the life course. In: Mittelmark MB, Bauer GF, Vaandrager L, Pelikan JM, Sagy S, Eriksson M, et al., editors. *The Handbook of Salutogenesis*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2022). p. 201–19.

11. Judge K, Bauld L. Strong theory, flexible methods: evaluating complex community-based initiatives. *Crit Public Health.* (2001) 11(1):19-38. doi: 10.1080/09581590010028237

12. British Pain Society. People Living with Pain. Available online at: https://www.britishpainsociety.org/people-with-pain/ (accessed February 27, 2024).

13. Faculty of Pain Medicine. Core Standards for Pain Management Services in the UK. London, U.K.: The Royal College of Anaesthetists (2021). p. 1–142.

14. Cohen SP, Vase L, Hooten WM. Chronic pain: an update on burden, best practices, and new advances. *Lancet.* (2021) 397(10289):2082–97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00393-7

15. Sullivan MD, Sturgeon JA, Lumley MA, Ballantyne JC. Reconsidering fordyce's classic article, "pain and suffering: what is the unit?" to help make our model of chronic pain truly biopsychosocial. *Pain.* (2023) 164(2):271–9. doi: 10.1097/j.pain. 00000000002748

16. Stilwell P, Harman K. An enactive approach to pain: beyond the biopsychosocial model. *Phenomenol Cogn Sci.* (2019) 18:637-65. doi: 10.1007/s11097-019-09624-7

17. McCartney G, Popham F, McMaster R, Cumbers A. Defining health and health inequalities. *Public Health.* (2019) 172:22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2019.03.023

18. Jain S, Jadwani V, Spogmy S, Walumbe J. Inequalities and inequities in the types of chronic pain services available in areas of differing deprivation

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

across England. Scand J Pain. (2023) 23(1):168-74. doi: 10.1515/sjpain-2022-0015

19. Celeste RK, Fritzell J. Do socioeconomic inequalities in pain, psychological distress and oral health increase or decrease over the life course? Evidence from Sweden over 43 years of follow-up. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2018) 72 (2):160–7. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-209123

20. Kozlowska O, Lumb A, Tan GD, Rea R. Barriers and facilitators to integrating primary and specialist healthcare in the United Kingdom: a narrative literature review. *Future Healthc J.* (2018) 5(1):64–80. doi: 10.7861/futurehosp.5-1-64

21. Fayaz A, Croft P, Langford RM, Donaldson LJ, Jones GT. Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6(6):e010364. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010364

22. Coulter A, Entwistle VA, Eccles A, Ryan S, Shepperd S, Perera R. Personalised care planning for adults with chronic or long-term health conditions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2015) 3:1–117. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010523.pub2

23. Stellman S, Ellis B, Dawson H, Kocsis A, Mundra J, Hill C, et al. Piloting a new model of personalised care for people with fibromyalgia in primary care with secondary care multidisciplinary support. *Musculoskeletal Care.* (2023) 21 (2):582–91. doi: 10.1002/msc.1708

24. Sanderson J, Kay N, Watts R. Universal Personalised Care. Implementing the Comprehensive Model. London, United Kingdom: National Health Service (2019). p. 1–60.

25. Buck D, Ewbank L. *What is Social Prescribing?: The Kings Fund* (2020). Available online at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/socialprescribing#:~:text=This%20explainer%20was%20originally%20written,support% 20their%20health%20and%20wellbeing (accessed March 01, 2024).

26. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Chronic Pain (Primary and Secondary) in Over 16s: Assessment of All Chronic Pain and Management of Chronic Primary Pain (Ng193). London, UK: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2021). p. 1–36.

27. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Evidence review for social interventions for chronic pain (chronic primary pain and chronic secondary pain). In: National Institute of Health and Care Excellence, editor. *Chronic Pain (Primary and Secondary) in Over 16s: Assessment of All Chronic Pain and Management of Chronic Primary Pain Nice Guideline Ng193.* London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2021). p. 1–40.

28. Chatterjeea HJ, Camicb PM, Lockyerb B, Thomson LJM. Non-Clinical community interventions: a systematised review of social prescribing schemes. *Arts Health.* (2018) 10(2):97–123. doi: 10.1080/17533015.2017.1334002

29. Moffatt S, Steer M, Lawson S, Penn L, O'Brien N. Link worker social prescribing to improve health and well-being for people with long-term conditions: qualitative study of service user perceptions. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7(7):e015203. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2016-015203

30. Huddy J. A new hope: social prescribing in Cornwall. Br J Gen Pract. (2019) 69 (682):243. doi: 10.3399/bjgp19X702449

31. Dover Town Primary Care Network. Social Prescribing. (2023). Available online at: https://www.dovertownpcn.co.uk/social-prescribing-4 (accessed February 27, 2024).

32. Simm R, Barker C. Five years of a community pain service solution-focused pain management programme: extended data and reflections. *Br J Pain.* (2018) 12 (2):113–21. doi: 10.1177/2049463717744358

Frontiers in Pain Research

Investigates new interventions for pain management

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34

Contact us



